
1 January 22, 2024 

BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION AGENDA 
JANUARY 22, 2024 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN 
7:30 P.M. 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Elaine McLain, Mayor 

II. ROLL CALL
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS,
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS.

APPOINTMENTS 
A. Public Arts Board

1. Barbara Heller
2. Shabnam Hosseini

To appoint _______ to the Public Arts Board, as a regular member, for a three-year 
term to expire January 28, 2027.  

To appoint _______ to the Public Arts Board, as a regular member, for a three-year 
term to expire January 28, 2027. 

To appoint _______ to the Public Arts Board, as an alternate member, for the 
remainder of a three-year term to expire January 28, 2022.  

B. Martha Baldwin Park Board
1. Nicole Cillette

To appoint ________, as a regular member to the Martha Baldwin Park Board to 
serve a four-year term to expire May 1, 2024.  

To appoint ________, as a regular member to the Martha Baldwin Park Board to 
serve a four-year term to expire May 1, 2027. 

C. Board of Zoning Appeals
1. Jason Canvasser
2. Carl Kona

To appoint ________, as a regular member of the Board of Zoning Appeals to serve 
the remainder of a three-year term to expire October 10, 2026.  



2 January 22, 2024 
 

To appoint ________, as an alternate member of the Board of Zoning Appeals to 
serve the remainder of a three-year term to expire February 18, 2026.  

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 
All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless a 
Commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general order 
of business and considered under the last item of new business. 

A. Resolution to approve the City Commission regular meeting minutes of January 8, 2024. 
 
B. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 

dated January 11, 2024 in the amount of $7,342,564.60. 

C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated January 18, 2024 in the amount of $1,460,660.63. 

D. Resolution to approve a Special Event permit as requested by Common Ground to hold 
the Birmingham Street Art Fair on September 28 and 29, 2024 contingent upon 
compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and payment of all fees and further 
pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed necessary by administrative 
staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that may be deemed necessary by 
administrative staff, leading up to or at the time of the event. 

E. Resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the HDSA Michigan Chapter 
to hold Yoga in the Park on 06/15/24 contingent upon compliance with all permit and 
insurance requirements and payment of all fees and, further pursuant to any minor 
modifications that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff at the time of the 
event, or event cancellation that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff, 
leading up to or at the time of the event.  

F. Resolution to hold a 2023 review of establishments who have liquor licenses for 
consumption on premises and to consider same establishments for 2024 renewal at the 
regular City Commission meeting on Monday, February 12, 2024 at 7:30 p.m. 

G. Resolution to delegate to the Birmingham City Clerk and her authorized assistants, those 
being the members of her staff, the following duties of the Election Commission for the 
February 27, 2024, August 6, 2024 and November 5, 2024 elections:  

• Preparing meeting materials for the Election Commission (ballots proof for 
approval, list of election inspectors for appointment, etc.) 

• Preparing, printing and delivering ballots 
• Providing candidates and the Secretary of State with proof copies of ballots 
• Providing notice to voters in the case of precinct changes/consolidations 
• Providing election supplies and ballot containers 
• Preliminary logic and accuracy testing 



3 January 22, 2024 

• Notifying major political parties of certified precinct Inspector appointments
(federal and state elections only)

H. Resolution designating Finance Director Mark Gerber, Assistant Finance Director Kim
Wickenheiser, DPS Director Scott Zielinski, Building Official Bruce Johnson, Assistant
Building Official Mike Morad, Museum Director Leslie Pielack, and Police Commander Ryan
Kearney as proxy representatives of Election Commissioners Mayor Elaine McLain, Mayor
Pro Tem Katie Schafer, Commissioner Clinton Baller, Commissioner Brad Host,
Commissioner Andrew Haig, Commissioner Anthony Long, and Commissioner Therese
Longe, to conduct the Public Accuracy Test on Tuesday, February 6, 2024 at 9:00 a.m. in
room 205 to test the electronic tabulating equipment which will be used to count votes at
Birmingham precincts during the February 27, 2024 presidential primary election.

I. Resolution appointing election inspectors, absentee voter counting board inspectors,
receiving board inspectors and other election officials as recommended by the City Clerk
for the February 27, 2024 presidential primary election pursuant to MCL 168.674, and
further grant the City Clerk the authority to make emergency appointments of qualified
candidates should circumstances warrant in order to maintain adequate staffing in the
various precincts, counting boards and receiving boards.

AND

To authorize the use of the Oakland County Absent Voter Counting Board for the purpose
of processing and tabulating absent voter ballots on February 27, 2024, as prescribed in
the terms and responsibilities previously agreed upon at the July 12, 2020 meeting by
Commission resolution 07-120-20.

J. Resolution to allocate $20,416 in Municipal Credits and $33,579 in Community Credits
from SMART for fiscal year 2024 to Next in support of their specialized transportation
program; and further to direct the Finance Director to sign the Municipal Credit and
Community Credit contract for fiscal year 2024 on behalf of the City.

K. Motion adopting an amendment to Chapter 58, Article IV., Sec. 58-111(a) of the
Birmingham City Code of Ordinances stating that applicants for child care centers, day
care centers and family day care group homes must provide their most recent driver’s
license and the Police Department shall perform a background and criminal check of
applicants.

VI. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT
A. January 22, 2024 City Manager’s Report

VII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
A. Shirley Rd. & Arlington St. Interim Report for City-Initiated Unimproved Street Project

VIII. NEW BUSINESS

A. Public Hearing – Confirmation of SAD Roll 907 Edgewood Road Project – Water and
Sewer Laterals



4 January 22, 2024 

1. Resolution confirming special assessment roll 907 as follows:

WHEREAS, Special Assessment Roll, designated Roll No. 907, has been heretofore
prepared for collection, and

WHEREAS, notice was given pursuant to Section 94-7 of the City Code, to each
owner or partyin-interest of property to be assessed, and

WHEREAS, the Commission has deemed it practicable to cause payment of the cost
thereof to be made after the time of construction and

WHEREAS, Commission Resolution 01-005-24 provided it would meet this 22nd day
of January, 2024 for the sole purpose of reviewing the assessment roll, and

WHEREAS, at said hearing held this January 22, 2024, all those property owners or
their representatives present have been given an opportunity to be heard specifically
concerning costs appearing in said special assessment roll,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that Special Assessment Roll No. 907 be in all
things ratified and confirmed, and that the City Clerk be and is hereby instructed to
endorse said roll, showing the date of confirmation thereof, and to certify said
assessment roll to the City Treasurer for collection at or near the time of construction
of the improvement.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the special assessment shall be payable in five (5)
payments as provided in Section 94-10 of the Code of the City of Birmingham, with
an annual interest rate of nine and one half percent (9.50%) on all unpaid
installments.

Parcel ID / Sidwell Number Street Address 
Sewer Lateral 

SAD 
Assessment 

19-36-402-049 280 E. Lincoln  $  6,290.00 

19-36-402-049 280 E. Lincoln  $  6,800.00 

19-36-403-032 400 E. Lincoln  $  2,720.00 

19-36-403-032 400 E. Lincoln  $  2,720.00 

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood  $  5,950.00 

19-36-402-024 1212 Edgewood  $  5,950.00 

19-36-402-025 1236 Edgewood  $  5,950.00 

19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood  $  5,950.00 

19-36-402-028 1272 Edgewood  $  5,950.00 

19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood  $  5,950.00 



5 January 22, 2024 

19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood  $  5,950.00 

19-36-402-033 1348 Edgewood  $  5,950.00 

19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood  $  5,950.00 

19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood  $  5,950.00 

19-36-402-038 1486 Edgewood  $  5,780.00 

19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood  $  5,780.00 

 $   89,590.00 

 Parcel ID / Sidwell Number Street Address 
Water Lateral 

SAD 
Assessment 

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood  $  2,220.00 

19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood  $  2,220.00 

19-36-402-029 1288 Edgewood  $  2,220.00 

19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood  $  2,442.00 

19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood  $  2,220.00 

19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood  $  2,442.00 

19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood  $  2,220.00 

19-36-402-037 1472 Edgewood  $  2,220.00 

19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood  $  2,220.00 

 $   20,424.00  

B. Public Hearing – Lot Combination of 34350 Woodward Avenue and 909-911 Haynes Street,
Fred Lavery Porsche, Parcel # 19-36-281-022 and Parcel # 19-36-281-030

1. Resolution to approve the lot combination of 34350 Woodward Ave and 909-911
Haynes Street, Fred Lavery Porsche, parcel # 19-36-281-022 and parcel # 19-36-
281-030.

C. Public Hearing - 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street – Fred Lavery Porsche
Dealership – Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review

1. Resolution to approve the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design
Review application for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street – Fred
Lavery Porsche.

D. Resolution to establish a permanent Wayfinding and Branding Committee to continue the
implementation of the Citywide Wayfinding and Signage Plan and act as a clearing house
for all major wayfinding and branding projects in the City.



6 January 22, 2024 

E. Commission Items for Future Discussion. A motion is required to bring up the item for
future discussion at the next reasonable agenda, no discussion on the topic will happen
tonight.

F. Commission discussion on items from a prior meeting.
1. Brandon Street – Shirley to Linden Road

IX. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA

X. COMMUNICATIONS

XI. REPORTS
A. Commissioner Reports
B. Commissioner Comments
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas
D. Legislation
E. City Staff

1. Annual Review of ADA Project Updates Completed in 2023

INFORMATION ONLY 

XI!. ADJOURN 
Should you wish to participate in this meeting, you are invited to attend the meeting in person or 
virtually through ZOOM:   https://zoom.us/j/655079760       Meeting ID: 655 079 760  
You may also present your written statement to the City Commission, City of Birmingham, 151 Martin 
Street, P.O. Box 3001, Birmingham, Michigan 48012-3001 prior to the hearing. 

NOTICE:  Individuals requiring accommodations, such as mobility, visual, hearing, interpreter or other assistance, for 
effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk's Office at (248) 530-1880 (voice), or (248) 644-
5115 (TDD) at least one day in advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance.  
Las personas que requieren alojamiento, tales como servicios de interpretación, la participación efectiva en esta reunión 
deben ponerse en contacto con la Oficina del Secretario Municipal al (248) 530-1880 por lo menos el día antes de la 
reunión pública. (Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964). 

https://zoom.us/j/655079760
tel:%28248%29%20530-1880


NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO 
PUBLIC ARTS BOARD 

At the regular meeting of Monday, January 22, 2024 the Birmingham City Commission intends 
to appoint to the Public Arts Board one alternate member to serve the remainder of a term 
expiring on January 28, 2025 and two regular members to serve three-year terms to expire 
January 28, 2027. 

In so far as possible, the members shall represent a major cultural institution, be registered 
architect of the State of Michigan, an artist, an art historian, and/or an art consultant. 
Members may also be members of the Historic District Commission, Design Review Board, 
the Parks and Recreation Board, or the Planning Board.  At least four members of the Board 
shall be residents of the City of Birmingham.   

The objectives of the Public Arts Board are to enrich the City's civic and cultural heritage; to 
promote a rich, diverse, and stimulating cultural environment in order to enrich the lives of 
the City's residents, business owners, employees, and all visitors; and to establish an 
environment where differing points of view are fostered, expected, and celebrated by 
providing the opportunity for such expression through the display of public art. 

Interested citizens may apply for this position by submitting an application available from the 
City Clerk's office.  Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk's office on or before noon 
on Wednesday, January 17, 2024.  These applications will appear in the public agenda for the 
regular meeting at which time the commission will discuss recommendations, and may make 
nominations and vote on the appointments.  

Applicant(s) Presented For City Commission Consideration: 

All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 
2, Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

Applicant Name Criteria 
At least four members 
must be residents of the 
City of Birmingham 

Qualifications 
Members shall, in so far as possible, 
represent a major cultural institution, be 
a registered architect of the State of 
Michigan, an artist, an art historian, 
and/or an art consultant.  Members may 
also be members of the Historic District 
Commission, Design Review Board, the 
Parks and Recreation Board, or the 
Planning Board. 

Barbara Heller Current PAB member, with experience as 
advocate for the arts and its long-term 
care and preservation 

Shabnam Hosseini Over 20 years of experience as a sculptor 
and designer. 

3A



SUGGESTED ACTION: 

To appoint _______ to the Public Arts Board, as an alternate member, for the remainder of 
a three-year term to expire January 28, 2022. 

To appoint _______ to the Public Arts Board, as a regular member, for a three-year term 
to expire January 28, 2027. 

To appoint _______ to the Public Arts Board, as a regular member, for a three-year term 
to expire January 28, 2027. 

3A



PUBLIC ARTS BOARD
City Code - Chapter 78, Article V 
Terms - 3 years 
7 regular members - At least 4 members shall be residents of the City of Birmingham.  The remaining 
members may or may not be residents of Birmingham.  In so far as possible, the members shall 
represent a major cultural institution, a registered architect of the State of Michigan, an artist, an art 
historian, and an art consultant.  Members may also be members of the Historic District Commission, 
Design Review Board, the Parks and Recreation Board, or the Planning Board. 
2 alternate members - must meet one of the already established criteria for regular members  
Objectives -  
 to enrich the City's civic and cultural heritage;  
 to promote a rich, diverse, and stimulating cultural environment in order to enrich the lives of the 

City's residents, business owners, employees, and all visitors;  
 to establish an environment where differing points of view are fostered, expected, and celebrated 

by providing the opportunity for such expression through the display of public art. 

Last Name First Name

Home Address

Home
Business 

E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Andi Harris

1819 Washington Blvd

(248)765-3202

andi.celeste.harris@gmail.com

Regular member

Birmingham 48009

1/28/20263/27/2023

Carey Elaine

937 Smith Ave

(718) 490-9837

ekcarey@gmail.com

Alternate member

Birmingham 48009

1/28/202610/16/2023

DeSanto Luca

Student representative
12/31/20232/27/2023

Eddleston Jason

892 Purdy

(248) 703-3808

jason28e@yahoo.com

Regular member

Birmingham 48009

1/28/202512/5/2016

Thursday, January 18, 2024 Page 1 of 2

3A



Last Name First Name

Home Address

Home
Business 

E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Graham Pam

884 Knox

(248) 408-6277

pamcracker@gmail.com

Regular member

Birmingham 48009

1/28/20262/27/2023

Heller Barbara

176 Linden

(248) 540-1310

(313) 833-7834

bheller@dia.org

Regular member

Birmingham 48009

1/28/20241/28/2002

McLean Andrew

Student representative
12/31/20232/27/2023

Neville Monica

1516 E. Melton

(248) 321-1776

monica.neville1@gmail.com

Regular member

Birmingham 48009

1/28/20242/27/2017

Ritchie Anne

1455 South Eton

(248) 635-1765

anneritchie7@yahoo.com

Regular member

Birmingham 48009

1/28/20259/12/2016

Vacant

Alternate member
1/28/2025

VanGelderen Annie

3795 Loch Bend

(248) 408-6132

annievangelderen@bbartcenter.org

Artist/major cultural institution

Commerce Twp. 48382

1/28/20261/13/2020

Thursday, January 18, 2024 Page 2 of 2

3A

mbrown
Rectangle

mbrown
Rectangle

mbrown
Rectangle



APPLICATION FOR CITY BOARD OR COMMITTEE 

Thank you for your interest in serving on a Board or Committee.  The purpose of this form is to provide the City 
Commission with basic information about applicants considered for appointment.  NOTE: Completed applications are 
included in the City Commission agenda packets.  The information included on this form is open to the public.  All Board 
and Committee members are subject to the provisions of the Ethics Ordinance (Chapter 2, Article IX of the City Code). 

Information on various Boards and Committees and a list of current openings can be found on the City website at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities.      

(Please print clearly) 

Board/Committee of Interest ___Public Arts Board___________________________________________________________ 

Specific Category/Vacancy on Board _Regular Member______________________ (see back of this form for information) 

Name ___Barbara Heller____________________________ 

Residential Address  __176 Linden Rd__________________ 

Residential City, Zip __Birmingham, 48009_____________ 

Business Address      __Detroit Institute of Arts__________

       __5200 Woodward Ave____________

Phone __248-540-1310__________________

 Email *__bheller@dia.org________________

 Length of Residence _43_________________

 Occupation _Art Conservator______________ 

Business City, Zip     __Detroit, MI 48202_______________ 

Reason for Interest:  Explain how your background and skills will enhance the board to which you have applied. My term_ 
is expiring in January. I am an advocate for the arts and its long-term care and preservation. In partnership with other____ 
boards, community groups, organizations and the City Commission, I would like to continue serving my city and participate 
in its artistic and aesthetic development as a walkable community.______________________________________________

List your related employment experience __Detroit Institute of Arts (resumé attached)____________________________

List your related community activities PAB, Marshall M. Fredericks Sculpture Museum Advisory Board and Chair Collections 
Committee, The Community House of Birmingham-Chair, Co-Chair and Jury Our Town and Student Art Town; Juror/Co-
Juror Canvas Pontiac, Milford, Plymouth, Belleville and Oakland County Michigan Artist Competition etc.______________ 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________

List your related educational experience _Olivet College, University of Michigan, Harvard University, Museum Leadership 
Institute - University of California at Berkeley_____________________________________________________________ 

To the best of your knowledge, do you or a member of your immediate family have any direct financial or business 
relationships with any supplier, service provider or contractor of the City of Birmingham from which you or they derive 
direct compensation or financial benefit?  If yes, please explain:_No_____________________________________________ 

Do you currently have a relative serving on the board/committee to which you have applied? __No________________ 

Are you an elector (registered voter) in the City of Birmingham? ___Yes________________ 

____________________________________________ 
Signature of Applicant   

_________________________ 
Date 

Return the completed and signed application form to:  City of Birmingham, City Clerk’s Office, 151 Martin, Birmingham, MI  48009 or by email to 
clerk@bhamgov.org or fax to 248.530.1080.              Updated 11/18/2020 
*By providing your email to the City, you agree to receive news & notifications from the City. If you do not wish to 
receive these messages, you may unsubscribe at any time.  

OFFICE USE ONLY 
Meets Requirements?   Yes   No  

Will Attend / Unable to Attend 

November 25, 2023

3A

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities
mailto:clerk@bhamgov.org


3A



Name of Board: Year: 2022

Members Required for Quorum: 4

MEMBER NAME 1/18 2/15 3/15 4/19 5/17 6/21 7/19 8/16 9/20 10/18 11/15 12/20
SPEC 
MTG

SPEC 
MTG

Total
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Natalie Bishai P P CM NA CM CM NA CM CM CM NA CM 2 0 100%
Jason Eddleston A P CM P CM CM A CM CM CM P CM 3 2 60%
Pam Graham NA NA CM P CM CM P CM CM CM P CM
Barbara Heller P P CM P CM CM P CM CM CM A CM 4 1 80%
Monica Neville P P CM P CM CM P CM CM CM A CM 4 1 80%
Anne Ritchie P P CM A CM CM P CM CM CM A CM 3 2 60%
Annie VanGelderen P P CM A CM CM P CM CM CM P CM 4 1 80%
ALTERNATES
Andi Harris NA NA CM P CM CM P CM CM CM P CM 3 0 100%

0 0
0 0
0 0
0 0

TOTAL 5 6 0 5 0 0 6 0 0 0 4 0 0 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

PUBLIC ARTS BOARD

3A

mbrown
Rectangle



Name of Board: Year: 2021
Members Required for Quorum: 4

MEMBER NAME 1/20 2/10 3/17 4/21 5/19 6/16 7/21 10/20 11/17 12/15
SPEC 
MTG

SPEC 
MTG

Total 
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent 
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Natalie Bishai P P P P A A P P A P 7 3 70%
Peggy Daitch P P P P A P P NA NA NA 6 1 86%
Jason Eddleston P P A P A P P A P P 7 3 70%
Barbara Heller P P P P P P P P P P 10 0 100%
Hadley Lovell (student) NA NA A A P A A A A A 1 7 13%
Monica Neville P P P P P P P P P P 10 0 100%
Anne Ritchie P P P P P P A P A P 8 2 80%
Nora Sherifaj (student) NA NA P P A P A A A A 3 5 37%
Linda Wells P P A A NA NA NA NA NA NA 2 2 50%
Annie VanGelderen P P P P P P P P P P 10 0 100%
ALTERNATES
Marla Kaftan NA NA P P P P A P P A 6 2 75%

0 0
TOTAL 8 8 8 9 6 8 6 6 5 6 0 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

PUBLIC ARTS BOARD

3A

mbrown
Rectangle



3A

mbrown
Highlight



ARTICLE V. - PUBLIC ARTS BOARD

Footnotes:

--- (4) ---

Editor's note— Ord. No. 1773, adopted December 17, 2001, enacted provisions intended for use as §§ 78-100—78-112. To

preserve the style of this Code, and at the discretion of the editor, said provisions have been redesignated as §§ 78-101—

78-113.

Sec. 78-101. - De�nitions.

Art, civic means visual art pertaining to a person, place or event relating to or belonging to a city or

municipality.

Art, public means one or more pieces of civic, visual or performance art designed specifically for

ownership by the public or display on property owned by the public.

Art, visual means the conscious production or arrangement of colors, forms or other elements in a

manner that affects the human senses in a graphic or plastic medium.

Competition means a process established by the public arts board to review specific art work(s) for a

specific site, for the purposes of making a recommendation to the public arts board.

Jury means an ad hoc committee or individual appointed by the public arts board to review specific art

work(s) for the purposes of making a recommendation to the public arts board.

Performance art means works of art that create a situation and are conducted for a duration determined

by the artist and/or spectator.

Rules of procedure means a written description of the board's mission statement, objectives,

organization of meetings, membership, terms of service, procedure for the election of officers, and

procedures for the review of public art work.

(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01)

Sec. 78-102. - Created.

There is hereby created a public arts board for the city. The public arts board is a locally organized board

and is not established by any enabling legislation of the state.

(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01)

Sec. 78-103. - Composition and terms of members.

3A



The public arts board shall be appointed by the city commission and consists of the city manager and

his/her designated representative(s) as nonvoting ex-officio members and seven voting members.

At least four members of the public arts board shall be residents of the city. The remaining members and

ex-officio members may or may not be residents of the city.

In so far as possible, the members shall represent a major cultural institution such as Cranbrook

Academy and/or the Detroit Institute of Arts, the Birmingham/Bloomfield Arts Council (BBAC), a registered

architect of the state, an artist, an art historian and an art consultant. Members of the public arts board may

also be members of the design review board, the historic district commission, the parks and recreation

board, or the planning board.

The initial members of the public arts board shall be appointed for the following terms: Two for one year,

two for two years and three for three years. Thereafter, all such appointments, except to fill vacancies, shall

be for a term of three years.

The city commission may appoint two alternate members to serve as needed on the public arts board

during their term of appointment. An alternate member may be called on a rotating basis to sit as a regular

member of the public arts board in the absence of a regular member. An alternate member may also be

called to service in the place of a regular member for the purpose of reaching a decision on a case in which

the regular member has abstained for reasons of conflict of interest. An alternate member having been

appointed shall serve in the case until a final decision has been made. An alternate member shall have the

same voting rights as a regular member of the public arts board.

(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01; Ord. No. 1884, 7-24-06; Ord. No. 2234, 5-22-17)

Sec. 78-104. - Vacancies.

All appointments for the purpose of filling vacancies occurring otherwise than by expiration of term of

office, shall be for the remainder of the term of office.

(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01)

Sec. 78-105. - Compensation.

The members of the public arts board shall serve as such without compensation.

(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01)

Sec. 78-106. - Removal.

Members of the public arts board may, after a public hearing, may be removed without cause by a

majority vote of the city commission.

3A



(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01)

Sec. 78-107. - Organization and election of o�cers.

The public arts board shall, from its appointed members, annually elect a chairperson and vice-

chairperson whose terms of office shall be fixed by the rules of procedure of the public arts board. The

chairperson shall preside over the public arts board and shall have the right to vote. The vice-chairperson

shall, in absence, or disability of the chairperson perform the duties of the chairperson and shall have the

right to vote. The city manager or his or her authorized representative shall act as secretary of the public

arts board, and maintain a record of all of its proceedings.

The public arts board shall, at its first meeting establish the rules of procedure for conducting its

business.

(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01)

Sec. 78-108. - Meetings and quorum.

The public arts board shall set a time and place for a regular meeting which will be held at least four

times annually and shall determine the manner in which special meetings may noticed and held.

All meetings of the public arts board shall be open to the public. Any person or his duly constituted

representative shall be entitled to appear and be heard on any matter applicable to the business at hand

before the public arts board makes its recommendation to the city commission.

At least four members of the public arts board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of its

business.

The proceedings of each meeting of the public arts board, shall be recorded by the city manager or his or

her authorized representative, acting as secretary.

(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01)

Sec. 78-109. - Assistance.

The public arts board may call upon the city manager for information and services from the various city

departments as it may require. The public arts board may recommend to the city commission the securing

of professional and consulting services as it may require, however, no expenditures of funds shall be made

or contracts entered into for providing such services unless the same shall first be approved and authorized

by the city commission.

(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01)

Sec. 78-110. - Objectives.

3A



To enrich the city's civic and cultural heritage, the public arts board is established to provide a level of

expertise and objectivity to recommend to the city commission works of art to become the property of or

for display upon property owned by the city.

To promote a rich, diverse, and stimulating cultural environment in order to enrich the lives of the city's

residents, business owners, employees and visitors and to enhance the city's image both nationally and

internationally.

To establish an environment where differing points of view are fostered, expected and celebrated by

providing the opportunity for such expression through the display of public art.

(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01)

Sec. 78-111. - Duties.

The public arts board shall establish rules of procedure to describe the board's mission statement,

objectives, organization of meetings, membership, terms of service, procedure for the election of officers,

and procedures for the review of public art work. See section 78-106.

With the exception of art works to be placed in museums or art galleries, the public arts board shall have

the responsibility to review all works of art to become the property of or placed upon property owned by the

city. See section 78-109.

The public arts board shall have the responsibility to review publicly owned property for the purposes of

consideration for the display of public art. The public arts board shall recommend to the city commission

the establishment of general guidelines for site selection, maintenance program(s) for ensuring the

structural integrity and aesthetic quality of the site and any work of art, including the removal of any work of

art.

The public arts board shall have the responsibility to pursue sources of public funding for arts and

cultural education, design competitions, special events etc., that may be necessary to advance the objectives

of the public arts board. See section 78-109. In fulfilling such duties, the public arts board may seek

assistance from city staff, and others for the completion of applications for grants, scholarships and other

sources of public funding, including the administration of such funds. See section 78-108. The city may also

accept private donations and gifts to advance the goals, objectives and duties of the public arts board. The

city manager shall be responsible for the administration of any funds, account or endowments created to

accept such gifts or donations and to administer any honorariums or other expenses incurred for the

activities of the public arts board including but not limited to juries and design competitions.

It shall also be the responsibility of the public arts board to increase public awareness and promote

education of the importance of public art as an enrichment of the quality of life for the residents, business

owners, employees and visitors to the city.

3A

https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/


The public arts board shall prepare an annual report of its activities, accomplishments and a description

of how the public arts board has attempted to achieve its objectives. See section 78-109. This report shall be

presented to the city commission.

(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01)

Sec. 78-112. - Review of public art.

The public arts board, within its rules of procedure, as set forth in section 78-106, shall establish its vision

statement and processes for the review of public art works. The public arts board may also appoint a jury or

hold design competitions for the selection and review of public art works. See section 78-108.

The public arts board shall make a recommendation regarding the proposed public art work to the city

commission. However, a positive recommendation shall not be required to advance the proposed artwork

for review by the city commission.

In the event that a display and/or installation of civic, public or visual art is proposed on a site that is

within the jurisdiction of another board of this city, it shall be reviewed by and reported on by such board

before it is presented to the city commission.

(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01)

Sec. 78-113. - Scope of authority.

The public arts board may select and appoint a jury or hold a competition for the review of any public art

project as provided for in sections 78-106 and 78-111. The jury or competition held for any public art project

shall serve the public arts board as an ad hoc committee for the duration of the project only.

The public arts board is a non-administrative board serving to make recommendations to the city

commission but may not assume any legislative or administrative authority in the operation of any city

department or publicly owned property, except as specifically provided in this article.

(Ord. No. 1773, 12-17-01)

3A

https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/


NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO THE 
MARTHA BALDWIN PARK BOARD 

At the regular meeting of Monday, January 22, 2024 the Birmingham City Commission 
intends to appoint one regular member to the Martha Baldwin Park Board to a serve the 
remainder of four-years term to expire May 1, 2024 or May 1, 2027. Members must be 
electors of the City of Birmingham. 

Interested citizens may submit an application available at the city clerk’s office or online at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities. Applications must be submitted to the city clerk's 
office on or before noon on Wednesday, January 17, 2024.  These documents will appear in 
the public agenda for the regular meeting at which time the City Commission will discuss 
recommendations, and may make nominations and vote on appointments.  

Applicant(s) Presented For City Commission Consideration: 

NOTE: All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 2, 
Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

SUGGESTED ACTION: 
To appoint ________, as a regular member to the Martha Baldwin Park Board to serve a 
four-year term to expire May 1, 2024. 
To appoint ________, as a regular member to the Martha Baldwin Park Board to serve a 
four-year term to expire May 1, 2027. 

Applicant Name Criteria/Qualifications 
Applicants must be electors in the City of Birmingham. 

Nicole Cillette Registered Voter at  195 Southlawn Blvd. 

3B

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities


APPLICATION FOR CITY BOARD OR COMMITTEE 

Thank you for your interest in serving on a Board or Committee.  The purpose of this form is to provide the City 
Commission with basic information about applicants considered for appointment.  NOTE: Completed applications are 
included in the City Commission agenda packets.  The information included on this form is open to the public.  All Board 
and Committee members are subject to the provisions of the Ethics Ordinance (Chapter 2, Article IX of the City Code). 

Information on various Boards and Committees and a list of current openings can be found on the City website at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities.      

(Please print clearly) 

Board/Committee of Interest ___________________________________________________________________________ 

Specific Category/Vacancy on Board ____________________________ (see back of this form for information) 

Name __________________________________________ Phone _________________________________ 

Residential Address _______________________________ Email *_________________________________ 

Residential City, Zip _______________________________ Length of Residence ______________________ 

Business Address _________________________________ Occupation _____________________________ 

Business City, Zip _________________________________ 

Reason for Interest:  Explain how your background and skills will enhance the board to which you have applied ________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

List your related employment experience _________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

List your related community activities ____________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

List your related educational experience __________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

To the best of your knowledge, do you or a member of your immediate family have any direct financial or business 
relationships with any supplier, service provider or contractor of the City of Birmingham from which you or they derive 
direct compensation or financial benefit?  If yes, please explain: ______________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Do you currently have a relative serving on the board/committee to which you have applied? __________________ 

Are you an elector (registered voter) in the City of Birmingham? ___________________ 

____________________________________________ _________________________ 
Signature of Applicant   Date 
Return the completed and signed application form to:  City of Birmingham, City Clerk’s Office, 151 Martin, Birmingham, MI  48009 or by email to 
clerk@bhamgov.org or fax to 248.530.1080.              Updated 11/18/2020 

*By providing your email to the City, you agree to receive news & notifications from the City. If you do not wish to 
receive these messages, you may unsubscribe at any time.  

OFFICE USE ONLY 
Meets Requirements?   Yes   No 

Will Attend / Unable to Attend 

3B

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities
mailto:clerk@bhamgov.org
Nicole Cillette
Martha Baldwin Park Board

Nicole Cillette
Yes

Nicole Cillette
No

Nicole Cillette
No

Nicole Cillette
Nicole Cillette

Nicole Cillette
Registered voter in Birmingham

Nicole Cillette
195 E Southlawn Blvd

Nicole Cillette
Birmingham, MI 48009

Nicole Cillette
312-931-7920

Nicole Cillette
Cillette@gmail.com

Nicole Cillette
Senior Manager, Global Brand and Creative Strategy at PayPal 

Nicole Cillette
5 months

Nicole Cillette
N/A

Nicole Cillette
N/A

Nicole Cillette
Please see attached page 

Nicole Cillette
1/2/2024

Nicole Cillette
Please see attached page 

Nicole Cillette
Please see attached page 

Nicole Cillette
Please see attached page 



Explain how your background and skills will enhance the board to which you have applied.
As a professional brand and creative strategist, I can bring that experience and expertise to the
positioning of the benefits of Martha Baldwin park to the public, as well as how we strategically use our
tools to drive awareness and participation in park activities. I have an extensive background in building
global and award-winning experiential campaigns that will translate to strategic space and environment
planning designed with consideration of park-goers and citizens in mind. I know how to develop insights
about the people who I would serve in this role and how to apply those effectively to the decisions and
projects I would be responsible for as a member of this committee.

Related Employment Experience
● Global Brand and Creative Strategy, PayPal
● SMB Integrated Marketing, PayPal
● Global Campaign Strategy and Partnerships, Uber

Related Community Activities
● We’ve just moved to the Birmingham area this past August, so this would be my first active

participation in the community. Prior to moving here, I’ve lived in San Francisco, Brooklyn, and
Chicago where I spent much of my free time enjoying public parks in the neighborhoods I’ve lived
in and I would love to bring those experiences with me to the Martha Baldwin Park Board.

Related Educational Experience
● BA, Professional Writing, Michigan State University

○ Food, Farming, and Community Program Intern at Michigan State University Museum
■ The Food, Farming and Community project was an activity of the Michigan State

University Museum that provides materials to build greater understanding about
local food, and the importance of sustainable practice.

3B



MARTHA BALDWIN PARK BOARD
Chapter 78 - Section 78-56 Ordinance No. 65, Adopted May 10, 1915 
Term:  four years 
Appointed by the City Commission 
 
Qualifications: The board shall consist of four persons who shall be electors of the city.   
 
Duties: The control and management of the Martha Baldwin Park shall be vested in the Martha 
Baldwin Park Board. (Section 78-56)  
 

Last Name First Name

Home Address

Home
Business 
Fax

E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Forrester Linda

1252 S. Bates

(248) 761-2367

linozfor@att.net

5/1/20276/26/2023

Kenning Robert

1700 Villa

(248) 642-6161

rskandsek@aol.com

5/1/20246/8/1992

Vacant 5/1/2024

Vacant 5/1/2027

Thursday, January 4, 2024 Page 1 of 1

3B

mbrown
Highlight



4/5/22, 2:34 PM Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances

1/2

ARTICLE III. - MARTHA BALDWIN PARK BOARD

Footnotes:

--- (3) ---

Cross reference— Boards and commissions, § 2-171 et seq.

Sec. 78-56. - Scope.

The control and management of the Martha Baldwin Park shall be vested in the Martha Baldwin Park

Board.

(Code 1963, § 3.11)

Sec. 78-57. - Continuance of board.

The Martha Baldwin Park Board, heretofore established, is hereby continued in full force and effect.

(Code 1963, § 3.11)

Sec. 78-58. - Composition, appointment, terms.

The Martha Baldwin Park Board shall consist of four persons who shall be electors of the city, one of

whom shall be appointed to office each year by the city commission to hold office from May 1 of the year in

which appointed for a term of four years.

(Code 1963, § 3.11; Ord. No. 2180, 5-9-16)

Sec. 78-59. - Filling vacancies, removal of member.

Any vacancy occurring in the membership of the Martha Baldwin Park Board shall be filled for the

remainder of the unexpired term by the city commission. The commission may remove any member of the

board for cause.

(Code 1963, § 3.11)

Sec. 78-60. - Compensation.

The members of the Martha Baldwin Park Board shall serve without compensation therefor.

(Code 1963, § 3.11)

Sec. 78-61. - Tax for park purposes.

3B



4/5/22, 2:34 PM Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances

2/2

The city commission shall each year appropriate and raise by general tax not less than the sum of $25.00,

which sum shall be expended for the improvement and maintenance of Martha Baldwin Park.

(Code 1963, § 3.11)

Secs. 78-62—78-80. - Reserved.

3B



NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO 
BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS 

At the regular meeting of Monday, January 22, 2024, the Birmingham City Commission intends 
to appoint one regular member to the Board of Zoning Appeals to serve the remainder of a 
three-year term to expire October 10, 2026, and one alternate member to the Board of Zoning 
Appeals to serve the remainder of a three-year term to expire February 18, 2026. 

Interested parties may recommend others or themselves for these positions by submitting a 
form available from the City Clerk's office. Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk's 
office on or before noon on Wednesday, January 16, 2024.  Applications will appear in the 
public agenda at which time the City Commission will discuss recommendations, and may make 
nominations and vote on appointments. 

Duties of Board 
The Board of Zoning Appeals acts on questions arising from the administration of the zoning 
ordinance, including the interpretation of the zoning map. The Board hears and decides appeals 
from and reviews any order, requirement, decision or determination made by the Building 
Official. 

Applicant Name Criteria 
Applicants  shall be 
property owners  of 
record and registered 
voters. 

Qualifications 

Carl Kona Birmingham Property 
owner and registered 
voter 

Current alternate member of the 
board of Zoning Appeals and has 
experience with remodeling 
through a personal business. 

Jason Canvasser Birmingham Property 
owner and registered 
voter 

Has been on the board since 2015, 
assists people with zoning issues in 
legal practice 

NOTE: All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 2, 
Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement. 

SUGGESTED ACTION: 

To appoint as an alternate member to the Board of Zoning Appeals to serve 
the remainder of a three-year term to expire February 18, 2026. 

To appoint as a regular member to the Board of Zoning Appeals to serve a 
three-year term to expire October 10, 2026. 

3C



BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
Chapter 126 – Section 126-671 – Seven Members – Three Year Terms 
Requirements – Property owners of record and registered voter 

The Board of Zoning Appeals acts on questions arising from the administration of the zoning 
ordinance, including the interpretation of the zoning map. The board hears and decides appeals 
from and reviews any order, requirement, decision or determination made by the building official. 

Last Name First Name

Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Hart Kevin

2051 Villa

(248) 4967363

khartassociates@aol.com
Architect

2/27/2012 10/10/2026

Kona Carl

439 W. Merrill St

(248)540-2810

carlsbox@hotmail.com
Alternate Member, Financial Services
4/25/2022 2/18/2026

Lilley Richard

648 Cherry Ct.

248-594-6737

dicklilley@icloud.com
Regular Member

9/6/2018 10/10/2025

Miller John

544 Brookside

(248) 703-9384

jnmillerstudio@gmail.com
Architect
1/23/2012 10/10/2024

Morganroth Erik

631 Ann

(248) 762-9822

emorganroth@comcast.net
Real Estate/Builder

10/12/2015 10/10/2024

Reddy Ron

763 Wallace

(313) 820-7491

ron.reddy01@gmail.com
Regular member
2/11/2019 10/10/2025

Friday, November 17, 2023 Page 1 of 2

3C

mbrown
Highlight

mbrown
Highlight

mbrown
Highlight



Last Name First Name
Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Vacant
Regular member

10/10/2026

Vacant

Alternate Member

2/18/2026

Yaldo Pierre

1936 Graefield

(248) 534-5585

pierreyaldo1@gmail.com
Attorney
2/28/2022 10/10/2025

Friday, November 17, 2023 Page 2 of 2

3C

mbrown
Highlight

mbrown
Highlight

mbrown
Highlight

mbrown
Highlight

mbrown
Highlight

mbrown
Highlight



3C



APPLICATION FOR CITY BOARD OR COMMITTEE 

Thank you for your interest in serving on a Board or Committee.  The purpose of this form is to provide the City 
Commission with basic information about applicants considered for appointment.  NOTE: Completed applications are 
included in the City Commission agenda packets.  The information included on this form is open to the public.  All Board 
and Committee members are subject to the provisions of the Ethics Ordinance (Chapter 2, Article IX of the City Code). 

Information on various Boards and Committees and a list of current openings can be found on the City website at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities.      

(Please print clearly) 

Board/Committee of Interest ___________________________________________________________________________ 

Specific Category/Vacancy on Board ____________________________ (see back of this form for information) 

Name __________________________________________ Phone _________________________________ 

Residential Address _______________________________ Email *_________________________________ 

Residential City, Zip _______________________________ Length of Residence ______________________ 

Business Address _________________________________ Occupation _____________________________ 

Business City, Zip _________________________________ 

Reason for Interest:  Explain how your background and skills will enhance the board to which you have applied ________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

List your related employment experience _________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

List your related community activities ____________________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

List your related educational experience __________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

To the best of your knowledge, do you or a member of your immediate family have any direct financial or business 
relationships with any supplier, service provider or contractor of the City of Birmingham from which you or they derive 
direct compensation or financial benefit?  If yes, please explain: ______________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Do you currently have a relative serving on the board/committee to which you have applied? __________________ 

Are you an elector (registered voter) in the City of Birmingham? ___________________ 

____________________________________________ _________________________ 
Signature of Applicant   Date 
Return the completed and signed application form to:  City of Birmingham, City Clerk’s Office, 151 Martin, Birmingham, MI  48009 or by email to 
clerk@bhamgov.org or fax to 248.530.1080.              Updated 11/18/2020 
*By providing your email to the City, you agree to receive news & notifications from the City. If you do not wish to 
receive these messages, you may unsubscribe at any time.  

OFFICE USE ONLY 
Meets Requirements?   Yes   No  

Will Attend / Unable to Attend 

Board of Zoning Appeals

Member

Jason Canvasser

369 Kimberly St.

Birmingham, MI 48009

Clark Hill PLC, 500 Woodward Ave., Suite 3500

Detroit, MI 48226

248-231-9972

jcanvasser@clarkhill.com

12 years

Attorney

I have sat on the BZA since approx. 2015.  In my legal practice, I routinely help businesses and homeowners navigate complex
zoning issues.  As a resident of Birmingham, I am interested in continuing my service to the City by utilizing that knowledge to help

regulate land use and act on questions relating to that use.

Clark Hill PLC, June 1, 2012 through present.

Board of Directors - Birmingham Bloomfield Chamber of Commerce

University of Michigan - BA, Political Science 2003; Wayne State Law School - JD, 2006

No.

No

Yes

9/27/2023
�

3C

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities
mailto:clerk@bhamgov.org
JCanvasser
Stamp



Name of Board: Year: 2023
Members Required for Quorum: 4

MEMBER NAME JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC
SPEC 
MTG

SPEC 
MTG

Total
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Miller, John P P P P A P A P P P P P NM NM 10 2 83%
Hart, Kevin P P P A P P P P P A P P NM NM 10 2 83%
Morganroth, Erik A P P P P P P P P P A P NM NM 10 2 83%
Canvasser, Jason P P P P P P A A A NA NA NA NM NM 6 3 67%
Reddy, Ron P P P P P P A P A P A P NM NM 9 3 75%
Yaldo, Pierre P P P A P P P A P P P P NM NM 10 2 83%
Lilley, Richard P A A P P P P P P P P A NM NM 9 3 75%
Reserved 0 0 #DIV/0!
Reserved 0 0 #DIV/0!
ALTERNATES
Kona, Carl P P P P P P A P P P P P NM NM 11 1 92%
Member 2 NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 #DIV/0!
Reserved 0 0 #DIV/0!
Reserved 0 0 #DIV/0!
Present or Available 7 7 7 6 7 8 4 6 6 6 5 6 0 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

Department Head Signature

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

Board of Zoning Appeals

3C

mbrown
Rectangle

mbrown
Rectangle



Name of Board: Year: 2022
Members Required for Quorum: 4

MEMBER NAME JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC
SPEC 
MTG

SPEC 
MTG

Total
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Lillie, Charles A A A P A A P P P NA NA NA P NM 5 5 50%
Miller, John A P A P P P P P P P P A P NM 10 3 77%
Hart, Kevin CP P P P P P A P P P P P P NM 11 1 92%
Morganroth, Erik A P P P P P P P P P P P P NM 12 1 92%
Canvasser, Jason A P P P P P P P P A P P P NM 11 2 85%
Reddy, Ron NA NA P P P P P P P P P P P NM 11 0 100%
Yaldo, Pierre NA NA P P A P P P P P P P P NM 10 1 91%
Rodriguez, Francis CP NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 0 0 #DIV/0!
Lilley, Richard NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA P 1 0 100%
ALTERNATES
Reddy, Ron CP A NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 0 1 0%
Rodenhouse, Erin J. CP P NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 1 0 100%
Kona, Carl NA NA NA NA P P P P P P P P P 9 0 100%
Lilley, Richard NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA P P NA NA NA NA 2 0 100%
Present or Available 4 5 5 7 6 7 7 8 9 7 8 6 8 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

Department Head Signature

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

Board of Zoning Appeals

3C

mbrown
Rectangle

mbrown
Rectangle

mbrown
Rectangle



Name of Board: Year: 2021
Members Required for Quorum: 4

MEMBER NAME JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC
SPEC 
MTG

SPEC 
MTG

Total
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Lillie, Charles P P P P P P P A P P P P NM NM 11 1 92%
Miller, John P P P P P P A P P P P P NM NM 11 1 92%
Hart, Kevin P P A P A P A P P P P A NM NM 8 4 67%
Morganroth, Erik P P P P P P P P P A P P NM NM 11 1 92%
Canvasser, Jason P P P P P P A P P P P P NM NM 11 1 92%
Rodriguez, Francis P A P P P P A P P A A A NM NM 7 5 58%
Lilley, Richard P P P P P P P P P P A P NM NM 11 1 92%
Reserved 0 0 #DIV/0!
Reserved 0 0 #DIV/0!
ALTERNATES
Reddy, Ron P P P P P P P P P P P P NM NM 12 0 100%
Rodenhouse, Erin J. P P P P P P P P P P P P NM NM 12 0 100%
Reserved 0 0 #DIV/0!
Reserved 0 0 #DIV/0!
Present or Available 9 8 8 9 8 9 5 8 9 7 7 7 0 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

Department Head Signature

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

Board of Zoning Appeals

3C

mbrown
Rectangle



Unified Development Ordinance   Page 1

CHAPTER 126 - ZONING

ARTICLE 8: ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES

8.01 The Board of Zoning Appeals
A. Establish: There shall be established and appointed by the City Commission, in accordance with Section 5, Act No.

207 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1921 (MCL 125.585, MSA 5.2935), as amended, a Board of Zoning Appeals
consisting of seven members each to be appointed for a term of three years.

B. Alternate Members: The City Commission may also appoint not more than two alternate members for the same term
as regular members of the Board of Zoning Appeals. The alternate member may be called on a rotating basis to sit as
a regular member of the Board of Zoning Appeals in the absence of a regular member. An alternate member may also
be called to service in the place of a regular member for the purpose of reaching a decision on a case in which the
regular member has abstained for reasons of conflict of interest. The alternate member having been appointed shall
serve in the case until a final decision has been made. The alternate member shall have the same voting rights as a
regular member of the Board of Zoning Appeals.

C. Procedure: Meetings of the Board of Zoning Appeals shall be held at the call of the chairperson, and at such other
times as the Board of Zoning Appeals may determine. Such chairperson, or in his/her absence, the acting chairperson,
may administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses. The Board of Zoning Appeals shall adopt rules of
procedure and shall keep records of applications and the action thereon, which shall be a public record.

D. Appeals: An appeal to the Board of Zoning Appeals, based in whole or in part on the provisions of the Zoning
Ordinance, may be taken by any person aggrieved, or by any governmental officer, department, Board of Zoning
Appeals or bureau affected by the decision of the Building Official. Such appeal shall be taken by filing with the Board
of Zoning Appeals a notice of appeal, on forms provided by the Building Official, specifying the ground thereof, and by
paying the required fee. The Building Official shall transmit to the Board of Zoning Appeals all papers constituting the
records upon which the appeal action was taken.

E. Hearing and Notice: The Board of Zoning Appeals shall fix a reasonable time for the hearing of an appeal and shall
give due notice of the appeal to the persons to whom real property within 300 feet of the premises in question is
assessed, and to the occupants of single- and two-family dwellings within 300 feet, the notice to be delivered
personally or by mail to the respective owners and tenants at the address given in the last assessment roll. If the
tenant’s name is not known, the term “occupant” may be used. A notice sign shall also be posted in a conspicuous
place on the subject property. Notice signs will be provided by the City of Birmingham. It is the responsibility of the
applicant to post the notice sign as required, to ensure that the notice sign remains posted during the entire notice
period and to remove the notice sign the day after the public hearing the notice sign was advertising. At the hearing,
any person or party may appear in person, by agent or by attorney. All such hearings shall be open to the public.

F. Powers and Duties: The Board of Zoning Appeals shall have the powers and duties set forth in MCL 125.581 et seq.,
MSA 5.2931 et seq. and as more particularly hereinafter enumerated. The Board of Zoning Appeals shall not have the
power to change the zoning district of any property. The Board of Zoning Appeal's power and duties shall include the
following:
1. Review of administrative decisions.

a. The Board of Zoning Appeals shall hear and decide appeals from and review any order, requirement, decision
or determination made by an administrative official charged with the enforcement of the Zoning Ordinance.

b. It may reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify the order, requirement, decision or determination
appealed from and shall make such order, requirement, decision or determination as in its opinion ought to be
made in the situation, and to that end shall have all the powers of the officer from whom the appeal is taken.

2. Mapping disputes.
a. Where disputes arise as to the location of the floodplain boundary or the limits of the floodway, the Board of

Zoning Appeals shall resolve the dispute and establish the boundary location in accordance with Section 1.15.

3C



Unified Development Ordinance   Page 2

In all cases, the decision of the Board of Zoning Appeals shall be based upon the most current floodplain 
studies issued by the Office of Federal Insurance and Hazard Mitigation. Where the Office of Federal 
Insurance and Hazard Mitigation information is not available, the best available floodplain information shall be 
utilized.

b. Where a dispute involves an allegation that the boundary is incorrect as mapped and Office of Federal
Insurance and Hazard Mitigation floodplain studies are being questioned, the Board of Zoning Appeals shall
modify the boundary of the floodplain or the floodway only upon receipt of an official letter of map
amendment issued by the Office of Federal Insurance and Hazard Mitigation.

3. Variances.
a. The Board of Zoning Appeals shall hear and grant or deny requests for variances from the strict application of

the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance where there are practical difficulties or unnecessary hardships in
carrying out the strict letter of such chapter. In granting a variance, the Board of Zoning Appeals may attach
such conditions as it may deem reasonably necessary to promote the spirit and intent of the Zoning
Ordinance. The Board of Zoning Appeals shall not grant any variance unless it first determines that:
i. Because of special conditions applicable to the property in question, the provisions of the Zoning

Ordinance, if strictly applied, unreasonably prevent the property owner from using the property for a
permitted purpose;

ii. Literal enforcement of the chapter will result in unnecessary hardship;
iii. The granting of the variance will not be contrary to the spirit and purpose of the Zoning Ordinance nor

contrary to the public health, safety and welfare; and
iv. The granting of the variance will result in substantial justice to the property owner, the owners of property

in the area and the general public.

b. Variances from the provisions of Section 4.13, Floodplain Regulations, shall only be granted by the Board of
Zoning Appeals upon a determination of compliance with the general standards for variances contained in the
Zoning Ordinance and in accordance with the following:
i. The variance granted will not result in flood heights in excess of those permitted by the Zoning Ordinance,

additional threats to public safety, extraordinary public expense, create nuisances, cause fraud on or
victimization of the public, or conflict with existing laws or ordinances.

ii. The variance granted shall be the minimum necessary, considering the flood hazard, to afford relief to the
applicant.

iii. Variances may be granted for the reconstruction, rehabilitation or restoration of structures listed on the
National Register of Historic Places or the Michigan Historic Markers listing of historic sites, or any other
state register of historic places without meeting the requirements of this section.

c. Sign Variance Procedure. Any person who feels aggrieved by a decision of the City Planner or Design Review
Board may have the sign reviewed by the Board of Zoning Appeals. A variance may be granted by the Board
of Zoning Appeals only in cases involving practical difficulties when the evidence in the official record of the
appeal supports all the following affirmative findings:
i. That the alleged practical difficulties are peculiar to the property of the person requesting the variance by

reasons of the physical and/or dimensional constraints of the building and/or site, and result from
conditions which do not exist generally throughout the City;

ii. That the granting of the requested variance would not be materially detrimental to the property owners in
the immediate vicinity;

iii. That the granting of the variance would not be contrary to the general objectives of this Chapter and is in
keeping with the spirit and intent of this ordinance; and

iv. That granting the variance will result in substantial justice being done, considering the public benefits
intended to be secured by this Chapter, the individual hardships that will be suffered by a failure of the
Board of Zoning Appeals to grant a variance, and the rights of others whose property would be affected by
the allowance of the variance.

3C



Unified Development Ordinance   Page 3

v. In granting a variance, the Board of Zoning Appeals may attach such conditions as it may deem
reasonably necessary to promote the spirit and intent of the Zoning Ordinance and the conditions specified
in the sign ordinance, Chapter 86, Article 02, Section 2.06.

G. Miscellaneous:

1. No order of the Board of Zoning Appeals permitting the erection or alteration of buildings shall be valid for a
period longer than one year, unless a building permit for such erection or alteration is obtained within such period
and such erection or alteration is commenced and proceeds to completion in accordance with the terms of such
permit.

2. No order of the Board of Zoning Appeals permitting a use of a building or premises shall be valid for a period
longer than one year unless such use is established within such period; provided, however, that if the use of such
permit is dependent upon the erection or alteration of a building, such order shall continue in full force and effect
if a building permit for such use, erection or alteration is obtained within such period and such erections or
alterations are commenced and proceed to completion in accordance with the terms of such permit.

3C



DECEMBER 2018 Page 1 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS

RULES OF PROCEDURE

ARTICLE I - Appeals

A. Appeals may be filed under the following conditions:

1. A property owner may appeal for variance, modification or adjustment of the requirements
of the Zoning Ordinance.

2. A property owner may appeal for variance, modification or adjustment of the requirements
of the Sign Ordinance.

3. Any aggrieved party may appeal the decision of the Planning Board and/or the Building
Official in accordance with the City of Birmingham Zoning Ordinance, Article Eight,
Section 8.01 (D) Appeals. If an appellant requests a review of any determination of the
Building Official, a complete statement setting forth the facts and reasons for the
disagreement with the Building Official's determination shall include the principal point,
or points on the decision, order or section of the ordinance appealed from, on which the
appeal is based.

B. Procedures of the Board of Zoning Appeals (BZA) are as follows:

1. Regular BZA meetings, which are open to the public, shall be held on the second Tuesday
of the month at 7:30 P.M. provided there are pending appeals.  There will be a maximum
of seven appeals heard at the regular meeting which are taken in the order received. If an
appeal is received on time after the initial seven appeals have been scheduled, it will be
scheduled to the next regular meeting.

2. All applications for appeal shall be submitted to the Community Development Department
on or before the 12th day of the month preceding the next regular meeting.  If the 12th falls
on a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday, the next working day shall be considered the last
day of acceptance.

3. All property owners and occupants within 300 feet of the subject property will be given
written notice of a hearing by the City of Birmingham.

4. See the application form for specific requirements.  If the application is incomplete, the
BZA may refuse to hear the appeal. The Building Official or City Planner may require the
applicant to provide additional information as is deemed essential to fully advise the Board
in reference to the appeal.  Refusal or failure to comply shall be grounds for dismissal of
the appeal at the discretion of the Board.

3C



DECEMBER 2018 Page 2 

5. In variance requests, applicants must provide a statement that clearly sets forth all special
conditions that may have contributed to a practical difficulty that is preventing a reasonable
use of the property.

6. Where the Birmingham Zoning Ordinance requires site plan approval of a project by the
City Planning Board before the issuance of a building permit, applicants must obtain
preliminary site plan approval by the Planning Board before appeal to the BZA for a
variance request.  If such appeal is granted by the BZA, the applicant must seek final site
plan and design review approval from the Planning Board before applying for a building
permit.

7. An aggrieved party may appeal a Planning Board decision. Such appeal must be made
within 30 days of the date of the decision.  The BZA, in its discretion, may grant additional
time in exceptional circumstances.

8. Appeals from a decision of the Building Official shall be made within 30 days of the date
of the order, denial of permit, or requirement or determination contested.  The BZA, in its
discretion, may grant additional time in exceptional circumstances.

9. An appeal stays all proceedings in accordance with Act #110, Public Acts of 2006, Article
VI, Section 125.3604 (3).

C. The order of hearings shall be:

1. Presentation of official records of the case by the Building Official or City Planner as
presented on the application form.

2. Applicant's presentation of his/her case—the applicant or his/her representative must be
present at the appeal hearing.

3. Interested parties' comments and view on the appeal.

4. Rebuttal by applicant.

5. The BZA may make a decision on the matter or request additional information.

D. Motions and Voting

1. A motion is made to either grant or deny a petitioner's request
a) For a motion to grant or deny a non-use variance request, the motion must receive

four (4) affirmative votes to be approved.
b) For a motion to grant or deny a use variance request, the motion must receive five

(5) affirmative votes to be approved.
c) For a motion to grant or deny an appeal of a decision or order by an administrative

official or board, the motion must receive four (4) affirmative votes to be approved.

3C



DECEMBER 2018 Page 3 

2. When a motion made is to approve or deny a petitioner's request and if there is a tie vote,
then the vote results in no action by the board and the petitioner shall be given an
opportunity to have his or her request heard the next regularly scheduled meeting when all
the members are present.

3. When there are less than seven (7) members of the board present for a meeting, then a
petitioner requesting a use variance shall be given an opportunity at the beginning of the
meeting to elect to have it heard at the next regularly scheduled meeting.

4. When there are less than six (6) members present for a meeting, then all petitioners shall
be given an opportunity at the beginning of the meeting to elect to have the request heard
at the next regularly scheduled meeting.

ARTICLE II - Results of an Appeal 

A. The Board may reverse, affirm, vary or modify any order, requirement, decision or
determination as in its opinion should be made, and to that end, shall have all the powers
of the officer from whom the appeal has been taken.

B. The decisions of the Board shall not become final until the expiration of five (5) days from
the date of entry of such orders or unless the Board shall find that giving the order
immediate effect is necessary for the preservation of property and/or personal rights and
shall so certify on the record.

C. Whenever any variation or modification of the Zoning Ordinance is authorized by
resolution of the BZA, a Certificate of Survey must be submitted to the Community
Development Department with the building permit application. A building permit must be
obtained within one year of the approval date.

D. Failure of the appellant, or his representative, to appear for his appeal hearing will result in
the appeal being adjourned to the next regular meeting.  If, after notice, the appellant fails
to appear for the second time, it will result in an automatic withdrawal of the appeal.  The
appellant may reapply to the BZA.

E. Any applicant may, with the consent of the Board, withdraw his application at any time
before final action.

F. Any decision of the Board favorable to the applicant is tied to the plans submitted,
including any modifications approved by the Board at the hearing and agreed to by the
applicant, and shall remain valid only as long as the information or data provided by the
applicant is found to be correct and the conditions upon which the resolution was based are
maintained.

3C



DECEMBER 2018 Page 4

ARTICLE III - Rehearings

A. No rehearing of any decision of the Board shall be considered unless new evidence is
submitted which could not reasonably have been presented at the previous hearing or unless there
has been a material change of facts or law.

B. Application or rehearing of a case shall be in writing and subject to the same rules as an
original hearing, clearly stating the new evidence to be presented as the basis of an appeal for
rehearing.

I certify that I have read and understand the above rules of procedure for the City of Birmingham 
Board of Zoning Appeals.   

_________________________________________
Signature of Applicant 

3C



CITY AND VILLAGE ZONING ACT (EXCERPT)
Act 207 of 1921

***** 125.585 THIS SECTION IS REPEALED BY ACT 110 OF 2006 EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2006 ***** 

125.585 Board of appeals; rules governing procedure; appointment and terms of members;
powers and duties of board; appeals; variances; remuneration; finality of decision; judicial
review.
Sec. 5. (1) The legislative body of a city or village may act as a board of appeals upon questions arising

under a zoning ordinance. The legislative body may establish rules to govern its procedure as a board of
appeals. In the alternative, the legislative body may appoint a board of appeals consisting of not less than 5
members, each to be appointed for a term of 3 years. Appointments of the first members shall be for terms of
1, 2, and 3 years, respectively, so as nearly as possible to provide for the subsequent appointment of an equal
number of members each year. After the initial appointments, each member shall hold office for the full
3-year term.

(2) Under procedures specified in the zoning ordinance, the legislative body of a city or village may
appoint not more than 2 alternate members for the same term as regular members of the board of appeals. The
alternate members may be called on a rotating basis as specified in the zoning ordinance to sit as regular
members of the board of appeals in the absence of a regular member. An alternate member may also be called
to serve in the place of a regular member for the purpose of reaching a decision on a case in which the regular
member has abstained for reasons of conflict of interest. The alternate member called shall serve in the case
until a final decision is made. The alternate member has the same voting rights as a regular member of the
board of appeals.

(3) The board of appeals shall hear and decide appeals from and review any order, requirements, decision,
or determination made by an administrative official or body charged with the enforcement of an ordinance
adopted under this act. The board of appeals shall also hear and decide matters referred to the board or upon
which the board is required to pass under an ordinance adopted under this act. For special land use and
planned unit development decisions, an appeal may be taken to the board of appeals only if provided for in
the zoning ordinance.

(4) In a city or village having a population of less than 1,000,000, the concurring vote of a majority of the
members of the board is necessary to reverse an order, requirement, decision, or determination of an
administrative official or body, or to decide in favor of the applicant a matter upon which the board is
required to pass under an ordinance, or to effect a variation in an ordinance except that a concurring vote of
2/3 of the members of the board is necessary to grant a variance from uses of land permitted in an ordinance.
In a city having a population of 1,000,000 or more, the concurring vote of 2/3 of the members of the board is
necessary to reverse an order, requirement, decision, or determination of an administrative official or body, or
to decide in favor of the applicant a matter upon which the board is required to pass under an ordinance, or to
grant a variance in an ordinance.

(5) An appeal may be taken by a person aggrieved, or by an officer, department, board, or bureau of the
city or village. In addition, a variance in an ordinance may be applied for and granted pursuant to section 4 of
the uniform condemnation procedures act, 1980 PA 87, MCL 213.54, and this act. A board of rules or board
of building appeals of a city or village may be enlarged to consist of not less than 5 members, and these may
be appointed as the board of appeals as provided in this section.

(6) An appeal under this section shall be taken, within a time prescribed by the board of appeals by general
rule, by filing, with the officer or body from whom the appeal is taken and with the board of appeals, a notice
of appeal specifying the grounds for the appeal. The officer or body from whom the appeal is taken shall
immediately transmit to the board all the papers constituting the record upon which the action appealed from
was taken.

(7) An appeal under this section stays all proceedings in furtherance of the action appealed from unless the
officer or body from whom the appeal is taken certifies to the board of appeals, after the notice of appeal is
filed, that by reason of facts stated in the certificate, a stay would in the opinion of the officer or body cause
imminent peril to life or property. If such a certification is filed, the proceedings shall only be stayed by a
restraining order. A restraining order may be granted by the board of appeals or by the circuit court, on
application, on notice to the officer or body from whom the appeal is taken and on due cause shown.

(8) The board of appeals shall fix a reasonable time for the hearing of the appeal and give notice of the
appeal to the persons to whom real property within 300 feet of the premises in question is assessed, and to the
occupants of single and 2-family dwellings within 300 feet. The notice shall be delivered personally or by
mail addressed to the respective owners and tenants at the address given in the last assessment roll. If a
Rendered Thursday, July 06, 2006 Page 1 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 234 of 2006

© Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

3C



tenant's name is not known, the term “occupant” may be used. Upon the hearing, a party may appear in
person or by agent or by attorney.

(9) The board of appeals shall decide the appeal within a reasonable time. The board of appeals may
reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify the order, requirement, decision, or determination appealed
from and shall make an order, requirement, decision, or determination as in the board's opinion ought to be
made in the premises, and to that end shall have all the powers of the officer or body from whom the appeal is
taken. If there are practical difficulties or unnecessary hardship in carrying out the strict letter of the
ordinance, the board of appeals may in passing upon appeals grant a variance in any of its rules or provisions
relating to the construction, or structural changes in, equipment, or alteration of buildings or structures, or the
use of land, buildings, or structures, so that the spirit of the ordinance shall be observed, public safety secured,
and substantial justice done.

(10) The board of appeals may impose conditions upon an affirmative decision, as provided in section
4c(2). The legislative body of a city or village may authorize the remuneration of the members of the board
for attendance at each meeting.

(11) The decision of the board of appeals is final. However, a person having an interest affected by the
zoning ordinance may appeal to the circuit court. Upon appeal, the circuit court shall review the record and
decision of the board of appeals to ensure that the decision meets all of the following requirements:

(a) Complies with the constitution and laws of this state.
(b) Is based upon proper procedure.
(c) Is supported by competent, material, and substantial evidence on the record.
(d) Represents the reasonable exercise of discretion granted by law to the board of appeals.
(12) If the court finds the record of the board of appeals inadequate to make the review required by this

section, or that additional material evidence exists that with good reason was not presented to the board of
appeals, the court shall order further proceedings before the board of appeals on conditions that the court
considers proper. The board of appeals may modify its findings and decision as a result of the new
proceedings, or may affirm the original decision. The supplementary record and decision shall be filed with
the court.

(13) As a result of the review required by this section, the court may affirm, reverse, or modify the decision
of the board of appeals.

History: 1921, Act 207, Imd. Eff. May 17, 1921;⎯CL 1929, 2637;⎯Am. 1941, Act 306, Eff. Jan. 10, 1942;⎯Am. 1947, Act 272,
Eff. Oct. 11, 1947;⎯CL 1948, 125.585;⎯Am. 1952, Act 97, Eff. Sept. 18, 1952;⎯Am. 1968, Act 202, Eff. Nov. 15, 1968;⎯Am. 1973,
Act 204, Imd. Eff. Jan. 11, 1974;⎯Am. 1978, Act 638, Eff. Mar. 1, 1979;⎯Am. 1979, Act 180, Eff. Mar. 18, 1980;⎯Am. 1986, Act
191, Imd. Eff. July 8, 1986;⎯Am. 2000, Act 20, Imd. Eff. Mar. 8, 2000.

Rendered Thursday, July 06, 2006 Page 2 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 234 of 2006

© Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

3C



STILLE-DEROSSETT-HALE SINGLE STATE CONSTRUCTION CODE ACT (EXCERPT)
Act 230 of 1972

125.1514 Construction board of appeals; creation; appointment, qualifications, and terms of
members; appeal to board; hearing; decision; statement of reasons for decision; appeal to
commission; copy of decision; additional powers or duties; procedures; conducting
business at public meeting; notice; availability of certain writings to public.
Sec. 14. (1) A construction board of appeals for each governmental subdivision enforcing the code shall be

created consisting of not less than 3 nor more than 7 members, as determined by the governing body of the
governmental subdivision. Unless otherwise provided by local law or ordinance, the members of the board of
appeals shall be appointed for 2-year terms by the chief executive officer of a city, village, or township and
the chairperson of the county board of commissioners of a county. A member of the board of appeals shall be
qualified by experience or training to perform the duties of members of the board of appeals. A person may
serve on the board of appeals of more than 1 governmental subdivision. If an enforcing agency refuses to
grant an application for a building permit, or if the enforcing agency makes any other decision pursuant or
related to this act, or the code, an interested person, or the person's authorized agent, may appeal in writing to
the board of appeals. The board of appeals shall hear the appeal and render and file its decision with a
statement of reasons for the decision with the enforcing agency from whom the appeal was taken not more
than 30 days after submission of the appeal. Failure by the board of appeals to hear an appeal and file a
decision within the time limit is a denial of the appeal for purposes of authorizing the institution of an appeal
to the commission. A copy of the decision and statement of the reasons for the decision shall be delivered or
mailed, before filing, to the party taking the appeal.

(2) This act does not prevent a governmental subdivision from granting its board of appeals additional
powers or duties not inconsistent with this act, or from establishing procedures to be followed by its board of
appeals insofar as the procedures do not conflict with this act. Except as otherwise provided by this act, or by
other laws or ordinances, a board of appeals may by rules establish its own procedures.

(3) The business which the board of appeals may perform shall be conducted at a public meeting of the
board of appeals held in compliance with Act No. 267 of the Public Acts of 1976. Public notice of the time,
date, and place of the meeting shall be given in the manner required by Act No. 267 of the Public Acts of
1976.

(4) A record of decisions made by the board of appeals, properly indexed, and any other writing prepared,
owned, used, in the possession of, or retained by the board of appeals in the performance of an official
function shall be made available to the public in compliance with Act No. 442 of the Public Acts of 1976.

History: 1972, Act 230, Eff. Jan. 1, 1973;⎯Am. 1977, Act 195, Imd. Eff. Nov. 17, 1977;⎯Am. 1978, Act 442, Imd. Eff. Oct. 9,
1978.

Popular name: Act 230
Popular name: Uniform Construction Code

Rendered Tuesday, October 18, 2022 Page 1 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 211 of 2022

© Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

3C



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
BOARD OF ETHICS 

REQUEST FOR ADVISORY OPINION 2023-04 

ADVISORY OPINION 

1. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Jason Canvasser has served honorably as a member of the City of Birmingham Board of 

Zoning Appeals (“BZA”) since 2016.  During his tenure on the BZA, Mr. Canvasser has 

been and remains today in the active practice of law as an equity principal of the law firm 

Clark Hill PLC (“Clark Hill”) in its Detroit office.  As a Principal of Clark Hill, Mr. 

Canvasser owes certain fiduciary duties to the firm not relevant to the questions presented in 

this matter.  Mr. Canvasser nonetheless has personal, professional and financial interests in 

the success of the firm. 

Clark Hill has an office located at 220 Park St., Birmingham.  On May 11, 2023, Clark 

Hill applied to the BZA for a dimensional variance for proposed illuminated building signage 

for its Park St. location.  When the Clark Hill variance application came before the BZA at 

its June 13, 2023 hearing, Mr. Canvasser recused himself and refrained from any discussion, 

deliberation, action or voting on the matter due to his simultaneous service on the BZA and 

as a Principal of the applicant, Clark Hill.  At the June 13, 2023, meeting the BZA voted 4 to 

3 to deny Clark Hill’s application for the dimensional variance. 

Clark Hill then filed an action in the Oakland County Circuit Court seeking reversal of 

the BZA’s decision denying the signage variance.  Mr. Canvasser did not participate in the 

preparation of the action and has not and will not participate in its prosecution. 

At the October 2, 2023 City Commission meeting, Mr. Canvasser applied for 

reappointment to the BZA.  He affirmed to the Commission on the record that he would 

DRAFT

3C



Case No. 2023-04 

2 

continue to recuse himself from all decisions regarding Clark Hill.  The Commission then 

determined that before deciding on Mr. Canvasser’s application for reappointment to the 

BZA it would request an advisory opinion from this Board on the appropriateness of his 

reappointment to and service on the BZA while the Clark Hill action against the City and 

BZA is pending.  The City Manager’s Office then filed its Request for Advisory Opinion and 

Addendum to Request for Advisory Opinion, accepted by the City Clerk’s Office by 

Alexandra Bingham on 11/16/2023. 

At a meeting of the Board of Ethics (“BOE”) on December 19, 2023, following a 

presentation by Mr. Canvasser, discussion and questions by the BOE and City Attorney 

Kucharek, the BOE voted unanimously: “To Advise the City Manager and the City 

Commission that the facts presented to the Board of Ethics did not prohibit Mr. Canvasser’s 

reappointment to the BZA.” (City of Birmingham Board of Ethics Minutes, December 19, 

2023, 151 Martin, Birmingham.) 

II. DISCUSSION

The City of Birmingham Ethics Ordinance applies to Mr. Canvasser as a City official as 

defined by §2-322 of the Birmingham City Code. Art. 1X, §§2-320 to 2-326.  City officials 

like Mr. Canvasser are required to disclose all conflicts of interests posed by their service to 

the City and their duties or obligations to any person or entity holding an interest adverse to 

the City in connection with their services, duties or obligations owed to the City by virtue of 

their position as Officials of the City.  (Code §2-323.)  The Code provides: 

(10) Determination of conflict of interest. A conflict of interest exists if:

a. The city or employee has any financial interest, beyond
ownership of his or her place of residence in the outcome of
a matter currently before that city official or employee, or is
associated as owner, member, partner, officer, employee,

DRAFT

3C



Case No. 2023-04 

3 

broker or stockholder in an enterprise that will be affected 
by the outcome of such matter, and such interest is or may 
be adverse to the public interest in the proper performance 
of said official’s or employee’s governmental duties, or; 

b. The city official or employee has reason to believe or
expect that he or she will derive a direct monetary gain or
suffer a direct monetary loss, as the case may be, by reason
of his or her official activity, or;

c. The public official has any other prohibited interest as
defined by state statutes relating to conflicts of interest.

(Code, §2-324(10)). 

As a member of Clark Hill, Mr. Canvasser had both a financial and personal interest in 

the outcome of his firm’s application for a signage variance.  He thus properly disclosed and 

recused himself from the matter, and refrained from any discussion, deliberation, action or voting 

on the matter.  Therefore, Mr. Canvasser fulfilled completely his obligations under the Code 

arising from his conflicting interest in the matter and any City officials faced with similar 

circumstances who conduct themselves in the same manner as he, would likewise fulfill their 

obligations under the Code.  (§2-324(b).) 

In the case where a conflict arises in the course of a City official’s exercise of the 

official’s duties as an agent or representative of the City, the Code does not require 

disqualification of the official from reappointment. (See §2-325(b)).  Rather, as stated above, it 

requires the official to disclose the conflict, recuse him or herself, and refrain from any 

discussion, deliberations, action or voting on the matter as Mr. Canvasser did here.  Also here, as 

a further safeguard going forward relative to this matter, Clark Hill established an ethical firewall 

between Mr. Canvasser and the litigation.  Therefore, there is no impediment under the Code to 

Mr. Canvasser’s, or a City official acting similarly under similar circumstances, reappointment to 

his official position with the City. 

DRAFT

3C



Case No. 2023-04 

4 

CONCLUSIONS 

1. The appropriate action for a sitting or proposed appointee to a City board or

committee ("appointee") who also owes duties to a person or entity that is adverse to the City in 

pending litigation commenced by the adverse person or entity is to disclose the adverse matter, 

recuse him or herself from the matter, and refrain from any discussion, deliberation, action or 

voting on the matter before the appointee’s board or committee. 

2. In its discretion, the City Commission may appoint or reappoint a person to a board or

committee where the person owes duties to a person or entity adverse to the City, board or 

committee provided the person complies with his or her obligations under the Code. 

____________________________ 
James D. Robb, Esq. Chairperson 

____________________________ 
John J. Schrot, Jr., Esq. – Member 

____________________________ 
Michael P. Coakley, Esq. - Member 

 41611300.1/088888.00230 DRAFT

3C



1 

Birmingham City Commission Minutes 
January 8, 2024 

Municipal Building, 151 Martin 
7:30 p.m. 

Vimeo Link: https://vimeo.com/900952400 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Elaine McLain, Mayor, opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 

II. ROLL CALL
City Clerk Bingham called the roll. 

Present: Mayor McLain 
MPT Schafer  
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Longe 

Absent: None 

Staff: City Manager Ecker; City Clerk Bingham, Assistant City Engineer Borton, Assistant 
City Manager Clemence, City Engineer Coatta, Senior Planner Cowan, Assistant City Manager 
Fairbairn, Police Chief Grewe, Police Captain Kearney, City Attorney Kucharek, Parks & Forestry 
Foreman McGaughey, Fire Chief Wells, Department of Public Services Director Zielinski 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS,
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

State Rep. Sharon MacDonell and State Rep. Natalie Price provided State legislative updates. 

Oakland County Commissioner Charlie Cavell provided County Commission updates. 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA
David Bloom made a comment regarding accessory dwelling units in Birmingham and about 
interactions between voters and their legislators. 

Tom Schneider made a comment regarding an issue with the Birmingham Country Club. 

V. CONSENT AGENDA

01-001-24 Consent Agenda

5A

https://vimeo.com/900952400


2 January 8, 2024

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe, seconded by Commissioner Long: 
To move the Consent Agenda with the exception of Items B, G, and H. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Longe 
MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 

Nays, None 

A. Resolution to approve the City Commission regular meeting minutes of December 18,
2023.

C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments,
dated January 4, 2024 in the amount of $1,091,382.32.

D. Resolution to amend the 2024 Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance to include
a change in the Birmingham Museum’s research fee from $25 to $30 per hour.

E. Resolution to install all-way stop control at the intersections of Columbia St and Villa Rd
and Columbia St and Haynes St.  Further, to direct the Chief of Police and the City Clerk
to sign the traffic control orders on behalf of the City.

F. Resolution to enter into a lease agreement with Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC in the
amount of $850.00 per year with annual inflationary adjustments for an encroachment of
360 sq. ft. of right-of-way for private residential balconies at 479 S. Old Woodward.

01-002-24 Warrant List – December 20, 2023 (Item B)

Mayor McLain pulled the Item B, explaining that she pulls warrant lists with payments to the 
48th District Court. She noted that a payment to the 48th District Court of $466,481 was made 
as part of this warrant list. 

Commissioner Host expressed appreciation for the Mayor’s pulling of the item. 

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Long: 
To approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated December 20, 
2023 in the amount of $1,378,750.34. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Longe 
MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 

5A



 

 

3 January 8, 2024 

Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 

 
   Nays, None 
 
01-003-24 Board of Review Member Resignation (Item G) 
 
Commissioner Longe pulled Item G and thanked Cynthia Rose for her years of service. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe, seconded by MPT Schafer: 
To accept the resignation of Cynthia Rose from the Board of Review, to thank her for her service, 
and direct the City Clerk to begin the process of filling the vacancy. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 

 
   Nays, None 
 
01-004-24 Redding Road Project – Contract #9-23(S) Contract Award (Item H) 
 
Commissioner Haig pulled Item H. Staff answered informational questions from Commissioner 
Haig. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Haig, seconded by MPT Schafer: 
To accept the suggested Commission action as indicated on pages three through 12 of the packet, 
under Item 5H. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 

 
   Nays, None 
 

VI. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

VII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

5A



 

 

4 January 8, 2024 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS 
01-005-24 Public Hearing of Necessity -  Edgewood Road Project #6-24 (S) Water  

and Sewer Lateral Special Assessment District 
 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 8:05 p.m. 
 
CE Coatta presented the item. 
 
Seeing no public comment, the Mayor closed the public hearing at 8:11 p.m. 
 
Staff answered informational questions from the Commission. 
 
Commissioners made the following comments in the course of discussion: 

● This project was approved by a previous Commission and proposed by a previous City 
Administration using different criteria than the City uses now. It would be appropriate to 
clarify whether this project represented an appropriate use of resources; 

● When roads are cut into for any reason, it shortens the life of the road; 
● This road was likely scheduled for improvement by the previous administration because 

the scoping likely indicated that these sewer replacements were more urgent than other 
sewers scoped around the same time; 

● The road has not been repaved in the last 25 years. This project might allow for the 
creation of a rain garden, which could help reduce flooding in the area. The sewers are 
older than 50 years, and the water pressure in the project area is lacking. The looping of 
the water lines would be valuable for the residents in the project area; 

● This project would improve the health, safety, and welfare of the residents in the area; 
● It was clarified that this project would actually replace the portion of the sewer line not 

located on private property; and, 
● Replacing the remainder of the sewer line on private property during this project may 

result in cost savings for the residents versus replacing the sewer line as part of a separate 
project. 

 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe, seconded by Commissioner Baller: 
WHEREAS, Notice was given pursuant to Section 94-7 of the City Code, to each owner or 
party-in-interest of property and lots to be assessed, by first class mail, and by publication in a 
newspaper generally circulated in the City; and  
 
WHEREAS, The City Commission has conducted a public hearing and has determined to 
proceed with the project of replacing sewer services 50 years of age or older or of material that 
are not acceptable for City standards and replacing water services that are less than 1 inch in 
diameter on Edgewood Road between E. Lincoln Street and E. Southlawn Blvd.; and 

WHEREAS, The City has previously established a policy requiring replacement of sewer 
services 50 years of age or older or of material that are not acceptable for City standard and 
water services less than 1 inch in diameter and the City street is open for repairs or reconstruction; 
and 

5A



 

 

5 January 8, 2024 

WHEREAS, The City Commission, after the public hearing, has determined that the Edgewood 
Road Project, the replacement of sewer services that are 50 years of age or older or of material 
that are not acceptable for City standards, the replacement of water services that are less than 1 
inch in diameter, is a necessity and is in the best interest of the City; and  

WHEREAS, The Commission has approved the detailed plans and estimates of cost prepared 
by the City Engineer; and 

WHEREAS, Formal bids have been received and the actual cost of sewer service and water 
service replacement has been determined; and 

WHEREAS,  The City Engineer has determined the boundaries of sewer service lateral and 
water service laterals located within the limits of the following streets shall be installed as part of 
the Edgewood Road Project (Contract #4-23(S)): Edgewood Road – E. Lincoln Street to E. 
Southlawn Blvd.; and  

WHEREAS, The formula used in making the assessment is 100% of the contractor’s charge 
for replacing the lateral service that is 50 years of age or older or constructed of materials that 
are not acceptable for City standard and water service that is less than 1 inch in diameter within 
the public right-of-way between the utility and the property line (calculated at the rate of $170.00 
per foot of sewer service pipe and $110.00 per foot of water service pipe). 

THEREFORE LET IT BE RESOLVED, The City Commission has determined that the scope of the 
public improvement as described is in the best interest of the City and will benefit the properties 
listed in the assessment roll, and the City Commission directs the Manager to prepare a Special 
Assessment Roll and present the same to the City Commission for confirmation and further set a 
Public Hearing and give notice on January 22, 2024.  

Sewer Lateral SAD 

Street Address 
280 E. Lincoln 
400 E. Lincoln 
1204 Edgewood 
1212 Edgewood  
1236 Edgewood 
1260 Edgewood 
1272 Edgewood 
1300 Edgewood 
1332 Edgewood 
1348 Edgewood 
1416 Edgewood 
1450 Edgewood 
1486 Edgewood 
1498 Edgewood 

 

5A



 

 

6 January 8, 2024 

Water Lateral SAD 

Street Address 

1204 Edgewood 
1260 Edgewood 
1288 Edgewood 
1300 Edgewood 
1332 Edgewood 
1416 Edgewood 
1450 Edgewood 
1472 Edgewood 
1498 Edgewood 

 
Commissioner Haig expressed concern about voting in favor of the motion since he did not know 
the net cost of the project.  
 
Subsequent to staff comment, Commissioner Haig reiterated for the record that the project was 
estimated to cost a little over $2.2 million based off of a December 2023 quote. 
 
Commissioner Long stated that Edgewood from Lincoln to Southlawn measures approximately a 
quarter of a mile. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 

Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 

 
   Nays, None 
 
01-006-24 Postponement of Shirley Rd. & Arlington St. Interim Report  

for City-Initiated Unimproved Street Project 
 
Citing his residence within the project area, Commissioner Baller recused himself from all items 
on the present agenda regarding the Shirley Rd. & Arlington St. Unimproved Street Project and 
left the room at 8:50 p.m. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 
To postpone the Commission’s proposed discussion of the proposed Arlington and Shirley sewer 
and road improvements until the next Commission meeting.  
 
MPT Schafer said there was presently an opportunity to hear residents’ opinions, and so she 
would not support the motion to postpone the discussion. 
 

5A



 

 

7 January 8, 2024 

Commissioner Longe said that she had independently visited the project area, and said she did 
not feel that a second visit would further contribute to her deliberations. 
 
The Mayor clarified by a show of hands that all Commissioners deliberating on the item had visited 
the project area by car, had also visited the project area by bicycle or on foot, had read all the 
resident correspondence included in the agenda packet, had read all the other item information 
included in the agenda packet, and had watched the video recording of the relevant Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board (MMTB) discussion of the item. 
 
Staff answered informational questions from the Commission. 
 
Commissioner Long noted that while he was a member of the MMTB during initial discussions of 
the project, he had resigned from the MMTB and joined the Commission by the time the MMTB 
voted on its recommendations regarding the project. He suggested that the knowledge he gained 
from the MMTB discussions would benefit the Commission’s deliberations, and that his prior 
participation in some of the MMTB’s discussions would not necessitate his present recusal. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Haig 
 
   Nays, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Mayor McLain 

 
01-007-24 Special Meeting to Tour Shirley Rd. & Arlington St.  
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 
To move that the special meeting of the City Commission be scheduled prior to the Commission’s 
next meeting for the purpose of on-site fact-finding with representatives of the Coryell 
Association, and that consistent with the City Attorney’s counsel, proper public notice be given at 
least 18 hours in advance of the meeting start time.     
 
Staff answered informational questions from the Commission. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 

Commissioner Longe 
    Commissioner Long 

Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Haig 
 
   Nays, Mayor McLain 
 
Mayor McLain explained her no vote was a matter of process, since all the Commissioners had 
visited Arlington and Shirley and had received information from residents and staff.  
 
Commissioner Host, the Mayor, and Commissioner Long had a brief exchange about a portion of 
the Open Meetings Act (OMA). 

5A



 

 

8 January 8, 2024 

Shirley Rd. & Arlington St. Interim Report for City-Initiated Unimproved Street 
Project 

 
SP Cowan, CE Coatta, and FC Wells presented the item and answered informational questions 
from the Commission. 
 
The Mayor explained to the public the procedure for commenting on the item. 
 
Public Comment 
Mike and Lindsay Vansyckle, Lisa Drake, Jenny Shebib, Olivia Davis, Richard Silbergleit opposed 
sidewalks being added within the project area. 
 
Doug DelGrosso and Mr. Silbergleit opposed changes to the street widths. 
 
Kathleen Deveraux opposed the City’s newer method of selecting roads for improvement in light 
of how the improvements are funded. 
 
Midge Moran opposed the project. 
 
Mark Nickita and Janelle Whipple-Boyce supported the project. 
 
Pam Minelli opposed the project’s impact on her property and the project’s hypothetical financial 
impact on senior citizens residing in the project area.   
 
Mike Minelli supported the water and sewer repairs, and supported the City in seeking funding 
for the water and sewer repairs from other sources. 
 
Jim Mirro supported an alternative plan. 
 
Virginia Holcomb requested that the City provide information that would make the plan 
reasonable to residents of Arlington and Shirley. 
 
Paul Reagan made a comment regarding the OMA. 
 
A number of residents thanked the Commission and Staff for their work on the item.  
  
The following comments were made during the Commission’s discussion: 

● Improving the water system within the project area would represent a significant safety 
improvement since it would increase the water pressure available to fire hydrants; 

● The Commission has reviewed all available information and feedback from experts, staff, 
and residents; 

● It is important to understand that a Commissioner might both: 
○ Earnestly listen to a resident’s stated concerns; and, 
○ Reach a conclusion contrary to a resident’s preferred conclusion; 

● Commissioners joined the Commission to listen to fellow residents and to try and make 
the best decisions possible for the entire community. Commissioners are tasked with 
having the wherewithal to make the best possible decisions. Commissioners are residents 
first. Commissioners are volunteers who receive $5 a meeting; 

5A



9 January 8, 2024

● Residents are encouraged to express their opinions at Commission meetings;
● It is inappropriate and inaccurate for residents to accuse the Commissioners of not 

listening. It is inappropriate for residents to threaten the Commissioners. The Commission 
takes its decisions seriously. Residents were perhaps not giving the Commissioners 
enough credit for trying to be open-minded and impartial;

● The Commission is very careful about observing the OMA;
● The Commission aims to undertake infrastructure improvements, to protect and improve 

the health, safety, and welfare of the residents, and to improve sustainability in the City. 
The Commission was elected to implement those improvements. 

● The implication that the Commission was neglecting to hear an overwhelming majority of 
the residents on Arlington and Shirley was not borne out by the numbers;

● Addressing some inaccuracies raised during public comment: A resident commented that 
86% of residents on Arlington and Shirley were against sidewalks, when the initial 
surveys indicated that 56% of residents were against sidewalks. Additionally, 36 
households did not respond to the surveys, and eight indicated that they were in favor of 
sidewalks. Latham was only repaved, which is why sidewalks were not considered for the 
project at that time. Two women sit on the MMTB, and the Commission strives to adhere 
to the values of diversity, equity, and inclusion. The City is able to require residents to 
financially contribute to certain infrastructure work without the residents’ assent, and 
there is precedent for doing so. The 2040 Plan recommends both 26 foot streets and 
sidewalks;

● The Commission is tasked with representing all the residents of the community;
● Part of the conclusions reached by the Ad Hoc Unimproved Streets Study Committee 

(AHUSSC) was that street improvements should be expert-driven. Residents, in general, 
have many opinions about character of their streets but lack sufficient expertise to make 
the best decisions regarding street improvements. Resident-initiated processes often 
proved contentious and gridlocked. That is why the AHUSSC recommended that road 
improvements occur based on a City initiative and based on expert-defined criteria;

● While residents of a street may feel that they deserve greater say on a project that 
affects their street, there is a limit to that. Residents own their homes, but do not own 
the right of way in front of their homes;

● People tend to dislike change initially. Residents previously had concerns about changes 
to Shain Park, and many people now vocally appreciate the changes that were made;

● The tree canopy on Arlington has the potential to look as desirable as the one on Linden;
● If residents of a street wanted to remove their sidewalks, the Commission would not 

entertain that. There is a limit to the decisions that can be made based on character;
● Birmingham invests funds every year into ensuring that its sidewalks are well-maintained; 

and,
● It might be most appropriate to review this project as three separate but interrelated 

items: the water and sewer, the road surface, and the sidewalks. Residents seemed 
largely supportive of the water and sewer improvements. If the survey had been phrased 
differently regarding the easements, the answers may have been different. When 
including the interest on the assessments, the amounts owed by residents for their 
portion of the project would be large. It would be important to look more carefully at the 
financial aspects of this project, and at the financial costs of improving streets more 
generally. The 2040 Plan is a guidebook, not a mandate. Residents each chose their 
homes based on their particular criteria, and the Commission must consider how its 
decisions could impact those choices.

5A



10 January 8, 2024

It was requested that staff’s presentation be distributed to the Commission and made available 
to the public. 

It was noted that Commissioner Baller would remain recused for the special meeting regarding 
this project.  

It was determined that the Commission would hold a publicly-noticed, open to the public special 
meeting regarding this project on Saturday, January 13, 2024 at 12 p.m. 

The Commission and staff clarified the logistics of the special meeting. 

The Commission took a brief recess, and returned from recess. 

01-008-24 Special Meeting to Tour Shirley Rd. & Arlington St. (Part II)

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To move that the Commission schedule a special meeting to have a walking tour of Shirley, 
Arlington, and related areas on Saturday, January 13 at noon.     

It was noted that the meeting would occur if the weather permitted. 

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Longe 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 

Nays, None 

It was decided the snow date would be January 20, 2024 at 3 p.m. 

Commissioner Baller rejoined the meeting at 12:02 a.m. 

01-009-24 Capital Improvement Projects – Oakland Ave Between N. Old
Woodward and Woodward Ave 

CE Coatta and SP Cowan presented the item. Staff and Julie Kroll of Fleis and Vandenbrink 
answered informational questions from the Commission.  

The following comment was made during the Commission’s discussion: 
● When heading west on Oakland from Woodward, the street markings indicating the ability

to turn left or proceed straight should be located further to the east.

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Long: 
To approve the proposed design for N. Old Woodward and Oakland Ave between Woodward Ave 
and N. Old Woodward Ave with enhanced green space along Oakland Ave, a permanent bus stop 

5A



11 January 8, 2024

loading area with an island, and a permanent bump out at the northwest corner of N. Old 
Woodward and Willits St. as pictured in Exhibit A. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Longe 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

Nays, None 

Commission Items for Future Discussion 

01-010-24 Birmingham Country Club Variance Letter

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 
To ask the City Manager to engage the City of Beverly Hills as soon as possible, advising 
Bloomfield Township and Birmingham Country Club how this proposed variance adversely affects 
our mutual residential homeowners. 

The Commission asked that CM Ecker send a letter, similar to the letter previously sent by former 
CM Markus, without further Commission discussion in this one case.  

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Longe 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 

Nays, Commissioner Baller 

01-011-24 Three Step Process Precedent

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 
To note that the Commission has deviated from its normal process in this instance only because 
of the urgency of time, and that this does not set a standard for future Items for Future 
Discussion.    

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Longe 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

5A



12 January 8, 2024

Nays, None 

01-012-24 City-Provided Cell Phones

MOTION: Motion by Mayor McLain, seconded by Commissioner Longe: 
To request that the City provide the Commissioners with cell phones that the Commissioners 
would use only for City business, so that when Freedom of Information Act requests occur, or 
there are other exchanges, that those interactions occur on a City-provided cell phone as opposed 
to Commissioners’ personal phones, to be discussed at a later date. 

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Longe 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

Nays, None 

At the request of the Commission, Staff said they would review whether the intersection of Torry 
and Haynes should have Stop Signs, and would return to the Commission with further information. 

Commission Discussion On Items from A Prior Meeting 

01-013-24 Speed Mitigation

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by Commissioner Long: 
To put this item on a future agenda for a full discussion. 

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Longe 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

Nays, None 

01-014-24 To Add Brandon to the Shirley and Arlington Project

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by Commissioner Long: 
To move this item to the third step. 
MPT Schafer noted that multiple stages of review allow for project refinement and clarification. 

5A



13 January 8, 2024

Commissioner Long noted there may have been reasons for initially proposing the project without 
Brandon.  

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Longe 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

Nays, None 

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA

IX. COMMUNICATIONS

X. REPORTS
A. Commissioner Reports

1. Notice of Intention to Appoint to the Cable Casting Board

The Mayor noted that this Board was now the Cable Board, and that its description of activity 
needed to be updated.  

2. Notice of Intention to Appoint to the Board of Review
3. Notice of Intention to Appoint to the Parks and Recreation Board

B. Commissioner Comments

The Mayor shared information from a letter from Josephine Connolly. 

It was noted that staff would provide a copy of Ms. Connolly’s letter to the Commission, and 
would publicize the scholarship mentioned in the letter to Birmingham’s first responders, police, 
and EMT. 

C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas
D. Legislation

It was noted that the State legislature would be reconvening soon. 

E. City Staff

INFORMATION ONLY 

XI. ADJOURN
The Mayor adjourned the meeting at 12:32 a.m. 

5A



14 January 8, 2024

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 

5A



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/11/2024

01/22/2024

PAPER CHECK

500.00 48TH DISTRICT COURT000855*295892

1,166.00 48TH DISTRICT COURT000855*295893

364.18 A. MICHAEL DELLER009743*295894

579.09 AETNA BEHAVIORAL HEALTH LLC007266*295895

2,400.00 ALL SEASON GUTTERS INC003233*295896

775.00 ALPHA PSYCHOLOGICAL SERVICES PC000161*295897

2,750.00 JOBMATCH LLC DBA APPLICANTPRO008977*295898

220.28 APPLIED IMAGING007033*295899

500.00 ASCAP001466*295900

187.32 AT&T006759*295901

120.87 DAVID BARTLEY008708*295902

8,750.00 BEASLEY MEDIA GROUP, LLC009358*295903

7,837.68 BIRMINGHAM YOUTH ASSISTANCE001201295904

501.44 BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526295905

594.18 BERNARD BREWER009328*295906

131.25 BSB COMMUNICATIONS, INC.005717295907

18,688.98 BSB COMMUNICATIONS, INC.005717*295907

23,704.00 BUTCHER & BUTCHER CONSTRUCTION CO008799295908

2,880.00 C & G PUBLISHING INC.003786*295909

18,891.21 CAPITAL ONE BANK003904*295910

675.00 CAR TRUCKING INC000571*295913

23,657.38 CDW GOVERNMENT INC000444*295914

856.04 CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF BLOOMFIELD008243295915

1,219.15 COMCAST BUSINESS007774*295916

1,617.00 CONSUMERS ENERGY000627*295917

189.00 CRAIN'S DETROIT BUSINESS000567*295918

81.11 DTE ENERGY000179*295919

77.73 DTE ENERGY000179*295920

175.39 DTE ENERGY000179*295921

2,821.68 DTE ENERGY000179*295922

116.34 DTE ENERGY000179*295923

2,087.60 DTE ENERGY000179*295924

107.29 DTE ENERGY000179*295925

16.74 DTE ENERGY000179*295926

58.69 DTE ENERGY000179*295927

188.96 DTE ENERGY000179*295928

63.53 GARY EISELE008164295929

90.00 ELECTROCYCLE, INC.009622295930

256.34 FAST SIGNS001223295931

210.00 GLULIA PINCETTI009802*295932

496.37 GORDON FOOD004604*295933

431.11 GRAND ARBOR SUPPLY009807295934 5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/11/2024

01/22/2024

1,508.60 H & P PROTECTIVE SERVICES, INC.006554*295935

526.32 HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*295936

1,381.00 HYDROCORP000948295937

2,048.95 IDEMIA IDENTITY & SECURITY USA LLC009804295938

125.00 INNOVATIVE USERS GROUPMISC295939

769.23 INTERMEDIA. NET INC009551*295940

120.00 JUNE MARIE RAGATZMISC295941

113.10 LITHIA MOTORS, INC SUPPORT SERVICES009375295942

345.00 MACP001669295943

30.00 MICHAEL KOWALCZUKMISC*295944

2,100.00 MICHIGAN RECREATIONAL CONSTRUCTION006227295945

130.00 MICHIGAN RETAILERS ASSOC.002097*295946

800.00 MIDWAY CLEANING CO, LLC009630295947

424.37 MIKE SAVOIE CHEVROLET INC000230295948

3,776.88 MOBILE COMMUNICATIONS AMERICA INC009770*295949

147.00 NENA007915295950

10,700.00 NICK'S MAINTENANCE SERVICE004827*295951

70.00 OAKLAND CO CLERKS ASSOC001686*295952

2,042.12 OAKLAND COUNTY000477*295953

1,675.00 OAKLAND COUNTY MOMS008519*295954

30.00 OAKLAND COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS009791*295955

30.00 OAKLAND COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS009791*295956

30.00 OAKLAND COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS009791*295957

45.00 OCBOA008657*295958

715.00 OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370*295959

422.97 ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC009478*295960

361,430.33 PCI INDUSTRIES, INC009698*295961

437.14 PK SAFETY SUPPLY008028295962

179.97 PLAYAWAY PRODUCTS LLC009612295963

8.43 PROGRESSIVE PLUMBING SUPPLY CO009614*295964

38.85 RAIN MASTER CONTROL SYSTEMS008342*295965

880.00 REDGUARD FIRE & SECURITY INC008852295966

120.00 EDWARD ROSETT003365*295967

11,260.00 SEEN MEDIA GROUP009282*295968

4,937.99 SIGNATURE CLEANING LLC009009*295969

175.00 SOCPWA005128*295970

626.62 T-MOBILE007408*295971

300.00 TEAM ADS LLC009803*295972

585.00 THE  ROSSOW GROUP009608295973

90.00 DWAYNE  LARABELL009781*295974

811.24 TIRE WHOLESALERS CO INC000275295975

208.99 TOBIN DAVISMISC295976

1,550.00 TURNER SANITATION, INC004379*295977

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/11/2024

01/22/2024

123.20 VAN DYKE GAS CO.000293*295978

204.67 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*295979

49.19 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*295980

1,278.26 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*295981

76.02 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*295982

98.38 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*295983

103.09 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*295984

1,955.00 RANDYL LEE WAGNER008986*295985

1,125.84 WAHL TENTS009140*295986

550.00 WDIV/TV4003932*295987

400.34 WEST SHORE FIRE INC001490295988

2,700.00 WWJ-TV009257*295989

37.95 ZORO TOOLS, INC.008902*295990

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $549,480.97

EFT TRANSFER

40,794.31 BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF MICHIGAN009593" "

58,149.32 BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF MICHIGAN009593*" "

35,114.27 BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF MICHIGAN009627" "

9,802.15 HEALTHEQUITY, INC009636" "

231.00 HEALTHEQUITY, INC009636*" "

SUBTOTAL EFT TRANSFER $144,091.05

ACH TRANSACTION

977.02 ROBERT ABRAHAM JR.008649*9822

186,981.61 ANGELO IAFRATE CONSTRUCTION008655*9823

1,430.75 ART/DESIGN GROUP LTD001357*9824

495.00 BEIER HOWLETT P.C.000517*9825

1,776.43 BELL EQUIPMENT COMPANY000518*9826

4,109,082.77 BIRMINGHAM PUBLIC SCHOOLS-TAXES008840*9827

118.50 BLUE WATER INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS INC000542*9828

148.10 JAIMI BROOK0085459829

427.32 CINTAS CORPORATION0006059830

20.00 CINTAS CORPORATION0006059831

449.01 CINTAS CORPORATION0006059832

554.00 CLUB PROPHET008044*9833

729.00 MARSHALL CRAWFORD007638*9834

1,100.00 ZECO, LLC009557*9835

375.50 DEERE ELECTRIC INC003825*9836

1,499.45 DORNBOS SIGN & SAFETY INC000565*9837

550.00 DOWNTOWN PUBLICATIONS INC006528*9838

439.20 GRAINGER000243*9839

1,892.20 HERC RENTALS0013189840

900.00 JCC CREATIVE LLC009249*9841 5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/11/2024

01/22/2024

150.51JCR SUPPLY INC0092989842

544.33JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*9843

1,307.50KELLER THOMA000891*9844

5,796.50KROPF MECHANICAL SERVICE COMPANY005876*9845

3,855.56MCCI, LLC008611*9846

1,430.00MILES PARTNERSHIP LLLP009242*9847

91.34MUNICIPAL EMERGENCY SERVICES INC001035*9848

361.00NBS COMMERCIAL INTERIORS008336*9849

205.00NELSON BROTHERS SEWER0011949850

234.00NELSON BROTHERS SEWER001194*9850

1,354.50NETWORK SERVICES COMPANY0077559851

450.00NEXT007856*9852

299.74NORTHSTAR MAT SERVICE009706*9853

2,260.50NYE UNIFORM COMPANY006359*9854

2,064,854.65OAKLAND COUNTY TREASURER- TAX PYMNT008843*9855

373.00ROSE PEST SOLUTIONS001181*9856

1,512.00SECURE-CENTRIC INC009301*9857

3,381.00SIGNS-N-DESIGNS INC003785*9858

86,202.00SOCRRA0002549859

146,736.94SOCWA001097*9860

1,034.38SOUTHEASTERN EQUIPMENT CO. INC0057879861

5,470.00TRANSPARENT WINDOW CLEANING004692*9862

76.93JEREMY TURNER0097089863

8,951.58US SIGNAL COMPANY LLC009266*9864

2,113.76WHITLOCK BUSINESS SYSTEMS, INC.007278*9865

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $6,648,992.58

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $7,342,564.60

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/18/2024

01/22/2024

PAPER CHECK

2,802.00 21ST CENTURY MEDIA- MICHIGAN005430*295991

300.00 4 TECH SIGNSBDREFUND295992

267.00 48TH DISTRICT COURT000855*295993

498.00 48TH DISTRICT COURT000855*295994

750.00 48TH DISTRICT COURT000855*295995

73.75 ADVANTAGE REPORTING009519*295996

5.00 AMERICAN FIREPLACEBDREFUND295997

100.00 ANTAKI, FADIBDREFUND295998

79.00 APCO INTERNATIONAL INC001394295999

240.00 AQUARIUM DESIGN INC009202296000

385.00 ARTECH PRINTING INC000500296001

333.66 AT&T006759296002

200.00 AVER SIGN COMPANYBDREFUND296003

1,656.00 BALIAN LEGAL, PLC009609296004

200.00 BASEMENT WATERPROOFING & FOUNDATIONBDREFUND296005

20,986.62 BELFOR PROPERTY RESTORATION007129296006

1,360.00 BENINATI POOL AND SPABDREFUND296007

100.00 BILLY'S ROOFING LLCBDREFUND296008

526.62 BIRMINGHAM PUBLIC SCHOOLS008355296009

141.36 BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526296010

87.50 BSB COMMUNICATIONS, INC.005717296011

330.00 BWMS-BLUE WATER MGMT INC008658*296012

3,378.00 CANON SOLUTIONS AMERICA INC009078*296013

1,306.90 CASS COLLISION CLAWSON, INC008959296014

199.90 CENGAGE LEARNING INC000902296015

9.71 CHAOQUN CHENMISC296016

19.24 CHRISTIAN WIEGANDMISC296017

2,905.00 CITY OF BIRMINGHAM009808296018

293.96 COOL THREADS EMBROIDERY008512296019

4,624.03 CORELOGIC TAX SERVICETAXMISC*296020

670.00 CORERA, FRANCIS CBDREFUND296021

3,800.00 CREATIVE COLLABORATIONS009145*296022

206.92 CUMMINS BRIDGEWAY LLC003923296023

2,814.78 CYNERGY PRODUCTS004386296024

4,819.00 THE D.M. BURR GROUP009024296025

5,600.00 DAN'S LAWN MAINTENANCE009549*296026

200.00 DEGENHARDT, STEPHEN CBDREFUND296027

186.08 DEMCO, INC000575296028

223.16 DTE ENERGY000179*296029

21.54 DTE ENERGY000179*296030

254.19 DTE ENERGY000179*296031

28.37 DTE ENERGY000179*296032 5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/18/2024

01/22/2024

851.02 DTE ENERGY000179*296033

264.05 DTE ENERGY000179*296034

525.94 DTE ENERGY000179*296035

57,956.38 DTE ENERGY000180*296036

100.00 EAVE ROOFINGBDREFUND296037

4,454.97 FALCON ASPHALT REPAIR EQUIPMENT008495*296038

200.00 FAST SIGNS OF BIRMINGHAMBDREFUND296039

200.00 FINISH WORKS CARPENTRYBDREFUND296040

85.00 FLAME FURNACE COBDREFUND296041

1,000.00 FLS PROPERTIES #5, LLCBDREFUND296042

200.00 FOUNDATION SYSTEMS OF MICHIGAN INC.BDREFUND296043

720.00 FRAILBERG & PERNIE PLLC009387*296044

100.00 G & M GUTTER COMPANY INCBDREFUND296045

200.00 GALAXY SIGN & HOISTING COBDREFUND296046

418.59 GORDON FOOD004604*296047

47,243.00 GORNO FORD, INC.005103296048

284.64 GA BUSINESS PURCHASER LLC000249296049

295.52 GUARDIAN ALARM000726296050

200.00 HARDY & SONS SIGN SERVICEBDREFUND296051

20,000.00 HERNANDEZ, DIEGO ABDREFUND296052

64,530.32 HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE AND001846*296053

488.82 HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*296054

500.00 HOME DEPOT USA INCBDREFUND296055

81.02 HOWIES HOCKEY INC009563*296056

5,166.25 INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES001090296057

1,149.75 J.T. EXPRESS, LTD.000344296058

19.99 JOSHUA ABRAHAMMISC296059

720.00 JUSTIN ZAYID009403*296060

500.00 KASCO INCBDREFUND296061

100.00 KATSAREIAS, MAXWELLBDREFUND296062

100.00 KILLIANY, ANDREW WBDREFUND296063

2,467.95 KONICA MINOLTA BUSINESS SOLUTIONS004904296064

65.28 KROGER COMPANY000362*296065

100.00 LA FITNESSBDREFUND296066

1,080.00 LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN P. FENECH009386*296067

100.00 LEXISNEXIS RISK DATA MANAGEMENT INC006817296068

87.04 LIBRARY IDEAS, LLC009533296069

500.00 LIVE WELL CUSTOM HOME LLCBDREFUND296070

500.00 LL CUSTOM CONTRACTING OF MICHIGANBDREFUND296071

550.00 LOVATIS OUTDOOR SERVICES LLC009811*296072

1,000.00 LUXE HOMES DESIGN BUILD LLCBDREFUND296073

2,550.00 LYNCH CUSTOM HOMESBDREFUND296074

468.16 MAJESKE, WALTER MUBREFUND*296075

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/18/2024

01/22/2024

200.00 MCGLINCH & SONS COBDREFUND296076

1,438.00 MCSA GROUP, INC.009445*296077

2,000.00 MERRITT CIESLAK DESIGN PLC009351296078

2,250.00 MICHAEL MORRISON009200*296079

1,000.00 MICHAEL SHUKWIT009143*296080

39.50 MID AMERICA RINK SERVICES006461*296081

5,632.03 MIDWEST COLLABORATIVE006349296082

463.54 MIKE SAVOIE CHEVROLET INC000230296083

200.00 MMD SignsBDREFUND296084

1,636.04 MOBILE HEALTH RESOURCES007163296085

720.00 NACHAWATI LAW PLLC009394*296086

300.00 NATIONAL HOSPITALITY INSTITUTE008367296087

500.00 NELSON WOODWORKING INCBDREFUND296088

60.00 NENA007915296089

6,099.00 NEWSBANK, INC009623296090

24.95 NIRATCHAPORN THIENTHONGMISC296091

200.00 NORTHERN SIGN CO INCBDREFUND296092

650.00 OAKLAND COMMUNITY COLLEGE002853296093

525,061.68 OAKLAND COUNTY000477*296094

16,582.10 OVERDRIVE, INC.006785296095

500.00 PELLA WINDOWS & DOORS, INC.BDREFUND296096

100.00 PERCIVAL, JOHNBDREFUND296097

200.00 PERSPECTIVES CUSTOM CABINETRY INCBDREFUND296098

533.92 PLAYAWAY PRODUCTS LLC009612296099

200.00 PREMIER BUILDING SOLUTIONSBDREFUND296100

452.97 QUADIENT LEASING USA, INC.007797*296101

2,450.00 QUALITY COUNTS, LLC009797296102

500.00 RENEWAL BY ANDERSENBDREFUND296103

100.00 ROSETT, EDWARDBDREFUND296104

100.00 ROYAL OAK & BIRMINGHAM AWNINGBDREFUND296105

95.00 RYAN BALLARDMISC*296106

1,130.83 SAIC PROPERTY MANAGEMENT LLCTAXMISC*296107

200.00 SIGN-A-RAMABDREFUND296108

500.00 SIGNGRAPHIX, INC.BDREFUND296109

200.00 SIGNSCAPESBDREFUND296110

500.00 SMOLYANOV HOME IMPROVMENTBDREFUND296111

200.00 SPECTRUM NEON CO.BDREFUND296112

600.00 SPRINGER, ERINUBREFUND*296113

300.00 STEPHEN SHUKWIT009201*296114

260.00 SYSTEMATIC FIRE PORTECTION INC.MISC296115

650.00 TAYLOR FREEZER OF MICH INC001076*296116

1,011.00 TERMINIX PROCESSING CENTER007115296117

720.00 THE EDITH BLAKNEY LAW FIRM, PLLC009384*296118

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/18/2024

01/22/2024

200.00THE RAQ LLCBDREFUND296119

200.00TOLEDO SIGN COMPANYBDREFUND296120

350.00TRAFFIC & SAFETY CONTROL SYSTEMS009552296121

1,070.00TRAFFIC & SAFETY CONTROL SYSTEMS009552*296121

8,548.00TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT ASSOC.008339296122

750.00ULTIMATE TRAINING MUNITIONS INC009805*296123

222.89UPTOWN MARKET OF BIRMINGHAM008941*296124

402.50US FIGURE SKATING ASSOC.001279*296125

123.20VAN DYKE GAS CO.000293*296126

149.61VERIZON WIRELESS000158*296127

3,099.00VFP FIRE SYSTEMS009806296128

500.00WALLSIDE INCBDREFUND296129

922.87WEINGARTZ SUPPLY CO.000299296130

10,560.00WISS, JANNEY, ELSTNER ASSOC. INC008408296131

35,800.00WJE-WISS, JANNEY, ELSTNER ASSOC.INC007620296132

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $920,564.61

ACH TRANSACTION

943.00ADVANCED MARKETING PARTNERS INC005686*9874

366.53AIRGAS USA, LLC0037089875

70.86ARAMARK003946*9876

1,200.00BATTI LAW PLLC009383*9877

273.00BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE, INC0066839878

9,287.00BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE, INC006683*9878

210.45BOB ADAMS TOWING0091839879

600.00CECILIA QUIRINDONGO BAUNSOE009396*9880

224.87CINTAS CORPORATION0006059881

28.65CINTAS CORPORATION0006059882

1,470.58COMERICA BANK0017509883

303,995.09COMERICA BANK0017509883

739.83COMERICA BANK - RHC0031769884

98,930.19COMERICA BANK - RHC0031769884

330.00ZECO, LLC009557*9885

74.67KAMERON DIMITRY0095159886

1,474.26DORNBOS SIGN & SAFETY INC000565*9887

11,753.15DUNCAN PARKING TECH INC0010779888

903.00JANA ECKER003801*9889

2,805.95EQUATURE000995*9890

3,750.00FLOCK GROUP INC0096979891

18,100.00GABRIEL, ROEDER, SMITH & CO.0010239892

362.60GRAINGER000243*9893

90.00HAYES PRECISION INC001672*9894

480.00HB LAW, PLLC009382*9895

564.00IDUMESARO LAW FIRM, PLLC009390*9896 5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/18/2024

01/22/2024

26,992.31 J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY0002619897

774.93 JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*9898

831.18 KONE INC0040859899

975.00 LADUKE ROOF.& SHT.METAL CORP003404*9900

360.00 LAMB LEGAL CONSULTING SERVICES009392*9901

1,500.00 LAW OFFICE OF MICHAEL J. DICK009385*9902

720.00 MARCIA C ROSS PC009398*9903

9,287.55 MUNICIPAL EMERGENCY SERVICES INC001035*9904

912.00 ORLANDO LAW PRACTICE PC009395*9905

2,189.37 OSCAR W. LARSON CO.002767*9906

14,085.00 PLANTE & MORAN PLLC000486*9907

900.00 RABAA AND NACHAWATI PLLC009397*9908

8,000.00 RESERVE ACCOUNT005344*9909

5,837.00 SERV-ICE REFRIGERATION, INC009603*9910

7,704.00 YELLOW DOOR LAW009379*9911

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $540,096.02

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $1,460,660.63

5C



1 

MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

January 11, 2024  

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Special Event Application: Common Ground’s 2024 Birmingham Street 
Art Fair  

INTRODUCTION: 
Common Ground has submitted a Special Event application to hold Common Ground’s 50th annual 
Birmingham Street Art Fair on September 28 and 29, 2024. Setup for the event is scheduled for 
Friday, September 27, 2024. The event begins at Saturday at 10:00 a.m. and concludes at Sunday 
at 5:00 p.m. Teardown is scheduled for Sunday, September 29, 2024, from 5:00 p.m. to 9:00 
p.m.

BACKGROUND: 
Prior to application submission, the various departments reviewed the proposed event details for 
street closures and the need for safety personnel and approved the details.  DPS, 
Planning, Building, Engineering, Police and Fire have indicated their approval.  

Common Ground is a nonprofit agency dedicated to helping people move from crisis to hope.  
The agency’s programs are a lifeline for people with mental illness and other critical 
situations. Common Ground serves more than 165,000 individuals each year and is supported in 
part by State and Federal grants, contracts, individual and corporate contributions, foundations, 
special events, the Oakland County Community Health Network and Genesee County Community 
Mental Health.  

The following event(s) occur in September in Birmingham and do not pose a conflict for this 
event: 

Farmers Market Sundays Parking Lot #6 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
No legal review is required for this action. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
All costs associated with this event will be paid by applicant. 

5D



2 

SUSTAINABILITY:   
There are no sustainability initiatives associated with this event. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The Michigan Guild of Artists and Artisans/Common Ground notified residents and businesses 
about the details of this event by letter which was mailed at least two weeks prior to the 
Commission meeting. The addresses that were notified were within 300 feet of the event space. 

SUMMARY: 
The City Commission is being asked to approve a Special Event Permit for the 2024 
Birmingham Street Art Fair to be held September 28 and 29 from Saturday 10:00 a.m. to 
Sunday 5:00 p.m., with setup Friday, September 27 at 5:00 p.m. Teardown will begin Sunday 
September 29 at 5:00 p.m.

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Special Event Application
2. Notification letter with map of event area distributed to residents/businesses within 300 feet

of the event area dated January 9, 2024. Notification addresses are on file in the Clerk’s
Office.

3. Hold Harmless Agreement
4. Department approval page with comments and estimated costs

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
To make a motion adopting a resolution to approve a Special Event permit as requested 
by Common Ground to hold the Birmingham Street Art Fair on September 28 and 29, 2024 
contingent upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and payment of all 
fees and further pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed necessary by 
administrative staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that may be deemed 
necessary by administrative staff, leading up to or at the time of the event. 

5D



BIRMINGI-IAM 
I\. WA(JCl\pLE CITY 

151 Mar.tin �tree�, Pio, B.o)( 30�1 
Birmingham, Ml 48012 

24sJs3.o-i.saoPHtlNE 
248/ s3o�i:o.so FAX 

APPLIC.A.liIQN, FOil. $PEPl;�L _l;V&NT. PERMIT 
PARKS :AND PUBUC.SPAC::ES 

r, EVENT DETAILS 

U, EVENT INFORMATION 

ITT, EVENT U\VOtJT 

rv. SAMPLE LETTER JO NOTIFY 'AFFECTED PROPER1YOWNE�/J:JIJSINESSES WITHlN 300 FeET 
.OF·EVE,NT t:;0CATION 

V. INSURANCE tNFORMA'TION
• l�SUAAr,J(;:� .. Rl;�Ul��l':l'lE�T�
• HQLO HAR:ML}:SS �G�:{�ENT

VI. PO,LICl�S-AI\Jl;tP'RGP,:DURES·

VII. CHECKLIST

vm. S�PL!i:MAPS· 

lX, Dt P}\RTMENJAt;>WPRQVAL PAGE 

nMttlWE AS .. RE' lflRED_ iv COMMISS{Qfl -

• 

• 4i lea.s,;Jwo c,i) we�ks ptlor to 
-tommissfon h.eiufng·

·•' 

5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



1 

MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: January 11, 2024  

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Special Event Application: HDSA Michigan Chapter-Yoga in the Park 

INTRODUCTION:  
Huntington Disease Society of America (HDSA) Michigan Chapter has submitted a Special 
Event application to hold Yoga in the Park on Saturday June 15, 2024. Set up for the event is 
scheduled for 06/15/24 from 8:00 a.m.  to 10:00 a.m. The event begins at 8:00 a.m. and 
concludes at 3:00 p.m. Tear down is scheduled for 2:00 p.m. to 3:00 p.m.

BACKGROUND: 
The necessary departments reviewed the proposed event details submitted in the application, and 
departments provided feedback on requirements and estimated costs.  DPS, Planning, Building, 
Engineering, Police and Fire have indicated their approval.  

The event, held in Shain Park, will raise funds to support the Michigan Chapter of the Huntington’s 
Disease Society of America.   

The following events occur in June in Birmingham, and do not pose a conflict for this event: 

Farmers Market Sundays Parking Lot #6 
Village Fair 05/30/24-06/02/24  Shain Park 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
No legal review required.

FISCAL IMPACT:  
All costs associated with this event will be paid by applicant. 

SUSTAINBILITY: 
There are no sustainability comments associated with this event. 

5E



2 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The HDSA Michigan Chapter notified residents and businesses about the details of this event by 
letter which was mailed at least two weeks prior to the Commission meeting. The addresses that 
were notified were within 300 feet of the event space. 

SUMMARY: 
The City Commission is being asked to approve a special event permit for Yoga in the Park to be 
held 06/15/24 from 8:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m., with set up from 8:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m.  Tear 
down will begin at 2:00 p.m. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Special Event Application
2. Notification letter with map of event area distributed to residents/businesses within 300 feet

of the event area dated 01/08/24. Notification addresses are on file in the Clerk’s Office.
3. Hold Harmless Agreement
4. Department Approval page with comments and estimated costs

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION:
To make a motion adopting a resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the 
HDSA Michigan Chapter to hold Yoga in the Park on 06/15/24 contingent upon compliance with 
all permit and insurance requirements and payment of all fees and, further pursuant to any 
minor modifications that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff at the time of the 
event, or event cancellation that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff, leading up 
to or at the time of the event. 

5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



DEPARTMENT APPROVALS 
 EVENT NAME: Yoga in the Park  
LICENSE NUMBER # 24-00012350 COMMISSION HEARING DATE: 1/22/2024  
NOTE TO STAFF:  Please submit approval by 1/15/24  DATE OF EVENT: 6/15/2024  
  

DEPARTMENT APPROVED COMMENTS PERMITS 
REQUIRED 

(Must be obtained 
directly from individual 

departments) 

ESTIMATED 
COSTS 

(Must be paid two 
weeks prior to the 

event. License will not 
be issued if unpaid.) 

ACTUAL 
COSTS 

(Event will be 
invoiced by the 
Clerk’s office 

after the event) 
 

PLANNING 
101.0-000.000-636.0005 

248.530.1855 
 

TBC No Cost - No Comment  0   

BUILDING 
101.0-000.000.636.0005 

248.530.1850 

MJM No Building Department involvement Tents over 400 
SQFT. 

0  

FIRE 
101.0-000.000-636.0004 

248.530.1900 

AS -No open flame permitted inside or within 
20ft of tents.  
-Provide “wire bridges” for trip hazards 
such as extension cords.  
-Maintain 20ft fire lane for surrounding 
streets.   
-ALS to respond from the station if 
requested. 

 0  

POLICE 
101.0-000.000.636.0003 

248.530.1870 

RK On-duty personnel will provide extra 
patrols. 

 0  

PUBLIC SERVICES 
101.0-000.000-636.0002 

248.530.1642 

 
CL 

The department will make arrangements 
with representative to deliver trash 
receptacles. 
 

 $40  

ENGINEERING 
101.0-000.000.636.0002 

248.530.1839 

  None 0 0 

5E



PARKING 
AF Parking at the going rate at all facilities None 0 0 

INSURANCE 
248.530.1807 

 Need to submit COI no less than 2 weeks 
prior to event 
Need to submit Hold Harmless Agreement 

None   

CLERK 
101.0-000.000-614.0000 

248.530.1803 

 Notification letters to be mailed by 
applicant no later than ___.  
Notification addresses on file in the 
Clerk’s Office.   
 

Applications for 
vendors license 
must be submitted 
no later than ____. 

0 0 
 

 
  TOTALS: 

Estimated and 
Actual Costs 

40  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Rev. 1/11/24 
h:\shared\special events\- general information\approval page.doc 

FOR CLERK’S OFFICE USE 
 
Deposit paid ___________ 
 
Actual Cost     
 
Due/Refund    
 

5E



MEMORANDUM 
Clerk’s Office 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

January 13, 2024  

Jana Ecker, City Manager 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Set date for liquor license establishments 2023 review 
and consideration of 2024 license 

INTRODUCTION: 
Annually, the City Commission reviews and considers renewal of liquor licenses of Birmingham 
establishments which sell intoxicating liquor for consumption on premises. The City Commission 
is requested to set the date of Monday, February 12, 2024 at 7:30 p.m. for the review and renewal 
of the licenses. 

BACKGROUND: 
All establishments which hold a liquor license for consumption on premises are required to follow 
rules set forth in Chapter 10 Alcoholic Liquors of the Birmingham Code of Ordinances. The 
departments are conducting annual reviews of liquor license establishments which have 
consumption on premises. These findings will be presented to the City Commission, who will 
then consider the 2024 renewal of the Birmingham liquor license for consumption of intoxicating 
liquor on premises. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the process for this renewal plan and has no objections. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
N/A 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Establishments with liquor licenses for consumption on premises were notified via certified mail 
of the upcoming review process on December 8, 2023. License holders again will be notified 
via standard mail regarding commission date for review and renewals once date is approved by 
the City Commission. 

5F

https://library.municode.com/mi/birmingham/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICICO_CH10ALLI


ATTACHMENTS: 
None 

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to hold a 2023 review of establishments who have liquor 
licenses for consumption on premises and to consider same establishments for 2024 renewal at 
the regular City Commission meeting on Monday, February 12, 2024 at 7:30 p.m.   

5F



MEMORANDUM 
Clerk’s Office 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

January 11, 2024  

Jana Ecker, City Manager   

Alexandria Bingham, Clerk 

SUBJECT: Election Commission Delegation of Duties for February 27, 2024,  
August 6, 2024 and November 5, 2024 Elections to City Clerk and 
Authorized Assistants  

INTRODUCTION:  
The City Commission, per the Birmingham City Charter, functions as the City’s Election  
Commission. Pursuant to State law, the Election Commission is responsible for conducting certain 
election duties. The law allows the Election Commission to delegate certain of those duties to the 
City Clerk and her authorized assistants.  

BACKGROUND:  
The Birmingham City Charter names the City Commission as the Election Commission: 
Chapter IV. - Registrations, Nominations and Elections  
Section 22. - [Election Commission]  

The city commission shall constitute the election commission for the city and shall perform all of 
the duties required of the city election commissions by the general laws of the state. It shall 
appoint the inspectors of election and fix their compensation.  

The Election Officials’ Manual of the Michigan Bureau of Elections (BOE) cites the duties of a City 
Election Commission and draws distinctions between those which must be conducted by the 
Election Commission and those which may be delegated to the City Clerk and her authorized 
assistants. The BOE recommends that the Election Commission document the delegation of its 
duties.  

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has reviewed the resolution and does not object to the form or content.

FISCAL IMPACT: 
n/a 

5G



PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Information regarding this resolution will be provided along with the agenda packet on the City’s 
website and public communication is permissible in accordance with standard commission 
procedure.  

SUMMARY: 
It is recommended that the Birmingham City Commission, acting as the Election Commission, 
delegate to the City Clerk and her authorized assistants certain election duties as allowed by the 
Michigan BOE and State law.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Excerpt from the Election Officials’ Manual of the Michigan Bureau of Elections listing duties

that may be delegated.

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to delegate to the Birmingham City Clerk and her authorized 
assistants, those being the members of her staff, the following duties of the Election Commission for 
the February 27, 2024, August 6, 2024 and November 5, 2024 elections:  

• Preparing meeting materials for the Election Commission (ballots proof for approval, list
of election inspectors for appointment, etc.)

• Preparing, printing and delivering ballots
• Providing candidates and the Secretary of State with proof copies of ballots
• Providing notice to voters in the case of precinct changes/consolidations
• Providing election supplies and ballot containers
• Preliminary logic and accuracy testing
• Notifying major political parties of certified precinct Inspector appointments (Federal and

State elections only)

5G



ELECTION  OFFICIALS’ MANUAL 

Michigan Bureau of Elections 
Chapter 1, Updated February 2019 

Chapter 1, Page 6 of 8 

CITY AND TOWNSHIP ELECTION COMMISSIONS: 

Note: The chart above outlines the composition of the local election commissions based on your 

jurisdiction’s form of government. The only exception to the composition of the local election 

commission must be provided by a city charter. 

City and Township Election Commission members are responsible for the following: 

• Establishing precincts, including temporary precinct consolidations for non-State/ Federal

elections;

• Establishing Absent Voter Counting Boards (AVCBs);

• Assessing voting equipment needs;

• Performing logic and accuracy testing for voting equipment. NOTE: Even if the county performs

the programming for the local jurisdictions, it is still the responsibility of the local election

commission to conduct pre-election logic and accuracy testing for their voting equipment prior

to each election. Preliminary testing may be delegated to the local clerk; however, public

accuracy testing must be conducted by the election commission or each members’ designated

representative.

• Authorizing the printing and provision of ballots for use in city, township, village and certain

school district elections;

• Providing election supplies (including forms and ballot containers);

• Appointing precinct inspectors prior to each election, including AVCB members, Receiving Board

members, precinct chairpersons and alternates; note that certified election inspectors must be

appointed at least 21 days prior to the election and no more than 40 days prior to each election;

• Notifying major political parties of the appointment of election inspectors in federal and state

elections; and

• Carrying out other election related duties for their respective jurisdictions.

5G



ELECTION  OFFICIALS’ MANUAL 

Michigan Bureau of Elections 
Chapter 1, Updated February 2019 

Election Commission Responsibilities that should be handled via an Open Meeting by Election 

Commission Members: 

• Approving of ballots

• Appointing precinct inspectors

• Public Accuracy Test

• Precinct Changes / Consolidations

• Adoption of resolution outlining delegated duties

Election Commission Duties that may be delegated to the Local Clerk or authorized assistant 

(note: Delegated duties should be documented via resolution): 

• Preparing meeting materials for the Election Commission (ballots proof for approval, list of

election inspectors for appointment, etc.)

• Preparing, printing and delivering ballots

• Providing candidates and the Secretary of State with proof copies of ballots

• Providing notice to voters in the case of precinct changes/consolidations

• Providing election supplies and ballot containers

• Preliminary logic and accuracy testing

• Notifying major political parties of certified precinct Inspector appointments (federal and state

elections only)

SCHOOL ELECTION COORDINATING COMMITTEE: Every school district has a School Election 

Coordinating Committee responsible for determining the details of how special school elections will be 

administered. The School Election Coordinating Committee is composed of a school election coordinator, 

the secretary of the school board and the clerks of all jurisdictions covered by the school district. For a 

school district wholly contained within a single jurisdiction, that clerk is the school election coordinator. In 

a school district that crosses jurisdiction lines the county clerk is the coordinator. 

TYPES OF ELECTIONS 

There are several types of elections conducted in Michigan. The following is an overview of the various 

types. 

Chapter 1, Page 7 of 8 

5G



ELECTION  OFFICIALS’ MANUAL 

Michigan Bureau of Elections 

Chapter 9, Updated February 

2019 

Chapter 9, Page 1 of 7 

 

 

 
 

 

CHAPTER 9 ELECTION BALLOTS 

TABLE CONTENTS 

Ballot Proofing and Michigan Ballot Production Standards ....................................................................... 1 

Candidate Name Rotations ......................................................................................................................... 3 

Office Order ................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Partisan Ballot ............................................................................................................................................. 5 

Nonpartisan Ballot ...................................................................................................................................... 6 
 
 

BALLOT PROOFING AND  MICHIGAN  BALLOT PRODUCTION STANDARDS: All ballots 

must be prepared in conformance with Michigan’s Ballots Production Standards. Adherence to the 

standards is compulsory for all election officials and vendors. A copy of the standards can be found on 

the Bureau of Elections website at www.michigan.gov/elections; under “Information for Election 

Administrators”. 
 

Election ballots must always be carefully proofed to ensure that 1) they conform to all required legal and 

technical standards and 2) they are free of errors and omissions. The importance of ballot proofing 

cannot be over emphasized! 
 

County Election Commission’s Responsibilities: Ballots prepared for use at federal, state and countywide 

elections and certain school district elections are printed by the authority of the County Election 

Commission. 

 

Local Election Commission’s Responsibilities: Ballots prepared for use at city, township, village and 

certain school district elections are printed by the authority of the City, Township or County Election 

Commission. 

 

Before the ballots are printed, the printer returns copies of the ballots to the appropriate Election 

Commission. The Commission is responsible for checking the various proof ballots to make sure that they 

are free of errors and omissions. A comprehensive check should include a careful review of the following: 

5G

http://www.michigan.gov/elections


ELECTION  OFFICIALS’ MANUAL 

Michigan Bureau of Elections 

Chapter 9, Updated February 

2019 

Chapter 9, Page 2 of 7 

 

 

 

• Ensure all office, candidates, and proposals are included 

 

• Verify proper splits within a precinct 
 

• Ballot heading including: 1) OFFICIAL BALLOT 2) election type 3) election date 4) county name, state 

5) jurisdiction name and 6) precinct number 
 

• Section headers – e.g.: PARTISAN SECTION, NONPARTISAN SECTION and PROPOSAL SECTION 

 

• Office and proposal divisions – e.g.: STATE, COUNTY, CITY, TOWNSHIP 

 

• Office titles – e.g.: CLERK, TREASURER, TRUSTEE 

 

• Number to be elected – e.g.: Vote for not more than 1 

 

• Placement of candidate names; form and spelling of candidate names; candidate name rotations; 

placement of special ballot designations 

 

• Presentation and wording of ballot proposals 

 

Proofing ballots is a tedious and time-consuming task – but the problems and embarrassment a complete 

proofing job can save on Election Day makes the task well worth the effort. If the Commission delegates 

ballot proofing to members of the clerk’s staff, the task should be assigned to those in the office with 

the best eye for detail. 
 

Responsibilities of Candidates and Department of State: Immediately after the proof ballots are 

delivered to the Election Commission, they forward the proofs to the Department of State’s Bureau of 

Elections in Lansing for approval. The Commission also sends each candidate a proof ballot which lists 

the candidate’s name. 
 

• After sending proof ballots prepared for a state election, the county clerk must sign an affidavit that 

attests that proof ballots were mailed as required. The affidavit must list the candidates to whom 

the ballots were mailed, the addresses to which the ballots were mailed, and the dates on which the 

ballots were mailed. 
 

• The Department of State’s Bureau of Elections inspects the form of the proof ballots received from 

each Election Commission. (The Bureau of Elections does not check candidate name spellings or that 

all required offices are on the ballot.) If the ballots are in the proper form, the Bureau of Elections 

grants its approval of the ballots; if the ballots are not in the proper form, the Bureau of Elections 

5G



MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: January 11, 2024  

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager  

FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Election Commission Designation of Representatives – Public Accuracy Tests for 
the February 27, 2024 Presidential Primary Election  

INTRODUCTION: 
The City Commission, per the Birmingham City Charter, functions as the City’s Election 
Commission. Pursuant to State law, the Election Commission is responsible for conducting certain 
election duties, including conducting and certification of the Public Accuracy Test.  

BACKGROUND: 
The Birmingham City Charter names the City Commission as the Election Commission in the 
Birmingham City Charter, Chapter IV, §22, and the City Commissioners are therefore required to 
perform all of the duties of an election commission by the general laws of the State.  

One of the responsibilities of the Election Commission is to oversee the Public Accuracy Test. 
Required by Michigan Election Law MCL 168.798, the accuracy test is used “to determine if the 
electronic tabulating equipment will accurately count the votes cast for all offices”. The test 
consists of tabulating a prescribed set of marked test ballots through a tabulator and certifying 
that the totals reported by the tabulator match the totals contained in the chart of predetermined 
results.  

Pursuant to the Michigan Bureau of Elections, the City Commission may designate representatives 
to conduct the Public Accuracy Tests in their stead. The test would be conducted during the work 
day by the Clerk or a member of the Clerk’s office staff, attended by the Election Commission’s 
designated representatives, and any interested members of the public as it is conducted pursuant 
to the Open Meetings Act. The City Clerk and her staff are not eligible to be the designated 
representatives for the Public Accuracy Tests. 

The Public Accuracy Test for the February 27, 2024 presidential primary election is scheduled for 
Tuesday, February 6, 2024 at 9:00 a.m. in room 205 of the Birmingham Municipal Building, 151 
Martin, Birmingham.  

5H

https://library.municode.com/mi/birmingham/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTICH_CHIVRENOEL_S22ELCOSection%20
https://library.municode.com/mi/birmingham/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTICH_CHIVRENOEL_S22ELCOSection%20
http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-168-798
http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-168-798


LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed this resolution and has no concerns as to the process. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
The Finance Director has reviewed and has no fiscal concerns. 

SUSTAINABILITY:  
There are no sustainability considerations related to this item. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As an agenda item, this topic is available for public viewing in the City Commission agenda packet 
available online at www.bhamgov.org/commissionagendas and through the City Clerk’s office 
upon request. Public comment may be made at the City Commission Meeting.  

According to Michigan election law, the date, time and location of the Public Accuracy Test must 
be publicly noticed at least 48 hours prior to testing date, and the City will fulfill this requirement 
by posting in the Oakland Press newspaper on January 28, 2024.  

SUMMARY: 
It is recommended that the Birmingham City Commission, acting within their duty as the Election 
Commission, designate City staff members to act as proxy representatives for the purpose of 
conducting the Public Accuracy Tests for the February 27, 2024 presidential primary election.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
• MCL 168.798 Testing of electronic tabulating equipment
• Election Officials’ Manual – Michigan Bureau of Elections – Chapter 1, Page 6

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 

To make a motion to adopt a resolution designating Finance Director Mark Gerber, Assistant 
Finance Director Kim Wickenheiser, DPS Director Scott Zielinski, Building Official Bruce Johnson, 
Assistant Building Official Mike Morad, Museum Director Leslie Pielack, and Police Commander 
Ryan Kearney as proxy representatives of Election Commissioners Mayor Elaine McLain, Mayor 
Pro Tem Katie Schafer, Commissioner Clinton Baller, Commissioner Brad Host, Commissioner 
Andrew Haig, Commissioner Anthony Long, and Commissioner Therese Longe, to conduct the 
Public Accuracy Test on Tuesday, February 6, 2024 at 9:00 a.m. in room 205 to test the electronic 
tabulating equipment which will be used to count votes at Birmingham precincts during the 
February 27, 2024 presidential primary election. 

5H

http://www.bhamgov.org/commissionagendas
http://www.bhamgov.org/commissionagendas
http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-168-798
http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-168-798
http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-168-798


MICHIGAN ELECTION LAW (EXCERPT)
Act 116 of 1954

168.798 Testing of electronic tabulating equipment; notice; method; sealing programs, test
materials, and ballots; rules; sealing memory device.
Sec. 798. (1) Before beginning the count of ballots, the board of election commissioners shall test the

electronic tabulating equipment to determine if the electronic tabulating equipment will accurately count the
votes cast for all offices and on all questions. Public notice of the time and place of the test shall be given at
least 48 hours before the test by publication in a newspaper published in the county, city, village, township, or
school district where the electronic tabulating equipment is used. If a newspaper is not published in that
county, city, village, township, or school district, the notice shall be given by publication in a newspaper of
general circulation in that county, city, village, township, or school district. The test shall be conducted in the
manner prescribed by rules promulgated by the secretary of state pursuant to the administrative procedures act
of 1969, Act No. 306 of the Public Acts of 1969, being sections 24.201 to 24.328 of the Michigan Compiled
Laws. In the test, a different number of valid votes shall be assigned to each candidate for an office, and for
and against each question. If an error is detected, the board of election commissioners shall determine the
cause of the error and correct the error. The board of election commissioners shall make an errorless count
and shall certify the errorless count before the count is started. The electronic tabulating equipment that can
be used for a purpose other than examining and counting votes shall pass the same test at the conclusion of
the count before the election returns are approved as official.

(2) On completion of the test and count, the programs, test materials, and ballots arranged by precincts
shall be sealed and retained as provided by this subsection and rules promulgated by the secretary of state
pursuant to Act No. 306 of the Public Acts of 1969. If the electronic tabulating equipment that is tested and
certified to by the board of election commissioners will be used to count votes at the precinct, a memory
device containing the tested programs, if any, shall be sealed into the electronic tabulating equipment. Upon
completion and certification of the count of votes, the memory device containing the program and the vote
totals shall remain sealed in the electronic tabulating equipment or, if removed from the electronic tabulating
equipment, shall remain sealed in a container approved by the secretary of state, delivered to the clerk, and
retained in the manner provided for other voted ballots.

History: Add. 1967, Act 155, Imd. Eff. June 30, 1967;Am. 1990, Act 109, Imd. Eff. June 18, 1990;Am. 1992, Act 8, Imd. Eff.
Mar. 10, 1992.

Popular name: Election Code

Administrative rules: R 168.771 et seq. of the Michigan Administrative Code.

Rendered Tuesday, January 9, 2024 Page 1 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 321 of 2023

 Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov

5H



ELECTION  OFFICIALS’ MANUAL 

Michigan Bureau of Elections 
Chapter 1, Updated February 2019 

Chapter 1, Page 6 of 8 

CITY AND TOWNSHIP ELECTION COMMISSIONS: 

Note: The chart above outlines the composition of the local election commissions based on your 

jurisdiction’s form of government. The only exception to the composition of the local election 

commission must be provided by a city charter. 

City and Township Election Commission members are responsible for the following: 

• Establishing precincts, including temporary precinct consolidations for non-State/ Federal

elections;

• Establishing Absent Voter Counting Boards (AVCBs);

• Assessing voting equipment needs;

• Performing logic and accuracy testing for voting equipment. NOTE: Even if the county performs

the programming for the local jurisdictions, it is still the responsibility of the local election

commission to conduct pre-election logic and accuracy testing for their voting equipment prior

to each election. Preliminary testing may be delegated to the local clerk; however, public

accuracy testing must be conducted by the election commission or each members’ designated

representative.

• Authorizing the printing and provision of ballots for use in city, township, village and certain

school district elections;

• Providing election supplies (including forms and ballot containers);

• Appointing precinct inspectors prior to each election, including AVCB members, Receiving Board

members, precinct chairpersons and alternates; note that certified election inspectors must be

appointed at least 21 days prior to the election and no more than 40 days prior to each election;

• Notifying major political parties of the appointment of election inspectors in federal and state

elections; and

• Carrying out other election related duties for their respective jurisdictions.

5H

abingham
Highlight



1 
 

  

  
MEMORANDUM  
City Clerk’s Office  
  
  

 

DATE:  
  

January 17, 2024  

TO:  
  

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager  

FROM:  
  

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  

SUBJECT:   Appointment of Election Inspectors and Absent Voter Counting Board  
  

  
INTRODUCTION:   
State Election Law requires the local Election Commission to appoint election inspectors for each 
precinct as well as to appoint an absent voter counting board. The Birmingham City Commission 
also functions as the local Election Commission, and therefore must formally appoint election 
inspectors and approve the use of an absent voter counting board for the upcoming February 27, 
2024 presidential primary election.   

BACKGROUND:   
Election inspectors are needed to provide election services to the residents of Birmingham. 
According to MCL 168.674 at least 3 election inspectors are required per precinct, with at least 
one inspector identifying as a Democrat and one inspector identifying as a Republican.   

The City Clerk contacted past inspectors and solicited for new inspectors through 
www.bhamgov.org, City publications, email, news blasts, and social media. The City Clerk has 
compiled a list of potential election inspectors who will fall into the following categories: Inspector, 
Electronic Poll Book Operator, Precinct Chairperson, Precinct Co-Chairperson, AV Runner, 
Receiving Board and a designated inspector for Oakland County absent voter counting board. The 
City Clerk will train inspectors on their respective roles to provide an efficient and accurate 
election.  
  
Oakland County Elections Division offers an absent voter counting board service to all 
municipalities within Oakland County. Birmingham uses this service to have access to their large 
staff of qualified election inspectors and high-speed tabulators, which efficiently and accurately 
process thousands of absentee ballots on Election Day. This agreement also serves as a labor and 
cost saving measure for the City of Birmingham. At the July 13, 2020 Commission Meeting, the 
City Commission approved an agreement for services with Oakland County which remains active  

5I

http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-168-674
http://www.bhamgov.org/
http://www.bhamgov.org/
http://www.bhamgov.org/
https://www.facebook.com/100064834325018/posts/691338726370599/?mibextid=cr9u03
https://www.facebook.com/100064834325018/posts/691338726370599/?mibextid=cr9u03
https://cms7.revize.com/revize/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20%26%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2020/2020%2007%2013%20Commission%20Meeting.pdf


2 
 

 

until either party terminates the agreement. In addition, MCL 168.765a states that the local 
election commission must also establish and approve an absent voter counting board for each 
election. Because of this, the City Commission is asked to acknowledge and approve the use of 
the Oakland County Absent Voter Counting Board for the February 24, 2024 presidential primary 
election.  

LEGAL REVIEW:    
The City Attorney has reviewed the process and has no objections.  

FISCAL IMPACT:    
Funds for election inspector wages and election contract services have been budgeted for in the 
2023-2024 Fiscal Year.   

SUSTAINABILITY:  
Partnerships with Oakland County Elections Division for tabulating absent voter ballots and 
providing early voting services enhances the City’s capacity to provide sustainable and efficient 
services to Birmingham voters.   

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS:   
The City communicated recruitment efforts for election inspectors by posting information on the 
city’s website, through City publications, email, news blasts, and social media.  

SUMMARY:  
The deadline to appoint election inspectors for the February 27, 2024 presidential primary election 
is Tuesday, February 2, 2024. Attached is a list of inspectors who have been assigned to serve 
for the upcoming election. In the event of an insufficient number of election inspectors, the City 
Commission designated the Clerk’s Office to appoint additional election inspectors to properly run 
the election.  

The City of Birmingham will be utilizing the Oakland County Absent Voter Counting Board to count 
the absent voter ballots that arrive to the Clerk’s Office before 5:00 p.m. the day before the 
February 27, 2024 election. According to State election law, the Election Commission must 
approve the use of an absent voter counting board for each election.    

ATTACHMENTS:  
• List of election officials proposed to work at the February 27, 2024 election 
• Agreement between Oakland County and City of Birmingham for absent voting counting 

board 

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION:  
To make a motion to adopt a resolution appointing election inspectors, absentee voter counting 
board inspectors, receiving board inspectors and other election officials as recommended by the 
City Clerk for the February 27, 2024 presidential primary election pursuant to MCL 168.674, and 
further grant the City Clerk the authority to make emergency appointments of qualified candidates 
should circumstances warrant in order to maintain adequate staffing in the various precincts, 
counting boards and receiving boards.   
 
AND 
 

5I

http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-168-765a
https://www.bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_departments/city_clerk/voting/election_inspectors.php
https://www.bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_departments/city_clerk/voting/election_inspectors.php
https://www.facebook.com/100064834325018/posts/691338726370599/?mibextid=cr9u03
https://www.facebook.com/100064834325018/posts/691338726370599/?mibextid=cr9u03


3 
 

To authorize the use of the Oakland County Absent Voter Counting Board for the purpose of 
processing and tabulating absent voter ballots on February 27, 2024, as prescribed in the terms 
and responsibilities previously agreed upon at the July 12, 2020 meeting by Commission resolution 
07-120-20.  
  

5I



Count Placement Notes First Name Last Name Party Affiliation
1 1 Chair Arban Shala Democratic
2 1 Matthew Gorge Democratic
3 1 Diane Currie Democratic
4 1 Beth Brockmann Republican
5 1 Angelo Calado Student
6 2 Chair Pam Graham Democratic
7 2 Co-chair Patricia Fisher Democratic
8 2 Sally Erickson Democratic
9 2 Mark Thut Republican

10 2 Siya Chhabra Student
11 3 Chair David Proctor Republican
12 3 Co-Chair Ralph Plumley Democratic
13 3 susan Rieth Democratic
14 3 John  (Jack) Burns Republican
15 3 Joanna Masri Student
16 4 Chair Marie Meredith Republican
17 4 Co-chair Don Peasley Democratic
18 4 Michelle Moody Democratic
19 4 Karen Guenther Republican
20 4 Jackie Riley Democratic
21 5 Chair Alicia Chandler Democratic
22 5 David Underdown Republican
23 5 Mary McDermott Democratic
24 5 Stephen McDermott Democratic
25 5 Jonathan Citrin Democratic
26 5 Kristin George Republican
27 6 Chair Martha Coyne Democratic
28 6 Co-Chair Melissa LeDuc Democratic
29 6 Marikay Pigeon Republican
30 6 Constance Martin Democratic
31 6 Masah Bdeir Student
32 7 Chair Cynthia Shaw Democratic
33 7 Kenneth Konop Republican
34 7 Curtis Trimble Democratic
35 7 Larry Lyng Democratic
36 7 Gonzalez Democratic
37 7 kathy austin Democratic
38 8 Chair Bret Gallaway Republican
39 8 Co-Chair Evan Blum Democratic
40 8 Thomas Connery Democratic
41 8 harvey rosenberg Republican
42 9 Co-Chair Margaret Brooks Democratic

Maria Alejan

5I



Count Placement Notes First Name Last Name Party Affiliation
43 9 Janice Pinson Republican
44 9 Barbara Collins Democratic
45 9 Sydney Pereira Student
46 AV Jacquie Patt Democratic
47 AV Lauren Gieraltowski Democratic
48 AV-RB Gail Corcoran Republican
49 AV-RB Patricia Batey Democratic
50 AV-RB David Stone Democratic
51 OC - AVCB Mary Steffy Democratic

9.8%

Republican
27.5%

Democratic
62.7%

Party Affiliation
Student

5I



5I



5I



5I



5. PAYMENTS.

5.1. Election Services shall be provided to Public Body at the rates and for the charges 
specified in the Exhibits, if applicable. 

5.2. If County is legally obligated for any reason, e.g. subpoena, court order, or Freedom of 
Infonnation Request, to search for, identify, produce or testify regarding Public Body's 
records, data, or infonnation that is stored by County relating to Election Services that 
Public Body receives under this Agreement, then Public Body shall reimburse County for all 
reasonable costs County incurs in searching for, identifying, producing or testifying 
regarding such records, data, or infonnation. County may waive this requirement in its sole 
discretion. 

5.3. County shall provide Public Body with an invoice/explanation of County's costs for Election 
Services provided herein and/or a statement describing any amounts owed to County. Public 
Body shall pay the full amount shown on any such invoice within sixty (60) calendar days 
after the date shown on any such invoice. Payment shall be sent along with a copy of the 
invoice to: Oakland County Treasurer- Cash Acctg, Bldg 12 E, 1200 N. Telegraph Road, 
Pontiac, MI 48341.

5.4. If Public Body, for any reason, fails to pay County any monies when and as due under this 
Agreement, Public Body agrees that unless expressly prohibited by law, County or the 
Oakland County Treasurer, at their sole option, shall be entitled to set off from any other 
Public Body funds that are in County's possession for any reason, including but not limited 
to, the Oakland County Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund ("DTRF"), if applicable. Any 
setoff or retention of funds by County shall be deemed a voluntary assignment of the 
amount by Public Body to County. Public Body waives any Claims against County or its 
Officials for any acts related specifically to County's offsetting or retaining of such amounts. 
This paragraph shall not limit Public Body's legal right to dispute whether the underlying 
amount retained by County was actually due and owing under this Agreement. 

5.5. If County chooses not to exercise its right to setoff or if any setoff is insufficient to fully pay 
County any amounts due and owing County under this Agreement, County shall have the 
right to charge up to the then-maximum legal interest on any unpaid amount. Interest charges 
shall be in addition to any other amounts due to County under this Agreement. Interest 
charges shall be calculated using the daily unpaid balance method and accumulate until all 
outstanding amounts and accumulated interest are fully paid. 

5.6. Nothing in this Section shall operate to limit County's right to pursue or exercise any other 
legal rights or remedies under this Agreement or at Jaw against Public Body to secure 
payment of amounts due to County under this Agreement. The remedies in this Section shall 
be available to County on an ongoing and successive basis if Public Body becomes delinquent 
in its payment. Notwithstanding any other term and condition in this Agreement, if County 
pursues any legal action in any court to secure its payment under this Agreement, Public Body 
agrees to pay all costs and expenses, including attorney fees and court costs, incurred by 
County in the collection of any amount owed by Public Body. 

5.7. Either Party's decision to terminate and/or cancel this Agreement, or any one or more of the 
individual Election Services identified herein, shall not relieve Public Body of any payment 
obligation for any Election Services rendered prior to the effective date of any termination or 
cancelJation of this Agreement. The provisions of this Section shall survive the termination, 
cancellation, and/or expiration of this Agreement. 

Page 4 of 11 

ELECTION SERVICES - INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 

5I



5I



5I



5I



5I



5I



5I



5I



MEMORANDUM 
Finance Department 

DATE:  January 8, 2024 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Mark Gerber, Finance Director/Treasurer 

SUBJECT: SMART Fiscal Year 2024 Municipal and Community Credit Funds Contract 

INTRODUCTION: 
Each year the City receives funding from the Suburban Mobility Authority for Regional 
Transportation (SMART) to provide transportation-related services and improvements for its 
residents.  The City must determine how it would like to spend those funds and sign and return 
the agreement to SMART. 

BACKGROUND: 
The City will receive $20,416 in Municipal Credits and $33,579 in Community Credits this year 
for a total of $53,995 under a program administered by SMART.  This is a $1,599 increase from 
the prior year.  Municipal Credits are derived from money collected by the State, mainly from 
gasoline taxes, and distributed by SMART directly to local communities for transit needs.  
Community Credits are derived from taxes levied to support SMART.  A share of these millage 
dollars collected by SMART is returned to communities to support or expand current 
transportation programs. Funds received under the Municipal Credits program must be spent 
within 2 years.  Funds received under the Community Credits program must be spent within 3 
years. 

Last year the City received $52,396 in Municipal and Community Credits and allocated all 
the funding in support of Next’s specialized transportation service.   

This year it is recommended that again the entire allocation of $53,995 be allocated in support 
of Next’s specialized transportation service.  This support is needed as a result of an increase in 
the cost of providing transportation services.    

LEGAL REVIEW: 
No legal review needed. 

1 

5J



2 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
No fiscal impact as the funds will go directly to Next. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
SMART provides the buses to NEXT to operate the specialized transportation service. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
No public communication is necessary. 

SUMMARY: 
It is recommended that the entire allocation of SMART funding be allocated to Next to provide 
bus transportation for seniors.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. SMART Municipal Credit and Community Credit Contract for FY 2024

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to allocate $20,416 in Municipal Credits and $33,579 in 
Community Credits from SMART for fiscal year 2024 to Next in support of their specialized 
transportation program; and further to direct the Finance Director to sign the Municipal Credit 
and Community Credit contract for fiscal year 2024 on behalf of the City. 

5J



Bingham Farms 

MUNICIPAL CREDIT and COMMUNITY CREDIT 

CONTRACT FOR FY2024  

 

I, Mark Gerber, as the Finance Director/Treasurer of  Birmingham (hereinafter, the “Community”) hereby apply to 

SMART and agree to the terms and conditions herein, for the receipt and expenditure of Municipal Credits available for 

the period July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024 (Section 1 below), and Community Credits available for the period July 1, 

2023 to June 30, 2024 (Section 2 below); and further agree that the Municipal and Community Credits Master 

Agreement between the parties is incorporated herein by reference.  A description of the service the Community shall 

provide hereunder is set forth in Exhibit A, and the operating budget for that service is set forth in Exhibit B, both of 

which are attached hereto and incorporated herein.  

 

1. The Community agrees to use $21,416.00 in Municipal Credit funds as follows:   

 

(a) Transfer to __________________________  Funding of: $ ______________ 

                TRANSFEREE COMMUNITY 

         

(b) Van/Bus Operations     At the cost of: $ ______________ 

 (Including Charter and Taxi services) 

 

(c) Services Purchased from SMART     At the cost of: $ ______________ 

 (Including Tickets, Shuttle Services/Dial-a-Ride) 

 

(d) Services Purchased from Subcontractor   At the cost of: $ _21,416________ 

 NEXT_________________________ 

 (NAME OF SUBCONTRACTOR) 

 (See attached Subcontractor Service Agreement) 

         Total    $21,416.00 

 

SMART intends to provide Municipal Credit funds under this contract to the extent funds for the program are made 

available to it by the Michigan Legislature pursuant to Michigan Public Act 51 of 1951.  Municipal Credit funds made 

available to SMART through legislative appropriation are based on the State’s approved budget.  In the event that 

revenue actually received is insufficient to support the Legislature’s appropriation, it will result in an equivalent 

reduction in funding provided to the Community pursuant to this Contract.  In such event, SMART reserves the right, 

without notice, to reduce the payment of Municipal Credit funds by the amount of any reduction by the legislature 

5J



to SMART.  All Municipal Credit funding must be spent by June 30, 2026; all funds not spent by that date will revert 

back to SMART pursuant to Michigan Public Act 51 of 1951, for expenditure consistent with Michigan law and SMART 

policy. 

 

 

2. The Community agrees to use $33,579.00 in Community Credit funds available as follows:   

 

(a) Transfer to ___________________________  Funding of: $ ______________ 

                 TRANSFEREE COMMUNITY 

         

(b) Van/Bus Operations     At the cost of: $ ______________ 

 (Including Charter and Taxi services) 

 

(c) Services Purchased from SMART     At the cost of: $ ______________ 

 (Including Tickets, Shuttle Services/Dial-a-Ride) 

 

(d) Capital Purchases     At the cost of: $ ______________ 

 

(e) Services Purchased from Subcontractor   At the cost of: $ _33,579________ 

 _NEXT________________________ 

 (NAME OF SUBCONTRACTOR) 

 (See attached Subcontractor Service Agreement) 

         Total   $33,579.00 

 

To the extent that this Contract calls for a payment of funds directly from SMART to a subcontractor, Community hereby 

acknowledges that it is the party entitled to receive such funds and is affirmatively authorizing and directing SMART to 

pay such funds directly to the subcontractor on its behalf.  Capital purchases permitted with Community Credits are 

subject to applicable state and federal regulations, and SMART policy, including procurement guidelines.  When 

advantageous, SMART may make procurements directly.  Reimbursement for purchases made by Community requires 

submission of proper documentation to support the purchase (i.e. purchase orders, receiving reports, invoices, etc.).   

Community Credit dollars available in FY 2024, may be required to serve local employer transportation needs per the 

coordination requirements set forth in the aforementioned Master Agreement.  All Community Credit funds must be 

spent by June 30, 2027; any funds not spent by that date may revert back to SMART for expenditure consistent with 

SMART policy. 

 

The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement may be executed by electronic signature, which shall be 

considered as an original signature for all purposes and shall have the same force and effect as an original signature. 

5J



The Parties agree that the electronic signatures appearing on this Agreement are the same as handwritten 

signatures for the purposes of validity, enforceability and admissibility. Without limitation, “electronic signature” 

shall include faxed versions of an original signature or electronically scanned and transmitted versions (e.g., via pdf) 

of an original signature. 

 

This Agreement shall be binding once signed by both parties. 

 

 

SUBURBAN MOBILITY AUTHORITY FOR 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION 

 BIRMINGHAM 

 

 

  

 

Signature  Signature 

 

 

  

Mark Gerber 

Printed Name  Printed Name 

 

 

  

Finance Director/Treasurer 

Title  Title 

 

 

  

January 22, 2024 

Date  Date 

              

 

 

  

5J



EXHIBIT A 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 

Overall Project Description (Provide a descriptive narrative): 

Next Transportation Program supports the community by providing reliable transportation to seniors and adults 

with disabilities. Many residents rely on Next to be able to continue their independence by making sure they are 

able to access local community resources and schedule important medical appointments 

 

Service Area (Provide geographic boundaries):  

Next transportation originates in the four communities of Birmingham, Beverly Hills, Bingham Farms, and Franklin 

Village and covers an area about four miles radius from Next, located at 2121 Midvale, Birmingham. 

 

Service Times (Provide days and hours of service):  

The Next Transportation program. Operates Monday through Friday. 8:00 AM through 5:00 PM. 

 

Eligible User Groups (Users eligible to use the service):  

Next transportation program serves area residents 65 and older and adults with disabilities over 18 years old. 

 

Fare Structure: (Cost to use service) 

Fees to ride the next transportation bus are $5 one way and $6 round trip paid either daily or invoiced monthly. 

 

Service Mode (Describe the amount and type of vehicles available, and whether they are wheelchair lift-

equipped): 

Next operates 3 shuttle buses with A fourteen person capacity, all wheelchair accessible. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5J



EXHIBIT B 

 

PROJECT OPERATING BUDGET 

 

Municipality: Birmingham 

 

Contract Period: July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024 

 

Account Number: 48205 

 

OPERATING EXPENSES:   

Administrative Fee: (All employees 

other than drivers and dispatchers) 

     (10% max. of MC & CC funds) 

  

Driver Wages   

Fringe Benefits   

Gasoline & Lubricants   

Vehicle Insurance   

Parts, Maintenance Supplies   

Mechanic Wages   

Fringe Benefits   

Dispatch Wages   

Other (Specify)   

Sub-Total  (Operating Expenses)    

 

PURCHASED SERVICE: 

  

Taxi Service   

Charter Service   

SMART Bus Tickets   

SMART Shuttle Service   

SMART Dial-A-Ride   

5J



Other (Specify) _Next___________ $53,995  

Sub-Total (Purchased Service)  $53,995 

 

CAPITAL EQUIPMENT: 

(Only list purchases to be made with Community Credits) 

Computer Equipment   

Software   

Vehicle   

Maintenance Equipment   

Other (Specify)   

Sub-Total (Capital Equipment)   

 

TOTAL EXPENSES                Operating Expenses, 

Purchased Service, and Capital Equipment: 

 $53,995 

5J



EXHIBIT B, continued (Page 2) 

 

REVENUES:   

Municipal Credit Funds 20,416  

Community Credit Funds 33,579  

Specialized Services Funds   

General Funds   

Farebox Revenue   

In-Kind Service   

Special Fares (Contracted Service)   

Other (Specify)   

 

TOTAL REVENUE: 

  

 

(Note:  TOTAL EXPENSES must equal TOTAL REVENUE) 

$53,995 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5J



Suburban Mobility Authority for Regional Transportation 

EEO COMPLIANCE REPORT A 

COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP FORM 

 

Agency/Community Information 

Program Type: Community Partnership Program (CPP) ☒  Specialized Service ☐  New Freedom ☐  JARC ☐  5310 ☐     

Name of Agency/Community:  Birmingham Area Seniors Coordinating Council dba Next 

Address: 2121 Midvale Street 

City:            Birmingham                                                      State:          MI                                                              Zip: 48009 

Agency/Community Data 

1) Has your agency/community completed in excess of $1,000,000 in                                    

     DOT federally-funded contracts from SMART in the past year?                                                                                  Yes ☐ No ☒ 

2) Does your agency/community employ over fifty (50) transit related employees?                                                   Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If the answers to the previous two questions were both “Yes”, Please forward  

your agency’s/community’s Affirmative Action plan to the address below: 

 

Buhl Building 

535 Griswold Street, Suite 600 

Detroit, MI 48226 

Attn: EEO Coordinator 

Have all subcontractors been informed of their responsibility to file an EEO Compliance Report A form? Yes☐No☐N/A ☐ 

Drug and Alcohol Testing Program Requirements 

Does your agency/community have a DOT Drug and Alcohol testing program for  

Vault Workforce 

Safety-sensitive employees? (Vehicle operators, dispatchers, mechanics and armed security)                                                     Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Name of drug and alcohol testing manager?        Toni Wilson                                                 Title:     Workforce Account Rep. 

Phone Number:           800-732-3784                                        Ext:                                                Email: twilson@vaulthealth.com 

Please Proceed to Employment Data Section on Back 

5J



Suburban Mobility Authority for Regional Transportation 

EEO COMPLIANCE REPORT A 
COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP FORM 

Employment Data 

Report ONLY employees directly involved in the operation of your non-emergency transportation program. Including permanent, 

temporary, or part-time employees. Enter the appropriate figures in the spaces below relating to each employee’s race and gender.  

Jo
b

 C
la

ss
ifi

ca
ti

o
n

  

Total  

Race 

 Minority 

White  
African    

American  
Hispanic  Asian  

Pacific      

Islander  

American 

Indian 

Multi 

Race  

Em
p

lo
ye

e
s 

M
al

e
 

Fe
m

al
e

 

M
in

o
ri

ty
 

M
al

e
 

Fe
m

al
e

 

M
al

e
 

Fe
m

al
e

 

M
al

e
 

Fe
m

al
e

 

M
al

e
 

Fe
m

al
e

 

M
al

e
 

Fe
m

al
e

 

M
al

e
 

Fe
m

al
e

 

M
al

e
 

Fe
m

al
e

 

Officials/Managers                   

Professionals                   

Technicians                   

Office and Clerical 

Staff 1  1   1             

Craftsmen (Skilled)                   

Operators (Semi-

Skilled)  2 2          2                       

Laborers 

(Unskilled)                                     

Service Workers                                   

Journey Workers                                     

Apprentices                                     

Total                                     

Certification 

How was this information obtained?      Visual Survey:  Yes X☐ No ☐     Employment Records: Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Name of Authorizing Official (Print):  Christine Braun                                                          Title: Executive Director 

Signature:          Christine Braun                                                              Date:  1/15/2024 

Contact person for report:          Sandra Catterall                                                                  Title: Financial Administrator 

Telephone:      248-203-5273                                 Ext:                                               Email: scatterall@birminham.k12.mi.us 

5J



MEMORANDUM 
Legal – City Attorney 

DATE: January 15, 2024 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney 

SUBJECT: Ordinance Amendment – Chapter 58 – Health and Sanitation, Article IV.  Day Care 
Homes and Child Care Centers, Sec. 58-111 

INTRODUCTION: 
Businesses in the City of Birmingham are required to apply for and obtain a license from the City 
in order to operate legally in the City of Birmingham. Chapter 58, Article IV regulates day care 
and child care centers in the City of Birmingham.  While language in this Article states 
investigations are performed by the Health Officer and Fire Chief, we are recommending that we 
make an amendment to Sec. 58-111 regarding background and criminal checks.  

BACKGROUND: 
Chapter 26, Businesses, regulates the requirements necessary in order for most businesses to 
operate in the City of Birmingham including application and annual licensing.  Numerous areas of 
our Code require that the Police Department has the opportunity to investigate business owners 
in order to assure for the health, safety and welfare of businesses operating in the City.  Chapter 
58, Article IV. Day Care Homes and Child Care Centers, also has language to provide for the 
health, safety and welfare of persons operating child care centers, family day care home centers, 
and group day home centers.  While the State of Michigan has statutory requirements for the 
issuance of licenses for these types of operations, for clarity, we are recommending that we 
amend the ordinance to include that an applicant must provide their most recent driver’s license 
and that the Police Department shall perform a background and criminal check of the applicant.  
We believe it is imperative that these types of businesses have requirements necessary for the 
City to ensure that such operations are done with the safety and welfare of the consumers as the 
first priority.    

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney’s office has reviewed the State law requirements for the application for a license 
for child care center, day care center, family day care or a group home and recognizes that the 
City of Birmingham’s ordinance should provide for the ability of the Police Department to review 
a person’s driver’s license and background and criminal check. 

5K



2 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
The Child Care Center regulations requires the payment of fees for these investigations 
as provided for in the Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance.   

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
This item has been listed as an agenda item and public notice given that the City Commission 
will be reviewing this additional language to the City’s Code of Ordinances. 

SUMMARY: 
The City Attorney’s office is making a recommendation to the City Commission to amend 
Chapter 58 – Health and Sanitation, Article IV. – Day Care Homes and Child Care Centers, Sec. 
58-111. – Application for license; investigations of the Birmingham Code of Ordinances to
further protect and ensure child care services provided by persons with appropriate
qualifications.

ATTACHMENTS: 
Redlined version of proposed ordinance amendment
Clean version of proposed ordinance amendment

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting an amendment to Chapter 58, Article IV., Sec. 58-111(a) of 
the Birmingham City Code of Ordinances stating that applicants for child care centers, day 
care centers and family day care group homes must provide their most recent driver’s license 
and the Police Department shall perform a background and criminal check of applicants. 

5K



AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II OF THE CITY CODE, CHAPTER 58 – HEALTH AND 
SANITATION, ARTICLE IV. – DAY CARE HOMES AND CHILD CARE CENTERS 
 
THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 
 

The City Code, Part II, Chapter 58 – Health and Sanitation, Article IV. – Day Care Homes 
and Child Care Centers, Sec. 58-111. Application for license; investigations, shall read as follows: 
 

Sec. 58-111. Application for license; investigations. 

(a) Any person desiring to procure a license for the operation of a child care center, family day 
care home or a group day care home shall file with the health officer an application on such 
form as he shall provide, giving such information as shall be required by the health officer, 
and in addition shall execute an agreement that he will operate such child care center, family 
day care home or a group day care home, if the license is issued, in strict accordance with 
regulations promulgated under this article. The applicant must provide their most recent 
driver’s license, and the police department shall perform a background and criminal check 
of the applicant.  All employees of the business must also provide an Internet Criminal History 
Access Tool printout (ICHAT). 

(b) Such application shall be accompanied by the required fee to cover the cost of the 
investigation to determine whether such license should be issued. Such investigation fee 
shall be in addition to the required license fee and shall not be returnable. Such investigation 
fee shall not be again charged upon renewal of any license under this article unless the 
conditions under which the child care center, family day care home or a group day care 
home is to be operated shall have been changed so as to again require an investigation.  

(c) The health officer or his agent shall forthwith proceed to examine the premises wherein it is 
proposed to operate such child care center, family day care home or a group day care home, 
and shall ascertain whether the applicant and any other person to be employed in such child 
care center, family day care home or a group day care home are proper persons to engage 
in such business. If he shall determine that such person is a proper person and that the 
accommodations on the premises comply in all regards with the provisions of this article, 
and with all regulations made by him for such child care center, family day care home or a 
group day care home and with such other regulations, he shall endorse his approval on such 
application, stating therein the maximum number of children who may be received in such 
child care center, family day care home or a group day care home at any one time, the lower 
and upper age limits of such children and the hours during which the child care center, family 
day care home or a group day care home may be open, and during which children may be 
received. He shall then deliver such application to the fire chief, who shall examine premises 
to determine whether the same complies with the laws and regulations then in force. If he 
shall find that such premises do comply with all laws, provisions of this Code and such 
regulations, he shall endorse his approval on such application and the same shall be delivered 
to the city clerk. If requested by either the health officer or the fire chief, the premises shall 
also be inspected by the building official to ascertain whether or not the same be structurally 
sound, and he shall report his findings to the health officer.  

 
All other Sections of Chapter 58 – Health and Sanitation, shall remain unaffected. 

 

5K



Ordained this _____ day of __________________, 2024.  Effective upon publication. 
 

 

          
    Elaine McLain, Mayor 
  
          
    Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 
 

 
 
I, Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, do hereby certify that the 

foregoing ordinance was passed by the Commission of the City of Birmingham, Michigan at a regular 
meeting held _____________ and that a summary was published _____________________, 2024. 
 

_____________________________________ 
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

 

5K



AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II OF THE CITY CODE, CHAPTER 58 – HEALTH AND 
SANITATION, ARTICLE IV. – DAY CARE HOMES AND CHILD CARE CENTERS 
 
THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 
 

The City Code, Part II, Chapter 58 – Health and Sanitation, Article IV. – Day Care Homes 
and Child Care Centers, Sec. 58-111. Application for license; investigations, shall read as follows: 
 

Sec. 58-111. Application for license; investigations. 

(a) Any person desiring to procure a license for the operation of a child care center, family day 
care home or a group day care home shall file with the health officer an application on such 
form as he shall provide, giving such information as shall be required by the health officer, 
and in addition shall execute an agreement that he will operate such child care center, family 
day care home or a group day care home, if the license is issued, in strict accordance with 
regulations promulgated under this article. The applicant must provide their most recent 
driver’s license, and the police department shall perform a background and criminal check 
of the applicant.  All employees of the business must also provide an Internet Criminal History 
Access Tool printout (ICHAT). 

(b) Such application shall be accompanied by the required fee to cover the cost of the 
investigation to determine whether such license should be issued. Such investigation fee 
shall be in addition to the required license fee and shall not be returnable. Such investigation 
fee shall not be again charged upon renewal of any license under this article unless the 
conditions under which the child care center, family day care home or a group day care 
home is to be operated shall have been changed so as to again require an investigation.  

(c) The health officer or his agent shall forthwith proceed to examine the premises wherein it is 
proposed to operate such child care center, family day care home or a group day care home, 
and shall ascertain whether the applicant and any other person to be employed in such child 
care center, family day care home or a group day care home are proper persons to engage 
in such business. If he shall determine that such person is a proper person and that the 
accommodations on the premises comply in all regards with the provisions of this article, 
and with all regulations made by him for such child care center, family day care home or a 
group day care home and with such other regulations, he shall endorse his approval on such 
application, stating therein the maximum number of children who may be received in such 
child care center, family day care home or a group day care home at any one time, the lower 
and upper age limits of such children and the hours during which the child care center, family 
day care home or a group day care home may be open, and during which children may be 
received. He shall then deliver such application to the fire chief, who shall examine premises 
to determine whether the same complies with the laws and regulations then in force. If he 
shall find that such premises do comply with all laws, provisions of this Code and such 
regulations, he shall endorse his approval on such application and the same shall be delivered 
to the city clerk. If requested by either the health officer or the fire chief, the premises shall 
also be inspected by the building official to ascertain whether or not the same be structurally 
sound, and he shall report his findings to the health officer.  

 
All other Sections of Chapter 58 – Health and Sanitation, shall remain unaffected. 

 

5K



Ordained this _____ day of __________________, 2024.  Effective upon publication. 
 

 

          
    Elaine McLain, Mayor 
  
          
    Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 
 

 
 
I, Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, do hereby certify that the 

foregoing ordinance was passed by the Commission of the City of Birmingham, Michigan at a regular 
meeting held _____________ and that a summary was published _____________________, 2024. 
 

_____________________________________ 
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

 

5K



 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

January 2024 

Baldwin Public Library 

Press Reader 

Baldwin is now offering Press Reader, an all-you-can-eat newspaper and magazine subscription 

service, to library cardholders. Press Reader offers online access to The Economist, along with hundreds 

of other magazines and newsletters. Learn more at https://www.baldwinlib.org/emagazines/. 

Library Board 

The Library Board met on January 17 at 7:30 p.m. for its regular meeting. Board meetings are held in 

the second floor Board Room. At their December meeting, the library board selected Wendy Popko to 

create an art installation in the new cafe and collaboration space. At January's meeting, Wendy presented 

four mural concepts to the board and they selected the final design for the project.   

 

Phase 3 Construction Project 

Interior and exterior concrete flooring, sidewalks and planter beds have been installed. Window framing 

began on January 15. The project is scheduled to be completed by early April and we will be celebrating 

the new addition with an open house and ribbon cutting on May 18. The January 2024 renovation report 

is now available online. 

Library Tour 

If you would like to learn even more about the library, join Director Rebekah Craft for a Behind the 

Scenes Tour. You will visit staff areas, learn how items are added to the collection, and hear about new 

programs and services. The next tour will meet in the Library's Claudia Ireland room on Wednesday, 

February 7 at 4 p.m. 

Upcoming Events  

Idea Lab Event: The Grand Tour 

Wednesday, February 7 — 7:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. 

Have you always wondered what The Idea Lab is all about, but were afraid to ask? In this event, Jeff 

will take you on a tour of The Idea Lab, including a quick demo of our exciting equipment. Registration 

required. 

 

Negro Motorists Green-Book 

Monday, February 12 — 7:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. 

6A

https://www.baldwinlib.org/emagazines/
https://www.baldwinlib.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/January-2024-Renovation-Update.pdf


Join Kimmie Dobos-Wolfe, Detroit Historical Society’s Manager of Education and Public Programs, for a 

"walk" through Midtown and downtown Detroit and discover the safe havens, swinging spots and 

surprising stories that helped African Americans from Detroit and all over the country navigate the City. 

 

The Second Middle Passage: America's Domestic Slave Trade 

Tuesday, February 13 — 7:00 p.m. to 8:30 p.m. 

In the thirty years after the Revolution, a new type of American slave trade rose to compete with, eclipse 

and replace transatlantic slave trade. This new slave trade took place wholly within the United States as 

more than a million enslaved African Americans made this massive forced migration from the Upper 

South to work on cotton plantations in the Deep South. Join Dr. Richard Bell as he explores the 

development of this domestic slave trade called the Second Middle Passage. 

 

Bluey Bash 

Monday, February 19 — 10:00 a.m. to 10:30 a.m. 

Bring your imagination and celebrate our favorite Blue Heeler family with crafts and Bluey-approved 

games. Caregivers must stay with children for the program. Registration required. 

Learn more about these events and other programs coming to Baldwin 

at https://www.baldwinlib.org/calendar/. 

The Birmingham Museum  

Birmingham’s Black History Series 

The Birmingham Museum has been at the forefront of research in our previously unknown or overlooked 

local Black history and has been working to bring a more complete story to the public. As part of this 

effort, the museum will be hosting a special program series each Saturday during February from 11 a.m. 

to noon at the museum. Topics are drawn from recently discovered stories of Birmingham’s Black history: 

· Feb. 3:  “Abolitionist and Freedom Seeker: Birmingham’s Story of the Underground Railroad” 
· Feb. 10: “The Multi-racial ‘Delaware Moors’ and Birmingham’s Past” 
· Feb. 17: “The Harris-Jackson Family: A Century of Being Black in Birmingham” 
· Feb. 24:  “CREEM Magazine and Black Artists of the 1970s—and Beyond”  

 

Tickets are $10, or 4/$35 (purchase of a package of four also includes a one-year membership to the 

Friends of the Birmingham Museum). Space is limited, so pre-registration is required. Contact the 

museum at (248) 530-1928 or lpielack@bhamgov.org.  

Digital Access to Historic Birmingham School Yearbooks 

The Birmingham Museum has announced the launch of digital access to its historic Birmingham school 

yearbook collection with free online access to the 1919-1929 issues now available. The digitization project 

has been underway for several months as part of an overall initiative by the museum to make items of 

special interest more accessible, and in keeping with the City’s goals, to utilize sustainable approaches 

such as digitization and online access to accomplish this. Yearbooks provide much essential information 

to genealogists, local historians and families conducting personal research. 

The museum’s school yearbook collection was acquired over the last fifty years as donors have gifted 

copies that go back to 1919, the first yearbook issued by the then recently built Birmingham High School. 

The Birmingham Museum will be adding to the online yearbook collection one decade at a time, and 

anticipates the full digitized collection being available on the website over the next several months. The 

museum will undergo a revision to its strategic plan over the next year, and sustainability and public 

access will continue to be part of its focus. The digitized yearbooks can be viewed at 

www.bhamgov.org/yearbooks. 

6A

https://www.baldwinlib.org/calendar/
https://www.bhamgov.org/Document_Center/Department/City%20manager/City%20Manager%20Report/2024/January%202024/Flyer%20for%202024%20Black%20History%20Saturday%20Series.pdf
mailto:lpielack@bhamgov.org
http://www.bhamgov.org/yearbooks


Birmingham Shopping District (BSD) 

Events 

BRRmingham Blast 

Zip in to Downtown Birmingham on Saturday, January 27, from 10 a.m. – 6 p.m., for the 

BRRmingham Blast – a brand new event featuring free entertainment, food trucks and activities 

for all ages. The event will take place along South Old Woodward Avenue from Maple Road to 

Brown Street. This event is new for the BSD, based upon input from the community and a goal 

to drive consumers to Birmingham during the winter season.  

Zip Line: Experience the ultimate rush of zip-lining across the sky on the award-winning Fly Wire 

Zip Line, the longest mobile zip line in Michigan! Thrill seekers of all ages are invited to ride the 

300-foot-long zip line free of charge during the event. 

Food Trucks: A delicious variety of food trucks will be serving up savory favorites and warm 

sweets for purchase, including Sushi Kabar, Famous Hamburgers, House of Mac, S'mores & 

Coffee, The Little Donut Factory, Pull On This Chimney Cakes and Motor City Pasty Company. 

Relax in the warming tent, set with tables and chairs, to enjoy meals with family and friends. For 

those who prefer to dine-in, explore a list of downtown restaurants. 

Marshmallow Roasting and Activities: Gather around the fires for free marshmallow roasting, and 

visit the Kids' Zone tent for crafts during the event. 

Retail Sales: Downtown Birmingham’s many local and national retailers will be open during the 

event, so be sure to schedule some time to shop post-holiday sales and new 2024 merchandise! 

Explore a full list of downtown retailers. 

Business Development 

Business Recruitment 

Warby Parker is scheduled to soft open on January 31, and they are welcoming neighboring 

businesses in the district to stop in that first week for an open house in the mornings. Radiant: 

Made for Us, a new jewelry store, has opened in the former Great Eros location, and Baby Bar is 

planning to open in the former EGG location. While there has been some turnover of space (those 

recently cited national market trends and transitioning online sales), there is still a steady interest 

and waiting list for space downtown by retailers. 

Projects In Progress 

● CRM research, data collection and new service provider review.  

● New business welcome packet. 

Maintenance & Capital Improvements 

Pierce Street Alley/VIA Projects 

The BSD is meeting with Main Street Oakland County this week to begin developing concept 

designs and budgets for the VIAs, in particular Pierce Street. The City’s Engineering Department 

recently completed the topographical survey of the Pierce and West Maple alleys, which will be 

bid out this spring and under construction this summer. The BSD is looking to create a more 

6A

https://allinbirmingham.com/dine
https://allinbirmingham.com/shops


pedestrian friendly environment for the alleys by implementing the VIA plan the City 

developed almost a decade ago, entitled “Activating Urban Space”. 

Marketing & Advertising 

Holiday Survey 

The BSD will be sending out a holiday survey to merchants to gauge their success this past holiday 

season. Look for results from the survey to be completed by early February.  

Brand Extension 

As spring and summer programs are now in the planning stages, the Marketing & Advertising 

Committee is working on the next round of brand extension items including a spring/summer and 

Farmers Market logo, as well as a new district map for marketing purposes.  

Tourism Advisory Committee 

This committee met for the first time in December and again on January 17. This past month, 

the committee conducted a self-assessment of the tourism assets, needs and opportunities. Plans 

are to develop a prioritized strategy over the next couple months to begin integrating into the 

BSD’s marketing plan.  

Organization 

Board of Directors 

The BSD Board held its election of officers this month, resulting in Amy Pohlod as Chairperson, 

Michael McKenzie as Vice-Chairperson and Richard Astrein as Secretary. The secretary position is 

new for the Board given their newly adopted bylaws this past year. Committee chairs and vice-

chairs were also appointed.  

Merchant Meeting 

A merchant meeting was held on Tuesday, January 9, which provided merchants with the 

calendar of events, meetings and information on proposed short-term parking recommendations. 

BSD Winter/Spring Calendar of Events 

BRRmingham Blast January 27, 2024 
Spring Stroll  April 13, 2024 
Farmers Market Opening Day  May 5, 2024 

2023 Dashboard Metrics 

Retail Occupancy Rate - 99% (out of 1.5 million sq.ft.) 

Office Occupancy - 89% (out of 2 million sq.ft.)

19 New Business Openings in 2023 (8 more in process) 

75/25% Local vs. National Mix 

Commercial, Mixed-Use & Residential Development Projects In Construction/Planning - 15 

projects totaling 827,727 sq. ft.  

563 New Residential Units In Development 

33 Active Volunteers (Board and Committee members) 

6A



Building Department 

Board of Zoning Appeals 
There were five cases on the agenda for the January 9, 2024 Board of Zoning Appeals regular 
meeting: 

1. 631 Ruffner: The property owner requested variances from the minimum combined side yard
setback, minimum side yard setback, minimum distance between houses and minimum
distance an attached garage must be set back from the front façade to construct an addition
on their existing nonconforming home. The variances were approved by a 6/0 vote.

2. 1215 Cedar: The property owner requested variances from the minimum total combined side
yard setbacks, minimum side yard setback and the minimum distance between houses to
construct an addition on their existing nonconforming home. The variances were approved
by a 6/0 vote.

3. 172 George: The owner requested a variance to construct a detached garage closer to a
neighboring house than permitted by the ordinance. The request was denied by a 6/0 vote.

4. 220 Lakepark: The property owner requested a variance to construct an attached garage that
would not be set back from the minimum distance from the front façade of the home. The
variance was approved by a 5/1 vote.

5. 460 Wimbleton: The owner requested variances from the minimum required front yard
setback and the minimum total combined side yard setbacks to construct an addition to the
existing home. The variance regarding the front yard setback was approved 6/1. The other
request was denied 6/0.

Congratulations, Jeff Zielke 
Assistant Building Official Jeff Zielke passed the International Code Council’s Building Plans Examiner 
Certification exam on January 15, 2024. This is a difficult exam and passing it demonstrates Jeff’s 
excellent knowledge of the commercial building code along with its associated standards. 
Congratulations, Jeff! 

Online Permit Applications 
In the month of December, we processed 251 permits online bringing the total permits processed 
electronically in 2023 to 4,387. Last year, 85% of all building, electrical, mechanical and plumbing 
permits were applied for online.  

Monthly Report 
The Building Department’s monthly report provides an update on the following construction activity: 
building permits issued, building inspections conducted, trades permits issued and trades inspections 
conducted.  

City Clerk's Office 

February 27, 2024 Presidential Primary 

Absentee Ballot - Initial Mailing 
The initial mailing of absentee ballots is tentatively scheduled for Friday, January 19, 2024. Please be on 
the lookout and check your mailbox if you requested an absentee ballot.  

Permanent Ballot Voters - Ballot Style Request Card 
Over 4,500 Birmingham voters have migrated to the “Permanent Ballot” list by sending a request in 
writing or through an absentee ballot application from the November 7, 2023 election. These voters 
should have received a postcard to select their ballot style for the February 27, 2024 Presidential Primary 
Election. Permanent ballot voters must return the ballot selection postcard for the 
Presidential Primary Election. Clerk's Office staff will be following up by email, phone call 

6A

https://www.bhamgov.org/Document_Center/Department/City%20manager/City%20Manager%20Report/2024/January%202024/Building%20Report%20Jan%202024.pdf


and first class mail for Permanent Ballot Voters who have not returned their ballot selection 
cards. Going forward there will only be one ballot style for the August and November elections in 2024, 
in November of 2025, and in August and November of 2026.  

Absentee Ballot Applications 
Absentee ballot applications have been delivered to Birmingham voters on the “permanent absentee ballot 
application” list. This list will be phased out soon as voters migrate to the “permanent ballot” list. Pictured below 
is the absentee ballot application. There is a lot of information on the absentee ballot application, so read 
carefully! 

Important notes: In step 2, the third option, “Ballot Without Presidential Primary” is no longer an option as 
the City of Birmingham will not have any non-partisan proposals. The deadline for proposal language to be 
submitted was 4 p.m. on Tuesday, December 5, 2023. 

6A



Voters who wish to receive an absentee ballot automatically for each election moving forward should check the 
box in the yellow highlighted area.  

Absentee ballots will be issued as requests are received up until the absentee ballot issuing 
deadline of Monday, February 26, 2024 at 4:00 p.m. 

Becoming a Permanent Ballot Voter 
Since the passage of Proposal 2022-2 clerks now maintain a Permanent Ballot List. Birmingham voters began 
opting into the Permanent Ballot List by checking a box on their November 7, 2023 absentee ballot application. 
This box is also available on the 2024 absentee ballot applications. Voters can opt in or out of the Permanent 

Ballot list at any time by sending a written request to the City Clerk’s Office.  

Voters on the Permanent Ballot List should make sure they keep current contact information on 
file with the City Clerk’s Office including mailing address (especially for those that travel outside 
of Birmingham during times that ballots are being mailed) as well as phone and email contacts. 
Ballots are not allowed to be forwarded, so the Clerk’s Office will be contacting all voters whose 

absentee ballots bounced back to the Clerk’s Office in the mail.  

Presidential Candidate List 
Under State law, the Secretary of State is required to issue a list of individuals “generally advocated by the 
national news media to be potential presidential candidates” for the Republican and Democratic parties for the 
presidential primary election. 

Overseas Voters 
Voters who are in the military or will be overseas during any of the 2024 elections must apply for a MOVE ballot 
at https://www.fvap.gov/michigan. 

In 2023, the governor signed legislation that took immediate effect to allow additional time to receive absentee 
voter ballots from military and overseas voters. This change comes after Michiganders approved Ballot Proposal 
22-2 to amend the State’s Constitution last year. The new law states that absentee ballots from military and
overseas voters will be counted if the ballot return envelope was postmarked on or before election day and
received within six days following the election.

Calling All Election Inspectors! 
The City Clerk’s Office is taking applications for election inspectors. The February 27, 2024 Presidential Primary 
Election will be a great learning opportunity for all elections inspectors of all levels of experience as we head 
into the 2024 Election Cycle. 

Becoming an election inspector is a valuable opportunity to actively support our democratic process. As an 
election inspector, you play an essential role in ensuring fair and transparent elections, while safeguarding the 
rights of your fellow citizens. With training and experience, election inspectors build a deeper understanding of 
the election process and all of the safety and security measures in place to ensure that elections continue to be 
conducted with accuracy and efficiency in a safe manner. 

Follow this link to sign up as an election inspector for the February 27, 2024 election. All the training classes are 
included, along with placement requests and additional information the Clerk's Office will need. There have been 
some updates to the form, so please take your time to fill everything out completely. 

Early Voting Dates 
Early Voting Dates for the February 27, 2024 Presidential Primary: 
Saturday 2/17 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 
Sunday   2/18 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 
Monday   2/19 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 

6A

https://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/mcl/pdf/mcl-chap168.pdf
https://www.michigan.gov/sos/-/media/Project/Websites/sos/Elections/Home/2024-Presidential-Primary-Candidate-Listing.pdf?rev=8f6333abe715421a855bfbbc77a70d96&hash=BDBC197ECFF9E54B29E2F8D0DEC5E265
https://www.fvap.gov/michigan
https://forms.gle/BrfTATSib5ErjPte9


Tuesday 2/20 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 
Wednesday 2/21  8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 
Thursday 2/22  12:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. 
Friday 2/23  8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 
Saturday 2/24  8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 
Sunday 2/25  8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 

Early Voting Locations: 
 Waterford Oaks Activities Center, 2800 Watkins Lake Road, Waterford, MI  48328
 Bloomfield Township Public Library, 1099 Lone Pine Rd. Bloomfield Township, MI 48302

Early voting will look and feel just like voting on Election Day. The voter will fill out an application to vote, be 
checked into the poll book, receive a ballot, mark their ballot, and run their ballot through a tabulator just like 
voting in person on Election Day.  

Early voting is a component of proposal 2022-2 and includes a Constitutional right to no less than 9 days of early 
voting in each Statewide and Federal election (even year election) for no less than 8 hours per day. The February 
27, 2024 Presidential Primary election is a Statewide Federal election. Oakland County Elections Division, the 
City of Birmingham, Bloomfield Township and Southfield Township have an agreement and plan in place to offer 
early voting at the Bloomfield Township Library. Oakland County is also providing a county-wide Early Voting 
Location at Waterford Oaks. 

For more information on early voting visit bhamgov.org/vote. 

February 27, 2024 - Presidential Primary Important Deadlines 

Monday, February 12, 2024 Deadline to register online, at a SOS branch, or by mail for the 
February 27, 2024 election 

February 13, 2024 through February 
27, 2024 (Election Day) 

Same-day voter registration with your local clerk, proof of residency 
required 

Friday, February 16, 2024 Deadline for spoiling an absentee ballot 

Saturday, February 17, 2024 through 
Sunday, February 25, 2024 

Early Voting 

Friday, February 23, 2024 5:00 p.m. deadline for sending absentee ballots by first class mail 

Monday, February 26, 2024 4:00 p.m. deadline for voters to spoil their absentee ballot that was 
lost or destroyed in-person at the Clerk’s Office 

Tuesday, February 27, 2024 8:00 p.m. deadline for absentee ballots to be delivered to the clerk 
for tabulation 

Friday, March 1, 2024 5:00 p.m. deadline for a voter to cure a signature on an AV ballot to 
be received and counted 

Monday, March 4, 2024 Deadline to receive and count a ballot submitted by an Overseas 
Voter postmarked on or before Election Day 

6A

https://www.bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_departments/city_clerk/voting/index.php


2024 Election Dates Continued 

 State Primary - August 6, 2024
 General Election - November 5, 2024

No Postage Necessary! 
Absentee ballot applications and absentee ballot return envelopes for the entire State of Michigan are equipped 
with a business reply mail permit that will cover the cost of postage for any ballot or application mailed within 
the United States.  

Return Envelopes - What to look out for 
Outgoing absentee ballots (to the voter) are blue. 

All absentee ballot return envelopes (coming back to the Clerk) will be purple. The United States Post Office and 
Michigan Bureau of Elections worked to redesign these envelopes and changed the color from green to purple 
to increase the efficiency of processing election mail.  

Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board (GCAB) 
The next meeting for the GCAB is scheduled for February 2, 2024. To view Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board 
agendas and minutes visit www.bhamgov.org/GCAB. 

Mary Chase Perry Stratton Decoration - Requested by the Friends of the Birmingham Museum 
Mary Chase Perry Stratton was placed in Greenwood 
Cemetery in 1961 and is a person of historical significance 
based on her contributions as an American ceramic artist. 
Stratton is the founder of the Pewabic Pottery and 
enthusiastic promoter of the Arts and Crafts Movement in 
the United States. Stratton’s work consists of iridescent 
glazes of her pottery and tile. Significant displays of this 
artwork adorn the Detroit Public Library, the Cathedral of 
St. John the Divine in New York, the National Shrine of the 
Immaculate Conception, and other public buildings. 

The Friends of the Birmingham Museum have been 
advocating for the installation of a special decorative tile, 
pictured below (left), on Stratton’s plot.  

The Clerk’s Office consulted with Cheri Arcome who has assured the City that the proposed installation of the 
Stratton decoration will not obstruct cemetery operations. The Clerk’s Office also conferred with the City 
Manager's Office regarding this matter. 

There will be a fee of $250.00 to lay out the lot, the grave, and to stake the area where the concrete pillar will 
be installed and assembled. The dimensions of the pillar are roughly 12” X 12” X 8” to which the 12” X 12” tiled 
monument will be attached. The pillar in turn is anchored to a concrete foundation of the same dimensions 
except longer, which is buried (see the picture below). 

Cheri Arcome will coordinate installation of the decoration. At this time, it is anticipated that the Friends of the 
Birmingham Museum plan to cover the cost of this service that is required for installation. 

Cheri will coordinate installation with Steve McBride, Executive Director of Pewabic Pottery. Per the Greenwood 
Cemetery Operational Procedures, Conditions, and Regulations, installation will not occur between November 1 
and April 15 unless weather permits. 

6A

http://www.bhamgov.org/GCAB


Board of Ethics 
The Board of Ethics recently met to review the draft opinions for cases 2023-03 and 2023-04. In addition to 
reviewing the most recent cases, the Ethics Board is working on a presentation for the February 5, 2024 City 
Commission Workshop. To view the Ethics Board agendas and minutes visit www.bhamgov.org/ethics.  

Board Appointments 
The City of Birmingham is looking for dedicated individuals who want to give back to their community by serving 
on one of our many boards or commissions. Birmingham’s different boards and commissions make 
recommendations that shape the City’s future. Serving on a board or commission is a great way to get involved 
in your community, meet new people and make a positive impact. Don't miss out on the chance to make a 
difference - go to www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities to view all the available openings and submit your 
application. 

Board Openings Application 
Due by Noon 

Interview/ 
Appointment at City 
Commission meeting 
7:30 pm 

Ad Hoc Aging in Place 
Committee 

None 

Ad Hoc Environmental 
Sustainability 
Committee 

None 

Advisory Parking 
Committee 

1 regular member (retail) term ending 
9/1/2026 
1 alternate member term ending 
9/1/2026 

Until Filled 

Architectural Review 
Committee 

1 regular member term ending 
4/11/2025 

Until Filled 

Birmingham Shopping 
District 

1 member shall be a business operators 
or persons with interest in property 
located within the district, 4-year term 
ending 11/16/2026 

Until Filled 

6A

http://www.bhamgov.org/ethics
http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities


Birmingham Area 
Cable Board 

1 regular Birmingham resident, term 
ending 3/30/24 
1 regular Birmingham resident, term 
ending 3/30/26 
1 alternate Birmingham resident, term 
ending 3/30/25 

Until Filled 

Board of Building 
Trades Appeals 

None 

Board of Review 1 regular members to serve a 3-year 
term expiring 12/31/2026 
1 regular members to serve a 3-year 
term expiring 12/31/2025 
1 alternate member to serve 3-year term 
expiring 12/31/2026 
1 alternate member to serve the 
remainder of a 3-year term expiring 
12/31/2025 

1/17/24 1/22/24 

Board of Zoning 
Appeals 

1 alternate members term ending 
2/18/2026 
1 regular member term ending 
10/10/2026 (pending Ethics Board 
opinion) 

Until Filled 

Brownfield 
Redevelopment 
Authority 

1 Regular Members term ending 
5/23/2026 
1 regular member Term ending 
5/23/2024 

Until Filled 

Design Review Board None 

Ethics Board 1 Alternate members term ending 
6/30/2026 

Until Filled 

Greenwood Cemetery 
Advisory Board 

None 

Hearing Officer None 

Historic District 
Commission 

None 

Historic District Study 
Committee 

1 Regular member term ending 
6/25/2026 

Until Filled 

Housing Board of 
Appeals 

3 Regular Members, terms ending 
5/4/2026 

Until Filled 

Martha Baldwin Park 
Board 

1 Regular member term ending 
5/1/2024 
1 Regular members term ending 
5/1/2027 

Until Filled 

Multi Modal 
Transportation Board 

None 

Museum Board None 

Parks & Rec Board None 

6A



Planning Board None 

Public Arts Board 1 alternate member term ending 
1/28/2025 

1/17/24 1/22/24 

Retirement Board None 

Stormwater Utility 
Appeals Board 

3 regular member term ending 
1/31/2026 
2 alternate members 1/31/2025 

1/17/24 1/22/24 

Triangle District 
Corridor Improvement 
Authority 

1 resident of the developed area or area 
within 1/2 mile of the development area, 
term ending 12/15/2027 

Until Filled 

City Manager’s Office 

Ad Hoc Aging in Place Committee (AIPC) 
On December 13, 2023, the AIPC held a public engagement meeting at the Baldwin Public Library.  A 
summary of the AIPC's work to date was presented to the attendees, and the committee heard public 
comments regarding all aspects of aging in place. 

On January 8, 2024, ACM Clemence attended the Village of Franklin's Council meeting. Under public 
comment, he discussed the City's Ad Hoc Aging in Place Committee and the Community Survey.  ACM 
Clemence invited the residents of Franklin to be a part of the City's Community Survey process.  As 
interlocal partners with the City, Bingham Farms and Beverly Hills in supporting Next, ACM Clemence 
explained that the City was trying to reach as many people as possible in order to effectively address an 
action plan moving forward for all of our communities' older adults. 

On January 16, 2024, ACM Clemence gave a similar presentation at the Village of Beverly Hills Council 
meeting. 

YMCA Building 
City staff received eight (8) responses related to the RFP for building assessment and conceptual designs 
for the renovation/expansion of the YMCA building  (400 E. Lincoln) by the January 5, 2024 deadline. The 
proposals received ranged in cost from $54,100 to $187,820.  The next steps will be proposal evaluations 
from a committee consisting of the City Manager, both Assistant City Managers, the Building Official, the 
DPS Parks and Recreation Manager and Next Director Cris Braun. The evaluation committee will present 
its findings to the City Commission in February or March. 

Communications 

Around Town e-Newsletter 

February Edition 

The communications team is working on the February edition of 

the Around Town e-Newsletter, which will include information 

about the Presidential Primary election, Engage Birmingham 

projects, the RainSmart rebate program, winter sports, new 

businesses and more. Follow this link to view the January edition 

of the Around Town e-Newsletter.  

6A

http://www.bhamgov.org/aroundtownjan24


Name the Street Sweeper 

The City of Birmingham’s new street sweeper needs a 

name! School-aged Birmingham residents are invited to 

help us name this new hard-working vehicle, which joins 

Sweeping Beauty and Meryl Sweep in the Department of 

Public Services’ fleet that keeps our streets clean and the 

community tidy. A parent, guardian, teacher or other adult 

may submit an entry on behalf of a child/student. Name 

ideas may be submitted by Friday, February 2, 2024 at 

https://engage.bhamgov.org/name-the-street-sweeper. 

After the deadline, the community will be invited to vote 

for their favorite name. The name with the most votes will be printed on the sweeper and shared 

on social media. 

GovPilot Fourth Quarter 

During the fourth quarter of 2023, we 

received a total of 164 citizen 

requests through the GovPilot 

system, 113 of which were received 

via the GovAlert app, and 51 via our 

website form.  

GovPilot Annual Update – 2023 

In 2023, we received a total of 885 

citizen requests through the GovPilot 

system, 574 of which were received 

via the GovAlert app, and 311 via our 

website form.  

6A

https://engage.bhamgov.org/name-the-street-sweeper


BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION - UPCOMING AGENDA ITEMS 

Meeting Topic Dates Addressed Status 

1/8/24 Letter to Bloomfield Twp regarding variance for Birmingham 
Country Club 

1/8/24 In 
progress 

1/8/24 Direct Police/Multi-Modal Transportation Board for report back on 
Torry/Haynes consistency 

1/8/24 In 
progress 

12/18/23 Expand the Shirley/Arlington Project to include Brandon 12/18/23 
01/08/24 

In 
progress 

12/4/23 Parking system financials 12/4/23 In 
progress 

11/27/23 Process for civic projects 11/27/23 
12/4/23 

In 
progress 

11/13/23 Historic Preservation 11/13/23 In 
progress 

11/13/23 Vehicular Speed Issues 11/13/23 
1/8/24 

In 
progress 

10/2/23 Workshop on Roberts Rules, OMA, Opinion on minutes detail 
from parliamentarian Coco 

10/2/23 
Upcoming 
Workshop 

In 
progress 

10/2/23 Implementation of crosswalk standards 10/2/23 
10/16/23 
11/13/23 

In 
progress 

9/18/23 Remediation Strategies for Rodents and Vermin 9/18/23 
10/2/23 
11/27/23 

In 
progress 

8/28/23 City water and sewer system 8/28/23 
9/11/23 

In 
progress 

6/5/23 Discuss unimproved streets and infrastructure 10/2/23 
Workshop 

In 
progress 

5/8/23 Woodward noise 5/8/23 
6/5/23 

In 
progress 

2/27/23 Bench and Little Library for Pat Andrews 3/13/23 
5/8/23 

In 
progress 

6A



Department of Public Services 

Thank you, Streets, Sewer and Water Division 

The Streets, Sewer and Water Division staff members worked throughout the holiday weekend (January 

12-15), executing rolling shifts to battle the storm elements. While clearing heavy wet snow, ice, fallen

trees and branches, the team was forced to stop clean-up efforts and work on two separate water

main breaks on January 14. Due to the excessively cold weather, staff was forced to stop working on

Sunday as equipment froze. Staff was finally able to return water into service on Monday afternoon at

the second water main break location. Staff continues to work long hours as they clear streets both in

the downtown and residential areas. The DPS thanks residents for their patience as we continue our

work.

Forestry Quarterly Update 
The City completed the 2023 Fall Tree Purchase and Planting, where a contractor procured and installed 
150 trees in street right-of-ways and parks. More than 20 varieties of trees were planted, all of which 
were selected using the "Right Tree, Right Place" method to ensure the tree will not interfere with 
overhead or underground utilities and adapt well to its surroundings. 

Davey Resource Group is beginning the third year of re-inventorying City trees into TreeKeeper, the 
software the City uses to monitor current species diversity, condition of trees, new plantings, etc. They 
will be focused in the southwestern quadrant of the City (from Maple to 14 Mile and Cranbrook to 
Woodward), and will also inventory upcoming road reconstruction sites and St. James Park, Kenning 
Park, and Howarth Park.   

Storm Report 1/12/24: 
Heavy snow and winds on Friday, January 12, caused more than 100 City trees to lose limbs or in a few 
cases completely tip over. Brush routes are being run throughout the City to clean up fallen limbs, which 
includes private tree debris that has been placed at the curb and meets the brush requirements (up to 
4" in diameter and longer than four feet). City trees with significant failures will be evaluated following 
the majority of the storm damage cleanup.  

Ice Arena News 
What do Birmingham families do when the schools have snow days? Go to the Birmingham Ice Arena!  
The arena had over 250 skaters in two (snow) days during the weekday open skates because school was 
closed last week.  Weekday open skates average 142 skaters over the course of a “normal” week.  Skate 
rental was up last week as well, accordingly, from a weekly average of 50 rentals to 140 in two days.  

The Learn to Skate Program, Session 3 had 234 registrations, compared to last year’s 198 registrations 
for Session 3. Learn more about the Birmingham Ice Arena at www.bhamgov.org/arena.  

Engineering Department 

Illicit Discharge to Rouge River 
The City has determined the source of the sanitary sewer discharge. A meeting between the Engineering 
Department and the property owner occurred on January 11, 2024 to review the current conditions of 
the building and the next steps.  

We have been keeping the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) aware 
of the City's progress in finding the source and eliminating the sanitary sewer discharge. 

6A

http://www.bhamgov.org/arena


Lead Service Replacement Program 
The City will be starting a door-knocking effort to replace water lead services at no cost to property 
owners. If the property owner is not available, a flyer will be left. Please follow the steps in the flyer to 
schedule your water service replacement.  

Water Service Verification Program 
The City has a deadline of October 2024 to submit 364 water service material information to the Michigan 
Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE). The City randomly selected 364 water 
services to verify the material for this ELGE requirement. The City will be knocking on doors to talk to 
the property owners about verifying the "In-Home/Business" water service line material. If a property 
owner is not home, a flyer will be left with the next steps. Property owners can schedule an inspection 
by an authorized City representative at (248) 303-2292 or determine the in-home/business material 
themselves with the steps provided in the property owner letter.   

Redding Road Project 
The City Commission awarded this project on January 8, 2024. The Engineering Department will host a 
property owner meeting to provide construction information on the project on Thursday, February 15, 
2024 from 5:30-7p.m. Property owners will receive a letter with additional information about this 
meeting.  

Edgewood Road Project 
The City received bids on the project which will be brought forward to the City Commission for approval 
in February. The Engineering Department will host a property owner meeting to provide construction 
information on the project on Wednesday, February 28, 2024, from 5:30-7p.m. Property owners will 
receive a letter with additional information about this meeting.  

For more information regarding these projects or programs, please contact the Engineering Department 
at (248) 530-1840.   

Fire Department 

Fire Hydrant Check 

During January, Fire Department personnel checked the City’s 870+ hydrants to ensure the barrels 

remain dry so that there is a readily available water supply in case of an emergency. As the winter months 

and cold weather approach, hydrants must not contain water so they do not freeze, making them 

unusable during a fire. Fire hydrants have a valve below the frost line connected to the water main that 

is opened by the stem at the top by a firefighter when used. Unobstructed access to hydrants is 

paramount. As a reminder to the public, do not park in front of any hydrants and do not allow snow to 

cover hydrants as we progress through the winter months.  Any obstruction to the City’s fire hydrants 

will result in a fine. 

Advanced Cardiac Life Support Recertification 

Within the next couple of weeks, the Fire Department will put all personnel through Advanced Cardiac 

Life Support (ACLS) recertification. This certification is a requirement to work as a paramedic in the State 

of Michigan. Even though the certification is valid for two years, the Birmingham Fire Department requires 

its paramedics to recertify annually to keep their knowledge and skills at peak performance.  Personnel 

cover heart rhythm analysis, cardiac medication dosages and routes, and the use of cardiac 

monitors/defibrillators.  ACLS certification, through the American Heart Association, is the same training, 

using the same medications and dosages that doctors and nurses have in any local hospital’s emergency 

room.   

6A



Human Resources  

New Hires 
The City of Birmingham extends warm congratulations to our newly hired employees from December 13, 

2023 to January 12, 2024. Their skills, expertise, and enthusiasm are a valuable addition to our team.  

Department Name Position Type 

Police Maksym Mishchanchuk Police Officer Full Time BPOA 

Library Adam Redmond IT Coordinator Full Time 

Parking Anne Jay Parking Full Time 

January Hiring Anniversaries 
The City of Birmingham celebrated the hiring anniversaries of several employees. We extend our heartfelt 

appreciation for their exceptional service and unwavering dedication. Their contributions are deeply 

valued and recognized. 

Years Of 
Service 

Employee Department Position 

2 Drouillard, Madison Police Police Dispatcher 

3 Miller, Jaclyn Library Library Associate Director 

3 Casey, Tana Lee Police Crossing Guard 

4 Aldrich, Derek DPS Operator 
Parks/Arena/Forestry 

5 Hiser, Michelle Police Clerk/Typist B 

5 Casaceli, Donna Museum Museum Specialist 

6 Bartley, David DPS Parks & Forestry Technician 

7 Kowalczuk, Michael DPS SSW Technician 

7 Mcintyre, Scott Police Police Officer 

8 Donnelly, Caitlin Museum Museum Specialist 

9 George, Linda DPS Part-Time Clerical Assistant 

9 Rodriguez, Linda Police Parking Enforcement 

6A



10 Huot, Michael DPS SSW Technician 

13 Springer, Rebekah Police Police Sergeant 

13 Romanowski, Michael Police Police Lieutenant 

19 Salucci, Caroline Library Librarian Part-Time 

21 Williams, Christine Police Parking Enforcement 

26 Whipple, Jeffrey Police Police Officer 

Employment Opportunities 
The City is currently accepting applications for the following positions. To submit an application or for 
more information go to www.bhamgov.org/jobs.  

Department Position Type Application Closing 

Administration Finance Director/ 
Designee 

Full Time February 13, 2024 

Building Plumbing 
Inspector 

Full Time Until Filled 

DPS Fleet Mechanic Full Time (Teamsters) Until Filled 

Planning Department 

Planning Board 

A tentative Planning Board list of scheduled and/or recently completed items is provided below: 

1. 720 S. Adams – Community Impact Study & Preliminary Site Plan Review (January 24, 2024)

2. 294 E. Brown – Brown St. Mixed Use – Design Review (January 24, 2024)

3. 295 Elm – Forest Townhouses – Final Site Plan & Design Review (January 24, 2024)

4. The Birmingham Plan 2040 – Study Session (February 28, 2024)

5. Triangle District Mixed-Use Standards – Study Session (February 28, 2024)

Historic District Commission 

As a part of the City of Birmingham’s Historic District Commission’s (HDC) larger preservation goals, the 

HDC will be embarking on a process to create an organized, holistic, and long-range approach to historic 

preservation and develop a Historic Preservation Master Plan. At this time, a Historic Preservation Master 

Plan survey is live on Engage Birmingham. In this survey, the HDC is looking for high-level feedback to 

get a pulse for the City’s views on historical preservation and what people may like to see moving forward. 

6A

http://www.bhamgov.org/jobs
https://engage.bhamgov.org/historic-preservation-master-plan
https://engage.bhamgov.org/historic-preservation-master-plan


Sustainability 

Applications are now open for Oakland County’s RainSmart Rebate program. According to the website, 

RainSmart Rebates is two-year residential pilot program geared towards homeowners in the George W. 

Kuhn Drain Drainage District. The pilot offers homeowners up to $2,000 for implementing sustainable 

stormwater practices such as tree planting, rain barrel installation, or creating a rain garden on their 

property. The primary goals of the program include fostering awareness about stormwater management 

and promoting environmental stewardship. Persons interested may check their eligibility through the 

RainSmart Rebates Program Eligibility Map. The Planning Division is happy to discuss the program with 

interested parties and will continue to support the program through a thorough communications strategy. 

Police Department 

Flock Safety Cameras 
In the 2023-2024 fiscal year, the approved Police Department budget included the purchase of Flock 
cameras. Flock Safety is a technology company that provides License Plate Recognition (LPR) cameras 
and software solutions. Their cameras can identify vehicles by make, color, decals, license plate and 
transform that footage into actionable evidence. This information allows law enforcement to quickly 
identify suspect vehicles, increasing our ability to identify suspects to further our criminal investigation 
and pursuit of charges. These cameras do not have facial recognition software and are only designed to 
obtain vehicle information. This information is purged from the Flock software program after 30 days.  
Since entering into the agreement with Flock Safety, we have had multiple cases that were quickly solved 
as a result of the information obtained through Flock that assisted in the identification of an otherwise 
unknown suspect. 

Five locations in Birmingham have been selected for the initial installation of these cameras: southbound 
Woodward at 14 Mile, westbound Maple at Coolidge, westbound Maple at Westchester, and southbound 
Southfield at 14 Mile.  The installation of these cameras has begun and should be completed soon.  Flock 
Safety currently has cameras throughout most of the Metro Detroit area and across the county. 

Narcotics Enforcement Team 
The Birmingham Police Department has an officer assigned to the Narcotics Enforcement Team (NET) 
out of the Oakland County Sheriff's Office.  NET has completed its year-end review for their 2023 fiscal 
year.  Using their formula based on the number of assigned personnel for forfeiture split percentages, 
the Birmingham Police Department received $40,441.18. Additionally, the Birmingham Police 
Department received $5,985.00 from the High Intensity Drug Trafficking Areas (HIDTA) grant for 
overtime reimbursement of our officer assigned to this team.   In 2023, Sgt. Kyle McCanham started the 
year assigned to the NET position and was later selected to become the first full-time School Resource 
Officer for our department.  In the fall of 2023, a selection process was held to fill our vacancy in NET 
along with an opening in one of our other specialized units, the Special Investigations Unit (SIU).  The 
two officers selected for these positions began their assignments in 2024. 

2023 Recruitments 
In 2023, the Police Department was busy with recruitments and hired the following positions: 
Police Officer James Cardenas 
Police Officer Cameron Lease 
Police Officer Matthew Walker 
Police Officer Luxie Kouza 
Part-time Dispatcher Chyna Harmon 
Parking Enforcement Officer Ashley Martin 
Parking Enforcement Officer Kevin Druzinski 

6A

https://www.oakgov.com/government/water-resources-commissioner/rainsmart-rebates
https://oakgov.maps.arcgis.com/apps/instant/lookup/index.html?appid=1f12d3e01f6241ffb4c6958d37c72ef8


Parking Systems Update 

Operations 

The City is in the process of hiring staff to operate the parking system. Bringing the parking operation 
in-house will give the parking operation the ability to be more flexible, expedite changes, and lead to a 
more efficient operation, improving the experience for those parking with the City. 

Occupancy 

 

Free Parking Report 

Follow this link to view the free parking report. This report shows a two-month snapshot of the total 

number of parked cars, broken down by how many paid to park versus how many parked for two hours 

or less, which is free in all decks.  

Monthly Occupancy 

Follow this link to view an occupancy report for the month of December. This report shows a breakdown 

of both transient (daily) and monthly parkers at each garage, and how full each garage is on average by 

hour for the month. 

Future Agenda Items 
Download a summary of future agenda items. 

Future Workshop Items 
Download a summary of future workshop items. 

Chester Garage (880) 28.00%

Old Woodward (745) 42.00%

Park Garage (811) 35.00%

Peabody Garage (437) 47.00%

Pierce Garage (706) 60.00%

DECEMBER AVG CAPACITY

6A

https://www.bhamgov.org/Document_Center/Department/City%20manager/City%20Manager%20Report/2024/January%202024/FREE%20PARKING%20REPORT.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/Document_Center/Department/City%20manager/City%20Manager%20Report/2024/January%202024/December%20Garage%20Occupancy%20By%20Month.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/Document_Center/Department/City%20manager/City%20Manager%20Report/2024/January%202024/Future%20Agenda%20Items%20January%202024.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/Document_Center/Department/City%20manager/City%20Manager%20Report/2024/January%202024/Future%20Workshop%20Items%20January%202024.pdf


MEMORANDUM 
ENGINEERING & PLANNING DIVISION 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

January 16, 2024 

Jana Ecker, City Manager 

Melissa Coatta, Engineering Director 
Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 
Ryan Kearney, Police Lieutenant 

SUBJECT: Staff Update – Shirley Rd. & Arlington St. Interim Report for City-Initiated 
Unimproved Street Project 

INTRODUCTION: 
As part of the City’s annual Capital Improvement Plan and budget for Fiscal Year 2023-2024, 
Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. have been selected by the City’s Engineering Department for water 
main replacement and some sewer improvements. Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. are both 
considered unimproved streets. This the second project under the City’s new policy for initiating 
improvement projects for unimproved streets. 

BACKGROUND: 
On January 8, 2024, the City Commission held a meeting regarding the Interim Report from staff 
for Shirley & Arlington’s City initiated unimproved street project. City staff presented on the 
background of unimproved streets in Birmingham, recommendations of the Unimproved Streets 
Study Committee, and the previous amendments to the City’s Municipal Code which enable 
City led improvement projects. Staff also presented on existing infrastructure conditions and 
right-of-way conditions with a tree inventory. Existing conditions were followed by the City’s 
Residential Street Width Policy and relevant master plans recommending how the public right-
of-way should be designed. A summary of plans referenced as guidelines was presented, 
followed by a recommended design from staff. 

The City Commission took no action regarding infrastructure or roadway design for Shirley & 
Arlington on January 8, 2024. A motion was approved by the City Commission to have a special 
on-site meeting where the City Commission would walk Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. along with 
staff and residents on Saturday January 13, 2024 at 12:00 pm, with a backup weather date 
scheduled for January 20, 2024 at 3pm in case of inclement weather. The intent was to have 
the on-site meeting before the next City Commission meeting of January 22, 2024. 

7A



The on-site walking tour meeting scheduled for Saturday January 13, 2024 was canceled due to 
inclement weather. The on-site walking tour meeting with City Commission is now scheduled 
to occur on Saturday January 22, 2024. 

The original memo and related attachments for the Shirley & Arlington Interim Report for 
City Initiated Street Project dated January 3, 2024 is attached. The latest December 2023 traffic 
counts and the slides used for the staff presentation regarding Shirley and Arlington from the 
January 8, 2024 City Commission meeting have also been included in the attachments with 
PDF links.  

7A



MEMORANDUM 
ENGINEERING & PLANNING DIVISION

DATE: January 3, 2024 

TO: Jana Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Melissa Coatta, Engineering Director 
Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 
Ryan Kearney, Police Lieutenant 

SUBJECT: Shirley Rd. & Arlington St. Interim Report for City-Initiated Unimproved Street 
Project 

INTRODUCTION: 
As part of the City’s annual Capital Improvement Plan and budget for Fiscal Year 2023-2024, 
Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. have been selected by the City’s Engineering Department for water 
main replacement and some sewer improvements. Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. are both 
considered unimproved streets. This the second project under the City’s new policy for initiating 
improvement projects for unimproved streets.  

This report serves as the Interim Report for City-Initiated Unimproved Street Project, as outlined 
in the updated 2021 policy statement on procedures for City street improvements. Once a 
recommendation is made by the City Commission for sewer, water, and road design, the City 
Engineering Department will proceed with final designs. The City Commission will then have a 
public hearing on a future date to establish a special assessment district for the making of the 
public improvement. 

BACKGROUND: 
In 2017, the City of Birmingham created an Ad Hoc Unimproved Street Study Committee for the 
purpose of developing a long term plan addressing unimproved roads in the City. The committee 
was composed of seven total members with two elected City Commissioners, three residents 
living on an unimproved street from different areas of the City, one resident living on an improved 
street, and one member with a background in road design. The Committee held 15 public 
meetings between 2018 to 2020 for policy review and recommendations. A central item for 
discussion involved how to approach infrastructure improvements for unimproved streets. A 
common concern was that the City’s current policy of a resident led petition created undesireable 
conflict between neighbors. The Committee wanted the City’s professional engineers and staff 
to have more say on the matter.  

On December 21, 2020, the City Commission accepted the Ad Hoc Unimproved Street Study 
Committee’s Final Report. One recommendation of the Final Report was for the City to create a 
policy enabling the City’s Engineering Department to initiate road improvements projects without 
a citizen led petition. It was also recommended that the City conduct a system wide infrastructure 

7A

https://www.bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/ad_hoc_unimproved_street_study_committee.php
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Ad%20Hoc%20Unimproved%20Street%20Study%20Committee/!!FINAL%20DRAFT%20AHUSSC%20POLICY%20DOCUMENT-%20112520.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Ad%20Hoc%20Unimproved%20Street%20Study%20Committee/!!FINAL%20DRAFT%20AHUSSC%20POLICY%20DOCUMENT-%20112520.pdf


ranking of all unimproved streets to prioritize the initiation of projects. The rankings and prioritized 
projects would be presented in the five-year capital improvement plan through the annual 
budgeting process. The information presented during the 2023 budgetary meeting for FY 23/24 
regarding Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. is included in the attachments. 

On October 25, 2021 (Agenda – Minutes), the City Commission adopted the “Procedure for City 
Street Improvements” policy and amended the subsequent Municipal Code Chapter 94, Sections 
94-4 through 94-8 related to initiating special assessments. This new policy aligns with a number
of the recommendations from the Ad Hoc Unimproved Street Study Committee. Road
improvements may still be initiated by residents with a petition, however unimproved street
projects may also be initiated by the City Engineering Department. Such projects would be
determined by a ranking system and presented during Capital Improvements Planning.

Updates to Chapter 94, Section 94-4 Initiation of Improvement by Commission of the Municipal 
Code reads as follows: 

(1) Proceedings for making public improvements within the city may be 
commenced by resolution of the city commission, on its own initiative, making the 
improvement and special assessment mandatory. 

(2) In order to ascertain whether 50% of property owners to be assessed for a 
special improvement, the City Commission may choose to direct staff to circulate 
an expression of interest form. Or, the Commission may receive a petition 
presented by property owners. 

(3) The commission shall carefully consider any petition or expression of interest 
forms received, but both petitions and expression of interest forms shall be 
advisory only. Petitions or expression of interest forms shall in no event be 
mandatory upon the commission. 

Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. improvements were included in the FY 23-24 budget and 
Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), however, the project was budgeted for replacement of an 
unimproved road. The Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. project is now being proposed under the
recently adopted City-Initiated Project policy for unimproved streets (the first being Westwood 
in June of 2022). Both streets were in the budget since FY 17-18 with construction planned 
to occur in FY 21-22.  This timeline was pushed back in 2020 due to COVID.

With this project, improvements will be made to the sewer and water mains, the cost for which 
is paid from the Sewer and Water Funds, and are not subject to a special assessment. If 
a water/sewer lateral connecting a home to the main does not meet current City 
standards, a special assessment to the homeowner for lateral replacement is typical for these 
types of projects. 

The sewer and water mains are located beneath the public street, hence the proposed 
project will also include a new pavement surface. The cost for the street pavement on 

unimproved roads with cape seal treatment or improved roads with aggregate base and either 
concrete or asphalt pavement will be subject to a special assessment to the adjoining property 
owners that benefit from the street improvement project. The special assessment process is 
a long-standing City policy when unimproved streets are improved.  Special assessments for 
drive approaches, are typically included for these type of projects.   

7A

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Department/City%20clerk/City%20Commission/20211025%20AGENDA%20PACKET%20FINAL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/20211025%20Minutes.pdf


Proposed infrastructure work includes the following components: 

 Replace the existing 6” water main (originally installed in 1927) on both Shirley Rd. and
Arlington St. with a new 8” water main meeting current City sizing requirements. New
valves and fire hydrants will be replaced within the project area.  Some of the existing fire
hydrants in this area do not meet current goals for available water flow.  Water system
modeling considering the new mains to be installed with this project indicate significant
improvement in water flows, and the improvement will allow the system to meet current
goals for residential areas.

 Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. both have combined sewers ranging from 10” to 24” in size
that were originally installed in 1927. In 1968, a relief size was installed on the south
portion of Arlington St, and on Shirley Rd. ranging from 15” to 27” in diameter. The City
will be extending the relief sewer along the north portion of Arlington and separating some
of the storm runoff in this area.

 Sidewalk improvements will be completed as needed, especially at intersection crosswalks,
to meet current ADA requirements.  We are considering employing the use of limited
“bump-outs” to improve pedestrian safety by shortening the distance they have to be in
the crosswalk, which have also been shown to have a traffic calming effect and reduce
average traffic speeds.

On October 16th, 2023, City staff held an informational meeting with residents of Shirley and 
Arlington to go over engineering topics related to sewer and water for each street, along with the 
upcoming design, approval, and special assessment process associated with infrastructure 
projects. Participants at the meeting raised questions regarding the street design and sidewalk 
placements. Those inquiring were informed that such topics will be discussed with the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board and the City Commission at upcoming meetings. 

Following the process used in 2022 for the Westwood improvements, surveys for the proposed 
project were distributed to residents in September of 2023. The City has received responses 
from 44 out of the 80 properties (49 total surveys – multiple responses from single 
properties). As noted in Chapter 94, Section 94-4 of the Municipal Code, both petitions 
and expressions of interest forms shall be advisory only. The results of the surveys 
are as follows: 
Category Yes No No Repsonse 
Sewer: 18 (23%) 26 (33%) 36 (45%) 
Water: 18 (23%) 26 (33%) 36 (45%) 
Improved Street: 12 (15%) 30 (38%) 38 (48%) 
Sidewalks: 8   (10%) 36 (45%) 36 (45%) 

The current timeline for this project is to complete the final design of the project after receiving 
direction from the City Commission related to pursuing a potential special assessment for 
defraying the costs of street improvements.  The final design will take several months to complete, 
and the intent would be to advertise the project for bids in April or May of 2024, with construction 
beginning in the summer of 2024.  A three to four month construction period is anticipated. 

Multi-Modal Transportation Board Review: 

In 2018, the City Commission directed the Multi-Modal Transportation Board to create a 
residential street width policy after a public hearing debate regarding the improvement of 
Bennaville Ave. The Board proceeded to discuss this item on March 1, 2018 (Agenda – Minutes), 
April 5, 2018 (Agenda – Minutes), and May 3, 2018 (Agenda – Minutes). The City’s transportation 

7A

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Agendas/2018/Full%20Agenda%20-%20March%201,%202018.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Minutes/2018/03-01-18-MULTI-MODALmin%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Agendas/2018/Full%20Agenda%20-%204-5-18.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Minutes/2018/04-05-18-MULTI-MODALmin%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Agendas/2018/Full%20Agenda%20-%20May%203,%202018.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Minutes/2018/05-03-18-MULTI-MODALmin%20-%20FINAL.pdf


consultants presented national standards and best practices for residential streets recommended 
by the Transportation Research Board, the Institute of Transportation Engineers, the Urban Land 
Institute, the National Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO), and the American 
Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Upon review of best 
practices, it was determined that the 26’ pavement width was best practice for residential streets. 

There was general consensus from the Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB) that 26’ was 
an appropriate policy for residential street width. Doing so allowed a 5’ sidewalk and appropriate 
curblawn space for trees on each side of the street within a typical 50’ right-of-way. The MMTB 
also agreed that exceptions should be considered under certain conditions. The Board 
recommended that each street be reviewed on a case-by-case basis and factors such as vehicular 
counts, vehicular speeds, on-street parking, emergency access, bus routes, and street trees be 
considered each time. 

On July 23, 2018 (Agenda – Minutes), the City Commisison reviewed the recommendations of the 
Multi-Modal Transportation Board and approved the Birmingham Residential Street Design 
Standards. Such standards include a residential street width of 26’ (28’ back of curb to back of 
curb), with a curblawn for street trees and a 5’-6’ sidewalk. The policy also includes exceptions 
for consideration and standards for review. The approved residential street width policy is 
included in the packet as noted below.  

On September 7th, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes), the Multi-Modal Transportation Board began 
preliminary discussions regarding Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. within the context of the City’s 
Residential Street Width Policy. The Board initially indicated an interest in pusuing a sidewalk on 
just one side of the street within the existing 33’ curb to curb space. Doing so would avoid 
disturbing the natural features and enable a City standard 26’ street width.  

On October 5th, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes), the Multi-Modal Transportation Board reviewed 
schematic concepts provided by staff for potential sidewalk locations and held a discussion 
regarding preferences. City staff commented that when there is a 50’ right-of-way of City 
property, staff recommends maximizing the health, safety, and welfare of the entire space for 
the public good. In this case, that would entail finding a way to use all 50’ of the right-of-way to 
place sidewalks on both sides of the street that includes a typical curb lawn between the sidewalk 
and road to act as a buffer between vehicles and pedestrians. After discussion, staff indicated 
more detailed concepts would be provided for the November meeting. 

On November 2nd, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes), City staff presented a detailed topographic survey 
with four design concepts for street widths and sidewalk locations. Data from a detailed survey 
of all trees within the public right-of-way conducted by Davey Environmental was also discussed. 
The intent was to address concerns regarding the natural features in the right-of-way. The memo 
provided online Friday October 27th, 2023 included tree data taken between 2012 to 2023, 
however staff received an expedited survey from Davey Environental to reflect existing conditions 
to present at the meeting on November 2nd, 2023. The MMTB moved to approve a public hearing 
on the street width of Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. for December 5, 2023.  

On December 5th, 2023 (Agenda), the MMTB held a public hearing to make a recommendation of 
street width and design to the City Commission. City staff presented on the City’s relevant policies 
and master plans for residential roads, the existing conditions of Shirley and Arlington, the City’s 
street tree policy, and the necessary traffic, parking, and vehicular speed data for reviewing 
changes to residential street widths – all of which are included as noted below.  

7A

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2018/072318.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2018/CC_072318.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/September%207th,%202023%20MMTB%20Agenda%20-%20FULL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/2%20-%20MMTB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED)%20-%209-7-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/MMTB%20October%205th,%202023%20Agenda%20-%20FULL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/REVISED%20-%20MMTB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED)%20-%2010-5-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/November%202,%202023%20MMTB%20Agenda%20-%20FULL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/11-2-23%20-%20MMTB%20Minutes%20Approved.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Dec%205,%202023%20MMTB%20Agenda%20-%20Final.pdf


City staff and the Multi-Modal Transportation Board refer to the City’s Complete Streets Resolution 
(2011), the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan (2013), the 2040 Birmingham Plan, and the 
Residential Street Width Standards policy (2018) as guidelines for making recomendations.  

On July 11th, 2011, the Birmingham City Commission adopted a resolution in support of a complete 
streets policy encouraging safe transportation design for all users. The resolution concludes with 
the following:  

“Now, therefore, be it resolved, that the City of Birmingham City Commission 
hereby declares its support of complete streets policies and further directs City 
staff to develop a set of proposed policies and procedures to implement Complete 
Streets practices to make the City more accommodating to all modes of travel, 
including walkers, bicyclists and transit riders, of all ages and abilities.” 

In 2013, the City Commission approved the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan which goes into more 
detail regarding recommendations to enhance pedestrian safety and multi-modal connectivity. 
The Multi-Modal Transportation Plan categorizes the subject area as a neighborhood where 
sidewalks should be completed. It recommends that the City pursue sidewalks on all sides of the 
street, particularly when the City is undertaking a road reconstruction process. 

In 2023, Birmingham’s City Commission adopted a new Master Plan titled “The Birmingham Plan 
2040”. The creation and adoption of this plan involved 45 public meetings over the span of four 
years. Chapter 3 of the Birmingham Plan 2040, “Retain Neighborhood Quality” has a section titled 
“Keep Streets Pedestrian-oriented”. This section discusses how widening streets encourages 
higher speeds and cut through traffic. It provides that street design must consider 
pedestrian comfort and safety and street trees for public health, stating (pg 56):

Today, sidewalks are missing in numerous places, which should be surveyed and 
remedied. Similarly, street intersections which do not have accessible ramps to 
crossings should be remedied. These changes may cause trees to be removed, 
which should be replaced nearby to maintain the street tree canopy… 

The tree lawn is critical to street trees; sufficient root area results in greater 
canopy. Canopy health is very closely related with the health of residents, mental 
and physical, the ease of walking or biking along streets, and the success of 
children in school. In fact, programs exist across the country to re-establish urban 
tree canopies to improve the health outcomes of children. In neighborhoods, 
tree lawns should not be sacrificed for pavement width. 

In addition, the following section of Chaper 3 “Retain Neighborhood Quality” is titled “Replace 
Unimproved Streets”. This section of the Master Plan recommends that the City pursue 
recommedations of the Ad-Hoc Unimproved Streets Committee in order to remedy unimproved 
streets throughout the City. 

Chapter 3 “Retain Neighborhood Quality” of the Birmingham Plan also has a section titled “Retain 
Street Tree Canopy”. This section states that Birmingham’s downtown and neighborhoods benefit 
from a rich tree canopy, increasing house values, public health, and sustainability. This section 
comments that the street tree canopy should be protected, well maintained, and prepared for a 

7A

https://greenwaycollab.com/projects/birmingham-multi-modal-transportation-plan/#toggle-id-4


changing climate. Recommended actions for a Canopy Improvement Plan relevant to Shirley and 
Arlington include the following (pg. 59): 

i. Select large canopy species for streets and parks, native to the region and resilient 
for its’ future climate, retaining the character of each neighborhood’s distinctive 
canopy. 

ii. Minimize overly-used or exotic species, such as Crab Apple, Honey 
Locust, and Pear Trees. 

In regards to existing conditions, the 33’ road width is located within a 50’ public right-of-way. 
Thus, the 8’-9’ feet of property located on each side of the road along Shirley and Arlington is
City property. Staff pointed out that a number of landscaping features have been planted in the 
public right-of-way without a special treatment permit. Staff also discussed that when a special 
treatment permit to plant or install features in the right-of-way is obtained, the agreement has 
a clause stating the City may remove such features during a public project at no cost or liability. 
The City owns the entire 50’ right-of-way and is permitted to use the space 
for the public good, regardless of any improvements installed by others. 

City staff also discussed the presence of 136 street trees within the right-of-way along Shirley Rd. 
and Arlington St. An updated survey of species and conditions was obtained by Davey 
Environmental in November of 2023. The data indicated that 93 of the 136 trees were either 
prohibited species or in poor to fair condition. The prohibited species include 16 Pear Trees, 
(Callery Cleveland Select), 11 Norway Maples, 7 Silver Maples, and 3 Red Maples which are 
considered non-native and invasive. The data also indicated that 31-38 trees have the potential 
to be relocated given their species and a diameter at breast height of 5 inches or less. The Crab 
Apple is the most populated tree throughout the subject area with a count of 18 (14 of which 
were illegally installed without a special treatment permit on City property without City 
approval.) As previously mentioned, The Birmingham Plan 2040 recommendation under
“Maintain Tree Canopy” is to minimize the use of Crab Apple and Pear Trees (pg. 59). 

City staff, including the staff arborist, toured Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. with arborist Lawrence 
Sobson from the Michigan Department of Natural Resources (DNR). Mr. Sobson was able to 
attend the Multi-Modal Transportation Board meeting on December 5, 2023 and answer questions 
on tree species, recommended street trees, and why some species are not recommended as 
street trees. The City of Birmingham’s arborist staff maintains a prohibited tree species list and a 
recommended tree species list that aligns with recommendations of the Michigan DNR. To learn 
more about prohibited species, the DNR has a webinar series “Not MI Species” titled “Where the 
Sidewalk Ends: Choosing Resilient Trees for Tomorrow’s Urban Environments” (select link to view, 

see mins 8:00-20:00 for prohibited species, and 34:00 for recommended species).    

City staff representatives from the Department of Public Services (DPS) were also available to 
answer questions for the Multi-Modal Transportation Board. DPS commented that if the City were 
to pursue a complete streets policy on Arlington St. and Shirley Rd., the City would plant 200-250 
new trees that were permitted species and intended to provide a long-term healthy tree canopy. 
DPS also provided a detailed memo on the street trees of Arlington St. and Shirley Dr. which is 
included in the attachments. 

Staff then proceeded to review the Birmingham Residential Street Design Standards Section 4, 
“Exceptions and Modifications to the Width Standards” which includes the following: 

7A

https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5


Any modification must be consistent with the Intent of these standards and the 
engineering publications upon which they are based. Street width exceptions may 
only be approved to a minimum of 20 ft. and a maximum of 30ft.  If residents 
express a desire for a non-standard street width at a public meeting or through a 
public survey of street residents, those preferences shall be considered (either 
wider or narrower) only if one or more of the following conditions exist: 

a. High or low frequency of use of on-street parking. When surveyed on-street 
parking is utilized 15% or less overnight, the width may be reduced. When 
parking density is classified as highly utilized, defined as over 
25%occupancy throughout the day or more than 50% of the available curb 
space used overnight, the width may be increased. For calculation of 
parking, a minimum length of 22 ft. shall be used and not include 
driveways, spaces adjacent to fire hydrants, or other locations where 
parking is not allowed. 

Parking counts were taken by the City’s Police Department from Thursday 
November 9th, 2023 to Saturday November 11th, 2023 at 10am, 2pm, and 
12am each day. Arlington’s highest parking count was 39 at 10am on a 
Friday, while Shirley’s highest parking count was 23 at 10am on a 
Thursday. Shirley and Arlington have approximately 7,892 feet of curb 
space, thus a parking capacity of approximately 359 vehicles. The highest 
utilization rate during the daytime was 11% for Arlington and 6% for 
Shirley. Meanwhile, the nighttime utilization rate was between 0%-1% for 
both streets. It has been noted that there are a number of construction 
workers and landscaping companies parked on the street during the 
daytime. Staff does not recommend deviating from City standards to 
accommodate parking space for contractors and landscapers. Thus, the 
Shirley and Arlington parking counts qualify the road width to be 
less than the City standard of 26’, however the parking counts do 
not qualify the subject area to modify the street width standard 
to be wider than 26’.  

b. Daily traffic volumes exceed 1500 vehicles.

Daily traffic counts were taken on Arlington and Shirley from November 
14th to November 17th, 2023. Traffic counts ranged from 263 to 1,563 per 
day. Shirley Rd. exceeded 1,500 vehicles on two occasions but Arlington 
St. peaked at 1,420 vehicles. Thus, Shirley may qualify for this 
exception, however Arlington does not. 

Arlington Arlington

Parking Counts 10am 2pm 12am Parking Occupancy 10am 2pm 12am

Thursday 11.09.23 32 36 0 Thursday 11.09.23 9% 10% 0%

Friday 11.10.23 39 30 0 Friday 11.10.23 11% 8% 0%

Saturday 11.11.23 3 3 0 Saturday 11.11.23 1% 1% 0%

Shirley Shirley

Parking Counts 10am 2pm 12am Parking Occupancy 10am 2pm 12am

Thursday 11.09.23 23 17 2 Thursday 11.09.23 6% 5% 1%

Friday 11.10.23 21 15 1 Friday 11.10.23 6% 4% 0%

Saturday 11.11.23 6 8 4 Saturday 11.11.23 2% 2% 1%

7A



c. The street is a published school bus route used by the Birmingham Public 

Schools or is a frequent emergency response route. 

Shirley and Arlington are published school bus routes. The Fire Department

has indicated that the subjects roads are not frequent emergency response

routes. Thus, Shirley and Arlington may qualify for this exception.

d. Street is adjacent to a school, religious institution, City park, multiple-family 

residential development, or other use with access that generates higher 

traffic volumes. 

Arlington and Shirley are not adjacent to uses considered to generate

higher traffic volumes. Shirley is adjacent to the Rouge Trail and Linden

park, however this site does not have a parking lot and does not generate

large amounts of vehicular traffic. The house on the corner of Arlington

and Maple belongs to a religious institution (Birmingham First United

Methodist Church), however vehicular access to the church is off of W.

Maple. Thus, Shirley and Arlington do not qualify for this

exception.

e. Presence of street trees, especially healthy, mature trees, such that 

rebuilding the road as proposed would result in the removal of two or more 

trees on any given block. 

There are 136 trees within the public right-of-way along Shirley and

Arlington. A review of existing trees by Davey Environmental, City staff

Arborists, and a DNR arborist has determined that the majority of street

trees are either prohibited species, in poor to fair condition, or have the

potential to be transplanted. Also, if the City were to pursue complete

streets design with a 26’ wide road, sidewalks on eack side of the street,

and a 6’ curblawn, the City would plant 200-250 new trees that align with

the City’s permitted street tree policy to enable a healthy, longlasting tree

canopy.

It is also of note that reducing the road width from 33’ to 26’ will not impact

any trees – the replacement of trees would be related to the pursuit of

sidewalks. Given the existing road width and tree conditions in the

subject area, Shirley and Arlington do not qualify for this

exception.

f. A speed study confirms that the 85th percentile speed is more than 5 miles 
per hour over the posted speed limit and/or city police or engineering 
departments have documented operational or safety concerns related to 
traffic patterns along the street. 

November 2023 Tue 14 Wed 15  Thur 16 Fri 17  

Arlington 854 1,349 1,420 263

Shirley 1,145 1,522 1,563 291

7A



The Police Department consistently collects speed and volume counts for 
all residential streets on a rotating basis using clandestine recording 
devices. 

The most recent data for Shirley indicates an 85% speed of 30 mph and 
32 mph for Arlington. Given the recorded speeds in the 85th percentile of 
5-7 mph over the speed limit, the Police and Engineering Department are
MORE inclined to recommend that the street width be reduced from
existing 33’ to the City standard of 26’ in order to reduce speeds. The Police
and Engineering Department also want to reitereate that speed bumps
cannot be installed on unimproved streets with cape seal such as Arlington
and Shirley due to the lack of road foundation. Thus, Shirley and
Arlington do not qualify for an exception to widen the street width
to more than 26’, however they do qualify for consideration to
reduce the street width to less than 26’.

g. Street may be as narrow as 20 ft. with parking on one side only if right-of-
way is less than 50 ft. 

The right-of-way along Shirley and Arlington is 50’ wide. Thus, Shirley 
and Arlington do not qualify for this exception. 

Thus, Shirley and Arlington meet the criteria for consideration of exceptions to the residential 
street width standard due to being a school bus route and Shirley having a recorded daily vehicle 
traffic volume exceeding 1,500. In addition, having recorded 85th percentile vehicular speeds of 
5-7 mph over the speed limit supports a narrowing of the street to a width less than 26’.

Four alternative design concepts for Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. were presented. Exhibit A 
included a City standard street maximizing the public right-of-way with a 26’ wide street 
accomodated by a 6’ greenspace and 5’ sidewalk on each side. Based upon a review of relevant 
master plans and the City’s residential street width policy, City staff recommended Exhibit A for 
approval. Staff emphasized that this is a generational project and Exhibit A would provide safe 
sidewalks and a healthy new tree canopy for multiple generations of Birmingham residents to 
come. 

Staff also commented that the City wants to be proactive, not reactive, when it comes to pursuing 
sidewalks and safe pedestrian spaces. Staff brought up the fact that the City had 
recommendations for enhanced pedestrian safety at Woodward near Maple and Forest for years, 
but it was not until there were two pedestrian deaths in 2021 that the City acted upon the 
recommendations of its plans.  

Upon review, discussion, and public comment, the Multi-Modal Transportation Board motioned to 
recommend approval of Exhibit A which includes a City standard 26’ wide street and sidewalks 
on both sides to the City Commission by a vote of 4-2. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the suggested resolutions and has no objection.

7A



FISCAL IMPACT:
This project has been planned and is included in the approved FY 23/24 budget as a standard 
cape seal replacement. The budget includes $270,000 in  Local Streets account 
202-449.001-981.0100, $390,000 in Sewer Fund account 590-936.001-981.0100, and$1,700,000 
in Water Fund account 591-537.004-981.0100. Therefore, the total project budgeted is 
$2,360,000. If a full reconstruction of the streets as shown in Exhibit A is selected, a budget 
amendment would be required for the Local Street Fund. Preliminary estimate of the road 
reconstruction as an improved street is $3,300,000, thus there will be a shortfall of $3,030,000 in 
the Local Streets account with approximately$2,750,000 in potential special assessment revenue 
over a 10-year payback. Installing a 5' wide sidewalk on both sides of Arlington and Shirley will be 
approximately$500,000. The FY 23/24 budget has $200,000 for sidewalk gap closure and 
potential sidewalk assessment revenue for new sidewalk installation. Thus, City Commission would 
have to amend the budget and approve the use of an additional$1,530,000 from the Local Streets 
fund, transfer an additional $1,500,000 from the General Fund, and amend the sidewalk budget 
for $300,000.

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
A “Notice of Upcoming Project and Expression of Interest Survey for Street Improvement” dated 
September 25, 2023 was sent to all properties along Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. City staff 
received a total of 49 responses from 44 properties. 

Notices were sent to all residents along Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. to notify of 
the public hearing with the Multi-Modal Transportation Board that was set for December 5, 
2023. Public Notice signs were also placed at all stop signs along Arlington and Shirley 
to notify of the hearing.  

The item was presented in a public setting at the Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
in September, October, November, and December of 2023. Staff presented 
timelines of anticipated hearings and discussed that the final hearing would likely be 
held with the City Commission on January 8, 2024. 

SUMMARY: 
Based upon review of the existing water, sewer, and road conditions, the City’s Ad Hoc 
Unimproved Streets Study Committee Final Report, the City Commission’s 2011 Complete 
Streets Resolution, the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan, the 2040 Birmingham Plan, the 
Residential Street Width Policy, and the City’s street tree program, City staff recommends 
that Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. be designed as an improved street 
with dimensions 
indicated in Exhibit A with 5’ sidewalks on both sides of the street, a curb lawn for City trees 
on each side, and a street width of 26’ consisting of a concrete surface.  

Staff recommends implementing Exhibit A as an improved street to 
provide quality infrastructure, a safe pedestrian design, and a healthy tree canopy 
for the existing residents as well as generations of Birmingham residents to come.   

Once a recommendation is made by the City Commission for sewer, water, and road 
design, the City Engineering Department will proceed with final designs. The City 
Commission will then have a public hearing on a future date to establish a special 
assessment district for the making of the public improvement. 

7A



ATTACHMENTS:  

• Staff Report – Fire Department
• Staff Report – Department of Public Services
• Draft Minutes – Multi-Modal Transportation Board December 5, 2023
• Exhibit A – Conceptual street design and sidewalk location
• Exhibit A – Intersection Recommendations
• Upcoming Capital Improvements Projects – 2023 Long Range Planning
• Procedure for City Street Improvements, October 25, 2021

• Residential Street Width Standards, July 23, 2018
• Complete Streets Resolution, July 11th, 2011
• Multi-Modal Transportation Plan (2013) – relevant sidewalk recommendations
• The Birmingham Plan (2023) – Chapter 3. “Retain Neighborhood Quality”
• Sidewalk location map – 2021
• Special Treatment Permit and right-of-way liability language
• "Not MI Species" Webinar – “Where the Sidewalk Ends: Choosing Resilient Trees 

for Tomorrow’s Urban Environments” by Michigan DNR
• Table and Charts of Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. tree species
• Birmingham prohibited tree species list
• Birmingham permitted tree species list
• Maps of street tree conditions and species
• Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. speed data

• Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. vehicle counts
• Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. parking counts
• Slides from staff meeting with residents – October 19, 2023
• Resident letters
• Map of survey respondents and surveys
• Exhibit B – Conceptual sidewalk location reviewed by MMTB
• Exhibit C – Conceptual sidewalk location reviewed by MMTB
• December 2023 speed data and traffic counts - NEW
• January 8, 2024 staff presentation - NEW

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to direct the Engineering Department to proceed with

final design of the Arlington Street and Shirley Project to include the planned improvements to 
the sewer and water systems, and the full reconstruction of the streets within the project area 
that will meet the City standards for an improved street with a 5 foot sidewalk on each side of 
the road as indicated in Exhibit A.

7A



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM FIRE DEPARTMENT

572 SOUTH ADAMS • BIRMINGHAM, MICHIGAN 48009 • 248.530.1900  FAX 248.530.1950

 
FIRE MARSHAL

MATTHEW J. BARTALINO

ASSISTANT CHIEF / OPERATIONS

PAUL A. WELLS

FIRE CHIEF

Jeffrey G. Scaife 
Fire Marshal

Throughout the City, some areas need immediate improvements to the water system for fire 
suppression needs.  Arlington and Shirley Roads are two of these locations.  The fire hydrants 
located down these streets as you get closer to the middle do not meet the water 
requirements for fire suppression. Hydrants that are painted red on the caps are not used for 
fire suppression because they potentially do not provide enough water for a single fire hose. 

Every fire hydrant in the City is color-coded based on the available amount of water that can 
be produced. A blue hydrant produces more than 1,500 gallons per minute (GPM), a green 
hydrant is 1,000 to 1,499 GPM, an orange hydrant is 500 to 999 GPM, and a red hydrant is 
less than 500 GPM.

For fire suppression operations to be effective, there should be a bare minimum of 1,000 
GPM for a residential fire. Based on the fire hydrants on Arlington and Shirley there is 
insufficient coverage with the current water flows. Should a fire occur on one of these roads, 
fire crews are trained not to use a red cap fire hydrant and only an orange cap if a green or 
blue is not within 500 feet.  Knowing neither can support the demand for multiple hose lines 
or master streams from fire engines or ladder trucks. 

Last winter a house under renovation on an adjacent street had a red hydrant nearby.  That 
hydrant was not capable of any fire suppression needs.  Multiple 4-inch supply hoses had to 
be deployed hundreds of feet to the much better hydrants located near Maple Road and 
Lincoln Street to extinguish the fire.  This additional step in obtaining a sufficient water supply 
is very labor intensive and time consuming when responding to a residential house fire.  
Delays in the time to obtain a sufficient water supply can allow the fire to grow in size, 
causing the amount of fire damage to increase.  In this case, the fire was a defensive one 
upon arrival, however, a successful offensive attack was needed to protect the neighboring 
homes from the fire exposure.

Most notably, the reduced water supply from red and orange-rated hydrants has impaired our 
last Insurance Services Office (ISO) rating. Although the fire department’s overall ISO rating 
improved in 2023, it landed a substantial hit in the water supply category.  Certainly, 
improving the water system on Arlington and Shirley would help with our ISO rating; most 
importantly, however, it would provide a more viable means of water flow for fire suppression 
crews should a situation arise. 

Respectfully Submitted,

Arlington and Shirly Roads Water Supply Recommendations

7A



1 
 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 
(Department of Public Services) 
 

 
DATE:  December 5, 2023  
 
TO:  Brooks Cowan, City Planner 
 
FROM:  Brendan McGaughey, Parks and Forestry Foreman 
  Scott Zielinski, Director of Public Services 
   
SUBJECT:  Forestry Comments re: Shirley and Arlington Engineering Project 
 
 
INTRODUCTION:  
The Multi-Modal Transportation Board and Engineering Department have been reviewing 
potential construction design options in order to make a recommendation regarding installation 
of sidewalks on Shirley and Arlington streets. In general, sidewalk installation in any capacity 
will potentially cause conflicts with City-owned trees and landscaping within the easement, as 
well as nearby private trees and landscaping. The Department of Public Services is responsible 
for the maintenance of the City’s urban forest, and are consulted on both potential and 
upcoming engineering projects as they relate to public and private trees.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
As sustainability is at the forefront of the City’s efforts – it’s a key goal of the City Commission 
which declared a climate emergency and instituted an Ad Hoc Environmental Sustainability 
Committee in early 2023. The Planning Department is currently working on the Birmingham Green 
Healthy Climate Plan and recently completed the 2040 Birmingham Master Plan (in which 
sustainability is encouraged throughout the plan). Finally, the ongoing development of the 2024-
2028 Parks and Recreation Master Plan recommends sustainable landscaping and green 
infrastructure as a primary focus for all future park development.  The definition of “sustainability” 
can take on many different forms when it’s used in the instances of environmental preservation 
and public policy, but ultimately they all trend to growing and sustaining green infrastructure 
(additional trees, storm water capture, etc.) long into the future to have a healthier climate.  
 
Birmingham’s urban forest, located in street right-of-ways, parks and public property, is 
undoubtedly the most valuable and important part of green infrastructure owned by the City.  Our 
current inventory of 15,547 trees provide the following environmental benefits: 

 1,189,646 pounds of carbon dioxide is sequestered annually 
 2,771,413 gallons of runoff is avoided annually 
 12,683,407 gallons of rainfall is intercepted annually – approximately 253,668,139 gallons 

of rainfall intercepted over the next 20 years 
 

7A



2 
 

A recent inventory of Shirley and Arlington by Davey Resource Group (DRG) identified 
approximately 136 trees either within the City right-of-way or encroaching into the defined project 
area. Prohibited species (42) and non-prohibited trees in poor to fair condition (51) comprise 93 of 
the 136 (68%) of the trees in consideration. An onsite visit was also conducted by staff along with 
Lawrence Sobson of Michigan’s Department of Natural Resources.  Staff reviewed each approved 
species and recommended for use as a residential street tree in good or excellent condition with a 
DBH of greater than 5”, and were unable to find any trees that should prevent sidewalk installation 
in the City standard location (which is approximately 1’ from private property in the easement).  
 
If a “carriage” sidewalk placement is used to prioritize the preservation of as many City trees as 
possible, 68% of which have been inventoried as prohibited species or already in fair or poor 
condition, the trees will likely suffer root damage anyway and they will not be replaced once they 
are eventually removed.  The City does not plant trees on the private side of sidewalks to avoid 
liability and damage to private property, so eventually this option would eliminate City trees 
entirely if a carriage sidewalk is used.  Furthermore, a carriage sidewalk placement would cause 
additional maintenance issues and would provide a less safe walking path without approximately 6’ 
of grassy easement which helps separate pedestrians from traffic. DPS is firmly against this option 
as we want to sustain a long term urban forest on residential streets for hundreds of years, not 
just for the next 5-20 years. 
 
DPS recommends conforming with residential improved road standards (28’ width and a sidewalk 
on both sides of the roads placed ~12” from private property). This option will allow for a 
healthier, sustainable and successful urban forest where at least 200-250 trees could be planted 
following the majority of construction activities. These trees would all be approved species, 
conform to proper spacing guidelines and will all be recommended for use as residential street 
trees. The total amount of City-owned trees (approximately 130) would be increased by 
approximately 70-120 trees, which would provide numerous environmental and green 
infrastructure benefits to the entire community and help achieve the City’s ongoing efforts to 
become more sustainable.  
 
 
 
 

7A



City Of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board 

Thursday, December 5, 2023 

151 Martin Street, City Commission Room 205, Birmingham, MI 

Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board held 

Thursday, December 5, 2023. Chair White convened the meeting at 6:00 p.m.  

A. Rollcall 

Present: Chair Doug White; Board Members Mark Doolittle, David Hocker, Joe Zane;  
Alternate Board Members Gordon Davies, Patrick Hillberg 

 
Absent: Vice Chair Tom Peard; Board Member Victoria Policicchio; Student  

Representatives Sophie Hanawalt, Angie Sharma 
 
Staff:   Senior Planner Cowan; City Engineer Coatta, City Transcriptionist Eichenhorn,  

Police Captain Kearney, Parks & Forestry Foreman McGaughey, Department of  
Public Services Director Zielinski 

 

DNR:  Lawrence Sobson 

 

F&V:  Julie Kroll 

 

MKSK: Brad Strader 
 
B. Introductions & Chair Comments  
 
The Chair provided the Board’s introductory comments.  
 
C. Review of the Agenda 
D. Approval of MMTB Minutes of November 2, 2023 
 
Motion by Mr. Hillberg 
Seconded by Mr. Zane to approve the MMTB Minutes of November 2, 2023 as 
submitted. 
 
Motion carried, 6-0.  
 
VOICE VOTE  
Yeas:  Doolittle, Davies, White, Zane, Hillberg, Hocker  
Nays:  None  
 
E. Unfinished Business 

1. Arlington Rd. and Shirley Dr. 
 
SP Cowan presented the item and Staff answered informational questions from the Board. Ms. 
Kroll, and Mr. Strader also answered questions from the Board.  

7A



 
Lawrence Sobson, an arborist of the Michigan Department of Natural Resources, was also in 
attendance and answered questions regarding the DNR's recommendations for street trees and 
prohibited species. 
 
Public Comment 
Midge Moran made comments about safety on Arlington and Shirley. 
 
Kathleen Devereaux supported the preservation of mature City trees. 
 
Heidi Pinkert spoke about the safety of sidewalks, sustainability in the City, and the applicability 
of the 2040 Plan. 
 
Ron Sawyer spoke about street widths’ impact on traffic safety and whether narrowing the streets 
would represent an increase in maintenance costs for the homeowners. 
 
Creagh Milford questioned whether there was data to support the City’s tree and pedestrian safety 
recommendations. 
 
David Mendelson thanked the Board members for their service and received brief answers from 
Staff regarding the project’s timing and impact on setbacks. 
 
Richard Silbergleit and James Mirro supported Arlington and Shirley remaining as-is. 
 
Chris Gaudette thanked the Board members for their work and supported Exhibit A. Tony Trease 
concurred, emphasizing the long-term benefit. 
 
Alex Davis said she would send videos to Staff demonstrating the difficulty of driving Arlington 
and Shirley. 
 
Mike Vansyckle and Fremont Scott opposed adding sidewalks, narrowing the road, and removing 
the trees. They acknowledged the necessity of other improvements.  
 
Brian Connolly expressed appreciation for the Board, opposed adding sidewalks and the attendant 
expense, and asked that local opposition to the project be taken into account. 
 
Niharika Ramdev thanked the Board and asked two questions about trees. 
 
Mike Minelli said he felt that residents’ feedback was not being given genuine consideration. Alice 
Silbergleit concurred. 
 
John Graham supported water, sewer, and road surface improvements and opposed sidewalks 
and reducing the streets’ width. 
 
At some point during the Board members’ discussion, members of the public boo’ed the Board 
members, yelled ‘Shame on you’, and a member of the public made a repeated thumbs-down 
gesture at the Board members. While more gestures may have been made by the public, a limited 
portion of the public was visible on the recording. 

7A



 
At a few different points, the Chair and Staff paused the proceedings to remind audience members 
not to interrupt and to maintain proper decorum while the Board was deliberating. 
 

Board members made the following comments in the course of discussion: 
● SP Cowan was to be commended for his presentation; 
● While the removal of trees can be disappointing, experts have explained that the present 

tree canopy along Arlington and Shirley will not be long-lasting. It was explained that 
there needs to be an increase in tree biodiversity in the area, and the Board is a 
generational decision rather than a shorter-term one; 

● The City elected the Commission, which then adopted and implemented the complete 
streets plan, the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan, and the 2040 Plan. Those plans provide 
the context within the Board must make its recommendations; 

● At the same time, as a resident, it is possible to understand being opposed to the outcome 
of those plans for one’s own street; 

● It might be more appropriate to add sidewalks to Arlington and Shirley when there has 
been more resident turnover and a possible increase in neighborhood support for the 
project; 

● The desire to not remove snow because other streets do not remove snow was not a valid 
argument for opposing changes to Arlington and Shirley; 

● In reply to some residents’ stated sustainability concerns, the neighborhood probably 
generates about three times the emissions in lawn maintenance as the trees in the 
neighborhood collect. Additionally, residents said that the streets need to remain wide in 
order to have enough room for landscaping trucks, which promotes activities that generate 
emissions; 

● While Arlington is a beautiful road, one of the Board members who coaches cross country 
at Seaholm is not able to take the cross country team on Arlington due to the lack of 
sidewalks. This demonstrates how members of the community may avoid using Arlington 
because of its lack of sidewalks; 

● A more uniform tree program on Arlington and Shirley may enhance the streets in the 
next decade, and renderings showing what it might look like once the proposed tree 
replacements mature could be beneficial to the conversation; 

● It was noted that while Exhibit C would be a compromise, there seemed to be little 
enthusiasm for that option among the public or among the Board; and, 

● It was recalled that one member of the public at a prior meeting had opined that Exhibit 
C would be unfair since some of the costs would be borne by residents only on one side 
of the roads. 

 
Motion by Mr. Doolittle 
Seconded by Mr. Hillberg to recommend to the City Commission that Arlington St. and 
Shirley Rd. be constructed per the City’s residential street standards as indicated in 
Exhibit A with a 26’ street width and a 6’ curblawn for street trees and 5’ sidewalk on 
each side of the street. 
 
Public Comment 
Stuart Borman noted that he was encouraged to attend the meeting by a 
Commissioner and used coarse language to describe his dissatisfaction with the 
process. 

7A



 
Mr. Silbergleit made a comment about the necessity of installing sidewalks given his 
estimation that Arlington and Shirley are a suburban, not an urban, part of the City. 
 
Ms. Moran and Mr. Mirro expressed support for moving Arlington and Shirley to the 
bottom of the list for street narrowing and sidewalk implementation. 
 
Ms. Ramdev disagreed that sidewalks inherently represent a safety improvement for 
pedestrians. 
 
Pam Minelli made a comment about how this project would affect her property. She 
asserted that protesters would physically block changes to the street and stated that 
the Board members should ‘not ever plan to run for office again’.  
 
Mr. Zane noted that the Board members are volunteers, not elected officials, that they 
do not get paid for the work they do, and that this particular process was no more 
enjoyable for the Board members than it was for the members of the public who had 
spoken.  
 
Mr. Davies recommended that the Commission consider Exhibit C in the event that no 
consensus is achieved for Exhibit A. 
 
Mr. Doolittle noted that no members of the public had expressed support for Exhibit 
C. 
 
Mr. Hillberg noted that members of the public who opposed Exhibit C did so on the 
basis of some of the costs being borne only by residents on one side of the streets. 
 
Mr. Zane noted that the cost allocations of projects were not within the purview of 
the Board. 
 
Motion carried, 4-2.  
 
VOICE VOTE  
Yeas:  Doolittle, Davies, White, Hillberg  
Nays:  Zane, Hocker  
  
F. New Business 

1. Columbia Ave All-Way Stop Review  
 
SP Cowan introduced the item and Ms. Kroll presented the item. Ms. Kroll answered informational 
questions from the Board. 
 
Motion by Mr. Zane 
Seconded by Chair White to recommend All-way stop control to the City Commission 
at the intersections of Columbia St & Villa Rd and Columbia St & Haynes St. 
 
Motion carried, 6-0.  

7A



 
VOICE VOTE  
Yeas:  Doolittle, Davies, White, Hillberg, Zane, Hocker 
Nays:  None 
 
G. Meeting Open to the Public for items not on the Agenda 
H. Miscellaneous Communications 

1. Maple & Baldwin 
2. Oak & Lakepark 
3. Ruffner Cut Through 

I. Next Meeting 
J. Adjournment  
 
No further business being evident, the Board adjourned at 8:34 p.m.  
 
 

 

 

Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 

 

7A



B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BENCHMARK

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BENCHMARK

3
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
7
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
5
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

3
0
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

2
8
8
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

2
5
2
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

2
2
6
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

1
8
8
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

1
0
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

1
3
3
1
 W

. M
A

P
L
E

 R
D

.

5
0
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

1
3
7
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

1
0
0
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

9
7
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

9
1
4
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

8
8
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
8
2
2
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
7
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
0
8
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

6
4
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

55
0 

S
H

IR
LE

Y
 D

R
IV

E

1
1

4
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

1
3
6
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

1
4
4
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

1
7

6
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

2
0

0
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

2
3
0
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

2
5
2
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

34
5 

S
H

IR
LE

Y
 R

D

3
6
1
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

3
8
1
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

4
2
1
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
6
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
8
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

5
0
3
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

5
8
5
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

6
1
9
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

6
6
3
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
3
5
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
8
1
1
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

8
5
5
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

9
0
5
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

95
5 

S
H

IR
LE

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
8

9
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
( 

5
0

' R
.O

.W
.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

SHIR
LEY D

RIV
E

( 5
0' R

.O
.W

.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
( 

5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

W. MAPLE ROAD ( R.O.W. VARIES)

W.LINCOLN AVE.
( R.O.W. VARIES)

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

NF

N

N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

7A

ptulikangas
Engineer
EXHIBIT A' - EAST5' WIDE SIDEWALK, BOTH SIDES OF ARLINGTON & SHIRLEY, TYPICAL BACK/WALK ALIGNMENT 1' OFF R.O.W.REDUCE ROAD WIDTH TO 27' (B-B). INCLUDE ROAD GEOMETRY AND PEDESTRIAN CROSSING LOCATIONS SIMILAR TO "EXHIBIT C". SEE STANDARD "EXHIBIT A" FOR DETAILED LOCATIONS WHERE CONCEPT SIDEWALK ALIGNMENT CREATES CONFLICTS W/ TREES, LANDSCAPING, UTILITY POLES, ETC.  

ptulikangas
Engineer
NOTE: CONDITION OF EXISTING CARRIAGE WALK WOULD NEED TO BE REVIEWED AFTER PAVEMENT REMOVAL TO DETERMINE IF IT SHOULD REMAIN OR IF REPLACEMENT IS REQUIRED. 

ptulikangas
Engineer
BRANDON ST.50' WD. R.O.W.



BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K
B

E
N

C
H

M
A

R
K

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BENCHMARK

1
1
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

1
7
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

2
4
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

2
6
9
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
0
9
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
0
9
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
7
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
5
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

1
5
8
9
 W

. 
M

A
P

L
E

 R
O

A
D

2
1
8
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

2
2
2
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

2
8
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
1
6
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
1
4
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
3
2
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
4
4
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

5
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

5
5
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

6
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

7
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

7
3
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

7
7

6
 A

R
L

IN
G

T
O

N
 R

O
A

D
8
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

8
6
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

8
9
8
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
2
4
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
6
8
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
9
2
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

10
40

 W
. L

IN
C
O

LN
 A

VE.

5
0
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

5
7
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

6
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

7
3

7
 A

R
L

IN
G

T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

7
7
9
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

8
4
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

8
8
1
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
7
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

10
57

 A
R

LI
N

G
T
O

N
 R

O
A
D

1
3
7
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
1
4
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

8
8
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
8
2
2
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
7
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
0
8
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

6
4
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

55
0 

S
H

IR
LE

Y
 D

R
IV

E

4
2
1
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
6
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
8
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

W.MAPLE ROAD ( R.O.W. VARIES)

W.LINCOLN AVE.
( R.O.W. VARIES)

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

NF

N

N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

7A

ptulikangas
Engineer
EXHIBIT A' - WEST5' WIDE SIDEWALK, BOTH SIDES OF ARLINGTON & SHIRLEY, TYPICAL BACK/WALK ALIGNMENT 1' OFF R.O.W.REDUCE ROAD WIDTH TO 27' (B-B). INCLUDE ROAD GEOMETRY AND PEDESTRIAN CROSSING LOCATIONS SIMILAR TO "EXHIBIT C". SEE STANDARD "EXHIBIT A" FOR DETAILED LOCATIONS WHERE CONCEPT SIDEWALK ALIGNMENT CREATES CONFLICTS W/ TREES, LANDSCAPING, UTILITY POLES, ETC.  



• Reduces the wide 

expanse of unnecessary 

pavement 

• Reduces stormwater and 

drainage issues 

• Eases Pedestrian 

Crossings 

• Reduces traffic Speeds 

• Actual design is 

dependent on sidewalk 

alternative 

Intersection Redesign   
Traffic Calming Features

7A



Upcoming Capital Projects 
2023

Engineering 
Department

Date:  January 21, 2023

Work Planned for 2023 and Future Plans

7A



Upcoming Capital Projects

Overview:

2023 Calendar Year Construction Projects
Projects beginning in 2022 will continue into 2023, weather permitting

New Construction Projects starting in 2023
Road improvements

Sidewalk maintenance programs

Infrastructure Improvements 

Golf Course Improvements 

Capital Improvement Program
2024 Construction Season

2025 Construction Season 

7A



Carry Over Projects from 2021-2022

2023 Construction Projects: 
Parking Lot No. 5 Resurfacing and Slope Repair

2022 and 2023 Concrete Sidewalk Program

2022 and 2023 Trip Elimination Services 

Water Tower Maintenance and Coating 

Cranbrook Non-Motorized Shared Use Path

Redding Road Improvement

Westwood Drive / Oak Street / Rayanle Street

2022 - 2023 Cape Seal Program

2022-2023 Asphalt Resurfacing

Sewer Rehabilitation Program 

Lincoln Hills Golf Course Tee No. 1 Project 

Brown Street 

Pierce Street

7A



2023 Calendar Year Capital Projects Map

7A



Lincoln Hills Golf Course Tee No. 1 

Improvements to the cart path, retaining walls, 
and staircase to Tee No. 1 are currently out for 
bids. 

Project Schedule
Currently out for bids 

February 2023: Award project

March 2023: Start construction, weather 
dependent

April 2023: Substantial completion to allow the 
use of the cart path 

June 2023: Final completion

7A



Brown Street: S. Old Woodward Ave. to Woodward Ave.

Reduce the roadway to three lanes, improve pedestrian traffic and turning 
movements, and minor street scape improvements. 

Tentative Milestone Dates
Public Meeting with Property Owners (date TBD)

February – March 2023: Bidding for project

March 2023: Public Hearing of Necessity for SAD’s 

April 2023: Award project

May 2023: Start construction 

July 2023: Final completion

7A



Brown Street: S. Old Woodward Ave. to Woodward Ave.

7A



Pierce Street, 14 Mile Road to Lincoln Street

Replacing the existing 6-inch water main on the east side of the street from 
Lincoln Street to 14 Mile Road, ADA ramp upgrades, full-depth road 
reconstruction for trench end excavations, and other road repair sections. 

Tentative Milestone Dates
Public Meeting with Property Owners (date TBD)

April 2023: Project Bidding

May 2023: Public Hearing of Necessity for SAD’s 

June 2023: Award project

Middle of June 2023: Start construction 

October 2023: Final completion

Coordination with Pierce Elementary School 

7A



Future Capital Improvement Program

7A



2024 Capital Improvement Program 

Note: All projects are subject to City Commission approval and City’s budget

7A



2025 Capital Improvement Program 

Note: All projects are subject to City Commission approval and City’s budget

7A



MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department 

DATE: October 20, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: James J. Surhigh, Consulting City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Unimproved Streets Policy Modifications – 
Process for City-Initiated Projects 

INTRODUCTION: 
On September 13, 2021, the City Commission conducted their second workshop to explore 
the key recommendations made by the Ad Hoc Unimproved Streets Study Committee in their 
final report to the City Commission, and hear the Staff’s recommendations for moving forward 
with changes to the process for converting unimproved streets to improved status.   The City 
Commission is being asked to modify the City’s current ordinance associated with converting 
an unimproved street to an improved street by allowing the City to initiate such street 
improvements.  The Engineering Department policy statement regarding the modified 
ordinance for improving unimproved streets and associated improvements is also attached 
for the Commission’s information. 

BACKGROUND: 
There are ninety (90) miles of existing roadway in the City of Birmingham.  Approximately 
30% (26 miles) of them are classified as “unimproved” streets.  An unimproved road is a 
gravel road, with or without curbs, that has been maintained with chip or cape seal to provide 
a relatively smooth and dust-free driving surface.  These unimproved streets exist due to the 
majority of neighborhoods in the City being subdivided and open for development prior to 
1930.  During this time local streets were built with gravel roads with no provision for storm 
drainage.  Residents with unimproved roads often experience issues with flooding and 
deteriorating road surfaces as a more common occurrence than their neighbors with improved 
roads.    

Today, unimproved streets may be converted to an improved street with construction of 
engineered pavement and drainage improvements only when a majority of residents on a 
residential block submit a petition to the City for such an improvement.  In order, to convert 
a road from unimproved to improved, residents must pay a percentage of the total cost via 
special assessment. 

The City Commission heard an increasing number of complaints from residents over the past 
several years concerning issues with drainage and the condition of the road surface on 
unimproved streets.  In response, the Commission passed a resolution creating an Ad Hoc 
Unimproved Street Study Committee (AHUSC).  The charge of the committee was to conduct 
a City-Wide study of unimproved streets and provide a recommendation outlining a long-term 
plan for improving these streets. 

7F7A



 
The AHUSC convened from June 2018 until December 2020, when it concluded its charge and 
presented a Final Report to the City Commission on December 21, 2020.  The report provides 
details regarding the various topics related to the issue, and follows with actionable 
recommendations to modify the City’s existing policy and procedures associated with 
converting an unimproved street to an improved street.  The Committee unanimously believes 
that there are three key areas that should be the focus of their recommendations.  These 
include the: 

1) Initiation of the petition process by the City and not only by the citizens,  
2) Selection of the road surface and design alternatives, and  
3) Identification of funding sources that may allow the City to accelerate the conversion 

of unimproved roads. 
 
On April 12, 2021, the City Commission held a workshop meeting to discuss these key 
recommendations, along with a fourth item related to planning for the street improvement 
projects.  On April 26, 2021, the City Commission expressed support of making certain 
changes to the policies associated with converting unimproved streets to improved status, 
and gave direction to Staff to further develop the proposed changes.   
 
On September 13, 2021, the City Commission held a second workshop meeting to discuss the 
recommendations made by the AHUSC, in conjunction with the Staff’s recommendations for 
specific modifications to policies and ordinances that would move the City towards being more 
proactive with respect to converting unimproved streets to improved status.  This report 
presents changes to the project initiation policy, and related ordinance modifications, for the 
City Commission to act upon.   
 
With adoption of the proposed changes described herein, the City will be allowed to initiate a 
project on an unimproved street without waiting for a citizen-led petition effort.  With the 
City-initiated process, an expression of interest survey will be distributed to affected property 
owners to ascertain the level of support for the proposed project during the preliminary 
planning stage, and before significant effort is expended by Staff and the City’s consultants.  
At the conclusion of the preliminary planning stage, an interim project report will be presented 
to the City Commission to act upon and direct Staff to proceed with final design of the project.  
The existing process for a citizen-led petition effort to initiate a project will remain an option 
for property owners along unimproved streets.  

 
LEGAL REVIEW: 

This report, proposed ordinance, and resolutions contained herein have been reviewed by the 
City Attorney, and found to be in order. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no fiscal impact associated with the resolutions contained herein, as no changes are 
proposed to the existing policies related to assessment of costs for street improvements. 

 
  

7A



SUMMARY: 
Staff recommends that the City Commission adopt modifications and additions to the 
ordinance language to allow the City to be proactive in identifying the need of street 
improvements and initiating such street improvements, and for the creation of Special 
Assessment Districts to defray the costs of these improvements.  Further, to develop the 
petition process to allow for City-initiated projects and the use of a tool for an “expression of 
interest” in order to gauge the level of support from property owners in a particular project 
area before the City expends significant resources towards development of the design of a 
project, while retaining the ability of property owners to directly petition for a street 
improvement project.  
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Ordinance to Amend Part II of the City Code, Chapter 94, Sections 94-4 through 94-8 

(“redline” version). 
• Ordinance to Amend Part II of the City Code, Chapter 94, Sections 94-4 through 94-8 

(final amended version). 
• Existing policy statement for local road improvements. 
• Proposed policy statement for local road improvements (“redline” version). 
• Proposed policy statement for local road improvements (final amended version). 

 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 

Make a motion adopting the proposed Ordinance to amend the City Code, Part II, Chapter 
94, Sec. 94-4. – Initiation of Improvement, Sec. 94-5. – Petitions, Sec. 94-6. City Engineer’s 
Report, Sec. 94-7. – Notice of Public Hearing and Sec. 94.8. – Determination of Necessity by 
Commission. 

 

7A



 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II OF THE CITY CODE, CHAPTER 94 – SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS:  SEC. 94-4.-INITIATION OF IMPROVEMENT, SEC. 94-5. – PETITIONS, 
SEC. 94-6. CITY ENGINEER’S REPORT, SEC. 94-7. – NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
94.8. – DETERMINATION OF NECESSITY BY COMMISSION 
 
THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 
 

The City Code, Part II, Chapter 94-4. – Initiation of Improvement, Sec. 94-5. – Petitions, 
Sec. 94-6. City Engineer’s Report, Sec. 94-7. – Notice of Public Hearing and Sec. 94.8. – 
Determination of Necessity by Commission, shall read as follows: 
 
 

Sec. Sec. 94-4. Initiation of improvementImprovement by Commission. 

(1) Proceedings for the making of public improvements within the city may be commenced 
by resolution of the city commission, on its own initiative, making the improvement and 
special assessment mandatory.  

(12) The commission, inIn order to ascertain whether 50% or not a satisfactory number of 
property owners to be assessed for a special desire any particular improvement, the 
City Commission may choose to direct staff to circulate an expression of interest form.  
Or, the Commission may to be made, may request and receive a petition presented by 
property owners. therefor, or may receive a petition voluntarily presented.  

(23) The commission shall carefully consider any petition or expression of interest forms 
received, but both petitions and expression of interest forms shall be advisory only. and 
shall not be jurisdictional. Petitions or expression of interest forms shall in no event be 
mandatory upon the commission.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97) 

Sec. 94-5. Petitions. Property owners may petition for an improvement. 

(a) All property owners initiating petitions shall be circulated and signed on blank forms 
furnished by the city engineer. Such petitions shall contain, in addition to the signature of 
the owner(s), a brief description of the property owned by the respective signers thereof, 
along with a description of the requested improvementsand the requested . improvement.  

(b) Petitions shall be verified by the affidavit(s) of the petition circulator(s) attesting that 
signatures on the petition are genuine and that the persons signing are owners of the 
described properties.  

(c) Petitions shall be filed with the city engineer.  
(d) All petitions shall be referred by the city engineer to the city manager and city clerk. The city 

manager clerk shall check verify the petitions and signatures to determinedetermining 
whether they conform to the foregoing requirements and shall report his or her the city 
clerk’s findings to the city engineer and city manager.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97; Ord. No. 1962, 4-21-08) 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

7A



Sec. 94-6. City engineer's report. 

(a) Before the commission shall decide on making any public improvements, whether initiated 
by commission or property owners through the petition process, the city engineer shall 
prepare and submit a preliminary report to the city commission which shall include a general 
description of the nature and scope of the project, a recommended approach to the project 
including coordination of other city projects and finding funding sources, preliminary 
estimates of cost, an estimate of the life of the improvement, a description of the proposed 
assessment district(s), and such other pertinent information as may enable the commission 
to determine the cost, scope, extent and necessity of the proposed improvement and 
whether any portion of the cost should be paid by the city at large. A copy of the city 
engineer's report shall also be filed with the city clerk for public examination.  

(b) Whenever any property interest is acquired by condemnation or otherwise for the purpose 
of any public improvement, the cost thereof and of the proceedings required to acquire such 
property interest may be added to the cost of such public improvement.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97) 

Sec. 94-7. Notice of public hearing. 

(a) After the filing of the city engineer's report under section 94-6, above, a public hearing before 
the city commission on the advisability of proceeding to establish a special assessment 
district for the making of the public improvement shall be set, which hearing shall be held 
not less than ten days after notice thereof has been both published in a newspaper published 
or generally circulated in the city, and sent by first-class mail to all property owners in the 
proposed special assessment district as shown by the current property tax roll of the city. 
The notice shall include a statement that appearance and protest at the public hearing is 
required in order to appeal the special assessment to the Michigan Tax Tribunal, and that 
an owner or interested party, or his or her agent, may appear and protest in person or by 
letter, if received by the commission prior to the public hearing. The hearing required by this 
section may be held at any regular or special meeting of the commission.  

(b) At the public hearing on the proposed improvement, all persons interested shall be given an 
opportunity to be heard.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97) 

Sec. 94-8. Determination of necessity by commission. 

(a) Following the hearing, the commission may determine whether it is necessary to continue 
to proceed, or to modify the scope of the public improvement, if necessary, in such a manner 
as it deems to be in the best interest of the city, provided that if the amount of work is 
increased or properties are added to the district, then another public hearing shall be held 
pursuant to notice as prescribed in section 94-7.  

(b) If the commission determines to continue to proceed with the improvement, the commission 
shall adopt a resolution:  
(1) Determining the necessity of the improvement;  

7A



(2) Approving the detailed plans and estimates of cost prepared by the city engineer;  
(3) Prescribing what portion of the cost of such improvement shall be paid by special 

assessment upon the property especially benefited, determining what benefits will be 
received by affected properties and what portion, if any, of the cost shall be paid by 
the Ccity;  

(4) Delineating the boundaries of the special assessment district;  
(5) Determining the method or formula to be used in making the assessment; and  
(6) Directing the city manager to prepare a special assessment roll and present the same 

to the commission for confirmation (unless the special assessment roll was previously 
prepared).  

(c) The commission may modify the resolution to proceed that was adopted pursuant to 
subsection (b) at any time, but if any modification will increase the cost or scope of the 
improvement or add properties to the assessment district, a further public hearing shall be 
held and notice given as prescribed in section 94-7.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97; Ord. No. 1962, 4-21-08) 

All other Sections of Chapter 94. – SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS, shall remain unaffected. 
 
Ordained this _____ day of __________________, 2021.  Effective upon publication. 

 
          
    Pierre Boutros, Mayor 
  
          
    Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 
     

 
 

I, Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, do hereby certify that the 
foregoing ordinance was passed by the Commission of the City of Birmingham, Michigan at a regular 
meeting held ___________________, 2021 and that a summary was published 
_____________________, 2021. 
 

_____________________________________ 
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

 

7A



 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II OF THE CITY CODE, CHAPTER 94 – SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS:  SEC. 94-4.-INITIATION OF IMPROVEMENT, SEC. 94-5. – PETITIONS, 
SEC. 94-6. CITY ENGINEER’S REPORT, SEC. 94-7. – NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
94.8. – DETERMINATION OF NECESSITY BY COMMISSION 
 
THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 
 

The City Code, Part II, Chapter 94-4. – Initiation of Improvement, Sec. 94-5. – Petitions, 
Sec. 94-6. City Engineer’s Report, Sec. 94-7. – Notice of Public Hearing and Sec. 94.8. – 
Determination of Necessity by Commission, shall read as follows: 
 
 

Sec. Sec. 94-4. Initiation of Improvement by Commission. 

(1) Proceedings for making public improvements within the city may be commenced by 
resolution of the city commission, on its own initiative, making the improvement and 
special assessment mandatory.  

(2) In order to ascertain whether 50% of property owners to be assessed for a special 
improvement, the City Commission may choose to direct staff to circulate an expression 
of interest form.  Or, the Commission may receive a petition presented by property 
owners. 

(3) The commission shall carefully consider any petition or expression of interest forms 
received, but both petitions and expression of interest forms shall be advisory only. 
Petitions or expression of interest forms shall in no event be mandatory upon the 
commission.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97) 

Sec. 94-5.  Property owners may petition for an improvement. 

(a) All property owners initiating petitions shall be circulated and signed on forms furnished by 
the city engineer. Such petitions shall contain, in addition to the signature of the owner(s), 
a brief description of the property owned by the respective signers thereof, along with a 
description of the requested improvements. 

(b) Petitions shall be verified by the affidavit(s) of the petition circulator(s) attesting that 
signatures on the petition are genuine and that the persons signing are owners of the 
described properties.  

(c) Petitions shall be filed with the city engineer.  
(d) All petitions shall be referred by the city engineer to the city manager and city clerk. The city 

clerk shall verify the petitions and signatures determining whether they conform to the 
foregoing requirements and shall report the city clerk’s findings to the city engineer and city 
manager.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97; Ord. No. 1962, 4-21-08) 

7A



Sec. 94-6. City engineer's report. 

(a) Before the commission shall decide on making any public improvements, whether initiated 
by commission or property owners through the petition process, the city engineer shall 
prepare and submit a preliminary report to the city commission which shall include a general 
description of the nature and scope of the project, a recommended approach to the project 
including coordination of other city projects and funding sources, preliminary estimates of 
cost, an estimate of the life of the improvement, a description of the proposed assessment 
district(s), and such other pertinent information as may enable the commission to determine 
the cost, scope, extent and necessity of the proposed improvement and whether any portion 
of the cost should be paid by the city at large. A copy of the city engineer's report shall also 
be filed with the city clerk for public examination.  

(b) Whenever any property interest is acquired by condemnation or otherwise for the purpose 
of any public improvement, the cost thereof and of the proceedings required to acquire such 
property interest may be added to the cost of such public improvement.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97) 

Sec. 94-7. Notice of public hearing. 

(a) After the filing of the city engineer's report under section 94-6, above, a public hearing before 
the city commission on the advisability of proceeding to establish a special assessment 
district for the making of the public improvement shall be set, which hearing shall be held 
not less than ten days after notice thereof has been both published in a newspaper published 
or generally circulated in the city, and sent by first-class mail to all property owners in the 
proposed special assessment district as shown by the current property tax roll of the city. 
The notice shall include a statement that appearance and protest at the public hearing is 
required in order to appeal the special assessment to the Michigan Tax Tribunal, and that 
an owner or interested party, or his or her agent, may appear and protest in person or by 
letter, if received by the commission prior to the public hearing. The hearing required by this 
section may be held at any regular or special meeting of the commission.  

(b) At the public hearing on the proposed improvement, all persons interested shall be given an 
opportunity to be heard.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97) 

Sec. 94-8. Determination of necessity by commission. 

(a) Following the hearing, the commission may determine whether it is necessary to continue 
to proceed, or to modify the scope of the public improvement, if necessary, in such a manner 
as it deems to be in the best interest of the city, provided that if the amount of work is 
increased or properties are added to the district, then another public hearing shall be held 
pursuant to notice as prescribed in section 94-7.  

(b) If the commission determines to continue to proceed with the improvement, the commission 
shall adopt a resolution:  
(1) Determining the necessity of the improvement;  

7A



(2) Approving the detailed plans and estimates of cost prepared by the city engineer;  
(3) Prescribing what portion of the cost of such improvement shall be paid by special 

assessment upon the property especially benefited, determining what benefits will be 
received by affected properties and what portion, if any, of the cost shall be paid by 
the City;  

(4) Delineating the boundaries of the special assessment district;  
(5) Determining the method or formula to be used in making the assessment; and  
(6) Directing the city manager to prepare a special assessment roll and present the same 

to the commission for confirmation (unless the special assessment roll was previously 
prepared).  

(c) The commission may modify the resolution to proceed that was adopted pursuant to 
subsection (b) at any time, but if any modification will increase the cost or scope of the 
improvement or add properties to the assessment district, a further public hearing shall be 
held and notice given as prescribed in section 94-7.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97; Ord. No. 1962, 4-21-08) 

All other Sections of Chapter 94. – SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS, shall remain unaffected. 
 
Ordained this _____ day of __________________, 2021.  Effective upon publication. 

 
          
    Pierre Boutros, Mayor 
  
          
    Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 
     

 
 

I, Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, do hereby certify that the 
foregoing ordinance was passed by the Commission of the City of Birmingham, Michigan at a regular 
meeting held ___________________, 2021 and that a summary was published 
_____________________, 2021. 
 

_____________________________________ 
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

 

7A



ENGINEERING DEPT. POLICY STATEMENT 
 

PROCEDURE FOR CITY STREET IMPROVEMENTS 
(proposed 2021 version) 

 
Most of the subdivisions built in Birmingham were complete and in place prior to the Great 
Depression.  The expectations of a public street were different in that era. Cities and villages 
accepted gravel streets with little provision for drainage.  
 
Subdivisions built today are required to provide public roads with an engineered pavement built 
to last anywhere from 20 to 40 years. Handling storm drainage is an important part of the design. 
The cost of the pavement and storm sewer system is paid for by the developer, and that cost is 
then passed on to the first homeowners who purchase a home or property within the 
development. After the new street is installed and approved to their standards, the local City then 
takes over ownership of the pavement, and promises to maintain it into the future. 
 
Birmingham, like other cities built by the 1920’s, accepted gravel roads without storm sewer 
systems to serve as their local streets. By the end of World War II, the public’s expectations 
about what a public road should look like, and how it should function, was changing. Many cities 
took on ambitious construction programs, funded by bonds, and paid back through special 
assessments to the adjoining, benefitting properties. Birmingham took a more passive approach, 
electing to chip seal its gravel roads beginning in the late 1940’s. The chip seal helped solve 
many of the problems of a gravel road, but did not resolve the more complex issues of drainage. 
 

ROAD IMPROVEMENT OPTIONS 

A. Citizen-Initiated Project: 
Street improvement projects in Birmingham have historically been financed through the 
creation of a Special Assessment District (SAD).  The district was authorized by the City 
Commission after consideration of a petition that was submitted indicating that over half 
of the property owners on the street were in favor of having their street paved, and that 
they were prepared to be charged for a portion of the cost. If your property is located on 
an unimproved road (one surfaced with a temporary cape seal surface consisting of 
asphalt emulsion and stone chips), then the property has never been included in a special 
assessment district to cover the cost of constructing a fully-improved road.   
 
Residents interested in having their streets paved are encouraged to call the Engineering 
Dept. at 248-530-1850, to get the process started. Usually, one or two residents take 
charge of the process. A petition with the appropriate language is prepared by the 
Engineering Department., and forwarded to the petition circulator.  They are then 

7A



responsible for talking to their neighbors, and collecting signatures on the petition, 
documenting those that initially support the proposal. 
 
Every street is unique. That is why we ask that petition circulators discuss the specifics 
with the Engineering Dept. prior to collecting signatures. Generally speaking, a new 
street will include the following features: 

1. New concrete pavement with integral curbs to control drainage, built at 26 ft. 
wide between the face of the curbs. The 26 ft. width provides just enough room 
for a car to pass through, if other cars are parked on both sides.  An asphalt 
pavement section, designed to provide an equivalent performing pavement as 
compared to concrete, along with concrete curb and gutter, may be considered as 
an alternate pavement design on a case-by-case basis. 

2. The City will review the current conditions of the sewer and water systems in the 
public right-of-way, referred to as “mains”.  Unimproved streets often need some 
or all of these systems replaced. The cost of these improvements would be 
charged to the City’s Sewer and Water Funds, and would not be included in the 
special assessment. 

3. In addition to the mains, the City also looks at the age and size of each home’s 
individual water and sewer laterals serving their homes. These pipelines are 
considered a part of the private system serving each property. If the pavement is 
being replaced, and these pipes are either too old or too small, they will also be 
replaced as a part of the project. These costs are charged to the benefitting 
property in a separate special assessment from that established for the road 
paving. 

4. Each driveway approach is removed and replaced to meet the current standards 
for driveways operating on the street. The size of the approach is measured and 
billed to the benefitting property through the road paving special assessment. 
Trees and sidewalks are left in place as much as possible. The grass lawn area 
between the sidewalk and the new street is removed and regraded to help ensure 
that the new sidewalk drains correctly. The new lawn area is sodded for quick, 
high quality restoration. Individual parking areas that may have been built along 
the edge of the road are removed, and not replaced. The new street is wide enough 
to support parked cars in most cases. 

 
If a petition is submitted showing over 50% are in favor of the road improvement, the 
Engineering Department will prepare an informational booklet detailing the project being 
considered, and an estimate of the costs involved. It is mailed to all owners in the 
potential district, and a neighborhood meeting is conducted for those that would like to 
discuss and learn more about what is being considered. 

7A



 
If over 50% remain in favor of the project after this process, it will be moved forward to 
the City Commission for a public hearing, and possibly authorization. If the project is 
authorized, it will be designed and built by the City as soon as funding and construction 
schedules permit. 

 
B. City-Initiated Project: 

From time to time, the City Engineering Department may determine that construction of a 
project on an unimproved street should be initiated by the City.  The main factors for 
making this determination would be where public sewer and/or water system 
improvements are needed, and construction of those utilities would necessitate removal 
of a portion of the existing roadway.  Instead of simply restoring the cape-seal road 
surface after the utility construction, the City may start the process by engaging the 
property owners on the street about constructing an improved road.  The City-initiated 
process would include the following steps: 

 
1. The Engineering Department will identify project areas as part of the usual 

Capital Improvement Planning (CIP) process, where projects are planned over the 
upcoming 5 year time period.  Occasionally, the need for a project is more 
unexpected by nature, and may not be part of the 5-year CIP. 

2. Before starting the detailed design phase of a project on an unimproved street, the 
Engineering Department may engage the property owners that are in the project 
area to survey their opinions on the project by sending them an Expression of 
Interest form.  Information and questions on the Expression of Interest form could 
include: 
a. Project description and explanation of the purpose of the project 

(improvements to sewer or water system, or other reason) – including 
anticipated street width, pavement material, construction period, and 
estimated SAD cost ranges. 

b. Ask if they are supportive of the project to improve the sewer and/or water 
system along the street. 

c. Ask if they are supportive of constructing an improved street upon completion 
of the underground utility work. 

d. Ask their opinion if the finished road surface paving material should be 
concrete or asphalt. 

This preliminary Expression of Interest Survey will be communicated to the 
affected property owners by mail, and email if that has been provided to the City.  
General communications can be posted on the City’s website and social media 

7A



outlets to inform the public in general that design of the project will be starting, 
and if you are one of the affected properties, to look for the survey.  The survey 
would be open for a minimum of 30 days. 

3. Begin preliminary design of the project: performing topographic survey; 
reviewing sewer and water system needs; preparing preliminary plans; and 
refining cost estimates. 

4. Prepare an informational booklet for the project, as described in the Citizen-
Initiated Project process section of this procedure document.  The information 
booklet will be mailed to all property owners in the potential SAD, and a 
neighborhood meeting will be conducted for those that would like to discuss and 
learn more about what is being considered. 

5. Prepare an Interim Report for City-Initiated Unimproved Street Project and 
present to the City Commission.  Interim report would include:  Expression of 
Interest survey results; feedback from public information meeting; cost estimate 
update including SAD component; and suggested resolution to proceed with final 
design of the project. 

6. Set public hearing dates for road paving SAD and sewer & water lateral 
replacement SAD; hold public hearings of necessity; and hold public hearings 
confirming the assessment rolls. 

7. Complete project design, and issue bid documents (with alternate paving design if 
warranted). 

8. Present project to City Commission for award of construction contract, and 
decision on alternates (if any). 

 
With City-initiated projects, the Special Assessment District process and development of 
costs to be assessed is exactly the same as that followed for petition-initiated projects.   

 
 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT COSTS 
 
Since costs for constructing road improvement projects change over time, you are encouraged to 
contact the Engineering Dept. for current estimated costs.  Property owners can expect to be 
charged based on the following general schedule: 

• Paving Assessment – Charged based on a unit rate times the footage of your property 
facing the street being improved. The unit rate is based on all paving related costs 
incurred to complete the project, minus 15% paid for by the City. If the property is on a 
corner, and the long side is being improved, the owner will be charged 33% of the unit 
rate, while the other 67% is paid for by the City. 

7A



• Driveway Assessment – Each property that has a driveway or driveways needing 
approaches to the new street will be charged by the square foot that the contractor 
charged the City to install them.  The driveway assessment cost will be added to the 
paving assessment for each benefitting property in the district. 

• Sewer Lateral Replacement Assessment – Each home served by a sewer lateral that is 
over 50 years old, or constructed with materials or pipe size not meeting current City 
standards, will have a new 6” PVC pipe installed to replace the existing one. Sewer 
laterals built with the road improvement projects are usually at least half off the cost of 
getting this work done on an individual basis, and reduces the chance that the new 
pavement will need to be damaged by utility cuts in the future. 

• Water Lateral Replacement Assessment – Each home having a ¾” dia. pipe, or any 
size that is constructed with materials not meeting current City standards, will have a new 
1” dia. pipe installed to replace the existing one (or larger size to match existing).   If the 
home is significantly improved or replaced in the future, the water lateral would have to 
be replaced at that time, resulting in damage to the new pavement. The cost of this work 
is generally significantly less if done in conjunction with the road improvement project as 
compared to undertaking the water lateral replacement separately. 

 
Special assessments for Paving Assessments, as well as Sewer and Water Lateral Replacement 
Assessments, can be paid off when due, or paid over a period of time (typically 10 years), with 
interest charged on the remaining balance, as determined by the City Commission at the special 
assessment hearing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7A



MEMORANDUM
Engineering Dept.

Planning Department
Police Dept.

DATE: July 13, 2018

TO: Joseph A. Valentine, City Manager

FROM: Jana Ecker, Planning Director
Scott Grewe, Police Dept.
Paul O’Meara, City Engineer

SUBJECT: Residential Street Width Standards

On January 22, 2018, the City Commission considered future street widths for Bennaville, 
Chapin and Humphrey.  Several residents appeared on behalf of Bennaville Ave., and additional 
residents appeared on behalf of the one block of Chapin Ave.  After much discussion, the City 
Commission endorsed the recommendations of the Multi-Modal Transportation Board (“MMTB”) 
with regards to the future street width.  However, during the discussion, the Commission 
expressed confusion as to what the City’s policy is for determining the width of a new street. 
As a result, the MMTB was asked to study the issue in further detail, and send information and 
policy direction back to the Commission.  

In March 2018, the MMTB began their discussion by identifying goals for residential road width 
standards, and reviewed the national standards and best practices from professional 
organizations and peer cities.  The board agreed that standards should be created, but that 
there may be factors to permit some modifications if certain criteria are met.  

On May 3, 2018, the MMTB passed a unanimous motion to recommend approval of Residential 
Street Width Standards to the City Commission.  

On June 4, 2018, the City Commission reviewed the proposed Residential Street Width 
Standards recommended by the MMTB.  After much discussion, the City Commission directed 
the standards back to the MMTB for further refinement in the following areas:

Expand on the introduction and policy goals section to clarify purpose of standards;
Identify clearly the professional organizations on which the standards are based;
Change language in (2) from mandatory (shall) to optional (may);  and
Emphasize the role of public involvement by adding language to (4).

7A



Accordingly, City staff made the changes requested by the City Commission to the Residential 
Street Width Standards and took the issue back to the MMTB on July 12, 2018.  Board members 
recommended minor revisions, and then voted unanimously to recommend approval of the 
revised standards to the City Commission.

Please find attached all research considered by the MMTB, draft standards and all staff reports 
and minutes from the MMTB discussions for your review.

Suggested Action:

To approve the Residential Street Width Standards as recommended by the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board on May 3, 2018, and as further refined and recommended on July 12, 
2018. 

7A



POLICY STATEMENT:
BIRMINGHAM RESIDENTIAL STREET DESIGN STANDARDS

INTRODUCTION: The City Commission asked the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board (MMTB) to establish a City policy for determining the
width of a new street. Accordingly, the MMTB identified goals for
residential road width standards, and reviewed the national standards and
best practices from professional organizations and peer cities. The board
created standards and allowed for modifications if certain criteria are met.

INTENT: The purpose of these standards is to provide consistent street
widths throughout the city but with flexibility for very specific situations. The
goals for identifying a standard road width for residential roads include the
following:

Functionality;
Consistency with adjacent streets;
Accident reduction and public safety;
Adhering to Complete Streets principles;

o Enhancing walkability;
Character of community;

o Block length;
o Size of lots;
o Building setback and lengths;

Traffic calming;
Expediency in planning and engineering;

7A



Infrastructure costs; and/or
Storm water runoff management.

 

The following standards are based on residential street design recommendations
published by American Association of State Highway and Transportation 
Officials (AASHTO), the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), the Urban Land
Institute (ULI), the Congress for New Urbanism, National Association of City 
Transportation Officials (NACTO), and those used by peer cities. Using those
standards as a base, these standards are also based on emergency response
access, winter weather, the existing street widths in the city, and the characteristics of 
different neighborhoods in the City. These widths typically allow for parking along both
sides of the street with room for a vehicle to pass in one direction. When there is
opposing traffic (vehicles going both ways) one of the motorists will need to yield to
the other. This is commonly classified as a “Yield” or “Courtesy” Street.

STREET DESIGN STANDARDS (see also attached flow chart):

1. NEW AND EXISTING, UNIMPROVED RESIDENTIAL STREETS THAT ARE
BEING IMPROVED
When streets are improved or newly constructed, the standards below shall be
strictly generally be applied.  Exceptions may be considered when factors,
such as those described in Section 4, are evident.

a. Standard Streets: 26 ft. in width from curb to curb.
b. If the right-of-way is less than 50 ft., the street width shall be a minimum of

20 ft. with parking allowed on one side only (generally the side without
fire hydrants).

 

2. EXISTING, IMPROVED RESIDENTIAL STREETS
When previously built streets are reconstructed, this standard shall generally be
applied. Exceptions may be considered when factors, such as those described in
Section 4, are evident.

Standard Streets: 26 ft. in width from curb to curb.
Existing Street is 28 feet or less in width: If existing street width is 28 ft.
or less in width, street shall may generally be reconstructed at the existing
width provided there is a reason present under section 4.

3. PUBLIC NOTICE AND PUBLIC HEARING
Whenever there is a street project where a change in the existing width is
being considered, the Multi-Modal Transportation Board shall have a Public Hearing to
inform residents of the project and provide an opportunity for comment. The City shall
post a sign along the street that announces street project. Design details shall be
advertised and posted on the City’s website. If residents express a desire for a non-

7A



standard street width at a public meeting or through a public survey of street
residents, those preferences shall be considered. However, engineering or safety
factors listed in Section 4 must also be present to support a design exception.

4. EXCEPTIONS AND MODIFICATIONS TO THE WIDTH STANDARDS
Any modification must be consistent with the Intent of these standards and the
engineering publications upon which they are based. Street width exceptions may only
be approved to a minimum of 20 ft. and a maximum of 30ft. If residents express 
a desire for a non-standard street width at a public meeting or through a 
public survey of street residents, those preferences shall be considered
(either wider or narrower) Modifications to street widths may only be considered if
one or more of the following conditions exist:

a. High or low frequency of use of on-street parking. When surveyed on-street
parking is utilized 15% or less overnight, the width may be reduced. When 
parking density is classified as highly utilized, defined as over 25%
occupancy throughout the day or more than 50% of the available curb space
used overnight, the width may be increased. For calculation of parking, a
minimum length of 22 ft. shall be used and not include driveways, spaces
adjacent to fire hydrants, or other locations where parking is not allowed.

b. Daily traffic volumes exceed 1500 vehicles.
c. The street is a published school bus route used by the Birmingham

Public Schools or is a frequent emergency response route.
d. Street is adjacent to a school, religious institution, City park, multiple-

family residential development, or other use with access that generates
higher traffic volumes.

e. Presence of street trees, especially healthy, mature trees, such that rebuilding
the road as proposed would result in the removal of two or more trees on
any given block.

f. A speed study confirms that the 85th percentile speed is more than 5 miles
per hour over the posted speed limit and/or city police or engineering
departments have documented operational or safety concerns related to traffic
patterns along the street.

g. Street may be as narrow as 20 ft. with parking on one side only if right-of-way
is less than 50 ft.

5. BOULEVARD STREETS
Reconstruction of streets with a boulevard, median, or other unique design feature,
shall be reconstructed to match the current configuration unless geometric
changes are needed based on safety or engineering analysis.

 

7A



 

 

U
ni

m
pr

ov
ed

 (N
ew

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n)
 

St
an

da
rd

 2
6 

ft
 

Parking Demand If > 25% daytime or > 50% overnight, may 
widen.  If <15% overnight, may narrow. 

Traffic Volume If >1500 ADT, or if published school bus or 
emergency route, may vary from standard. 

Right-of-Way If < 50 ft, restrict parking to one side, may 
reduce width to 20 ft. 

Traffic Speed / 
Known Traffic Issue 

Measure 85th % speed more than 5 miles over posted limit  

or documented safety issues, may vary from standard. 

Is
 c

ur
re

nt
 st

re
ee

t 2
8 

ft
. o

r l
es

s 
in

 w
id

th
? 

No 
Do documented factors 

for an exception in 
Section 4 exist? 

Yes 
Rebuild as is, max 30 ft., 

unless condition warrants 
further study. 

No Reconstruct to 26 ft. 

Yes 

Do documented factors 
for an exception in 

Section 4 exist? 

Yes 
Analysis required to 

determine appropriate 
width 

No Reconstruct at current 
width 

RECONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVED STREET 

FACTORS THRESHOLD TO CONSIDER EXCEPTION 

7A



7A



7A



 

Page 48  

 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM MULTIMODAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN         

PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.2    SIDEWALKS  

DESCRIPTION 

Sidewalks are the unsung heroes of a multi-modal 
system.  They are usually the first facilities to be 
constructed and provide a backbone to a complete 
multi-modal network.  They are one of the key 
components to a walkable community and should be 
completed on both sides of all roads in an urban area.   

A community’s long term goal should be to provide 
sidewalks on both sides of the roadway along all roads.  
Sidewalks are proven to reduce pedestrian crashes and are critical to children safely walking to 
school, especially in dark conditions.  Providing a complete sidewalk network along all roadways 
is important from a safety and connectivity standpoint and the city should work towards 
completing its network. 

For the most up-to-date guidelines please refer to AASHTO’s Guide for the Planning, Design, 
and Operation of Pedestrian Facilities. 

All newly constructed and reconstructed sidewalks and shared use pathways should be in 
compliance with Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA).  Please refer to the 
Accessible Public Rights-of-Way: Planning and Designing for Alternatives guide for more 
information. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

The first priority is to provide sidewalks along all the major roadways.  In the near-term the City 
should focus on completing sidewalk gaps along S Cranbrook Road to connect to the high 
school and dog park and along S Old Woodard to connect on-street parking to the businesses 
along the corridor.  Please refer to the Network Implementation Plan for more details. 

The second priority should be to complete the sidewalk gaps in neighborhoods that already 
have an existing sidewalk system partially in place. 

The third priority should be to complete sidewalks in all neighborhoods.   

In general, sidewalks should be installed by developers when constructing or reconstructing 
buildings or homes and by local city, county or state agencies during a roadway improvement 
project.  Sidewalks should be a minimum of 5’ wide.  6’ is preferred along Collector roadways 
and 8’ is preferred along Arterial roadways.   

Please refer to Fig. 3.2A for a map of the proposed sidewalks.  

Sidewalk 

7A



   November 25, 2013 

 

Page 49 

 

FIGURE 3.2A PROPOSED SIDEWALKS 

 

APPROXIMATELY 2.5 
MILES OF SIDEWALK ARE 
PROPOSED ALONG 
PRIMARY ROADS IN THE 
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

  

Web Survey Results: 

 About 38% of respondents walk to work and/or the store daily or weekly 

 About 80% of respondents walk for fun and/or exercise daily or weekly 

 Around 79% of respondents feel a complete sidewalk system is very important to non-
motorized trips actually happening in the future 

7A



Keep Streets Pedestrian-oriented
Ch 3. Retain Neighborhood Quality

The Birmingham Plan | Draft 08/22/2256

Keep Streets Pedestrian-oriented
Streets are the most pervasive public space in a city, and  
generally, Birmingham’s streets are exceptionally beautiful 
and pleasant (See Fig. 37). However, moving cars is too often 
primary focus of street design, which results in widening to 
make driving easier. In most cases, widening neighborhood 
streets reduces their safety for pedestrians and bicyclists, 
reduces street tree canopy, and increases vehicle speeds. 
Fortunately, Birmingham has resisted calls to widen streets. 
As a result, the city retains a extensive tree canopy and 
pleasant streets to walk and bike along.

Yet today, calls for wider streets continue. If widened, cars 
will move more quickly and those streets become conve-
nient ways to cut around areas of congestion. There are 
some streets in Birmingham are too narrow, like Westchester 
Way, paved approximately 16 feet yet operating two-way 
with parking. Streets narrower than 20 feet paved and oper-
ating two-way with on-street parking should be considered 
for a change to one-way or removal of some street parking, 
perhaps widening. Most other streets should not.

Beyond the space to accommodate automobiles, street 
design must consider pedestrian comfort and safety, bicy-
clist comfort and safety, and street trees for public health.

Pedestrian comfort and safety is influenced by the size and 
location of sidewalks. Birmingham’s historic neighborhood 
standard was a minimum 4 foot sidewalk, which is insufficient 
by today’s standards. In most neighborhoods, sidewalks 
should be a minimum of 5 feet wide, and 6 feet in neighbor-
hoods near mixed-use districts or streets with multi-unit hous-
ing. The recently passed Residential Street Design Standard 
specifies a 5 foot minimum, which works for most places. 
In areas with smaller lots and multi-unit housing, sidewalks 

should be at least 6 feet wide. In a mixed-use context, side-
walks should be wider, no less than 14 feet from curb to 
edge of right-of-way assuming a paved tree lawn with tree 
wells. Shared space streets are a special exception to be 
handled on a case-by-case basis.

Today, sidewalks are missing in numerous places, which 
should be surveyed and remedied. Similarly, street inter-
sections which do not have accessible ramps to crossings 
should be remedied. These changes may cause trees to be 
removed, which should be replaced nearby to maintain the 
street tree canopy.

Bicyclist and micro-mobility comfort and safety is principally 
influenced by the speed of vehicles and availability of dedi-
cated facilities. In most streets, narrow lanes result in slow 
car movement, which provide for bike and micro-mobility 
needs. But more so than cars, frequent stopping is extremely 
inconvenient. Bicycle boulevards should be considered 
to solve this issue, arranging intersection control to prefer 
bike and micro-mobility through movement and diverting 
cars to avoid cut through movement. Strategically located 
bicycle boulevards can also be used to reduce cut-through 
traffic, such as that between Quarton, Maple, Lincoln, and 
14-Mile. Along streets with speeds above 25mph, however, 
dedicated facilities should be provided or other means of 
slowing traffic pursued.

The tree lawn is critical to street trees; sufficient root area 
results in greater canopy. Canopy health is very closely 
related with the health of residents, mental and physical, the 
ease of walking or biking along streets, and the success of 
children in school. In fact, programs exist across the coun-
try to re-establish urban tree canopies to improve the health 
outcomes of children. In neighborhoods, tree lawns should 
not be sacrificed for pavement width.

With these concerns in mind, the ideal 
roadway width will depend upon the 
right-of-way width and what the street 
should best accommodate. Lincoln is 
perhaps the most difficult decision point 
in Birmingham. It needs on-street parking 
but is also an important route for cyclists. 
Certainly Lincoln needs to sustain its tree 
canopy. And as a major vehicular connec-
tor, Lincoln must accommodate cars. With 
recent crosswalk improvements, the means 
of accommodating bicycles must be care-
fully considered. Today, Lincoln is too busy 
a street to feel safe for many bicyclists.

Standards were set for residential streets by 
the Multi-modal Transportation Board and 
City Commission due to recurring resident Figure 37. A pleasant, right-sized street in the Quarton district.

7A



Keep Streets Pedestrian-oriented
Ch 3. Retain Neighborhood Quality

The Birmingham Plan | Draft 08/22/22 57

requests for wider streets. The current policy sets a stan-
dard residential street at 26 feet from curb-to-curb where 
the right-of-way is 50 feet or greater and 20 feet with parking 
along one side where the right-of-way is less than 50 feet. 
The policy provides for modifications for a number of specific 
conditions that may legitimately require greater paving, such 
as school bus routes. Generally these standards align with 
best safety practices.

Current street roadway standards should be retained, and 
augmented to simplify the exception criteria, aligning it with 
future land use. Minor modification is also needed to accom-
modate wider sidewalks along district seams. The residential 
street standards provide a modification of roadway width 
from 26 feet to 28 feet where on-street parking is in more 
active use. Because on-street parking will be more actively 
used in neighborhoods with high intensity fabric, the stan-
dard here may default to 28 feet. Similarly, neighborhoods 
with low intensity fabric will have low on-street parking usage 
and should be less justified to allow for wider streets.

To further support pedestrian and bicycling safety, the stan-
dard residential street posted speed should be lowered to 
20 mph. Unfortunately current leglisation does not permit 
posting speeds below 25 mph. Across the world, including 
in other US states, “20 is Plenty” campaigns have reduced 
speeds on residential streets to 20mph or below. Legislative 
change is necessary to improve pedestrian and bicycle 
safety on neighborhood streets.

The main remaining issue with streets is parking beyond the 
roadway on unimproved streets as it encourages cut-through 
traffic and speeding. Once streets are improved this issue 
will be resolved.

MASTER PLAN ACTIONS
1. Update the Residential Street Standards, align-

ing the following streetscape elements with Future 
Land Use categories. Update the Multi-modal Plan 
accordingly. Additionally, Advocate for state legis-
lation permitting municipalities to reduce posted 
speed limits below 25 mph.
a. Sidewalk width;
b. Planter width and type;
c. Type and extent of on-street parking;
d. Frequency of curb cuts; and
e. Width of roadway.

2. Update the Multi-modal Plan, including:
a. Study bicycle accommodation alternatives 

along Lincoln.
b. Complete gaps in sidewalks, add accessible 

corner ramps where not already specified, and 
replace street trees which are displaced by the 
process.

STREETSCAPE BEST PRACTICES BY LAND-USE 
CATEGORY
1. Mixed-use Center: 8 foot sidewalks or wider, 

excluding a paved tree lawn area; 5-to-6 foot tree 
lawn principally paved with tree wells; on-street 
parking both sides.

2. High Intensity Fabric: 6 foot sidewalk; tree lawns 
6 feet or wider, appropriate for long tree wells or 
continuous planters; on-street parking both sides.

3. Medium and Low Intensity Fabric: 5 foot sidewalk; 
tree lawns 8 feet or wider; on-street parking on one 
or both sides.

4. High and Medium Intensity District Seam: 6-to-8 
foot sidewalk; tree lawns 6 feet or wider, appro-
priate for long tree wells; on-street parking both 
sides.

5. Low Intensity District Seam: 6 foot sidewalk, tree 
lawns 6 feet or wider; on-street parking both sides.

7A



Replace Unimproved Streets
Ch 3. Retain Neighborhood Quality

The Birmingham Plan | Draft 08/22/2258

Replace Unimproved Streets
Many neighborhood streets in Birmingham are in disrepair. 
Residents are confused about the process to improve streets, 
which is exacerbated by unique situations in two parts of 
the community.

As is readily apparent, many neighborhood streets are in 
very poor condition. The situation is historic, related to the 
standards in place as far back as each neighborhood was 
initially developed. It has been incumbent upon neighbors to 
choose to improve their streets, and pay into that improve-
ment based upon how much lot frontage they have along 
the street. To date, a significant number of residents have 
done just that, yet it leaves nearly 26 linear miles of streets 
unimproved. Most unimproved streets are easily recognizable 
in that they do not have curbs. Yet, to confuse the matter, 
about half of the unimproved streets have historic curbs. And 

lastly, there is a section of Birmingham where sewer service 
is located in the rear lot, not in the street, which requires 
special consideration when improving streets.

The City Commission convened an Ad-hoc Unimproved 
Streets Committee (AHUSC) to study this issue. In late 2020, 
the committee issued its recommendations. A high-level 
summary of those recommendations are to: 1) change the 
process of initiating street repair to be instigated by the 
City; 2) use the City’s general fund to pay for the non-utility 
improvements to streets and bonds to pay for the utility portion 
of improvements, reimbursed by residents through special 
assessment and utility rate fees; and 3) to prefer construc-
tion of concrete streets over asphalt for their longevity, with 
exceptions for low volume conditions.

With these well researched recommendations in place, 
adjustments to unimproved streets policy and the city budget 
are required, along with a strategy for prioritizing streets to 

Figure 38. Unimproved Streets, Citywide.

Unimproved Streets

Unimproved with Curbs

7A



Retain Street Tree Canopy
Ch 3. Retain Neighborhood Quality

The Birmingham Plan | Draft 08/22/22 59

improve. A consistent approach is recommended, ensur-
ing funds are regularly allocated to carry on improvements. 
From a priority standpoint, the current condition of unim-
proved streets should be surveyed to categorize the state 
of disrepair. The stormwater condition of streets is a partic-
ularly important element to consider as streets with storm-
water problems will deteriorate more quickly than others 
and work done to improve streets can also address some 
or all of the stormwater issues. To work through the list of 
repairs, consideration should be given to equitably distribute 
repairs throughout the city so that one Planning District is 
not prioritized over another. This can be done by ensuring 
that more than one Planning District receives repairs in any 
year. Some districts, like Quarton and Seaholm, are almost 
entirely unimproved and may receive a greater share of 
improvements than others as a result.

MASTER PLAN ACTIONS
1. Adopt policy recommendations specified by the 

Ad-hoc Unimproved Streets Committee (AHUSC), 
including the following:
a. Establish a yearly budget to remedy unim-

proved streets, considering the general fund 
plus bond strategy and repayment timelines 
recommended by the AHUSC.

b. Survey the current condition of unimproved 
streets, categorized by the current quality 
such that streets in the most extreme states 
of disrepair can be prioritized for improve-
ment. Stormwater issues should receive special 
priority.

c. Remedy unimproved streets according to the 
repair priority and budget, ensuring improve-
ments occur in multiple Planning Districts each 
year.

Retain Street Tree Canopy
Birmingham’s downtown and neighborhoods benefit from a 
rich tree canopy, increasing house values, public health, and 
sustainability. This street tree canopy should be protected, 
well maintained, and prepared for a changing climate. At 
present, the City works to diversify tree species, which is 
important in avoiding disease. Considerations should also 
be made to select species that will better fit the area’s future 
climate. Much of the community is well stocked with trees 
but some streets, like Brown and 14 Mile, have gaps in the 
street tree canopy, sometimes spanning an entire block.

Most substantially, the City’s commercial districts have severe 
street tree gaps, including entire streets without trees. Maple 
and Woodward have more consistent trees than elsewhere, 
with limited gaps such as Willits. However, streets like Merrill 
appear to have insufficient root area, resulting in small and 
ineffective trees. New plantings with the recent Woodward 
and future Maple streetscape projects have extended the 
root area to support a healthier tree stock, which is neces-
sary elsewhere. The Triangle and Rail Districts have few 
street trees at all and are in need of streetscape redesign. 
Plantings are especially needed in these areas to fight the 
urban heat island by shading sidewalks and roadways, and 
to provide relief for pedestrians.

MASTER PLAN ACTIONS 
1. Create a Tree Canopy Improvement Plan, including:

a. Establish comprehensive policies for trees in 
streets and open spaces.
i. Select large canopy species for streets and 

parks, native to the region and resilient for 
its’ future climate, retaining the character of 
each neighborhood’s distinctive canopy.

ii. Minimize overly-used or exotic species, 
such as Crab Apple, Honey Locust and 
Pear Trees.

b. Create 5-, 10-, and 15- year goals to expand 
tree canopy cover.

c. Study the condition of neighborhood tree cano-
pies in parks and private spaces and potential 
improvements.

d. Require that trees removed due to construction 
be replaced, as well as mandatory contribu-
tions to fund new off-site trees.

e. Prevent existing, healthy trees from being 
removed due to new construction.

f. Survey areas with constrained root area and 
establish a plan to add additional soil volume.

7A



Maple

Oak

Eton

Adam
s

Bates

Bird

Lincoln

Pierce

Cole

Fa
irf

ax

Pi
lg

rim

Torry

Villa

Su
ffi

el
d

H
enrietta

Pu
rit

an

Redding

Southfield

Fairway

Ann

Raynale

Park

Brown

Old W
oodward

G
rant

Smith

Derby

Holland

Hazel

Lake P
ark

La
ke

si
de

C
he

st
er

fie
ld

Pleasant

Elm

Willits

Quarton

C
hester

M
elton

Pembroke

Webster

Abbey

Midvale

Stanley

Larchlea

Davis

Merrill

Ar
lin

gt
on

Purdy

Harmon

G
lenhurst

Shipm
an

O
xford

Henley

Yosemite

M
aryland

Sheffie
ld

Frank

Wimbleton

Taunton

Bowers

Ar
gy

le

Haynes

Hanna

W
estw

ood Woodward

Yorkshire

Humphrey

Edgew
ood

W
estchester

C
ranbrook

Martin

Madison

C
oolidge

Windemere

W
ashington

W
atkins

C
roft

Manchester

Birm
ingham

Chapin

La
th

am

Rivenoak

Oakland

Aspen

W
illow

Buckingham

C
edar

George

Knox

Baldw
in

Forest

Avon

Bradford

Poppleton

Emmons

Linden

R
ugbyDorchester

G
reenw

ood

W
ar

w
ic

k

Edenborough

Be
rw

yn

Ruffner

C
olum

bia

Vinewood

Wallace

Penistone

W
orth

Townsend

Pine

Mohegan

Catalpa

C
um

m
ings

Banbury

Kennesaw

Shirley

G
raefield Saint Andrew

s

Ridgedale

Ferndale

H
aw

thorne

Northlawn

M
ansfield

Chestnut

Bennaville

Wakefield

Shepardbush

Lakeview

W
el

le
sl

ey

Br
oo

kw
oo

d

Hi
lls

id
e

Norfolk

W
oodlea

Br
yn

 M
aw

r

Tottenham

W
oodland

Westboro

Lewis

Euclid

C
am

bridge

G
ol

fv
ie

w

C
lark

Hamilton

Ki
m

be
rle

y

Rav
ine

Ly
on

hu
rs

t

Floyd

Fairview

Daines

Landon

Putney

Randall

Br
oo

ks
id

e

Devon

Southlawn

Colonial

O
akdale

Arden

Midl
an

d

14 Mile

Tooting

Gordon

G
reenlaw

n

Winthrop

Canterbury

Graten

C
he

rr
y

Worthington

H
an

le
yPo

lo

Kenwood

Stra
thmore

Peabody

Dun
sta

ble

Riverside

D
onm

ar

M
ill

ra
ce

Brandon

M
aple H

ill

M
erritt

Bloomfield

Lawndale

C
om

m
er

ce

O
ld S

alem

Norwich

Big Beaver

Valley V
iew

Fo
re

st
 H

ill
s

W
at

er
fa

ll

Haynes

Eton

Hazel

NorthlawnG
olfview

Bennaville

Buckingham

Bowers

Southlawn

Emmons

Northlawn

Shirley Fl
oy

d

G
ra

ef
ie

ld

Pine

Yorkshire
Ba

ld
w

in

Stanley

Lakeside
Humphrey

Chapin

Manchester

Bowers

W
orth

Poppleton

Frank

Southlawn

Villa

C
ra

nb
ro

ok

Dorchester

Ruffner

Oakland

G
le

nh
ur

st

O
akdale

2013 MMP Sidewalk Areas
Areas with Sidewalks

Areas with Sidewalk Gaps

Areas without Sidewalks

2021 No Sidewalk

Priority Streets

Neighborhood Connector Route

2021 Sidewalk Project Grant

Future Sidewalk Construction Recomendation Priorities

7A



Maple

Oak

Eton

Adam
s

Bates

Bird

Lincoln

Pierce

Cole

Fa
irf

ax

Pi
lg

rim

Torry

Villa

Su
ffi

el
d

H
enrietta

Pu
rit

an

Redding

Southfield

Fairway

Ann

Raynale

Park

Brown

Old W
oodward

G
rant

Smith

Derby

Holland

Hazel

Lake P
ark

La
ke

si
de

C
he

st
er

fie
ld

Pleasant

Elm

Willits

Quarton

C
hester

M
elton

Pembroke

Webster

Abbey

Midvale

Stanley

Larchlea

Davis

Merrill

Ar
lin

gt
on

Purdy

Harmon

G
lenhurst

Shipm
an

O
xford

Henley

Yosemite

M
aryland

Sheffie
ld

Frank

Wimbleton

Taunton

Bowers

Ar
gy

le

Haynes

Hanna

W
estw

ood Woodward

Yorkshire

Humphrey

Edgew
ood

W
estchester

C
ranbrook

Martin

Madison

C
oolidge

Windemere

W
ashington

W
atkins

C
roft

Manchester

Birm
ingham

Chapin

La
th

am

Rivenoak

Oakland

Aspen

W
illow

Buckingham

C
edar

George

Knox

Baldw
in

Forest

Avon

Bradford

Poppleton

Emmons

Linden

R
ugbyDorchester

G
reenw

ood

W
ar

w
ic

k

Edenborough

Be
rw

yn

Ruffner

C
olum

bia

Vinewood

Wallace

Penistone

W
orth

Townsend

Pine

Mohegan

Catalpa

C
um

m
ings

Banbury

Kennesaw

Shirley

G
raefield Saint Andrew

s

Ridgedale

Ferndale

H
aw

thorne

Northlawn

M
ansfield

Chestnut

Bennaville

Wakefield

Shepardbush

Lakeview

W
el

le
sl

ey

Br
oo

kw
oo

d

Hi
lls

id
e

Norfolk

W
oodlea

Br
yn

 M
aw

r

Tottenham

W
oodland

Westboro

Lewis

Euclid

C
am

bridge

G
ol

fv
ie

w

C
lark

Hamilton

Ki
m

be
rle

y

Rav
ine

Ly
on

hu
rs

t

Floyd

Fairview

Daines

Landon

Putney

Randall

Br
oo

ks
id

e

Devon

Southlawn

Colonial

O
akdale

Arden

Midl
an

d

14 Mile

Tooting

Gordon

G
reenlaw

n

Winthrop

Canterbury

Graten

C
he

rr
y

Worthington

H
an

le
yPo

lo

Kenwood

Stra
thmore

Peabody

Dun
sta

ble

Riverside

D
onm

ar

M
ill

ra
ce

Brandon

M
aple H

ill

M
erritt

Bloomfield

Lawndale

C
om

m
er

ce

O
ld S

alem

Norwich

Big Beaver

Valley V
iew

Fo
re

st
 H

ill
s

Brookdale

W
at

er
fa

ll

Haynes

Eton

Hazel

NorthlawnG
olfview

Bennaville

Buckingham

Bowers

Southlawn

Emmons

Northlawn

Shirley Fl
oy

d

G
ra

ef
ie

ld

Pine

Yorkshire
Ba

ld
w

in

Stanley

Lakeside
Humphrey

Chapin

Manchester

Bowers

W
orth

Poppleton

Frank

Southlawn

Villa

C
ra

nb
ro

ok

Dorchester

Ruffner

Oakland

G
le

nh
ur

st

O
akdale

Prioritized Sidewalk Installation
1: Major Roads, Improved Streets, & Neighborhood Connector Route

2: Neighborhoods without Sidewalks

3: Neighborhoods with Sidewalk Gaps 

4: Neighborhoods & Commercial Areas with Majority Sidewalks

Unimproved Streets

2021 Sidewalk Project Grant

2013 MMTP Sidewalk Priority Areas 
Areas with Sidewalk Gaps

Areas without Sidewalks

Areas with Majority Sidewalks

Future Sidewalk Construction Recomendations

7A



7A



12/1/23, 10:21 AM Fwd: 10/3/23 Not MI Species Webinar Recording Available - bcowan@bhamgov.org - City of Birmingham MI Mail

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?tab=rm&ogbl#search/not+mi+species/FMfcgzGwHVPSmbqWTWBxwcBvHFmwKdGX 1/1

 
Thank you for your interest in the Not MI Species Webinar Series Webinar “Where the Sidewalk Ends: Choosing
Resilient Trees for Tomorrow’s Urban Environments” that we held on Tuesday.
                                                                                                                         
You can now access a recording of the webinar at https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHr
UfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5.
 
If you attended the webinar or viewed the recording, and haven’t done so already, please take a moment to complete a short
 evaluation for the webinar at Where the Sidewalk Ends: Choosing Resilient Trees for Tomorrow’s Urban Environments-
10/03/23 Survey (surveymonkey.com).
 
RESOURCES

Michigan’s Invasive Species Webpage: www.michigan.gov/invasives
Not Mi Species Webinar Information: www.michigan.gov/egle/outreach/not-mi-species-webinar-series

DNR Tree Species Lists (Also added as an excel attachment): Recommended trees for community planting
(michigan.gov)
Michigan DNR Urban and Community Forestry Webpage (Grant Programs and other information): Urban and
community forestry (michigan.gov)
Recent canopy inventories of Detroit and Grand Rapids and more: Common Tree Species, Planting Initiatives, and
Diversity: An Analysis of Over 5 Million Urban Trees in 63 US Cities (treevitalize.com)

 

Upcoming Webinar
 
Tuesday, November 7, 9:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m.

Must You Find Another Shrubbery? Understanding the Impacts of Invasive Box Tree
Moth in Michigan

Box tree moth (Cydalima perspectalis) was first detected in Michigan in fall 2022. This

invasive pest, native to East Asia, poses a major threat to the boxwood plant, an

ornamental shrub that is a valuable part of the U.S. (and Michigan) nursery and

horticultural industry. Join Susie Iott, MDARD invasive species program specialist, to learn

more about identification, impacts and the state’s response to limit the spread of this

invasive pest.
 
Thanks!
 
Ryan Blazic
Water Resources Liaison
Environmental Support Division
Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE)
517-732-1187 | 800-662-9278
Follow Us | Michigan.gov/EGLE

7A

https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/WRD-NotMiSpecies-WhereTheSidewalkEnds-100323
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/WRD-NotMiSpecies-WhereTheSidewalkEnds-100323
http://www.michigan.gov/invasives
http://www.michigan.gov/egle/outreach/not-mi-species-webinar-series
http://www.michigan.gov/egle/outreach/not-mi-species-webinar-series
http://www.michigan.gov/egle/outreach/not-mi-species-webinar-series
https://www.michigan.gov/dnr/managing-resources/forestry/urban/recommended-trees
https://www.michigan.gov/dnr/managing-resources/forestry/urban/recommended-trees
https://www.michigan.gov/dnr/managing-resources/forestry/urban
https://www.michigan.gov/dnr/managing-resources/forestry/urban
https://treevitalize.com/most-common-trees-in-us-cities/#section1.1
https://treevitalize.com/most-common-trees-in-us-cities/#section1.1
https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_mdF0Gfu1TAumPhrPxmZd_w
https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_mdF0Gfu1TAumPhrPxmZd_w
https://www.michigan.gov/egle/0,9429,7-135-3306-388510--,00.html
http://www.michigan.gov/EGLE


 

7A



 

 

1

1

1

2

3

7

11

16

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18

buckthorn, common

elm, Siberian

mulberry, white

maple, red

catalpa, northern

maple, silver

maple, Norway

pear, Callery'cleveland select'

Prohibited Species (42)

7A



 

 

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

2

3

3

4

5

6

18

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20

linden, littleleaf

hickory, shagbark

elm, Chinese

yellowwood

Elm, hybrid 'Frontier'

oak, swamp white

lilac, Japanese tree

oak, English

ginkgo

yew, spp.

elm, American

sweetgum, American

hornbeam, European

walnut, black

arborvitae spp.

elm, hybrid

redbud, eastern

crabapple, flowering

Permitted Species Count (53)

7A



 

 

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

2

2

2

3

3

3

3

5

6

7

7

7

11

16

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18

pine, Scotch

elm, hybrid

mulberry, white

linden, littleleaf

hickory, shagbark

elm, Chinese

yellowwood

Elm, hybrid 'Frontier'

oak, English

redbud, eastern

buckthorn, common

elm, Siberian

yew, spp.

elm, American

hemlock, eastern

maple, Freeman

maple, hedge

maple, red

spruce, Colorado

walnut, black

maple, sugar

catalpa, northern

crabapple, flowering

spruce, Norway

horsechestnut, red

maple, silver

horsechestnut

maple, Norway

pear, Callery'cleveland select'

Prohibited Species or Poor to Fair Condition (93)

7A



 

 

1

1

1

3

3

4

5

13

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

lilac, Japanese tree

ginkgo

sweetgum, American

hornbeam, European

elm, hybrid

arborvitae spp.

redbud, eastern

crabapple, flowering

Good Condition, Transplantable, <= 5 DBH

7A



APPENDIX B 

PROHIBITED SPECIES LIST 
 

 

Common Name Scientific Name 

Ash Fraxinus spp. 

Boxelder Acer negundo 

Catalpa Catalpa spp. 

Common Buckthorn Rhamnus cathartica 

Common Privet Ligustrum vulgare 

Cottonwood Populus deltoides 

Dame’s Rocket Hesperis matronalis 

Elm (except disease-resistant varieties) Ulmus spp. 

English Ivy Hedera helix 

Euonymus Euonymus spp. 

Garlic Mustard Alliaria petiolata 

Honeysuckle Lonicera spp. 

Horse Chestnut (nut bearing) Aesculus hippocastanum 

Japanese Barberry Berberis thunbergii 

Kentucky Bluegrass Poa pratensis 

Mulberry Trees Morus spp. 

Multiflora Rose Rosa multiflora 

Norway Maple Acer platanoides 

Orchard Grass Dactylis glomerata 

Oriental Bittersweet Celastrus orbiculatus 

Periwinkle Vinca spp. 

Poison Ivy Toxicodendron radicans 

Poplar Populus spp. 

Purple Loosestrife Lythrum salicaria 

Quack Grass Elymus repens 

Ribes (Gooseberry) Ribes spp. 

Siberian Elm Ulmus pumila 

Soft Maple (Red, Silver) Acer rubrum, Acer saccharinum, Acer freemanii 

Succulent fruit bearing trees   

Tree of Heaven Ailanthus altissima 

White Clover Trifolium repens 

Willow Salix spp. 

Winged Wahoo Euonymus alatus 

 

7A



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

baldcypress Taxodium distichum Pyramidal Native to adjacent states Drought and flood tolerant, tolerant of salt spray, prefers acidic soil, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

beech, American Fagus grandifolia Round Native May be difficult to find in nurseries, prefers acidic soil Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

beech, European Fagus sylvatica Pyramidal, Round Non-native Drought and flood intolerant, salt intolerant Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

birch, river Betula nigra Pyramidal, Round Native
Flood tolerant, intolerant of alkaline soil, ALB host, recommended cultivars 'Dura-Heat' 
and 'Heritage'

Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

corktree, Amur Phellodendron amurense Open, Round Non-native
Plant male cultivars only (male trees are fruitless, female trees have invasive 
potential), moderately tolerant of drought and salt, flood intolerant

Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

cucumbertree Magnolia acuminata Oval, Pyramidal Native to Ohio and Indiana Showy flowers, salt intolerant, drought and flood intolerant, no serious pests Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

elm, American Ulmus americana Vase Native
Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, highly tolerant of urban conditions, ALB 
host, plant Dutch elm disease resistant cultivars, recommended cultivars: Jefferson, 
New Harmony, Princeton, Valley Forge

Currently few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

elm, Chinese Ulmus parvifolia Round Non-native Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, ALB host Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

elms, hybrid Ulmus x
Vase, Arching, Oval, 
Upright

Non-native, various hybrids between native 
American elms and European and Asian elm 
species

Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, highly tolerant of urban conditions, ALB 
host, resistant to Dutch elm disease, recommended varieties: Accolade, Frontier, 
Homestead, Patriot, Pioneer, Regal

Currently few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

ginkgo Ginkgo biloba Broad, Pyramidal, Upright Non-native
Drought tolerant, no serious pests, plant male trees only, columnar cultivars are 
available for sites with restricted aboveground space

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hackberry Celtis occidentalis Oval, Round, Vase Native ALB host, drought and flood tolerant Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hazel, Turkish Corylus colurna Oval, Pyramidal Non-native Drought tolerant, salt intolerant, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

APPENDIX A
RECOMMENDED TREE SPECIES

Deciduous Trees

Large Deciduous Trees: Greater than 45 Feet in Height at Maturity

7A



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

hickory, bitternut Carya cordiformis Oval, Round, Upright Native May be difficult to find in nurseries, edible fruit Currently very few
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

hickory, shagbark Carya ovata Irregular, Oval Native May be difficult to find in nurseries, drought tolerant, edible fruit, attractive bark Currently very few
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

hickory, shellbark Carya laciniosa Oval Native
May be difficult to find in nurseries, prefers moist soil, intolerant of alkaline soil, edible 
fruit

Currently very few
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

honeylocust, thornless 
Gleditsia triacanthos f. 
inermis

Broad, Round Native Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, no serious pests
Use sparingly, species 
currently overrepresented

Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

Japanese pagoda tree Styphnolobium japonicum Round Non-native
Drought tolerant, salt tolerant, messy fruit, potentially invasive, avoid planting near 
natural areas

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree

katsura tree Cercidiphyllum japonicum Oval, Pyramidal, Round Non-native ALB host, flood tolerant, salt tolerant, drought intolerant, plant in protected sites Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

Kentucky coffeetree Gymnocladus dioicus Irregular, Oval Native
Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, no serious pests, leaves and seeds are 
poisonous when ingested, male cultivars are fruitless

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

larch, eastern Larix laricina Pyramidal Native
May be difficult to find in nurseries, flood tolerant, prefers wet sites, drops needles in 
winter

Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

larch, European Larix decidua Irregular, Pyramidal Non-native Drought and flood intolerant, drops needles in winter Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

linden, American Tilia americana Oval, Pyramidal, Round Native Salt intolerant, no serious pests Currently few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

linden, littleleaf Tilia cordata Oval, Pyramidal, Upright Non-native Salt intolerant, drought tolerant, no serious pests Currently few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

linden, silver Tilia tomentosa Pyramidal Non-native Salt tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

London planetree Platanus × acerifolia Pyramidal, Rounded Non-native Drought and flood tolerant, ALB host, often early leaf drop due to anthracnose Currently few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maple, black
Acer saccharum subsp. 
nigrum

Oval, Round, Upright Native Salt intolerant, prefers acidic soil, salt intolerant, flood intolerant
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

Large Deciduous Trees: Greater than 45 Feet in Height at Maturity (continued)

7A



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

maple, Freeman's Acer freemanii
Columnar, Oval, 
Pyramidal, Upright

Native ALB host, moderately tolerant of salt spray, flood tolerant
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maple, red Acer rubrum
Irregular, Oval, Round, 
Cultivars come in various 
forms

Native ALB host, salt intolerant, flood tolerant
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maple, sugar Acer saccharum Oval, Round, Upright Native ALB host, salt intolerant, fall color
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

oak, bur Quercus macrocarpa Upright, Oval, Spreading Native
Drought and flood tolerant, moderately salt tolerant, no serious pests, some 
resistance to oak wilt

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

oak, English Quercus robur Oval, Rounded Non-native
Drought tolerant, moderately tolerant of salt spray, columnar cultivars are available 
for sites with restricted aboveground space, some resistance to oak wilt

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

oak, overcup Quercus lyrata Oval, Rounded Native to Illinois and Indiana Drought and flood tolerant, some resistance to oak wilt Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

oak, swamp white Quercus bicolor Upright, Oval, Rounded Native
Drought and flood tolerant, moderately salt tolerant, no serious pests, some 
resistance to oak wilt

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

oak, white Quercus alba Broad, Irregular, Round Native
Fall color, intolerant of alkaline soil, drought and flood intolerant, some resistance to 
oak wilt

Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

redwood, dawn
Metasequoia 
glyptostroboides

Upright, Pyramidal Non-native Flood tolerant, intolerant of alkaline soil, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

sweet-gum, American Liquidambar styraciflua Pyramidal, Oval Native to Ohio and Illinois
Recommended cold hardy cultivar 'Moraine', fall color, messy gumball fruit, no serious 
pests, intolerant of alkaline soil, columnar cultivar 'Slender 'Silhouette' for sites with 
restricted aboveground space

Currently few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

tuliptree Liriodendron tulipifera Pyramidal, Oval Native Showy flowers, no serious pests, salt intolerant, weak wood Currently few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

tupelo, black Nyssa sylvatica Pyramidal, Oval Native Fall color, intolerant of alkaline soil, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

walnut, black Juglans nigra Round Native
May be difficult to find in nurseries, messy fruit, can stunt growth of other trees, plant 
near trees tolerant of black walnut toxicity

Currently very few
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

zelkova, Japanese Zelkova serrata Vase Non-native
Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, no serious pests, cultivars come in various 
sizes and forms, columnar cultivar 'Musashino' for sites with restricted aboveground 
space

Currently few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

Large Deciduous Trees: Greater than 45 Feet in Height at Maturity (continued)

7A



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

buckeye, Ohio Aesculus glabra Round Native
Moderately drought and flood tolerant, intolerant of soil salt, prefers acidic soil, ALB 
host

Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

cherry, amur choke Prunus maackii Pyramidal, Rounded Non-native Drought tolerant, heat intolerant, plant in protected sites Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

cherry, Sargent Prunus sargentii Vase Non-native
Salt tolerant, showy flowers, susceptible to black knot, columnar cultivar 'Columnaris' 
for sites with restricted aboveground space

Currently very few or none
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

golden rain tree Koelreuteria paniculata Rounded Non-native
Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, no serious pests, columnar cultivars 
'Fastigiata' and 'Gold Candle' for sites with restricted aboveground space

Currently very few or none
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hardy rubbertree Eucommia ulmoides Broad, Round Non-native Drought and flood tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hophornbeam, eastern Ostrya virginiana Oval, Rounded Native Drought tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hornbeam, European Carpinus betulus Oval, Upright Non-native
Drought and flood tolerant, salt intolerant, columnar cultivar 'Fastigiata' for sites with 
restricted aboveground space

Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

horse-chestnut, red Aesculus × carnea Upright, Oval Non-native Drought and flood intolerant, tolerant of salt spray, prefers acidic soil, ALB host Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maackia, Amur Maackia amurensis Round, Vase Non-native Drought tolerant, showy flowers, attractive exfoliating bark, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maple, three-flowered Acer triflorum Oval, Upright Non-native Flood intolerant, intolerant of alkaline soil
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

mountain silverbell Halesia tetraptera Broad, Rounded Native Prefers acidic soil, no serious pests Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

parrotia, Persian Parrotia persica Rounded, Vase Non-native Drought tolerant, salt intolerant, flood intolerant Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

smoketree, American Cotinus obovatus
Irregular, Oval, Upright, 
Shrub

Native to southern United States Showy flowers, fall color Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

yellowwood, American Cladrastis kentukea Rounded, Vase Native to adjacent states Showy flowers, fall color, no serious pests Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

Medium Deciduous Trees: 31 to 45 Feet in Height at Maturity

7A



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

cherry, common choke Prunus virginiana
Irregular, Oval, Round, 
Thicket-forming

Native Showy flowers, drought tolerant, susceptible to many pests and diseases Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

cherry, Japanese flowering Prunus serrulata Round, Vase Non-native
Showy flowers, salt tolerant, drought and flood intolerant, susceptible to many pests 
and diseases, columnar cultivar 'Amanogawa' for sites with restricted aboveground 
space

Currently very few or none
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

crabapple, flowering Malus spp. Rounded Native to region
Drought tolerant, flood intolerant, moderately salt tolerant,  prefers acidic soil, choose 
disease resistant cultivars, columnar cultivars are available for sites with restricted 
aboveground space

Currently few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

dogwood, cornelian cherry Cornus mas
Multi-stemmed, Oval, 
Round

Non-native Showy flowers, showy fruit, fall color Currently very few or none
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

dogwood, flowering Cornus florida Round Native
Showy flowers, drought and flood intolerant, salt intolerant, plant in protected sites 
with part shade, requires acidic soil, no serious pests

Currently very few
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

dogwood, Kousa Cornus kousa Round Non-native
Showy flowers, flood intolerant, plant in protected sites with part shade, prefers acidic 
soil, no serious pests

Currently very few
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

fringetree, Chinese Chionanthus retusus Round, Vase Non-native Showy flowers, drought and flood intolerant, salt intolerant Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

fringetree, white Chionanthus virginicus Oval, Rounded Native to Ohio
Showy flowers, drought and flood intolerant, intolerant of salt spray, may have 
potential to become emerald ash borer host

Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hawthorn species Crataegus spp. Round Native
Showy fruit and flowers, drought tolerant, salt intolerant, many suitable species and 
varieties, choose rust resistant varieties or plant away from Juniperus  spp.

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hornbeam, American Carpinus caroliniana Round Native Salt intolerant, flood tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

lilac, Japanese tree Syringa reticulata Oval, Rounded Non-native Showy flowers, moderately drought tolerant, salt tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

lilac, Pekin Syringa pekinesis
Multi-stemmed, Oval, 
Round, Upright

Non-native Attractive peeling bark, showy flowers, moderately salt tolerant Currently very few or none
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

magnolia, saucer Magnolia x soulangeana Pyramidal, Round Non-native
Showy flowers, drought and flood intolerant, salt intolerant, plant in protected sites 
with full sun or part shade, no serious pests

Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

magnolia, star Magnolia stellata Multi-stemmed, Round Non-native
Showy flowers, drought and flood intolerant, moderately salt tolerant, plant in 
protected sites with full sun or part shade, no serious pests

Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

Small Deciduous Trees: 15 to 30 Feet in Height at Maturity

7A



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

maple, Japanese Acer palmatum
Broad, Multi-stemmed, 
Round, Weeping, Shrub-
like

Non-native Drought intolerant, plant in protected sites with part shade, rarely ALB host
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Parks, Yard tree

maple, paperbark Acer griseum Oval, Round, Upright Non-native Flood tolerant, ALB host
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maple, Shantung Acer truncatum Oval, Round, Upright Non-native Drought tolerant, prefers acidic soil, fall color, ALB host
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maple, trident Acer buergerianum Oval, Rounded Non-native Drought tolerant, salt tolerant, ALB host
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

redbud, eastern Cercis canadensis Rounded, Irregular, Vase Native
Showy flowers, sensitive species, drought and flood intolerant, salt intolerant, plant in 
protected sites with part shade, no serious pests

Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

serviceberry, Allegheny Amelanchier laevis
Irregular, Multi-stemmed, 
Narrow, Round

Native
Flood tolerant, salt intolerant, showy flowers, edible fruit, no serious pests, columnar 
cultivar 'Cumulus' for sites with restricted aboveground space

Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

serviceberry, downy Amelanchier arborea Upright Native Drought and flood tolerant, prefers acidic soil, edible fruit, showy flowers Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

serviceberry, juneberry Amelanchier x grandiflora
Multi-stemmed, Round, 
Upright

Native, hybrid of native Amelanchier  spp. Flood intolerant, edible fruit, showy flowers Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

snowbell, Japanese Styrax japonicus Rounded Non-native Drought tolerant, prefers acidic soil, no serious pests Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

witch-hazel, common Hamamelis virginiana
Shrub, Irregular, Round, 
Upright

Native Drought intolerant, salt tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

Small Deciduous Trees: 15 to 30 Feet in Height at Maturity (continued)

7A



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

cedar, Atlantic white Chamaecyparis thyoides Columnar, Narrow Native to eastern United States Drought intolerant, prefers acidic soil, no serious pests Currently very few or none
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

falsecypress, Nootka 
Chamaecyparis 
nootkatensis

Columnar, Pyramidal, 
Upright

Native to western United States Cold hardy, no serious pests Currently very few or none
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

fir, balsam Abies balsamea Mounded, Pyramidal Native Cold hardy, salt intolerant Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

fir, Douglas Pseudotsuga menziesii Pyramidal Native to western United States Moderately salt tolerant, drought and flood intolerant Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

fir, fraser Abies fraseri Pyramidal Native to southeastern United States May be difficult to find in nurseries, prefers acidic soil, no serious pests Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

fir, white Abies concolor Pyramidal Native to western United States Cold hardy, drought tolerant, salt intolerant, no serious pests Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

hemlock, eastern Tsuga canadensis Pyramidal Native Cold tolerant, salt intolerant, drought and flood intolerant, heat intolerant Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

holly, American Ilex opaca Pyramidal Native to Indiana and Ohia Salt tolerant, prefers acidic soil, marginally hardy Currently very few or none
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks (use sparingly), Yard tree (use 
sparingly)

pine, eastern white Pinus strobus Broad, Irregular, Pyramidal Native Cold tolerant, salt intolerant, drought intolerant Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

spruce, Norway Picea abies Pyramidal Non-native
Drought and flood intolerant, moderately salt tolerant, susceptible to several diseases 
and pests

Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

spruce, Oriental Picea orientalis Pyramidal Non-native Salt intolerant Currently very few or none Parks, Yard tree

spruce, Serbian Picea omorika Narrow, Pyramidal Non-native
Flood intolerant, moderately drought tolerant, salt intolerant, shelter from strong 
winds

Currently very few or none Parks, Yard tree

spruce, white Picea glauca Pyramidal Native Drought and flood intolerant,  salt intolerant Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

Large Evergreen Trees: Greater than 45 Feet in Height at Maturity

Evergreen Trees

7A



Scientific Name Common Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

cedar, eastern red Juniperus virginiana
Narrow, Pyramidal, 
Upright

Native Salt tolerant, drought tolerant Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

pine, lacebark Pinus bungeana Broad, Pyramidal Non-native Flood intolerant, salt intolerant Currently very few or none Parks, Yard tree

pine, limber Pinus flexilis Upright, Pyramidal Native to western United States Drought tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

pine, Swiss stone Pinus cembra
Columnar, Narrow, 
Pyramidal, Upright

Non-native Tolerant of salt spray, drought tolerant, cold tolerant Currently very few or none Parks, Yard tree

arborvitae Thuja occidentalis Narrow, Pyramidal, Round Native Moderately salt tolerant, medium to large tree Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

Scientific Name Common Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

pine, mugo Pinus mugo Mounded, Shrub-like Non-native Tolerant of alkaline soil, flood intolerant Currently very few or none Parks, Yard tree

yew, Japanese Taxus cuspidata
Broad, Irregular, 
Pyramidal, Upright

Non-native Flood intolerant Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

juniper, Chinese Juniperus chinensis
Creeping, Narrow, Oval, 
Pyramidal, Round, Upright

Non-native
Rust host, plant in full sun, moderately salt tolerant, drought tolerant, sizes vary by 
cultivar

Currently very few or none Parks, Yard tree

This recommended species list was compiled through the use of the references Dirr's Hardy Trees and Shrubs (Dirr, 2003), Manual of Woody Landscape Plants (5th Edtion) (Dirr, 1998), The Morton Arboretum's Tree Selector (mortonarb.org), Missouri Botanical 
Garden Plant Finder (missouribotanicalgarden.org), and the USDA Forest Service species fact sheets and website.

Medium Evergreen Trees: 31 to 45 Feet in Height at Maturity

Small Evergreen Trees: 15 to 30 Feet in Height at Maturity

7A



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

l l

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880

860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Tree Condition (136)
Good (47)

Fair (66)

Poor (22)

Critical (1)

Special Treatment Permits (12)

Landscaping & No Permit (26)

Existing Tree Conditions & R.O.W. Landscaping Conflicts

7A



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

l l

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880

860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Species Use Category
Permitted (53)

not recommended (34)

overpopulated (7)

Prohibited (42)

Tree Species Use Category 

7A



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

ll

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880
860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Poor, Fair, Critical or Prohibited (93)

Poor, Fair, Critical Condition or Prohibited Species

7A



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

ll

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880
860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Transplantable (Potential)
Good, Permitted, & DBH <=5 inches (31)

Good Condition, Permitted, and DBH <= 5 Inches

7A



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

ll

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880
860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Species Use Category
Permitted (3)

Not Recommended (5)

Prohibited (2)

Good Condition, Permitted, and DBH >= 10 Inches

7A



Birmingham Police Department
SPEED DATA ANALYSIS

7A



Birmingham Police Department
SPEED DATA ANALYSIS

7A



Birmingham Police Department
Location 1: Shirley
Location 2:  Between
Lincoln & Brandon
Start Date:  11-14-23 0.000000
End Date:  11-27-23 Averaged Daily Totals 0.000000

Combined
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

13 18 23 25 39 79 133 155 201 179 149 72 37 14 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,145

Wed
nesda

y

14 12 20 34 48 82 132 175 249 278 242 122 62 33 14 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,522

Thur
sday

22 18 32 32 58 118 156 223 268 235 186 132 48 18 7 8 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,563

Frida
y

4 7 8 12 8 12 25 47 46 54 38 20 8 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 291

Satur
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 53 55 83 103 153 291 446 600 764 746 615 346 155 65 30 13 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 04,521

South, 1
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

7 9 11 15 19 37 60 67 94 76 72 37 19 4 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 535

Wed
nesda

y

11 4 15 16 27 36 70 81 121 133 129 61 32 21 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 763

Thur
sday

17 11 19 15 28 54 69 100 109 117 97 64 24 11 4 6 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 747

Frida
y

4 4 6 5 2 7 11 19 20 21 21 9 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 135

7A

BCowan
Highlight



Birmingham Police Department
Location 1: Shirley
Location 2:  Between
Lincoln & Brandon
Start Date:  11-14-23 0.000000
End Date:  11-27-23 Averaged Daily Totals 0.000000
Satur

day
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 39 28 51 51 76 134 210 267 344 347 319 171 81 36 16 7 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 02,180

North, 2
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

6 9 12 10 20 42 73 88 107 103 77 35 18 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 610

Wed
nesda

y

3 8 5 18 21 46 62 94 128 145 113 61 30 12 9 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 759

Thur
sday

5 7 13 17 30 64 87 123 159 118 89 68 24 7 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 816

Frida
y

0 3 2 7 6 5 14 28 26 33 17 11 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 156

Satur
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 14 27 32 52 77 157 236 333 420 399 296 175 74 29 14 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 02,341

7A



Birmingham Police Department
Location 1: Arlington
Location 2:  Between
Maple & Shirley
Start Date: 11-14-23 0.000000
End Date:  11-17-23 Averaged Daily Totals 0.000000

Combined
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

5 16 18 24 35 53 74 120 126 138 104 64 47 17 11 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 854

Wed
nesda

y

6 23 58 54 76 135 138 145 172 177 136 107 61 33 13 7 4 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,349

Thur
sday

14 28 38 44 53 87 114 153 161 186 221 142 80 41 30 20 1 1 0 1 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,420

Frida
y

3 6 8 20 12 14 31 36 29 29 27 22 12 5 2 6 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 263

Satur
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 28 73 122 142 176 289 357 454 488 530 488 335 200 96 56 35 5 2 1 1 6 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 03,886

South, 1
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

5 5 5 6 12 34 43 60 61 59 36 22 16 3 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 369

Wed
nesda

y

6 14 24 23 40 73 77 80 90 66 46 32 8 6 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 589

Thur
sday

14 9 12 22 30 41 61 93 96 100 117 79 12 3 5 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 697

Frida
y

1 2 4 4 8 10 21 23 17 10 8 9 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 121

7A

BCowan
Highlight



Birmingham Police Department
Location 1: Arlington
Location 2:  Between
Maple & Shirley
Start Date: 11-14-23 0.000000
End Date:  11-17-23 Averaged Daily Totals 0.000000
Satur

day
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 26 30 45 55 90 158 202 256 264 235 207 142 39 12 9 5 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,776

North, 2
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

0 11 13 18 23 19 31 60 65 79 68 42 31 14 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 485

Wed
nesda

y

0 9 34 31 36 62 61 65 82 111 90 75 53 27 10 6 4 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 760

Thur
sday

0 19 26 22 23 46 53 60 65 86 104 63 68 38 25 18 1 1 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 723

Frida
y

2 4 4 16 4 4 10 13 12 19 19 13 9 5 2 5 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 142

Satur
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 2 43 77 87 86 131 155 198 224 295 281 193 161 84 47 30 5 2 1 0 6 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 02,110

7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



 

     151 Martin Street • P.O. Box 3001 • Birmingham, MI 48012-3001 

        (248) 530-1800  •  Fax (248) 530-1080  •  www.bhamgov.org  
 

     

NOTICE OF UPCOMING PROJECT AND  

EXPRESSION OF INTEREST SURVEY FOR STREET IMPROVEMENT  

SHIRLEY RD, LINCOLN TO MAPLE 

ARLINGTON ST, LINCOLN TO MAPLE  

 

September 25, 2023  

 

Dear Property Owner, 

 

The City of Birmingham has selected Shirley Road and Arlington Street to improve the water main and relief 

sewer, and install sidewalk. Because these streets are currently considered to be unimproved, the cost 

related to either cape seal or reconstructing the street with an improved permanent surface (concrete or 

asphalt) will be subject to a special assessment to the adjoining property owners, as has been the policy of 

the City for many years. Costs related to the improvements to the water main and sewer systems (not 

including the sewer or water laterals) are covered by the City and not part of the street improvement 

special assessment. This project will take place in 2024. 

 

Introduction:  

The City Commission adopted a modified policy related to special assessments on October 25, 2021. 

Changes were made to Sections 94-4 through 94-8 of City Code that provide for the City to initiate a public 

improvement project that may result in a special assessment to the property owners that benefit from the 

project. The main purpose for making these modifications is to allow the City to better plan and budget for 

necessary infrastructure improvements on unimproved streets. 

 

Your answers to the enclosed survey questions will help us ascertain the level of interest that the 

neighborhood has for completing the street improvement project. The answers you provide on this form are 

not binding in any way, and you will have another opportunity to express your official position on these or 

other issues related to the project at the Public Hearings that are required to be before any Special 

Assessment District (SAD) can be established by the City Commission. 

 

Upcoming Meetings:  

There will be several upcoming meetings for this project.  Because the existing street width of 33’ in the 

project areas do not match the adopted City standards for residential street widths, a street width public 

hearing will be scheduled by the MMTB and the required notices will be sent out by the City Clerk’s office. 

Below is information for each meeting, which will be held in person in the City Commission Room at City 

Hall located at 151 Martin Street.  

 

Thursday, October 5, 2023, 6 p.m.: Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB) –Sidewalk Locations  

Thursday, October 19, 2023, 5:30-7:00 p.m.: Resident Meeting  

7A



 

     151 Martin Street • P.O. Box 3001 • Birmingham, MI 48012-3001 

        (248) 530-1800  •  Fax (248) 530-1080  •  www.bhamgov.org  
 

Thursday, November 2, 2023, 6 p.m.: Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MTTB) – Public Hearing Road 

Width  

 

The MMTB meetings are also online via Zoom (www.zoom.us; meeting ID 824 7795 4435). The MMTB 

meetings will be recorded and can be watched afterward at your convenience.  

 

The resident meeting will present more information about the project, including specific design details and 

updated schedule for finalizing the design and starting construction, and allow us to answer questions you 

may have before the project initiation process moves to City Commission for consideration. Attendance is 

not mandatory, regardless of your position on these issues. However, we encourage you to attend. At your 

discretion, it may be constructive to share this information with tenants if appropriate.  

 

The final decision to proceed with the street improvement special assessment rests with the City 

Commission. It has been the Commission’s preference to hear feedback from affected property owners 

when considering their decisions. If the City Commission elects to proceed with the street improvement, 

they will schedule a date for the Public Hearing of Necessity and Public Hearing of Confirmation, which are 

required by City Ordinance for all potential special assessment districts. The City Clerk’s office will notify all 

property owners by mail of any public hearings that are scheduled. 

 

Preliminary Estimated Improving Permanent Surface SAD Costs: 

The costs associated with constructing the new, improved street section are considered to be subject to 

special assessment by City policy and precedence. Assessable costs include grading, street surfaces, 

driveway approaches, sidewalks, curb and gutter, drainage structures and final restoration. Typically, the 

City pays 15% of the paving costs, and the remaining 85% are included in the paving special assessment to 

the adjacent property owners. Based on recent similar paving projects, the preliminary estimated paving 

assessment cost is $290 to $400 per foot of frontage, depending on the width of the street, as measured 

along the side of the lot fronting the street being paved. Note that on corner properties, if the side street is 

being paved, the paving assessment will be charged for one-third of the lot length along the side street. 

Other special assessments may also apply for replacing the driveway approaches and sewer or water 

laterals that do not meet current City standards. The cost of these other special assessments will vary from 

property to property, and property owners usually cover 100% of the actual costs for the work. 

 

Interest Survey Response:  

The policy for a City-initiated street improvement project requires that the affected property owners be 

engaged early in the project design process so they have ample opportunity to express their opinions 

related to the project. This notice is the first in a series of engagement opportunities. Please fill out the 

attached “Expression of Interest Survey” and return by Wednesday October 4, 2023. The contact 

information you provide will also help assist us with future communication efforts. 

 

If you have any questions relative to the meetings, or the project in general, please contact the Engineering 

Department by email provided below, or by phone at 248-530-1840.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

Melissa A. Coatta, P.E. 

City Engineer 

mcoatta@bhamgov.org  

7A



 

     151 Martin Street • P.O. Box 3001 • Birmingham, MI 48012-3001 

        (248) 530-1800  •  Fax (248) 530-1080  •  www.bhamgov.org  
 

 

EXPRESSION OF INTEREST SURVEY FOR STREET IMPROVEMENT 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT COST EXAMPLE 

 

This example is provided to illustrate how the special assessment costs are calculated for a typical residential 
property. Assuming a 100-foot wide lot is used with a double-car drive approach (20-ft wide), and need to 
replace the sewer and water lateral (located 20-ft and 30-ft from the property line, respectively): 

 
 

Paving Assessment: 100 ft @ $300.00 per ft = $ 30,000 
Drive Approach: 200 sq ft @ $10.00 per sq ft = $ 2,000 
Sewer Lateral Replacement: 20 ft @ $100.00 per ft = $ 2,000 
Water Service Replacement: 30 ft @ $90.00 per ft = $ 2,700 

  TOTAL = $ 36,700 

Note that special assessments related to the street improvements illustrated here are payable over a 10-year 
period (with interest rate to be set at time of special assessment roll being confirmed). 
 
 
Questionnaire: 

1. Are you supportive of the project to improve the water system along your street?   

 

2. Are you supportive of the project to improve the sewer system along your street?   

 

3. Are you supportive of constructing an improved street upon completion of the underground utility 
work?            ______  

 

4. Are you supportive of constructing sidewalk along the street?    

 

 
 

*PLEASE SUBMIT A SCAN OR PHOTO OF THIS FORM TO MCOATTA@BHAMGOV.ORG BY 

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER, 2023.* 

 

Contact Information: 
 

Name:   Phone Number:   
 

Address:   Email:   
 

 

7A



Shirley Road and 
Arlington Street

Engineering 
Department

Date:  October 19, 2023

Resident Meeting

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Overview

• Existing Utilities Information

• Selecting City Projects 

• Future Utilities Improvements 

• General Construction Information 

• Unimproved vs. Improved Road Special Assessments

• Sidewalk Assessments 

• Future Steps and Meetings 

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Existing Utility Information 

• Arlington Street:

• Water: 6” Cast Iron Pipe, installed 1927 

• Sewer: 

• South of Shirley: 10”- 15” Sewer drains to Lincoln, installed 1927

• North of Shirley: 10”- 12” Sewer drains to Shirley, installed 1927 

15” – 24” Relief sewer, installed 1968

• Shirley Road:

• Water: 6” Cast Iron Pipe, installed 1927 

• Sewer: 

• 10” - 24” Sewer drains towards Lincoln, installed 1927 

• 18” - 27” Relief sewer, installed 1968 

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Selecting City Projects

• Scoring Process 
• Road: 0-100 points

• Sewer: 0-100 points

• Water: 0-100 points 

• Higher points: Required Replacement

• Max Point: 300 points 

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Utilities, Foundations, Underground Parking, and Building

Selecting City Projects

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street
Selecting City Projects

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street
Selecting City Projects

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Future Utility Improvements 

• Arlington Street:

• Water: new 8” water main

• Sewer: 

• South of Shirley: install separated storm sewer 

• North of Shirley: convert relief sewer into separate storm sewer 

• Shirley Road:

• Water: new 8” water main

• Sewer: 

• Convert relief sewer into separate storm

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

General Construction Information 

• Construction Season 2024

• Special Features in Right of Way / Special Treatment Permit 

• Landscaping

• Irrigation 

• Decorative driveway approaches

• Rear Yard Storm Drainage/System 

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

General Construction Information 

• Water Lateral Replacement

• 50 years of age or older

• Less than 1” in size

• Special Assement - 100% Property Owner:  20ft @ $100/ft = $2,000.00 

• Sewer Lateral Replacement 

• 50 years of age or older

• Material that are not acceptable for City standards (orangeburg, wedge-lok)

• Less than 4” in size

• Special Assement – 100% Property Owner: 30ft @ $90/ft = $2,700.00

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street
Unimproved vs. Improved Road

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Unimproved vs. Improved Road

• Cape Seal Special Assement:

• 85% of the front-foot costs for improvement are assessed on all properties fronting on 
the improvement.  City pays 15% of costs.

• 25% of the side-foot costs for improvement are assessed on all residential properties 
siding on the improvement. City pays 75% of costs.

• Unimproved to Improved Road Special Assement: 

• 85% of the front-foot costs for improvement are assessed on all properties fronting on 
the improvement. City pays 15% of costs

• For single family houses, if the longer side of a corner property faces the street being 
constructed, the City will pay two-thirds (2/3) of the cost of the assessment for that 
property. The property owner will be charged the remaining third (1/3). If the short 
side of a corner property faces the street to be constructed, the owner pays 100% of 
the assessment.

• The preliminary estimated paving assessment cost is $290 to $400 per foot of 
frontage, and $10 per square foot for approaches 

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Sidewalks 

• Sidewalk Assement:

• 85% of the front-foot costs for sidewalk improvement are assessed on all 
properties fronting on the improvement. City pays 15% of costs 

• 25% of the side-foot costs for improvement are assessed on all residential 
properties siding on the improvement. City pays 75% of costs.

• The preliminary estimated sidewalk costs assessment cost is $45/lft

• 100 Foot Lot: 100’ x $45 = $4,500

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Future Steps and Meetings 

• Return Expression of Interest Survey for Street Improvements

• Thursday, November 2, 2023, 6 p.m.: Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
(MTTB): Recommendation of Sidewalk Locations 

• Thursday, December 7, 2023, 6 p.m.: Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
(MTTB): Public Hearing Road Width and Recommendation of Road 
Width 

• Monday, January 8, 2024, 7:30 p.m.: City Commission: Direct 
Engineering Department to proceed with Final Design 

• Spring 2024: Special Assement Process 

7A



To: Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
From: A concerned resident who prefers to remain anonymous 
Re: Arlington/Shirley road improvements 
Date: October 5, 2023 
 
This project is special because it is a large improvement project, in both scope and expense, and one of 
the first unimproved streets to be improved since the commission adopted the Ad Hoc Unimproved 
Streets Committee recommendations.  
 
It presents many opportunities: 

• To show that the city can successfully execute on projects that require buy-in and significant 
investment by property owners.  

• To innovate on design and recognize that one size can’t fit all while also imposing some 
important standards such as street width and sidewalk installation. 

• To develop a communications and engagement template that gains as much consensus as 
possible among property owners and decision makers. 

 
It’s very important that you get it right, and I urge everyone involved to take their time. No one is 
interested in a rush job, and it’s better to do it right than do it on time. 
 
So what will doing it right look like? What will achieve the greatest consensus?  
 
Any design MUST: 

• Retain the stately character of the neighborhood. Large lots. Big lawns. Deep setbacks. 
Sweeping curves.  

• Calm traffic and reduce the appeal to cut-through traffic.  

• Provide a safe pedestrian experience, measured not by accidents or number and speed of cars, 
but by pedestrian perception. 

• Strictly limit the use of curb-adjacent sidewalks, which should be used only as last resort. 

• Respect existing trees and other significant landscaping in the right-of-way.  

• Dignify entrance(s) to park.  
 

Please consider the following: 

• Including Brandon in the project scope. This street is in terrible shape. At least cape seal it and 
improve the park entrance. 

• A sidewalk on one side, possibly crossing from side to side as appropriate; wider than normal; 
designed as a “path” or “trail” that meanders, not necessarily following property lines. 

• Speed humps or speed tables. 

• Seeking easements where necessary to preserve existing landscaping. Though this may take 
time, it is worth it if necessary. 

• Reducing the size of the two Shirley/Arlington intersections with bump-outs or small, 
landscaped roundabouts. 

• A treatment of the east side of Shirley just south of Maple, a unique condition where the right-
of-way is adjacent to rear lots and treatment varies according to property owner whim. 

• Bio-swales and biodiverse plantings where appropriate. 

7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



1/3/24, 3:57 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Multi-Modal Transportation Board

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=3bd1619bfb&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1784502620442564696&simpl=msg-f:1784502620442564696 1/1

Brooks Cowan <bcowan@bhamgov.org>

Multi-Modal Transportation Board
1 message

tony.trease@comcast.net <tony.trease@comcast.net> Tue, Dec 5, 2023 at 10:44 PM
To: BCowan@bhamgov.org
Cc: ndupuis@bhamgov.org, Lynn.Trease@comcast.net

Mr. Cowan,

 

Thank you very much for your very informative presentations at the past several Multi-Modal Transportation Board
meetings.  They were extremely thorough and well organized.  And also a huge thanks for maintaining order and keeping
the discussions on topic during the meetings while also demonstrating a professional demeanor.  Your job performance
reflects very well on the City of Birmingham staff.

 

Sincerely,

 

Tony Trease

905 Shirley Rd.

7A



12/8/23, 12:33 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Shirley and Arlington perposal

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=3bd1619bfb&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1784735868445995234&simpl=msg-f:1784735868445995234 1/1

Brooks Cowan <bcowan@bhamgov.org>

Shirley and Arlington perposal
1 message

Cheryl Pollack <cherbear1648@yahoo.com> Fri, Dec 8, 2023 at 12:32 PM
To: bcowan@bhamgov.org

 my iPhone thankyou for taking the time out of your busy day to listen to my concerns. Live on linden and also have
property on Shirley Street, I don’t know how this will affect me. It will be a financial burden to me and many others. To
have are streets torn up, construction trucks everywhere would create such havoc for the homeowners please take this
into consideration when making your decision. Cheryl POLLACK

7A



., 

Dou las and Doroth Friedel & Famil 
577 Arlington Rd., Birmingham MI 48009 

City of Birmingham 
Office of Mayor Elaine McLain 
151 Martin St. 
Birmingham Ml 48009 

Wednesday, December 6, 2023 

My name is Douglas Friedel and my family has a house at 577 Arlington Road. I 
have watched the discussion process of the proposed Arlington & Shirley Road 
construction from the beginning and I cannot believe the current level of fear-mongering, 
obfuscation, lying, and bad behavior by some of the residents of my neighborhood -
especially by the Coryell Park Resident's Association of which I am a member. I would 
like to voice my opinion as a resident of the neighborhood. 

The Multi Modal Transportation Board has done a really good job answering 
community concerns. The facts discussed during this process show that the aging 
infrastructure needs to be replaced, narrowing the roadway will reduce vehicle speeds, 
the installation of sidewalks will make walking safer for pedestrians, and removing the 
non-conforming and unhealthy trees and replacing them with new healthy trees will 
beautify the area. The arguments against these facts are an emotional plea to delay 
improvement solely for delay's sake. 

Change, by its nature, is transformative. The proposed changes in the 
Arlington/Shirley area are a good thing if you want a better & safer neighborhood. In time, 
the residents will see that the construction made the area safer, more beautiful, and 
provided better services and future residents will appreciate the City's foresight. 

There is every reason to proceed and no valid argument to delay this work. 

People only sit in shade today because someone 
else planted a tree a long time ago. 

Douglas riedel Jr. 
Birmingham Resident 

Communication received 

by the City Clerk on 

12/18/23 at 7:25 p.m.

7A



c9ntrocJfarl(eting 
737 Arlington 

Birmingham, Ml 48009 
Fax: 248-540-5000; EIN: 38-2398166 

Loretta Mirro 
248-420-8665 
lmirro@intromarketing.com

Jim Mirro 
248-420-5113

jmirro@intromarketing.com 

Communication 
received by the City 
Clerk on 12/18/23 at 
7:25 p.m.

7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



'' 

DAWD� ANN 
Dawda, Mann, Mulcahy & Sadler, PLC 

CouNsELORs AT LAw 

January 3, 2024 

TO: BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION 

EDWARDC. DAWDA 

(DIRECT DIAL) 248 642 8696 

EMAIL EDAIVDA@DAIVDAMANN COM 

RE: Residents Opposed to the Street Narrowing and Sidewalk Installation Plan for 

Arlington and Shirley Streets 

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The City of Birmingham City Commission is considering whether to approve a plan to 
narrow Arlington and Shirley Streets, and to install sidewalks on both sides of each street (the 
1
1 Sidewalk Plan11

). The undersigned are counsel for Lisa Drake and Michael Walsh, 243 Arlington 
Street, who are expressing their views (and the views of other similarly situated homeowners) and 
strongly requesting that the City defer any decision on the Sidewalk Plan so that the issues 
generated by the Sidewalk Plan may be more carefully considered. As noted below, allowing 
Arlington and Shirley Streets to presently opt out is within the authority of the City Commission. 

Over 85% of the residents on Arlington and Shirley Streets who responded to a survey 
circulated by the City of Birmingham have expressed their opposition to the Sidewalk Plan. This 
position statement was drafted on behalf o[ Lisa Drake and Michael Walsh and certain other 
residents opposed to such plan, collectively referred to herein as the "Opposing Residents", to help 
consolidate input and provide a succinct and well-developed point of view for the Cammi sioners 
to consider before such a critical and life-style altering decision i made for the residents. This 
communication is intended to help the residents provide input that only they can give, as their daily 
lives are transacted on these two streets. 

The Opposing Residents request that the City Commission not approve the Sidewalk Plan 
for Arlington and Shirley Streets at the meeting scheduled for January 8, 2024.The deferral of such 
vote is requested, and is necessary, in order to ensure the City has a greater opportunity to more 
thoroughly evaluate the long-lasting impact and potential unintended consequences of the 
Sidewalk Plan on things such as property values character of the neighborhood, loss of esta:te
sized old growth trees and tree canopies, parking traffic flow, and damage to privately installed 
landscaping. Such additional time will also allow the Opposing Residents and the ity's planners 
to meet and confer to consider whether an alternative approach can be worked out with fewer 
negative impacts. 

The Opposing Residents believe that the Sidewalk Plan as currently presented for these 
two streets is a 1

1one- ize-fits-all 11 misinterpretation by the Multi-Modal Transportation Board
(MMTB) and its planners of a walkability goal being misapplied to a neighborhood and etting 
where a more tailored and less destructive approach, one that is more respectful of the unjque 

39533 Woodward Avenue, Suite 200 • Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304-5103 • 248.642.3700 (Fax) 248.642. 7791 • www.dawdamann.com 

Clerk's Office 
RCVD 1/3/24 
at 10:30am

7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



1/10/24, 11:31 AM Fwd: Arlington Street & Shirley Road Project - bcowan@bhamgov.org - City of Birmingham MI Mail

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?tab=rm&ogbl#inbox/FMfcgzGwJchvpDcfSwTMtPclZCsGPLCP 1/2

From: Dorothy Friedel <dorothy@ddpdm.com>
Date: Tue, Jan 9, 2024 at 12:09 PM
Subject: Arlington Street & Shirley Road Project
To: <emclain@bhamgov.org>, <kschafer@bhamgov.org>, <cballer@bhamgov.org>, <ahaig@bhamgov.org>,
<bhost@bhamgov.org>, <along@bhamgov.org>, <tlonge@bhamgov.org>
Cc: Douglas Friedel, Jr. <dougjr@ddpdm.com>

Good a�ernoon Mayor, Mayer Pro Tem, and Commissioners,

My name is Dorothy Friedel and my husband, Doug, and I own 577 Arlington. We have lived in Birmingham since 2019,
when we relocated from Grosse Pointe Woods so our children could a�end Eton Academy. Doug and I both grew up on
the east side, so we had intended to move back to Grosse Pointe once our children graduated. A�er living in Birmingham
and enjoying all its ameni�es, especially the walkability, we decided to put down roots here instead and purchased the
property on Arlington in 2021.

Having sat through two previous MMTB mee�ngs and last night’s city commission mee�ng, I felt compelled to send this
email regarding the Arlington Street and Shirley Road project. Members of the Coryell Park Associa�on, of which Doug
and I are currently members, have purported to represent all the members’ opinions. They do not represent me or my
opinion; I speak for myself and no one else. I am in support of the proposal (Plan A) the MMTB put forth, which was
communicated in the survey Doug and I submi�ed several months ago. To answer Commissioner Haig’s ques�on at the
end of the mee�ng, no, my opinion would not change regardless of how the survey was worded. The facts laid out by the
city planning department show that the water main and sewers are nearly 100 years old and need to be replaced. Also,
sidewalks are part of the city’s master plan and would make the neighborhood safer for all residents of Birmingham.
These are facts, not conjecture or anecdotal.

I appreciate the amount of thought, effort, and discussion the city has spent on this project. It is not a small undertaking,
nor is it popular given the residents will be assessed and that the aesthe�c of the neighborhood will change. Ironically,
Doug and I considered not buying the property on Arlington due to the lack of sidewalks. Sidewalks seem to be a very
polarizing topic and what the residents are most adamantly opposed to, which confounds me. Walking in the street, even
if no one has been hit, seriously injured, or killed on Arlington or Shirley to this day, is not safer. As many other residents
shared, I, too, walk down Arlington and Shirley nearly every day and do not feel safe in the street. If the city decides to
move forward with installing sidewalks, those residents who feel the street is safer or prefer to walk or run in the street
would s�ll have the op�on to do so. Currently, I have no op�on to walk on a sidewalk, though; I must walk in the street.

As far as the aesthe�c change, perhaps I am a rare individual who can visualize what the new street would look like. I do
not feel that adding sidewalks on the city easement will impede my ability to enjoy our property or the neighborhood.
When we bought 577 Arlington, I did not assume that our property extended all the way to the curb. I was aware that
there is an easement and, regardless of whether I take care of or improve that por�on of the property, the city owns that
property. That is true of all residen�al proper�es we have ever owned. I would be surprised if the residents were unaware
that there is a city-owned easement that abuts all the lots. Then again, many of the comments made in the three
mee�ngs I have watched surprised me.

Also, I have never walked, biked, or driven on a newly improved road and thought it looked be�er before it was improved.
A freshly paved road, with or without sidewalks, is always be�er than aging roads with potholes, patches, and temporary
repairs. While I am not thrilled about the assessment, I understand that, long-term, improving the infrastructure and the
road will also improve our property value. At the end of the mee�ng, Commissioner Haig implied that improving the road
may cause Arlington and Shirley residents to move en masse. Regardless of what certain residents may have threatened, I
sincerely doubt that would happen, and, if it did, at least they would benefit from the boost to their property’s value and
new residents would get the benefit of the improved road.

Lastly, and most important, if the Commission decides to postpone or forgo the improvements on Arlington and Shirley,
what happens when the water main or sewers fail and residents lose water or have back-ups in their basements? What
happens when a house catches fire and the fire department does not have adequate water pressure to fight it? What
happens if a pedestrian is walking down the street and is hit by a car? Will the city bear any responsibility for having put
together a comprehensive proposal to remediate all the poten�al issues and declining to move forward because some of
the residents thought it would change how their neighborhood looked? I can foresee a �me when all the people most
vocally opposing the MMTB’s proposal will be the same people lining up to blame the city for having all the informa�on
and choosing not to move forward, if any of these issues come to pass.

Postponing or forgoing these improvements is not going to address any of the infrastructure concerns, safety concerns,
nor will it be cheaper to address them in the future. The cost of construc�on is certainly not going down, as I can a�est
to.

7A

mailto:dorothy@ddpdm.com
mailto:emclain@bhamgov.org
mailto:kschafer@bhamgov.org
mailto:cballer@bhamgov.org
mailto:ahaig@bhamgov.org
mailto:bhost@bhamgov.org
mailto:along@bhamgov.org
mailto:tlonge@bhamgov.org
mailto:dougjr@ddpdm.com


1/10/24, 11:31 AM Fwd: Arlington Street & Shirley Road Project - bcowan@bhamgov.org - City of Birmingham MI Mail

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?tab=rm&ogbl#inbox/FMfcgzGwJchvpDcfSwTMtPclZCsGPLCP 2/2

Thank you for your �me and considera�on.

Sincerely,
Dorothy Friedel

7A



1/10/24, 11:26 AM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Proposed Reconstruction of Arlington & Shirley Roads

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=3bd1619bfb&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1787710184860181352&simpl=msg-f:1787710184860181352 1/1

Brooks Cowan <bcowan@bhamgov.org>

Proposed Reconstruction of Arlington & Shirley Roads
1 message

Douglas Friedel, Jr. <dougjr@ddpdm.com> Wed, Jan 10, 2024 at 8:27 AM
To: emclain@bhamgov.org, kschafer@bhamgov.org, cballer@bhamgov.org, ahaig@bhamgov.org, bhost@bhamgov.org,
along@bhamgov.org, tlonge@bhamgov.org, jecker@bhamgov.org, Dorothy Friedel <dorothy@ddpdm.com>,
mfairbairn@bhamgov.org, clemencem@bhamgov.org, mgamboa@bhamgov.org, Brooks Cowan <bcowan@bhamgov.org>,
Nicholas Dupuis <ndupuis@bhamgov.org>

Dear Birmingham Commission Members & City Officials, 

My family owns 577 Arlington Rd.  Here is one resident's opinion based on observable and verifiable facts:

The infrastructure in the area is aging and needs repair.  
The road surfaces have deteriorated and need rebuilding.  
Adding sidewalks for pedestrians will not make the area less safe (as has been suggested).
Walking in the street is not enjoyable and is not the best method for pedestrian travel (as has been suggested).
Re-constructing the roads and adding sidewalks in this area will further Birmingham's goals of walkability and safe
travels for all users of the roads.
Installing sidewalks will not make the area less estate-like.  The area has large residential properties and sidewalks
won't eliminate this.
Replacing the dying and non-conforming trees will enhance the aesthetic beauty of the area and further
biodiversity.
The opposing opinions being voiced regarding the reconstruction proposal(s) are drummed-up by a few 'squeaky
wheels'.  Their opinions do not represent the majority of residents.

Please stay strong and know this about the vast majority of Birmingham citizens:

We are aware of how hard you work.
We know that you listen to citizens.
Many of us do not want to attend City meetings and voice our opinions verbally in front of our neighbors.
We want the Birmingham Master Plan 2040 to continue.
Approving this project will transform the area for the better and residents will appreciate the changes in the long-
term.

Change is difficult for many people and the entire City will benefit from this work.  Please make the correct decision based
on the facts and keep up the great work!

--
Best regards,
Douglas Friedel, Jr.
D&D Planning Design Millwork LLC
8646 E. 9 Mile Road
Warren, MI 48089
586.754.6500/-6501-Fax
www.boothsandbars.com

7A

https://www.google.com/maps/search/8646+E.+9+Mile+Road+Warren,+MI+48089?entry=gmail&source=g
https://www.google.com/maps/search/8646+E.+9+Mile+Road+Warren,+MI+48089?entry=gmail&source=g
tel:(586)%20754-6500
http://www.boothsandbars.com/


- 1 - 

 

Date:  January 15, 2024 

To:   Jana Ecker, City Manager 

  Birmingham City Commissioners 

 

Subject: Arlington/Shirley Alternative Proposal F 

 

Dear City Manager Ecker and Birmingham City Commissioners, 

The following pages include an alternative proposal (“Proposal F”) developed by a 

group of Arlington/Shirley residents who would like to remain very collaborative with 

the City and show that we can be successful together in implementing projects 

significant in scope that enhance our community but that also require substantial 

investment by property owners.   

Proposal F details are attached for your consideration in an effort to be supportive of 

the City’s goals as presented, to provide consideration for both City budgets and the 

financial impacts to the citizens, and to provide a reasonable alternative seeking to 

satisfy the residential majority and minority.   

 

PROPOSAL F 

Sewers and Water Mains 

This proposal supports the water main replacement and the proposed sewer upgrades 

as presented by the City. We appreciate the details that were provided and support 

having the appropriate water pressure for fire suppression as presented in the January 

8th, 2024 Commission Meeting. 

Road Surface 

This proposal supports the original Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) included in the 

23-24 FY budget for the replacement of an unimproved road with a new cape-seal 

pavement surface.  

While we understand that concrete streets have a longer life span when not disturbed,  

the commercial look of concrete would give our streets the appearance of a new 

7A



- 2 - 

 

subdivision and is not consistent with the overall character of our streets. In contrast, 

an asphalt street is much quieter, easier to repair and much more forgiving to 

occasional mishaps and disturbances from future home construction on the streets. We 

also support keeping the road as an unimproved road will maintain the City’s 

expenditure within the budgeted levels. 

Improving Perceived Safety 

This proposal supports the use of limited ‘bump-outs’ or ‘islands’ at the two 

intersections or alternative design proposals that would help calm traffic and reduce 

average traffic speeds, improving pedestrian safety. 

Walk-ability and Sidewalks 

To support the City’s desire to connect Lincoln with Maple with another sidewalk 

thoroughfare, this proposal accomplishes this with a proposed ADA-compliant, 

unconstrained-width sidewalk, running along the western boundary of Linden Park 

and connecting with the southern end of the Linden Street sidewalk.  This proposal 

would require that a crosswalk be added across Brandon Street at that limited-use 

intersection (see attached Diagram.)   

This proposal addresses the most concerning part of the Proposal A for the residents 

which was the removal of the 136 mature trees and narrowing of the street and the 

loss of the idyllic character and charm that compelled many to purchase or build 

homes on these two unique streets in Birmingham.  In addition, this proposal avoids 

significant destruction of residential landscaping, sprinkler systems, lighting/security 

systems, driveways and natural features that exist today, much of which will need to 

be replaced or repaired at the homeowner’s expense in addition to the special 

assessment being considered in Proposal A. 

To make this new alternative walking path more evident to pedestrians as a choice of 

route, Proposal F would support enhancements to both entrances to Linden Park. We 

understand this is not in the scope of the current proposal, but this could be a creative 

approach to help signal to pedestrians of another beautiful route connecting Lincoln to 

Maple. 

If there is not an available method by which to fund this sidewalk alternative and park 

entrance enhancement through assessments, the residents supporting Proposal F 

would like to work with the City to find ways to fund this much less expensive 

alternative for the City and citizens, including but not limited to fundraising or park 

donations. 

7A



- 3 - 

 

Narrowing of Street & Mature Tree Removal 

For avoidance of doubt, this proposal does not support removing the 136 trees to 

make way for narrowing the streets and adding sidewalks.  

Timing  

Arlington and Shirley streets had 10 new house projects start in 2023 and 5 more new 

house projects are expected to start in 2024. Because of this, we ask that our street 

changes be implemented after these 15 projects are completed or are close to 

completion to protect the new cape seal surface from construction traffic. We are very 

excited to finally see new street surfaces for our neighborhood, and a natural slow-

down in construction is foreseeable and provides a timely opportunity to make the 

necessary changes.  Given the size of this particular project, we feel it may take this 

time regardless to properly design, render, quote for cost, and evaluate all alternatives, 

even the one originally proposed by the City. 

Thank you for considering Proposal F, and we look forward to seeing you for the tour 

on January 20th.  We would love to show the community at-large how we can work 

together to execute very successful projects for the City and it’s citizens! 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Arlington/Shirley Collaborative Residents Group 

 

  

7A



- 4 - 

 

 

PROPOSAL F DIAGRAM 

 

 

 

 

7A



Category Yes No No Repsonse 

Sewer: 18 (23%) 26 (33%) 36 (45%) 

Water: 18 (23%) 26 (33%) 36 (45%) 

Improved Street: 12 (15%) 30 (38%) 38 (48%) 

Sidewalks: 8   (10%) 36 (45%) 36 (45%) 

Resident Survey Responses

7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



Melissa Coatta <mcoatta@bhamgov.org>

Arlington/Shirley plans
1 message

Fremont Scott <sawbone@comcast.net> Thu, Oct 5, 2023 at 9:00 AM
To: "mcoatta@bhamgov.org" <mcoatta@bhamgov.org>

 

Disagree with all proposal re Water/Sewers/Resurfacing and Sidewalks

 

Scott

776 Arlington

 

Sent from Mail for Windows

 

7A

https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?LinkId=550986


EXPRESSION OF INTEREST SURVEY FOR STREET IMPROVEMENT
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT COST EXAMPLE

This example is provided to illustrate how the special assessment costs are calculated for atypical residential
property. Assuming a100-foot wide lot is used with adouble-car drive approach (20-ft wide), and need to
replace the sewer and water lateral (located 20-ft and 30-ft from the property line, respectively):

$300.00 per ft =$30,000
200 sq ft @$10.00 per sq ft =$2,000

2,000

100 ft @Paving Assessment:
Drive Approach:
Sewer Lateral Replacement:
Water Service Replacement:

2 0 f t @ $100.00 per ft =
$90.00 per ft -S2JOO3 0 f t @

TOTAL =$36 ,700

Note that special assessments related to the street improvements illustrated here are payable over a10-year
period (with interest rate to be set at time of special assessment roll being confirmed).

Q u e s t i o n n a i r e :

1, Are you supportive of the project to improve the water system along your street?.

2. Are you supportive of the project to improve the sewer system along your street?.

3. Are you supportive of constructing an improved street upon completion of the underground utility
w o r k ? f \ 0

4. Are you supportive of constructing sidewalk along the street?.

*PLEASE SUBMIT ASCAN OR PHOTO OF THIS FORM TO MCOATTA@BHftMGOV.ORG BY
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER, 2023.*

C o n t a c t I n f o r m a t i o n :

o
'TCft fCl Phone Number:,Name:.

(
E m a i l :iAddress:.

151 Martin Street ●P.O, Box 3001 ●Bimiingham, Mi 48012-3001
(248) 530-1800 *Fax (248) 530-1080 ●www.bhamgov.org7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



7A



3
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
7
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
5
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

3
0
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

2
8
8
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

2
5
2
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

2
2
6
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

1
8
8
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

1
0
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

1
3
3
1
 W

. M
A

P
L
E

 R
D

.

5
0
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

1
3
7
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

1
0
0
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

9
7
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

9
1
4
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

8
8
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
8
2
2
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
7
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
0
8
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

6
4
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

55
0 

S
H

IR
LE

Y
 D

R
IV

E

1
1

4
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

1
3
6
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

1
4
4
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

1
7

6
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

2
0

0
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

2
3
0
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

2
5
2
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

34
5 

S
H

IR
LE

Y
 R

D

3
6
1
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

3
8
1
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

4
2
1
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
6
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
8
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

5
0
3
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

5
8
5
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

6
1
9
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

6
6
3
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
3
5
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
8
1
1
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

8
5
5
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

9
0
5
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

95
5 

S
H

IR
LE

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
8

9
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
( 

5
0

' R
.O

.W
.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

SHIR
LEY D

RIV
E

( 5
0' R

.O
.W

.)

S
H

IR
L

E
Y

 D
R

IV
E

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

W. MAPLE ROAD ( R.O.W. VARIES)

W. LINCOLN AVE.
( R.O.W. VARIES)

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

NF

N

N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

7A

ptulikangas
Engineer
EXHIBIT B - EAST6.5' WIDE INTEGRAL WALK/CURB ("CARRIAGE WALK") ON EAST SIDES OF ARLINGTON & SHIRLEY (EXCEPT ON WEST SIDE OF SHIRLEY NORTH OF ARLINGTON). HOLD EXISTING OPPOSITE CURB LINES TO ALLOW FOR POSSIBLE RE-SURFACING AND TO MINIMIZE R.O.W. DISRUPTION OUTSIDE EX. ROAD LIMITS (TOTAL PROPOSED ROAD & WALK WIDTH ~ EX. 33' B-B TYPICAL ROAD WIDTH). NARROW BOTH TRAVEL LANES TO 13' (+/-) TO ACCOMMODATE CARRIAGE WALK.

ptulikangas
Engineer
REVISED ROAD C/L & CROWN ALIGNMENT (TYP.)

ptulikangas
Engineer
REVISED ROAD C/L & CROWN ALIGNMENT (TYP.)

ptulikangas
Engineer
ROAD IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN CENTERED IN BRANDON ST. R.O.W. FOR POSSIBLE FUTURE EXTENSION

ptulikangas
Engineer
BRANDON ST.50' WD. R.O.W.

ptulikangas
Engineer
MATCH INTO EX. CARRIAGE WALK DEAD-END ON EAST SIDE OF SHIRLEY, OR POSSIBLY REVIEW NARROWNING EX. ROADWAY TO LINCOLN AVE.



1
1
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

1
7
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

2
4
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

2
6
9
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
0
9
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
0
9
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
7
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
5
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

1
5
8
9
 W

. 
M

A
P

L
E

 R
O

A
D

2
1
8
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

2
2
2
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

2
8
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
1
6
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
1
4
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
3
2
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
4
4
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

5
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

5
5
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

6
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

7
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

7
3
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

7
7

6
 A

R
L

IN
G

T
O

N
 R

O
A

D
8
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

8
6
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

8
9
8
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
2
4
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
6
8
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
9
2
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

10
40

 W
. L

IN
C
O

LN
 A

VE.

5
0
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

5
7
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

6
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

7
3

7
 A

R
L

IN
G

T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

7
7
9
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

8
4
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

8
8
1
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
7
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

10
57

 A
R

LI
N

G
T
O

N
 R

O
A
D

1
3
7
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
1
4
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

8
8
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
8
2
2
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
7
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
0
8
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

6
4
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

55
0 

S
H

IR
LE

Y
 D

R
IV

E

4
2
1
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
6
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
8
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

W.MAPLE ROAD ( R.O.W. VARIES)

W.LINCOLN AVE.
( R.O.W. VARIES)

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

NF

N

N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

7A

ptulikangas
Engineer
REVISED ROAD C/L & CROWN ALIGNMENT (TYP.)

ptulikangas
Engineer
REVIEW DESIRED ROAD WIDTH FOR ARLINGTON AT MAPLE ROAD INTERSECTION (VERIFY ALIGNMENT WITH PILGRIM AVE. NORTH OF MAPLE)

ptulikangas
Engineer
REVISED CROWN ALIGNMENT (TYP.)(REFINE W/ FINAL DESIGN TO CENTER BETWEEN LANES) 

ptulikangas
Engineer
REVISED ROAD C/L & CROWN ALIGNMENT (TYP.)

ptulikangas
Engineer
EXHIBIT B - WEST6.5' WIDE INTEGRAL WALK/CURB ("CARRIAGE WALK") ON EAST SIDES OF ARLINGTON & SHIRLEY (EXCEPT ON WEST SIDE OF SHIRLEY NORTH OF ARLINGTON). HOLD EXISTING OPPOSITE CURB LINES TO ALLOW FOR POSSIBLE RE-SURFACING AND TO MINIMIZE R.O.W. DISRUPTION OUTSIDE EX. ROAD LIMITS (TOTAL PROPOSED ROAD & WALK WIDTH ~ EX. 33' B-B TYPICAL ROAD WIDTH). NARROW BOTH TRAVEL LANES TO 13' (+/-) TO ACCOMMODATE CARRIAGE WALK.



B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BENCHMARK

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BENCHMARK

3
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
7
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
5
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

3
0
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

2
8
8
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

2
5
2
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

2
2
6
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

1
8
8
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

1
0
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

1
3
3
1
 W

. M
A

P
L
E

 R
D

.

5
0
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

1
3
7
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

1
0
0
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

9
7
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

9
1
4
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

8
8
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
8
2
2
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
7
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
0
8
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

6
4
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

55
0 

S
H

IR
LE

Y
 D

R
IV

E

1
1

4
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

1
3
6
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

1
4
4
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

1
7

6
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

2
0

0
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

2
3
0
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

2
5
2
 L

IN
D

E
N

 R
D

34
5 

S
H

IR
LE

Y
 R

D

3
6
1
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

3
8
1
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

4
2
1
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
6
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
8
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

5
0
3
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

5
8
5
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

6
1
9
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

6
6
3
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
3
5
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
8
1
1
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

8
5
5
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

9
0
5
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

95
5 

S
H

IR
LE

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
8

9
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
( 

5
0

' R
.O

.W
.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

SHIR
LEY D

RIV
E

( 5
0' R

.O
.W

.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
( 

5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

W. MAPLE ROAD ( R.O.W. VARIES)

W.LINCOLN AVE.
( R.O.W. VARIES)

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

NF

N

N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

7A

ptulikangas
Engineer
NOTE: CONDITION OF EXISTING CARRIAGE WALK WOULD NEED TO BE REVIEWED AFTER PAVEMENT REMOVAL TO DETERMINE IF IT SHOULD REMAIN OR IF REPLACEMENT IS REQUIRED. 

ptulikangas
Engineer
BRANDON ST.50' WD. R.O.W.

ptulikangas
Engineer
EXHIBIT C - EAST5' WIDE SIDEWALK ON EAST SIDES OF ARLINGTON AND SHIRLEY (EXCEPT ON SHIRLEY NORTH OF ARLINGTON, WHERE 5' WIDE WALK IS SHOWN ON WEST SIDE OF SHIRLEY). TYPICAL BACK/WALK ALIGNMENT 1' OFF R.O.W.REDUCE ROAD WIDTH TO 27' (B-B). INCLUDE ROAD GEOMETRY AND PEDESTRIAN CROSSING LOCATIONS SIMILAR TO "EXHIBIT B". SEE "EXHIBIT A" FOR DETAILED LOCATIONS WHERE CONCEPT SIDEWALK ALIGNMENT CREATES CONFLICTS W/ TREES, LANDSCAPING, UTILITY POLES, ETC.  



BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K
B

E
N

C
H

M
A

R
K

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BENCHMARK

1
1
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

1
7
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

2
4
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

2
6
9
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
0
9
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
0
9
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
7
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
5
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
.

1
5
8
9
 W

. 
M

A
P

L
E

 R
O

A
D

2
1
8
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

2
2
2
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

2
8
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

3
1
6
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
1
4
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
3
2
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
4
4
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

5
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

5
5
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

6
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

7
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

7
3
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

7
7

6
 A

R
L

IN
G

T
O

N
 R

O
A

D
8
0
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

8
6
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

8
9
8
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
2
4
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
6
8
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
9
2
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

10
40

 W
. L

IN
C
O

LN
 A

VE.

5
0
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

5
7
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

6
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

7
3

7
 A

R
L

IN
G

T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

7
7
9
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

8
4
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

8
8
1
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
7
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

10
57

 A
R

LI
N

G
T
O

N
 R

O
A
D

1
3
7
0
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

9
1
4
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

8
8
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
8
2
2
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
7
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

7
0
8
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

6
4
0
 S

H
IR

L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

55
0 

S
H

IR
LE

Y
 D

R
IV

E

4
2
1
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
4
5
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
6
3
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

4
8
7
 A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E

( 
5
0
' R

.O
.W

.)

W.MAPLE ROAD ( R.O.W. VARIES)

W. LINCOLN AVE.
( R.O.W. VARIES)

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

NF

N

N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

7A

ptulikangas
Engineer
EXHIBIT C - WEST5' WIDE SIDEWALK ON EAST SIDES OF ARLINGTON AND SHIRLEY (EXCEPT ON SHIRLEY NORTH OF ARLINGTON, WHERE 5' WIDE WALK IS SHOWN ON WEST SIDE OF SHIRLEY). TYPICAL BACK/WALK ALIGNMENT 1' OFF R.O.W.REDUCE ROAD WIDTH TO 27' (B-B).INCLUDE ROAD GEOMETRY AND PEDESTRIAN CROSSING LOCATIONS SIMILAR TO "EXHIBIT B".SEE "EXHIBIT A" FOR DETAILED LOCATIONS WHERE CONCEPT SIDEWALK ALIGNMENT CREATES CONFLICTS W/ TREES, LANDSCAPING, UTILITY POLES, ETC.

ptulikangas
Engineer
NOTE: SHOWN SIDEWALK ALIGNMENT 1' OFF R.O.W. TO BE REVIEWED/REFINED IN CONJUNCTION W/ ROAD GEOMETRY UPDATES DURING DETAILED DESIGN IF THIS OPTION IS CHOSEN.



The following includes the summary tables of speed data and vehicle counts taken from Shirley and 

Arlington December 19, 2023 to Dec 22, 2023. Additional speed data was requested from a 3rd party 

reviewer by the Police Department following the December 5, 2023 hearing with the Multi-Modal 

Transportation Board. The final report is 160+ pages and is available upon request from the Police 

Department. 

7A



 

 

 

 

7A



 

 

 

 

7A



 

 

 

 

7A



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7A



Shirley & Arlington Recorded Speed Locations – December, 2023 

 
 

 

7A



Shirley Rd. & Arlington St.
Planning & 
Engineering Division

Presented by: Brooks Cowan 

Melissa Coatta

Date: January 8, 2024

Interim Report for City Initiated 
Unimproved Street Project

7A



Meeting Schedule Summary
Arlington Rd. & Shirley Drive
• January 21, 2023 – Long Range Planning and Capital Improvements presentation with City Commission (Since 2017/2018)

• April 29, 2023  - Budget hearing and approval with City Commission

• September 7, 2023 MMTB - Preliminary review and discussion

• October 5, 2023 MMTB - Preliminary review and discussion

• October 16, 2023 - Sewer and water resident discussion with staff (informal discussion, not a formal meeting)

• November 2, 2023 MMTB – Preliminary review and discussion. Set a public hearing for road width.

• December 5, 2023 MMTB - Public Hearing with recommendation on street width and street design to City Commission

• January 8, 2024 – (Today) Interim Report for City Initiated Unimproved Street Project on utilities and street design with City 
Commission

• Hearing of necessity for Special Assessment (TBD)

• Special Assessment Approval of Roll (TBD)

7A



Existing Conditions: Shirley & Arlington
• Shirley and Arlington are unimproved streets, meaning they were

originally constructed as a gravel surface and then later treated with
chip seal surfacing

• Sewer and Water mains were installed in 1927

• 50’ public right-of-way (City property)

• 33’ wide roads, with 8’-9’ of city property on each side

7A



Existing Conditions: Shirley & Arlington

7A



Unimproved Streets Committee: 2018-2020 

26 Miles of Unimproved Roads

7A



Unimproved Streets Committee: 2018-2020 

• The committee was composed of seven total members with two 
elected City Commissioners, three residents living on an unimproved 
street from different areas of the City, one resident living on an 
improved street, and one member with a background in road design.

• The Committee held 15 public meetings between 2018 to 2020 for 
policy review and recommendations.

• Created a Final Report with recommendations which was accepted by 
City Commission on December 21, 2020.

7A



Unimproved Streets Committee - 3 Key Recommendations

1. Change the initiation process so that project initiation begins with the City 
and not the homeowners.

2. Use concrete for new improved streets and allow for the consideration of 
asphalt as an alternative road surface material at the determination of the 
City Engineer when reviewing such factors as long term costs, maintenance 
requirements, limited use areas such as courts and dead end streets that 
experience considerably less traffic counts.

3. Use General Fund transfers to fund just the road component of the 
improvement with bonds providing the funding for the water and sewer 
improvements. 

7A



Procedure for City Street Improvements  - October 25, 2021

Muni-Code Section 94-4: Initiation of improvement by Commission.

a.) Proceedings for making public improvements within the city may be commenced by 
resolution of the city commission, on its own initiative, making the improvement and 
special assessment mandatory.

b.) In order to ascertain what level of support exists among property owners to be 
assessed for a special improvement, the city commission may choose to direct staff to 
circulate an expression of interest form.

c.) The commission shall carefully consider any petition or expression of interest forms 
received, but both petitions and expression of interest forms shall be advisory only. 
Petitions or expression of interest forms shall in no event be mandatory upon the 
commission.

7A



Procedure for City Street Improvements  - October 25, 2021

Muni-Code Section 94-6: City Engineer’s Report

(a) Before the commission shall decide on making any public 
improvements, whether initiated by commission or property owners 
through the petition process, the city engineer shall prepare and 
submit a preliminary report to the city commission …

7A



7A



Engineering Report: Utilities and Infrastructure

• Existing Conditions of Sewer Mains, Water Mains, and Roads

• Infrastructure Scoring Process

• Proposed Enhancements

7A



Existing Utility Information 

• Arlington Street:

• Water: 6” Cast Iron Pipe, installed 1927 

• Sewer: 

• South of Shirley: 10”- 15” Sewer drains to Lincoln, installed 1927

• North of Shirley: 10”- 12” Sewer drains to Shirley, installed 1927 

15” – 24” Relief sewer, installed 1968

• Shirley Road:

• Water: 6” Cast Iron Pipe, installed 1927 

• Sewer: 

• 10” - 24” Sewer drains towards Lincoln, installed 1927 

• 18” - 27” Relief sewer, installed 1968 

7A



Existing Utility Information 
• Water pipes from 2023 Pierce Street Project (Installed 1920s) 

7A



Selecting City Projects

Scoring Process 
• Road: 0-100 points

• Sewer: 0-100 points

• Water: 0-100 points 

• Higher points: Required Replacement

• Max Point: 300 points 

• Proximity, staging, and traffic management 
taken into account

• Majority of streets in red are scheduled in 
CIP within next 5-7 years

7A



Selecting City Projects

Infrastructure Ratings (300 = Max Total Block Rating) 

Roadsoft Block Name
Street (GIS 
Block Name)

Begin End Road Type
2021 Water 

Points (0-100)
2019 Sewer 

Points (0-100)
Road Points                

(0-100)
Total Block Rating 

(0-300)

ARLINGTON  SHIRLEY  LINCOLN ARLINGTON SHIRLEY LINCOLN Unimproved 81 75 60 220

SHIRLEY  ARLINGTON  LINCOLN SHIRLEY ARLINGTON LINCOLN Unimproved 79 75 50 209

SHIRLEY  MAPLE  ARLINGTON SHIRLEY MAPLE ARLINGTON Unimproved 71 72 60 207

ARLINGTON  SHIRLEY ARLINGTON SHIRLEY SHIRLEY Unimproved 76 75 50 206

ARLINGTON  SHIRLEY  MAPLE ARLINGTON SHIRLEY MAPLE Unimproved 40 72 50 167

7A



Selecting City Projects -Pavement Surface Evaluation and Rating (PASER)

7A



Selecting City Projects
- Road Conditions

7A



Selecting City Projects – Water Pressure

7A



Selecting City Projects – Water Pressure

7A



Selecting City Projects – Sewer Flow

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Utility Improvement Recommendations

• Arlington Street:

• Water: new 8” water main

• Sewer: 

• South of Shirley: install separated storm sewer 

• North of Shirley: convert relief sewer into separate storm sewer 

• Shirley Road:

• Water: new 8” water main

• Sewer: 

• Convert relief sewer into separate storm

7A



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Infrastructure Improvements 

• Arlington Street & Shirley Road :

• Convert Unimproved Street to Improved Street with the following 
enhancements:

• Concrete surface with aggregate base

• Curbs 

• 26’ road width

• New 5’ ADA compliant sidewalks on each side of the road

• *Road dimensions and sidewalks reviewed and recommended by the 
Multi-Modal Transportation Board

7A



Framework for Staff Recommendations
• Complete Streets Resolution (July 2011)

• “NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Birmingham City Commission 
hereby declares its support of Complete Streets policies and further directs City staff 
to develop a set of proposed policies and procedures to implement Complete Streets 
practices to make the City more accommodating to all modes of travel, including 
walkers, bicyclists and transit riders, of all ages and abilities.

• Multi-Modal Transportation Plan (2013)
• Inclusive right-of-way for all ages and modes of transportation.

• 2040 Master Plan (2023)
• Connect the Neighborhoods – Chapter 3

• Residential Street Width Standards (2018)
• The purpose of this standard is to provide consistent street widths throughout the city but 

with flexibility for very specific situations.

7A



Multi-Modal Transportation Plan (2013)
Section 3.2 – Sidewalks (Pg. 48)

• Sidewalks are the unsung heroes of a multi-modal system. They are usually
the first facilities to be constructed and provide a backbone to a complete
multi-modal network.

• A community’s long term goal should be to provide sidewalks on both sides of
the roadway along all roads. Sidewalks are proven to reduce pedestrian
crashes and are critical to children safely walking to school, especially in dark
conditions. Providing a complete sidewalk network along all roadways is
important from a safety and connectivity standpoint and the city should work
towards completing its network.

• In general, sidewalks should be installed by developers when constructing or
reconstructing buildings or homes and by local city, county or state agencies
during a roadway improvement project.

7A



Multi-Modal Transportation Plan (2013)

7A



7A



2040 Master Plan “The Birmingham Plan” (2023)

Chapter 3: Retain Neighborhood Quality, Keep Streets Pedestrian-Oriented
(Pg. 56)

• Beyond the space to accommodate automobiles, street design must consider
pedestrian comfort and safety, bicyclist comfort and safety, and street trees for
public health.

• Today, sidewalks are missing in numerous places, which should be surveyed and
remedied. Similarly, street intersections which do not have accessible ramps to
crossings should be remedied. These changes may cause trees to be removed,
which should be replaced nearby to maintain the street tree canopy.

• The tree lawn is critical to street trees; sufficient root area results in greater
canopy. Canopy health is very closely related with the health of residents, mental
and physical, the ease of walking or biking along streets, and the success of
children in school.

7A



2040 Master Plan “The Birmingham Plan” (2023)
Chapter 3: Retain Neighborhood Quality, Keep Streets Pedestrian-Oriented (Pg. 56)

Figure 37. A pleasant, right-sized street in the Quarton district.7A



2040 Master Plan “The Birmingham Plan” (2023)

Chapter 3: Retain Neighborhood Quality, Replace Unimproved Streets (Pg. 58)

• Establish a yearly budget to remedy unimproved streets, considering the general 
fund plus bond strategy and repayment timelines recommended by the AHUSC.

• Survey the current condition of unimproved streets, categorized by the current 
quality such that streets in the most extreme states of disrepair can be prioritized 
for improvement. Stormwater issues should receive special priority.

• Remedy unimproved streets according to the repair priority and budget, ensuring 
improvements occur in multiple Planning Districts each year.

7A



2040 Master Plan “The Birmingham Plan” (2023)
Chapter 3: Retain Neighborhood Quality, Replace Unimproved Streets (Pg. 58)

7A



2040 Master Plan “The Birmingham Plan” (2023)

Chapter 3: Retain Neighborhood Quality, Retain Street Tree Canopy (Pg. 59)

• Birmingham’s downtown and neighborhoods benefit from a rich tree canopy, 
increasing house values, public health, and sustainability. 

• Establish comprehensive policies for trees in streets and open spaces.
• Select large canopy species for streets and parks, native to the region and resilient for its’ 

future climate, retaining the character of each neighborhood’s distinctive canopy.

• Minimize overly-used or exotic species, such as Crab Apple, Honey Locust and Pear Trees.

7A



Residential Street Width Standards

• The City of Birmingham approved a residential street standard in October 
2018
• Staff coordinated with professional traffic consultants and reviewed best practices for 

residential roads from the Transportation Research Board, the Institute of 
Transportation Engineers, the Urban Land Institute, the National Association of City 
Transportation Officials (NACTO), and the American Association of State Highway and 
Transportation Officials (AASHTO). 

• Residential street standard is 26’ wide (28’ back-of-curb to back-of-curb)

• Includes list of factors for evaluation to consider for possible exceptions to 
the standard  (Developed 2018)

7A



7A



7A



Example of 26’ Wide Improved Street – Mohegan Ave (50’ R.O.W.)

7A



Example of 26’ Wide Improved Street – Smith Ave (50’ R.O.W.)

7A



Example of 26’ Wide Improved Street – Villa Rd (50’ R.O.W.)

7A



Example of 26’ Wide Improved Street – Ridgedale Ave (50’ R.O.W.)

7A



Surrounding Area
• Fairway Park

• Rouge Trail

• Quarton Lake

• Crosswalk at Lakeview & Maple

• Crosswalk at Lincoln & Shirley

7A



MMTB Review: Existing Conditions
• 33’ street width
• No sidewalks
• 50’ public right-of-way
• Wide pavement at 

intersections of Shirley of 
Arlington

• No crosswalks at stop sign 
intersections of Shirley & 
Arlington

• Trees and landscaping in the 
public right-of-way

7A



Sidewalk Issues – Natural Features in the R.O.W.

7A



Sidewalk Issues – Natural Features in the R.O.W.
(Central Discussion Point of MMTB)
• Birmingham’s Department of Public Services (DPS) forestry staff 

coordinates with Davey Environmental on managing all City trees in the 
public right-of-way

• Davey Environmental’s professional Arborists have provided the City an 
inventory of all street trees on public property and manages all of the 
data in Treekeeper for the City to use

• An expedited review of all trees on Shirley and Arlington was 
conducted in early November 2023 for analysis.

7A



Sidewalk Issues – Trees in the R.O.W
• Zoning Ordinance Article 4, Section 4.20, Landscaping Standards

• (D)(4) Prohibited Species:

The following plants and tree materials are specifically prohibited due to their 
brittleness, susceptibility to disease and insects, excessive root structure, 
excessive litter, susceptibility to road salt damage or other undesirable traits. Any 
existing prohibited species may not be replaced. A representative list of 
prohibited species is provided below. 

*The Staff Arborist maintains a complete list of all of the prohibited species.

• Following proper Special Treatment Permit process prevents such species from being 
planted in public right-of-way

7A

https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=645
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=628


Sidewalk Issues – Trees in the R.O.W

• Species recommendations align with the State’s Department of 
Natural Resources recommendations (DNR)

• See Michigan DNR’s webinar “Not MI Species” titled “Where the 
Sidewalk Ends: Choosing Resilient Trees for Tomorrow’s Urban 
Environment”

• Staff toured Shirley and Arlington with Michigan DNR Arborist

• Removing prohibited species and trees in poor to fair condition 
and replacing them with permitted species does not jeopardize 
Birmingham’s status with “Tree City USA”

7A

https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5


APPENDIX B 

PROHIBITED SPECIES LIST 
 

 

Common Name Scientific Name 

Ash Fraxinus spp. 

Boxelder Acer negundo 

Catalpa Catalpa spp. 

Common Buckthorn Rhamnus cathartica 

Common Privet Ligustrum vulgare 

Cottonwood Populus deltoides 

Dame’s Rocket Hesperis matronalis 

Elm (except disease-resistant varieties) Ulmus spp. 

English Ivy Hedera helix 

Euonymus Euonymus spp. 

Garlic Mustard Alliaria petiolata 

Honeysuckle Lonicera spp. 

Horse Chestnut (nut bearing) Aesculus hippocastanum 

Japanese Barberry Berberis thunbergii 

Kentucky Bluegrass Poa pratensis 

Mulberry Trees Morus spp. 

Multiflora Rose Rosa multiflora 

Norway Maple Acer platanoides 

Orchard Grass Dactylis glomerata 

Oriental Bittersweet Celastrus orbiculatus 

Periwinkle Vinca spp. 

Poison Ivy Toxicodendron radicans 

Poplar Populus spp. 

Purple Loosestrife Lythrum salicaria 

Quack Grass Elymus repens 

Ribes (Gooseberry) Ribes spp. 

Siberian Elm Ulmus pumila 

Soft Maple (Red, Silver) Acer rubrum, Acer saccharinum, Acer freemanii 

Succulent fruit bearing trees   

Tree of Heaven Ailanthus altissima 

White Clover Trifolium repens 

Willow Salix spp. 

Winged Wahoo Euonymus alatus 

 

7A



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

baldcypress Taxodium distichum Pyramidal Native to adjacent states Drought and flood tolerant, tolerant of salt spray, prefers acidic soil, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

beech, American Fagus grandifolia Round Native May be difficult to find in nurseries, prefers acidic soil Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

beech, European Fagus sylvatica Pyramidal, Round Non-native Drought and flood intolerant, salt intolerant Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

birch, river Betula nigra Pyramidal, Round Native
Flood tolerant, intolerant of alkaline soil, ALB host, recommended cultivars 'Dura-Heat' 
and 'Heritage'

Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

corktree, Amur Phellodendron amurense Open, Round Non-native
Plant male cultivars only (male trees are fruitless, female trees have invasive 
potential), moderately tolerant of drought and salt, flood intolerant

Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

cucumbertree Magnolia acuminata Oval, Pyramidal Native to Ohio and Indiana Showy flowers, salt intolerant, drought and flood intolerant, no serious pests Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

elm, American Ulmus americana Vase Native
Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, highly tolerant of urban conditions, ALB 
host, plant Dutch elm disease resistant cultivars, recommended cultivars: Jefferson, 
New Harmony, Princeton, Valley Forge

Currently few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

elm, Chinese Ulmus parvifolia Round Non-native Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, ALB host Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

elms, hybrid Ulmus x
Vase, Arching, Oval, 
Upright

Non-native, various hybrids between native 
American elms and European and Asian elm 
species

Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, highly tolerant of urban conditions, ALB 
host, resistant to Dutch elm disease, recommended varieties: Accolade, Frontier, 
Homestead, Patriot, Pioneer, Regal

Currently few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

ginkgo Ginkgo biloba Broad, Pyramidal, Upright Non-native
Drought tolerant, no serious pests, plant male trees only, columnar cultivars are 
available for sites with restricted aboveground space

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hackberry Celtis occidentalis Oval, Round, Vase Native ALB host, drought and flood tolerant Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hazel, Turkish Corylus colurna Oval, Pyramidal Non-native Drought tolerant, salt intolerant, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

APPENDIX A
RECOMMENDED TREE SPECIES

Deciduous Trees

Large Deciduous Trees: Greater than 45 Feet in Height at Maturity

7A



Sidewalk Issues – Trees in the R.O.W.

7A



Sidewalk Issues – Trees in the R.O.W.

Silver Maple Stump 
– rots from the inside

7A



Sidewalk Issues – Trees in the R.O.W.

7A



Sidewalk Issues – Trees in the R.O.W.

7A



Sidewalk Issues – Trees in the R.O.W.

7A



Maple

Lincoln

Arlington

Aspen

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

Pleasant

Latham

W
at

er
fa

ll

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

1589

444

400

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880
860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Tree Condition (136)
Good (47)

Fair (66)

Poor (22)

Critical (1)

Special Treatment Permits (11)

Landscaping & No Permit (27)

Existing Tree Conditions & R.O.W. Landscaping Conflicts

7A



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

l l

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880

860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Species Use Category
Permitted (53)

not recommended (34)

overpopulated (7)

Prohibited (42)

Tree Species Use Category 

7A



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

ll

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880
860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Poor, Fair, Critical or Prohibited (93)

Poor, Fair, Critical Condition or Prohibited Species

7A



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

ll

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880
860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Transplantable (Potential)
Good, Permitted, & DBH <=5 inches (31)

Good Condition, Permitted, and DBH <= 5 Inches

7A



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

ll

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880
860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Species Use Category
Permitted (3)

Not Recommended (5)

Prohibited (2)

Good Condition, Permitted, and DBH >= 10 Inches

7A



Mature Trees in Good Condition

Hybrid Elm American Sweetgum American Elm

7A



Mature Trees in Good Condition Near Property Line

Beech Tree Beech Tree Beech Tree

7A



Mature Trees in Good Condition Near Property Line

River Birch Hickory Shagbark

7A



Exceptions to Residential Street Width Standards
• Any modification must be consistent with the Intent of these standards and the engineering publications upon which they 

are based. Street width exceptions may only be approved to a minimum of 20 ft. and a maximum of 30ft. If residents express 
a desire for a non-standard street width at a public meeting or through a public survey of street residents, those preferences 
shall be considered (either wider or narrower) Modifications to street widths may only be considered if one or more of the 
following conditions exist:

• High or low frequency of use of on-street parking. When surveyed on-street parking is utilized 15% or less overnight, 
the width may be reduced. When parking density is classified as highly utilized, defined as over 25% occupancy 
throughout the day or more than 50% of the available curb space used overnight, the width may be increased. For 
calculation of parking, a minimum length of 22 ft. shall be used and not include driveways, spaces adjacent to fire 
hydrants, or other locations where parking is not allowed.

• Daily traffic volumes exceed 1500 vehicles.

• The street is a published school bus route used by the Birmingham Public Schools or is a frequent emergency response 
route.

• Street is adjacent to a school, religious institution, City park, multiple-family residential development, or other use with 
access that generates higher traffic volumes.

• Presence of street trees, especially healthy, mature trees, such that rebuilding the road as proposed would result in the 
removal of two or more trees on any given block.

• A speed study confirms that the 85th percentile speed is more than 5 miles per hour over the posted speed limit and/or 
city police or engineering departments have documented operational or safety concerns related to traffic patterns 
along the street.

• Street may be as narrow as 20 ft. with parking on one side only if right-of-way is less than 50 ft.

7A



Review of modifications to street width requirements:

• High or low frequency of use of on-street parking. When surveyed on-street parking is utilized 15% or less 
overnight, the width may be reduced. When parking density is classified as highly utilized, defined as over 
25%occupancy throughout the day or more than 50% of the available curb space used overnight, the width 
may be increased. For calculation of parking, a minimum length of 22 ft. shall be used and not include 
driveways, spaces adjacent to fire hydrants, or other locations where parking is not allowed.

• Thursday November 9 to Saturday November 11, 2023 = 11% daytime to 0% nighttime, therefore NO

Arlington Arlington

Parking Counts 10am 2pm 12am Parking Occupancy 10am 2pm 12am

Thursday 11.09.23 32 36 0 Thursday 11.09.23 9% 10% 0%

Friday 11.10.23 39 30 0 Friday 11.10.23 11% 8% 0%

Saturday 11.11.23 3 3 0 Saturday 11.11.23 1% 1% 0%

Shirley Shirley

Parking Counts 10am 2pm 12am Parking Occupancy 10am 2pm 12am

Thursday 11.09.23 23 17 2 Thursday 11.09.23 6% 5% 1%

Friday 11.10.23 21 15 1 Friday 11.10.23 6% 4% 0%

Saturday 11.11.23 6 8 4 Saturday 11.11.23 2% 2% 1%

7A



Review of modifications to street width requirements:

• Daily traffic volumes exceed 1500 vehicles. 

• Vehicle counts taken November 14th, 2023 to November 17th, 2023

• Shirley: range of 291-1,522 daily traffic volume, therefore YES

• Arlington: range of 263-1,420 daily traffic volume, therefore NO

7A



Review of modifications to street width requirements:

• The street is a published school bus route used by the Birmingham Public Schools or is a frequent emergency 
response route. 

• Shirley and Arlington are used as public school bus routes, therefore YES

• Street is adjacent to a school, religious institution, City park, multiple-family residential development, or 
other use with access that generates higher traffic volumes. 

• Shirley is adjacent to a City park, but there is no parking lot generating vehicle traffic, therefore NO

• Presence of street trees, especially healthy, mature trees, such that rebuilding the road as proposed would 
result in the removal of two or more trees on any given block. 

• Narrowing the road from 33’ to 26’ wide would not impact existing trees, therefore NO

(This standard does not consider sidewalks)

7A



Review of modifications to street width requirements:
• A speed study confirms that the 85th percentile speed 

is more than 5 miles per hour over the posted speed 
limit and/or city police or engineering departments 
have documented operational or safety concerns 
related to traffic patterns along the street.
• Shirley: 85th Percentile November 2023 = 30 mph, 

therefore YES
• Arlington: 85th Percentile November 2023 = 32 

mph, therefore YES
• 85th Percentile speeds of 5-7 mph makes City 

Police & Engineering MORE inclined to narrow 
the road 

• Cannot put speed bumps on an unimproved 
road

• Street may be as narrow as 20 ft. with parking on one 
side only if right-of-way is less than 50 ft. 
• Right-of-way = 50ft, therefore NO

7A



Another Speed Study mid December 2023

7A



Survey Responses 
• 80 Total properties

• 44 Survey responses – 55% (Some multiple)

• Sec. 94-4. - Initiation of improvement.
• (1) The commission, in order to ascertain whether 

or not a satisfactory number of property owners 
to be assessed desire any particular improvement 
to be made, may request and receive a petition 
therefore, or may receive a petition voluntarily 
presented.

• (2) The commission shall carefully consider any 
petition received, but petitions shall be advisory 
only and shall not be jurisdictional. Petitions shall 
in no event be mandatory upon the commission.

7A



Exhibit A
• City Standard

• Maximizes 50’ R.O.W.

• Complete Streets Design
• 26’ street width (28’ total)

• 6’ greenbelt for trees

• 5’ sidewalk along property line

• Potentially transplant 31-38 trees

• 200-250 new trees would be 
planted

7A



Exhibit A
• City Standard

• Maximizes 50’ R.O.W.

• Complete Streets Design
• 26’ street width (28’ total)

• 6’ greenbelt for trees

• 5’ sidewalk along property line

• Potentially transplant 31-38 trees

• 200-250 new trees would be 
planted

7A



Exhibit A

7A



Exhibit A Example – Mohegan Ave

7A



Exhibit B

• Within existing 33’ wide 
street

• 6.5’ wide “carriage sidewalk” 
along street

• City standard 26’ wide street

• Saves existing landscape

7A



Exhibit B Example – Shirley at Lincoln

7A



Exhibit C

• 39’ -40’ width total

• 5’ sidewalk on one side of the 
street

• City standard 26’ wide street

• Some existing landscape 
removed

• Curb lawn and new trees on 
side with new sidewalk

7A



Exhibit C Example – Hawthorne

7A



Exhibit D

• No changes to existing 
33’ road dimensions

7A



Exhibit D Example – Shirley 

7A



Finance & Budgeting
Ad-Hoc Unimproved Streets Study Committee Recommendations

• (#3) Use General Fund transfers to fund just the road component of the 
improvement with bonds providing the funding for the water and sewer 
improvements. 
• The Committee agrees that the billing process should remain unchanged.

• To recommend that all street improvements shall be charged to residents in the 
same percentages as the City currently uses. 

• Because the policy for funding the conversion of unimproved streets to improved 
streets has been done through special assessment dating back to the 1940’s, a 
change in the policy to eliminate special assessment and share costs among all 
residents now would charge many properties twice; once for the improvement 
on their own street when it was completed and again for improvements to other 
streets now. As a result, the committee did not support eliminating the special 
assessment process.

7A



Finance & Budgeting
Projected Costs

• Concrete improved road - $3,300,000

• Sewer – $390,000

• Water – $1,700,000

• Sidewalks - $500,000

• Amend budget to move money from General Fund to Local Streets Fund 
and follow standard Special Assessment process
• Special Assessment will reimburse City over time for a portion of the cost

• Aligns with recommendation by the Unimproved Streets Study Committee Final 
Report

7A



Concerns Considered During Review
•On-street parking 

• Home construction 

• Private landscaping on public property

• Street Trees

• Character of the area

• Sidewalks are more dangerous than the street

• Sustainability

• Cost

7A



Summary of City Plans and Policy for 
Recommendation Guidelines

• Ad-Hoc Unimproved Streets Committee – 15 meetings 2018-2020

• Procedure for Street Improvements amendment – October 25, 2021 

• Residential Street Width Policy – 4 meetings 2018

• Multi-Modal Transportation Plan – 21 meetings 2012-2013

• The Birmingham Plan 2040 – 45 meetings 2019-2023

• Birmingham Prohibited and Permitted Tree Species List

• Multi-Modal Transportation Board Review and Recommendation – 4 meetings 
2023

• Political willpower

7A



City Staff Recommendations
• Be PROACTIVE, not reactive, and follow goals of City policy

• Think long-term for future generations

• Pursue Complete Streets Policy within the City’s 50’ R.O.W.

• Pursue Exhibit A as an improved street 
• Concrete surface
• 26’ street width
• 5’ Sidewalks along property line 
• Curblawn for trees

• Coordinate with residents on mature trees and transplantable trees

• Plant 200-250 new permitted trees expected to last for generations

• Provide safe space that is separated from the vehicular lanes for all ages 
and abilities

7A



MEMORANDUM 
Treasury 

DATE: January 22, 2024 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Ryan Katz, Deputy Treasurer 
Mark Gerber, Finance Director/Treasurer 

SUBJECT: Confirmation of SAD Roll 907 Edgewood Road Project – Water and Sewer
Laterals 

INTRODUCTION: 
A public hearing on the confirmation of the special assessment roll for the Edgewood Road Project 
is being held on January 22, 2024. The special assessment will reimburse the City for 
improvements made. If the City Commission approves the roll, the property owners who benefit 
from these improvements will be billed for the cost of the improvements. 

Comments during the hearing of confirmation are limited to those questions specifically 
addressing the assessment roll pursuant to Section 94-9 of the City Code. 

BACKGROUND: 
At the City Commission meeting on January 8, 2024, the City Commission determined the 
necessity of the Edgewood Road Project and a Hearing of Confirmation of the Special Assessment 
Roll was set for January 22, 2024. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has reviewed the suggested resolution for compliance with City Code.  The 
purpose of this hearing is to review and hear any objections to the Special Assessment Roll.  The 
Special Assessment Roll is a listing of all of the properties to be assessed for the improvements 
to the property. Pursuant to the City Code at section 94-9, whenever a Special Assessment Roll 
shall be confirmed by the City Commission, it should be final and conclusive. 

FISCAL IMPACT:
If confirmed, the preliminary assessment roll would be $110,014.00. The cost per foot for 
sanitary sewer lateral/lead ranged from $102.00 to $170.00.  The Engineering Department is in
the process of checking references of the apparent two low bidders and using the higher 
pricing between the two. Once the project is completed and final costs are known, the roll will be 
adjusted 

8A



2 

to actual costs as provided by City Code. Property owners have five (5) years to pay the special 
assessment. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
N/A 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Property owners were notified by mail of the public hearing dates. If the City Commission confirms 
the Special Assessment Rolls, the Treasurer’s office will notify the property owners in the Special 
Assessment District of the confirmation and the lien on their property. 

SUMMARY: 
The Treasurer’s office recommends that the City Commission conduct the public hearing of 
confirmation of Special Assessment District 907 and further to confirm the rolls as attached to 
this report. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Proposed Special Assessment Roll

Memorandum: Hearing of Necessity for Edgewood Road Project SAD

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution confirming special assessment roll 907 as follows: 

WHEREAS, Special Assessment Roll, designated Roll No. 907, has been heretofore prepared for 
collection, and 

WHEREAS, notice was given pursuant to Section 94-7 of the City Code, to each owner or party-
in-interest of property to be assessed, and 

WHEREAS, the Commission has deemed it practicable to cause payment of the cost thereof to be 
made after the time of construction and 

WHEREAS, Commission Resolution 01-005-24 provided it would meet this 22nd day of January, 
2024 for the sole purpose of reviewing the assessment roll, and 

WHEREAS, at said hearing held this January 22, 2024, all those property owners or their 
representatives present have been given an opportunity to be heard specifically concerning costs 
appearing in said special assessment roll, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that Special Assessment Roll No. 907 be in all things ratified 
and confirmed, and that the City Clerk be and is hereby instructed to endorse said roll, showing 
the date of confirmation thereof, and to certify said assessment roll to the City Treasurer for 
collection at or near the time of construction of the improvement. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the special assessment shall be payable in five (5) payments as 
provided in Section 94-10 of the Code of the City of Birmingham, with an annual interest rate of 
nine and one half percent (9.50%) on all unpaid installments. 

8A



 
 
 
 
 

3 
 

 
  

 

Parcel ID / Sidwell Number Street Address 
Sewer Lateral 

SAD 
Assessment 

19-36-402-049 280 E. Lincoln  $      6,290.00  

19-36-402-049 280 E. Lincoln  $      6,800.00  

19-36-403-032 400 E. Lincoln  $      2,720.00  

19-36-403-032 400 E. Lincoln  $      2,720.00  

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood  $      5,950.00  

19-36-402-024 1212 Edgewood   $      5,950.00  

19-36-402-025 1236 Edgewood  $      5,950.00  

19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood  $      5,950.00  

19-36-402-028 1272 Edgewood  $      5,950.00  

19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood  $      5,950.00  

19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood  $      5,950.00  

19-36-402-033 1348 Edgewood  $      5,950.00  

19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood  $      5,950.00  

19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood  $      5,950.00  

19-36-402-038 1486 Edgewood  $      5,780.00  

19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood  $      5,780.00  

   

   $   89,590.00  
 

 
  

 

Parcel ID / Sidwell Number Street Address 
Water Lateral 

SAD 
Assessment 

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood  $      2,220.00  

19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood  $      2,220.00  

19-36-402-029 1288 Edgewood  $      2,220.00  

19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood  $      2,442.00  

19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood  $      2,220.00  

19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood  $      2,442.00  

19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood  $      2,220.00  

19-36-402-037 1472 Edgewood  $      2,220.00  

19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood  $      2,220.00  

   

   $   20,424.00  
 

8A



MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department  

DATE: December 28, 2023  

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager

FROM: Melissa A. Coatta, City Engineer

SUBJECT: Edgewood Road Project #6-24 (S) 
Hearing of Necessity for Water and Sewer Lateral Special Assessment 
District (SAD) 

INTRODUCTION: 
A number of the water and sewer leads will be replaced as part of the Engineering Department’s 
planned project for the sewer and water main improvements on Edgewood Road between E. 
Lincoln St. and E. Southlawn Blvd. The City proposes to replace private water and sewer laterals 
that meet “useful life” criteria within the right-of-way (ROW) in an effort to protect public 
investments.  

BACKGROUND: 
Edgewood Road has been planned for a road reconstruction starting in FY 17-18 budget with 
planned construction in FY 20/21. In the FY 20-21 budget, additional money was allocated for 
sewer repairs on Edgewood Road between E. Lincoln St. and Catalpa Dr., and a new watermain 
on Edgewood Road between Catalpa Dr. and E. Southlawn Blvd. The pavement surface evaluation 
and rating (PASER) of this road is 3 out of 10, which is poor condition. The recommended 
pavement repair for a poor condition is reconstruction of the road.  

Edgewood Road – E. Lincoln St. to Catalpa Dr.: 
The existing water main in this location is 8” diameter and was installed in 1999.  The existing 
sewer in this location was installed in 1929 and ranges in size from 10” to 18” diameter.  These 
sewers were reviewed for trenchless repair by lining the existing sewer, and it is not 
recommended due to the pipe offsets, and existing pipe conditions. 

Edgewood Road – Catalpa Dr. to E. Southlawn Blvd.: 
Currently, there are no existing utilities located in this section of Edgewood Road. During the 
construction of E. Southlawn Blvd. in 2006, a water main was stubbed towards the north on 
Edgewood Road for a future water main installation.   In 2014, Catalpa was under construction, 
and a water main was stubbed towards the south on Edgewood for a future connection. The 

8A



 

 

 

 

 

2 

 

water model currently recommends an 8" diameter water main in this section of Edgewood since 
it improves water pressure and flow in this area.   
 
In accordance with current City policy established to protect the public investment being made 
with capital improvement projects in the public roadway, we intend to replace all sewer laterals 
that are 50 years of age or older or of material that are not acceptable for City standards, as well 
as all water services less than 1-inch diameter as part of this project.  All unsuitable sewer services 
will be replaced with 6” schedule 40 PVC, and water services less than 1-inch in diameter will be 
replaced with a new 1-inch diameter service, for service lengths located within the public ROW.  
 
The parcels within the project zone that are subject to sewer and water lateral special assessment 
are highlighted on the attached map.  Appended to this report is a list of properties that the 
department plans to include in the Assessment district, along with the estimated construction 
costs to be assessed at the Hearing of Confirmation.  

 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
Chapter 94 – Special Assessments of the Birmingham City Code outlines the process by which a 
special assessment is conducted in the City of Birmingham. This project will follow the prescribed 
City Code procedures.  The City Attorney has no objections. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Revenue generated from the water and sewer lateral SAD for the Edgewood Road project will 
defray the costs incurred by the City for the construction of these improvements.  One hundred 
percent of the costs for laterals within the ROW will be paid by the property owners. The cost can 
be paid back in either a lump sum or over up to a 5-year period with interest.  The interest rate 
will be confirmed at the Confirmation of Roll.  
 
SUSTAINABILITY: 
N/A 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Notice of the Hearing of Necessity was distributed by the Clerk’s Office.  The Engineering 
Department sent a letter to all property owners explaining the scope of work and will have a 
resident meeting prior to starting the project in March 2024, weather dependent.  
 
SUMMARY: 
The Engineering Department recommends that the City Commission declare necessity and 
approve a special assessment district for water and sewer laterals as part of the Edgewood Road 
project. Should the Commission approve the special assessment district, a public hearing for 
confirmation of the Roll should be set for the City Commission meeting on January 22, 2024.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

• Map of proposed special assessment district of water and sewer replacement (6 pages) 
• Edgewood road project Plans (25 pages) 
• Spreadsheet with estimated cost of services (2 pages) 
• Clerk’s confirmation of public hearing notice (8 pages) 

 
 

8A



 

 

 

 

 

3 

 

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
WHEREAS, Notice was given pursuant to Section 94-7 of the City Code, to each owner or 
party-in-interest of property and lots to be assessed, by first class mail, and by publication in a 
newspaper generally circulated in the City; and  
 
WHEREAS, The City Commission has conducted a public hearing and has determined to 
proceed with the project of replacing sewer services 50 years of age or older or of material that 
are not acceptable for City standards and replacing water services that are less than 1 inch in 
diameter on Edgewood Road between E. Lincoln Street and E. Southlawn Blvd.; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City has previously established a policy requiring replacement of sewer 
services 50 years of age or older or of material that are not acceptable for City standard and 
water services less than 1 inch in diameter and the City street is open for repairs or reconstruction; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, The City Commission, after the public hearing, has determined that the Edgewood 
Road Project, the replacement of sewer services that are 50 years of age or older or of material 
that are not acceptable for City standards, the replacement of water services that are less than 1 
inch in diameter, is a necessity and is in the best interest of the City; and  
 
WHEREAS, The Commission has approved the detailed plans and estimates of cost prepared 
by the City Engineer; and 
 
WHEREAS, Formal bids have been received and the actual cost of sewer service and water 
service replacement has been determined; and 
 
WHEREAS,  The City Engineer has determined the boundaries of sewer service lateral and 
water service laterals located within the limits of the following streets shall be installed as part of 
the Edgewood Road Project (Contract #4-23(S)): 
   
  Edgewood Road – E. Lincoln Street to E. Southlawn Blvd.; and  
 
WHEREAS, The formula used in making the assessment is 100% of the contractor’s charge 
for replacing the lateral service that is 50 years of age or older or constructed of materials that 
are not acceptable for City standard and water service that is less than 1 inch in diameter within 
the public right-of-way between the utility and the property line (calculated at the rate of $170.00 
per foot of sewer service pipe and $110.00 per foot of water service pipe). 
 
THEREFORE LET IT BE RESOLVED, The City Commission has determined that the scope of the 
public improvement as described is in the best interest of the City and will benefit the properties 
listed in the assessment roll, and the City Commission directs the Manager to prepare a Special 
Assessment Roll and present the same to the City Commission for confirmation and further set a 
Public Hearing and give notice on January 22, 2024.  
 

 
 
 
 

8A



 

 

 

 

 

4 

 

 
Sewer Lateral SAD 

Parcel ID / Sidewell 

Number 
Street Address 

19-36-402-049 280 E. Lincoln 

19-36-403-032 400 E. Lincoln 

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood 

19-36-402-024 1212 Edgewood  

19-36-402-025 1236 Edgewood 

19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood 

19-36-402-028 1272 Edgewood 

19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood 

19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood 

19-36-402-033 1348 Edgewood 

19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood 

19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood 

19-36-402-038 1486 Edgewood 

19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood 

 

Water Lateral SAD 

Parcel ID / Sidewell 

Number 
Street Address 

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood 

19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood 

19-36-402-029 1288 Edgewood 

19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood 

19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood 

19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood 

19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood 

19-36-402-037 1472 Edgewood 

19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood 

 

8A



Edgewood Road Project Area 

Water Lateral Special Assessment District Map 
 

 

MATCH LINE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROPERTIES INCLUDED 

IN PROPOSED WATER 

LATERAL SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 

 

8A



Edgewood Road Project Area 

Water Lateral Special Assessment District Map 
 

MATCH LINE PREVOUS PAGE 

 

MATCH LINE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROPERTIES INCLUDED 

IN PROPOSED WATER 

LATERAL SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 

8A



Edgewood Road Project Area 

Water Lateral Special Assessment District Map 
 

M ATCH LINE PREVOUS PAGE 

 

 

 

8A



Edgewood Road Project Area 

Sewer Lateral Special Assessment District Map 
 

 

MATCH LINE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROPERTIES INCLUDED 

IN PROPOSED SEWER 

LATERAL SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 

8A



Edgewood Road Project Area 

Sewer Lateral Special Assessment District Map 
 

MATCH LINE PREVOUS PAGE 

 

MATCH LINE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROPERTIES INCLUDED 

IN PROPOSED SEWER 

LATERAL SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 

8A



Edgewood Road Project Area 

Sewer Lateral Special Assessment District Map 
 

M ATCH LINE PREVOUS PAGE 

 

 

 

8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



Parcel ID / Sidewell Number Street Address
Sewer Service Footage 

(Sewer Main to Prop. Line)

Estimated 

Cost 

19-36-402-049 280 E. Lincoln 37.0 3,774.00$      

19-36-402-049 280 E. Lincoln 40.0 4,080.00$      

19-36-403-032 400 E. Lincoln 16.0 1,632.00$      

19-36-403-032 400 E. Lincoln 16.0 1,632.00$      

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-024 1212 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-025 1236 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-028 1272 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-033 1348 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-038 1486 Edgewood 34.0 3,468.00$      

19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood 34.0 3,468.00$      

Sewer Lateral Special Assessment District (SAD)

Edgewood Street Project

8A



Parcel ID / Sidewell Number Street Address
Water Service Footage 

(WM to Prop. Line)

Estimated 

Cost

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

19-36-402-029 1288 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood 22.0 2,442.00$      

19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood 22.0 2,442.00$      

19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

19-36-402-037 1472 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

Edgewood Street Project

Water Lateral Special Assessment District (SAD)

8A



MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

January 3, 2024

Melissa Coatta, City Engineer 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

Clerk’s Confirmation of Public Hearing Notice: Edgewood Road 
Water Lateral Improvement 

The public hearing notice process has been completed for Edgewood Road Water 
Lateral Improvement. Please see attachments for further confirmation. 

Mailing Date: 12/21/2023 
Test Mail Return Date: 12/26/2023
Publishing Dates in the Oakland Press: 12/31/2023 and 1/7/2024 
Posted in www.bhamgov/publicnotices: 12/21/2023 

Attachments: 
1. Public Hearing Notice
2. Addresses
3. Mailing Letter
4. Mail Machine Counter Report
5. Proof of publishing for 12/31/2023.

8A



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARINGS 
BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION 
PUBLIC HEARING OF NECESSITY 

PUBLIC HEARING OF CONFIRMATION 
Meeting Date, Time, 
Location: 

HEARING OF NECESSITY FOR SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 
Monday, January 8, 2024, 7:30 PM 
Municipal Building, 151 Martin, Birmingham, MI 48009 

Meeting Date, Time, 
Location: 

HEARING FOR CONFIRMATION OF THE ROLL 
Monday, January 22, 2024, 7:30 PM 
Municipal Building, 151 Martin, Birmingham, MI 48009 

Project Location: Edgewood Road between East Lincoln Street and East Southlawn 
Boulevard 

Nature of 
Improvement: 

Replacement and improvement of water and sewer laterals meeting 
the requirements for assessment, for all properties within the project 
area.  Affected addresses are as follows: 

280 E. Lincoln Street 19-36-402-049
400 E. Lincoln Street 19-36-403-032
1204 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-023
1212 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-024
1236 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-025
1248 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-026
1260 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-027
1272 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-028
1288 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-029
1300 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-030
1322 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-031
1332 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-032
1348 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-033
1360 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-034
1416 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-035
1450 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-036
1472 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-037
1486 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-038
1498 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-039

 

City Staff Contact: Melissa Coatta, City Engineer 
mcoatta@bhamgov.org, (248)530-1839 

Notice 
Requirements: 

News Paper Notice and First Class Mail to affected property owners 
10 days prior. Publish 12/31/2023 and 1/07/2024 

Approved minutes 
may be reviewed 
at: 

City Clerk’s Office or www.bhamgov.org/commissionagendas 

Should you have any statement regarding the above, you are invited to attend the meeting in person 
or virtually through ZOOM:  https://zoom.us/j/655079760       Meeting ID: 655 079 760 
You or your agent may appear at the hearings to express your views; however, if you fail to protest 
either in person or by letter received on or before the date of the hearing, you cannot appeal the amount 
of the special assessment to the Michigan Tax Tribunal.  Mail any correspondence to:  City Clerk, P.O. 
Box 3001, Birmingham, MI 48012. 
The property owner may file a written appeal of the special assessment with the State Tax Tribunal 
within 30 days after the confirmation of the special assessment roll if that special assessment was 
protested at the hearing held for the purpose of confirming the roll. 

8A



All special assessments, including installment payments, shall, from the date of the confirmation 
thereof, constitute a lien on the respective lots or parcels assessed, and until paid shall be charged 
against the respective owners of the lots or parcels assessed. 

Persons  with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should 
contact the City Clerk's Office at  248.530.1880 (voice) or 248.644.5115 (TDD) at least one day in 

advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance. 

8A



PARCEL NAME ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP

19‐36‐402‐023 GRACE BAPTIST CHURCH 280 E LINCOLN ST BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐024 ADAM KADRO 1212 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐025 SHARON FIERENS KELLN TRUST 1236 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐026 MICHAEL CLIFFORD FRANCIS 2126 S PRIMROSE AVE ALHAMBRA CA 91803

19‐36‐402‐027 PATRICIA J BABICH LVNG TRUST 1260 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐028 NITIN GOEL 1272 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐029 ANTHONY WILLIAMS 1288 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐030 KAREN K TOOR 1300 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐031 JANET C MOELLER 1322 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐032 SUSAN L GALLAGHER 1332 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐033 PETER STICKNEY 1348 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐034 MICHAEL POHLOD JR 1360 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐035 A BRADFORD BABBITT III 2240 E HAMMOND LAKE DR BLOOMFIELD HILLS MI 48302

19‐36‐402‐036 ALBERT BABBITT TRUST 2240 E HAMMOND LAKE DR BLOOMFIELD HILLS MI 48302

19‐36‐402‐037 PATRICIA A DIEFENBACH 1472 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐038 DANA L MARCUS 1486 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐039 SCOTT MARCUS 1486 EDGEWOOD RD BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐045 JOSEPH CAREY 375 CATALPA DR BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐049 GRACE BAPTIST CHURCH 280 E LINCOLN AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐403‐016 CITY OF BIRMINGHAM PO BOX 3001 BIRMINGHAM MI 48012

19‐36‐403‐017 CRAIG HALSETH 411 BENNAVILLE AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐403‐032 YMCA 400 E LINCOLN AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐404‐001 SAYF AL‐KATIB 410 BENNAVILLE AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐404‐013 DAVID M HONIGMAN 425 CATALPA DR BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐451‐016 MARLENE SHAYOTA 380 CATALPA DR BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐451‐027 MARIA CECILIA HOWARD 385 E SOUTHLAWN BLVD BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐452‐001 JEFFREY ALAN KINANE LIVING TRUST 410 CATALPA DR BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐452‐012 JAMES M WHITE III 409 E SOUTHLAWN BLVD BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐453‐004 BIRMINGHAM SCHOOL DISTRICT 31301 EVERGREEN RD BEVERLY HILLS MI 48025

19‐36‐454‐001 RYAN BLUNDY 410 E SOUTHLAWN BLVD BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

8A



Thursday, December 21, 2023 

TO: Parcel Number 
Name 
Address 
City/State/Zip code 

RE: Edgewood Road Water and Sewer Laterals Special Assessment District (SAD) 

The City of Birmingham is proposing the construction of the Edgewood Road Paving Project in the spring 
of 2024.  This project includes the replacement of the combined sewer on Edgewood Road between East 
Lincoln Street and Catalpa Drive, the extension of water main between Catalpa Drive and East Southlawn 
Blvd., and the repaving of the Edgewood from East Lincoln Street to East Southlawn Blvd.  Construction 
on this project is anticipated to start in March 2024 and be substantially completed by the end of June 
2024.   

As part of the project, the city intends to replace private sewer and water laterals meeting certain useful 
life criteria in the right-of-way (ROW).  All sewer laterals that are 50 years of age or older, as well as all 
water services less than 1-inch diameter will be replaced from the main to the property line in accordance 
with current City policy established to protect the public investment being made with capital improvement 
projects in the public roadways.   

Not all property owners in the project area will need the replacement of their sewer and/or water laterals 
and be subject to this special assessment. Replacement during infrastructure projects protects the city’s 
investment by reducing the chance of a lateral failure or water service replacement within the right-of-
way area. City ordinance establishes private sewer and water laterals only benefit one property and they 
are not considered a part of the city’s public sewer and water systems. Therefore, the maintenance and 
repair of the laterals from the building to the connection at the public utility is the responsibility of each 
property owner and are completed at the property owner’s expense.  

With this letter, you are receiving a notification for two public hearings regarding this project: 
 The Public Hearing of Necessity to form a Special Assessment District for the replacement of water

and sewer laterals meeting the requirements as part of the Edgewood Road Paving Project is
Monday, January 8, 2024, at the regularly scheduled City Commission meeting at 7:30 p.m. in
City Hall at 151 Martin Street. Official estimates of replacing the water and sewer laterals will be
provided at the Hearing of Necessity.

 If necessity is determined at the January 8 hearing, a Public Hearing for Confirmation to confirm
the Special Assessment District will follow on Monday, January 22, 2024, at the regularly
scheduled City Commission meeting at 7:30 p.m. in City Hall at 151 Martin Street.

The actual cost of replacing the water and sewer laterals charged to you will vary depending on the 
actual location of the city mains, and any other obstacles, such as trees that are in the way. Property 

8A



owners are only charged for the actual length of service replaced if their service qualifies for assessment 
as described above.  

After the work is completed, an invoice will be generated and sent to the property owner of record for 
the length of service replaced. Payment in full will be expected within 30 days of receipt. If you are not 
in a position to pay off the charge in one payment, it can be broken into as many as 5 annual payments. 
The interest rate will be confirmed at the Confirmation of Roll hearing. 

If you have any questions or concerns, please contact the Engineering Office at (248) 530-1850. You 
have the opportunity to speak directly to the City Commission at the Public Hearing of Necessity that will 
be held on January 8, 2024.   

Sincerely, 

Melissa A. Coatta, P.E. 
City Engineer 

8A



Available: $6,428.32 PBP Account Number: 35884980 
Used: $19,706.68 lndicia Number: 0008029208 

Funds I Total Pieces: 27888 Meter Number: 8029208 
Report Control Sum: $26,135.00 Meter Name: 

Resettable Piece Count: 31 Printed: DEC 21 2023 4:01 PM 
Piece Count Value: $19.53 

•

8A



8A



1 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 
 

 
DATE:  January 16, 2024  
 
TO:  Jana Ecker, City Manager 
 
FROM: Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 
 
APPROVED: Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: Public hearing for a lot combination of 34350 Woodward Avenue and 909-911 

Haynes Street, Fred Lavery Porsche, Parcel # 19-36-281-022 and Parcel # 19-36-
281-030. 

 
 
 
INTRODUCTION:  
The owner of 34350 Woodward Avenue and 909-911 Haynes Street is seeking approval for a lot 
combination of two parcels in order to accommodate a new building for the Fred Lavery Porsche 
Dealership.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
The subject properties are located on the northeast corner of the intersection at Haynes Street, 
Elm Street, and Woodward Avenue. The Fred Lavery Porshe Dealership is located at 34350 
Woodward Ave while a two story commercial building is located at 909-911 Haynes Street. The 
applicant is proposing to demolish the existing buildings, combine the lots, and construct a multi-
story auto sales agency capable of accomodating a larger fleet of vehicles on-site.  
 
Auto sales agencies and auto show rooms within the MU-5 and MU-7 Zone require a Special Land 
Use Permit (SLUP), which the applicant obtained November 8, 2010 for the 34350 Woodward 
parcel only.  
 
In November of 2020 and January of 2021, the applicant appeared before City Commission to 
request a lot combination, however the applicant had yet to complete a formal review process 
with the Planning Board for expanding the use under a SLUP. The applicant was directed to obtain 
site plan and SLUP review prior to completing the lot combination process. 
 
On December 1, 2022, (Agenda – Minutes) the applicant appeared before the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board (MMTB) to review recommendations of the Triangle District Plan’s concepts 
for the intersection of Elm Street, Haynes Street, and Woodward Avenue. 

8B

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/12.1.22%20MMTB%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20FULL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/12.01.2022%20Approved%20MMTB%20mins.pdf


2 
 
 

 
On January 25, 2023, (Agenda – Minutes) the Planning Board reviewed the application for the 
Final Site Plan and Special Land Use Permit (FSP & SLUP) for 34350 Woodward Avenue and 909-
911 Haynes Street. The Planning Board moved to recommend approval of the FSP & SLUP with 
the requirement to obtain a lot combination as a condition of approval.  
 
The Combination of Land Parcels Ordinance (Chapter 102, Section 102-83) requires that the 
following standards be met for approval of a lot combination. 
 
(1) The Combination will result in lots or parcels of land consistent with the character of the area 

where the property is located, Chapter 126 of this Code for the zone district in which the 
property is located, and all applicable master land use plans. 
 
In regards to character of the area, the property is located within the City’s Triangle 
District. The area is surrounded by a variety of uses and buildings ranging from one story 
to five stories in height which are mostly surrounded by surface parking. 
 
In regards to zoning, 34350 Woodward is zoned MU-7 in the Triangle Overlay District 
while 909-911 Haynes Street is zoned MU-5. Both parcels are zoned B-2 in the underlying 
zoning district. As previously mentioned, auto sales and auto showrooms are permitted 
with approval of a Special Land Use Permit in the MU-5 and MU-7 Zones. The subject 
property’s SLUP application in 2010 was for one parcel only at 34350 Woodward and 
expanding the auto sales and auto showroom use to 909-911 Haynes requires a SLUP 
amendment.  
 
The applicant has appeared before the Planning Board for Preliminary and Final Site Plan 
and SLUP review with the new building proposal. The applicant has satisfied all Zoning 
Ordinance requirements and merited a recommendation of approval from the Planning 
Board to the City Commission. 
 
In regards to applicable master plans, the Triangle District Plan recommends that Worth 
Street be realigned to connect Bowers Street to the proposed Worth Plaza to improve 
connectivity within the Triangle District. City staff has determined not to pursue the 
Worth Street extension due to complications, one of which being a lack of control over 
the property to the north necessary for completing the extension.   
 
The Triangle District Master Plan also recommends that the intersection of Elm Street at 
Haynes Street and Woodward Avenue be realigned to reduce speeds of vehicles exiting 
Woodward Ave onto Elm Street, reduce turning conflicts, and enhance pedestrian safety 
at the crosswalks. The applicant has appeared before the Multi-Modal Transportation 
Board and Planning Board for review of this intersection. There was general consensus 
from each board that option C2 of the Triangle District Plan which includes a one way 
southbound Elm Street with an extended bumpout to prevent turning conflicts from 
Haynes Street should be implemented. The implementation of option C2 was 
recommended as a condition of approval for the applicant’s Final Site Plan and SLUP. 

 
Accordingly, the proposed lot combination appears to satisfy this requirement. 
 

(2) All residential lots formed as a result of a combination shall be a maximum width of no 
more than twice the average lot width of all lots in the same zone district within 300 feet 

8B

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%201-25-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%201-25-23.pdf


3 
 
 

on the same street.  
 
The proposed combination is commercial, not residential, therefore this 
requirement is not applicable. 
 

(3) All residential lots formed as a result of a combination shall be a maximum area of no more 
than twice the average lot area of all lots in the same zone district within 300 feet on the same 
street.  
 
The proposed combination is commercial, not residential, therefore this 
requirement is not applicable. 

 
(4) The combination will result in building envelopes on the combined parcels that will allow 

for the placement of buildings and structures in a manner consistent with the existing 
rhythm and pattern of development within 500 feet in all directions in the same zone 
district.  
 
The Triangle District has a variety of buildings types ranging in height and size, many of 
which are surrounded by large surface parking lots. Given the existing conditions of 
the lower Triangle District, the proposed lot combination and building envelope 
appear to meet this requirement. 

 
(5) Any due or unpaid taxes or special assessments upon the property have been paid in full. 

 
There are no outstanding taxes due on this property. The proposal meets this 
requirement. 
 

(6) The combination will not adversely affect the interest of the public or the abutting property 
owners. In making this determination, the City Commission shall consider, but not be 
limited to the following: 
 
a.) The location of proposed buildings or structures, the location and nature of vehicular 

ingress or egress so that the use or appropriate development of adjacent land or 
buildings will not be hindered, nor the value thereof impaired. 
 
Based on the attached survey the proposed lot combination and building 
envelope appear to meet this requirement. 
 

b.) The effect of the proposed combination upon any floodplain areas, wetlands and other 
natural features and the ability of the applicant to develop a buildable site on the 
resulting parcel without unreasonable disturbances of such natural features.  
 
The property is not located in a floodpain or wetlands, nor adjacent to a 
floodplain or wetlands. 
 

c.) The location, size, density and site layout of any proposed structures or buildings as 
they may impact an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent properties and the 
capacity of essential public facilities such as police and fire protection, drainage 
structures, municipal sanitary sewer and water, and refuse disposal. 
 

8B



4 

The proposed lot combination does not appear to impact the supply of light 
and air to adjacent properties or the ability of the City to provide essential 
services. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the request and has no objections as to the form and content. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
There are no fiscal impacts for this agenda item. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
The applicant will be installing electric vehicle charging stations that are accessible to the public. 
Implementing the recommended changes to the intersection of Woodward Ave, Haynes St., and 
Elm St. will also improve pedestrian safety and walkability along Woodward Ave. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As required for lot combinations, notices were sent out to all property owners and tenants within 
300 ft. of the property in advance of the January 22, 2024 public hearing at the City Commission. 

SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider approval of the lot combination 
of 34350 Woodward Ave and 909-911 Haynes Street, Fred Lavery Porsche, parcel # 19-36-281-
022 and parcel # 19-36-281-030. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Registered land surveys
• Proof of ownership

SUGGESTED ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve the lot combination of 34350 Woodward Ave and 
909-911 Haynes Street, Fred Lavery Porsche, parcel # 19-36-281-022 and parcel # 19-36-281-
030.

8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B

User
Text Box
C1.10

User
Polygon

User
Oval

User
Typewritten Text
500' Radius

User
Line



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE:  January 16, 2024 

TO:  Jana Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 

APPROVED: Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street – Fred Lavery 
Porsche Dealership – Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review 

INTRODUCTION: 
The applicant has submitted an application for a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and 
Design Review for a three-story auto sales agency in the MU-5 and MU-7 zones of the Triangle 
District.   

BACKGROUND: 
The applicant received a Special Land Use Permit in 2010 to operate a Porsche car dealership at 
34350 Woodward Ave. The applicant is proposing to demolish the existing building as well as the 
adjacent site at 909-911 Haynes, combine the lots, and construct a multi-story auto sales agency 
capable of accomodating a larger fleet of vehicles on-site.  

On October 26, 2022, (Agenda – Minutes) the applicant appeared before the Planning Board for 
a Community Impact Study and Preliminary Site Plan Review. Upon review, the Planning Board 
moved to accept the CIS with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant resolve all issues related to the Transportation Impact Study as requested
by the City’s traffic consultants;

2. The applicant obtain site plan review and recommendation from the Multi-Modal
Transportation Board (MMTB) related to vehicular and pedestrian traffic safety features
for the intersection of Haynes Street, Elm Street, and Woodward Ave;

3. The applicant provide the Planning Department with copies of any existing due care plans,
plans developed in connection with the construction of the project, information about the
existence of any vapors during the process of construction, and plans for remediation of
any hazardous vapors identified; and,

4. The applicant comply with all requests from City Departments.

8C

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20(AMENDED)%20-%2010-26-22.pdf
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%2010-26-22.pdf


The Planning Board also moved to recommend the Preliminary Site Plan with the following 
conditions: 

1. The applicant obtain site plan review and recommendation from the MMTB related to
vehicular and pedestrian traffic safety features for the intersection of Haynes Street, Elm
Street, and Woodward Ave;

2. The applicant provide sidewalks along Elm Street, Woodward Ave, and Haynes Street that
are a minimum of 12 feet wide;

3. The applicant comply with all department requests.

On December 1, 2022, (Agenda – Minutes) the applicant appeared before the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board to review recommendations of the Triangle District Plan’s concepts for the 
intersection of Elm Street, Haynes Street, and Woodward Avenue. The Multi-Modal Transportation 
Board moved to recommend option C2 which is reducing Elm Street to one-way southbound 
between Bowers Street and Haynes Street. See attachments for the proposed concept.  

On January 25, 2023, (Agenda – Minutes) the Planning Board moved to recommend approval to 
the City Commission of the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review 
application for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street – Fred Lavery Porsche - with 
the following conditions: 

1. The applicant must provide details regarding the species of landscaping proposed for the
entrance to ensure that no prohibited species are being used;

2. The applicant relocate the crosswalk on Elm to the north to avoid conflict with the service
entry to a location approved by Staff;

3. The Planning Board expresses a high priority on making the intersection of Haynes,
Woodward, and Elm safer through a reconfiguration similar to Option C2 as expeditiously
as possible by the City Commission;

4. The applicant provide updated site plans and surveys addressing concerns related to the
electrical pole in the sidewalk on the northwest corner of the property;

5. The applicant provide updated lighting information regarding the light fixture
specifications and the parking lot circulation area lumen values;

6. The Planning Board approve deviations to the architectural requirements of Section
3.09(D)(1), Section 3.09(B)(2), and Section 3.09(A)(4) to enable the applicant creativity
and flexibility in design for a metal exterior, non-inset front door, and a garage door on
the front façade with the condition that the applicant provide a front elevation drawing of
the proposed building superimposed on a color drawing or photograph of the entire block
showing the relation of the proposed building design to other buildings along the block;

7. The applicant comply with all department requests; and,
8. That the applicant obtain a lot combination to create a single parcel for 34350 Woodward

Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street.

On February 13, 2023, the City Commission set a public hearing date of March 13, 2023 for the 
Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan, and Design Review hearing.  

On March 13, 2023, the applicant requested to postpone the hearing to work out details of the 
SLUP with City staff. The City Commission moved to table the application. 

8C

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/12.1.22%20MMTB%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20FULL.pdf
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/12.01.2022%20Approved%20MMTB%20mins.pdf
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20-%201-25-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%201-25-23.pdf


Since the application was tabled, City staff, the City Attorney, and the applicant have held a 
number of discussions regarding the language and conditions of the SLUP and have come to an  
agreement that involves the applicant covering all costs related to the reconfiguration of the 
intersection of Haynes Street, Elm Street, and Woodward Ave. Hence the applicant is ready to 
proceed with the application. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has drafted the negotiated SLUP agreement and therefore is supportive of the 
proposed agreement. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The Triangle District Urban Design Plan recommends reconfiguration of the intersection of 
Woodward Ave, Haynes Street, and Elm Street adjacent to the subject site. The applicant has 
agreed to cover all costs related to the reconfiguration of the Woodward Ave, Haynes Street, and 
Elm Street intersection as recommended.  

SUSTAINABILITY: 
The applicant will be installing electric vehicle charging stations that are accessible to the public. 
Implementing the recommended changes to the intersection of Woodward Ave, Haynes St., and 
Elm St. will also improve pedestrian safety and walkability along Woodward Ave.  

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As required for a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review, a legal ad was placed 
in a newspaper of local circulation to advertise the nature of the request in advance of the January 
25th, 2023 Planning Board meeting, and notices were sent out to all property owners and tenants 
within 300 ft. of the property. In addition, a second round of notices were sent to advertise the 
public hearing at the City Commission on January 22, 2024.  

SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider the Special Land Use Permit, 
Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street 
– Fred Lavery Porsche.

ATTACHMENTS: 
Please find attached the following documents for your review: 

• Special Land Use Permit Resolution
• SLUP Contract
• Current Site/Design Plans
• Planning Board report
• Triangle District Urban Design Plan – relevant pages

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and 
Design Review application for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street – Fred Lavery 
Porsche. 

8C



Fred Lavery Porsche 
34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street 

Special Land Use Permit 2024 

WHEREAS, A Special Land Use Permit application was filed in November 2022 for 
approval of a new three-story auto sales agency in the the MU-7 and MU-5 zoning districts; 

WHEREAS, The land for which the Special Land Use Permit is sought is located on the 
east side of Woodward Ave at the northeast corner of Elm Street and Haynes Street; 

WHEREAS, The land is zoned MU-7 and MU-5, which permits the operation of an auto 
sales agency with a Special Land Use Permit; 

WHEREAS, Article 7, section 7.34 of Chapter 126, Zoning requires a Special Land Use 
Permit to be considered and acted upon by the Birmingham City Commission, after receiving 
recommendations on the site plan and design from the Planning Board for the proposed Special 
Land Use; 

WHEREAS, The Planning Board on January 25th, 2023 reviewed the application for a Special 
Land Use Permit ,  Final Site Plan and Design Review and recommended approval to the City 
Commission for the construction of a new three-story auto sales agency with the following 
conditions: 

1. The applicant must provide details regarding the species of landscaping proposed for the
entrance to ensure that no prohibited species are being used;

2. The applicant relocate the crosswalk on Elm to the north to avoid conflict with the service
entry to a location approved by Staff;

3. The Planning Board expresses a high priority on making the intersection of Haynes,
Woodward, and Elm safer through a reconfiguration similar to Option C2 as expeditiously
as possible by the City Commission;

4. The applicant provide updated site plans and surveys addressing concerns related to the
electrical pole in the sidewalk on the northwest corner of the property;

5. The applicant provide updated lighting information regarding the light fixture
specifications and the parking lot circulation area lumen values;

6. The Planning Board approve deviations to the architectural requirements of Section
3.09(D)(1), Section 3.09(B)(2), and Section 3.09(A)(4) to enable the applicant creativity
and flexibility in design for a metal exterior, non-inset front door, and a garage door on
the front façade with the condition that the applicant provide a front elevation drawing of
the proposed building superimposed on a color drawing or photograph of the entire block
showing the relation of the proposed building design to other buildings along the block;

7. The applicant comply with all department requests; and,
8. That the applicant obtain a lot combination to create a single parcel for 34350 Woodward

Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street.

WHEREAS, The Birmingham City Commission has reviewed Fred Lavery Porsche’s Special
Land Use Permit application and the standards for such review as set forth in Article 7, section 
7.36 of Chapter 126, Zoning, of the City Code; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, The Birmingham City Commission finds the 

8C



standards imposed under the City Code have been met, subject to the conditions below, and that 
Fred Lavery Porsche’s application for a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review 
at 34350 Woodward Ave is hereby approved; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Commission determines that to ensure 
continued compliance with Code standards and to protect public health, safety, and welfare, this 
Special Land Use Permit is granted subject to the following: 

a) Property Owner shall abide by all provisions of the Birmingham City Code including, to
the extent required in City ordinances and/or under the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act,
any subsequently amended or enacted ordinances; and

b) Property Owner shall comply with the conditions of approval assigned by the Planning
Board and City Commission; and

c) Subject to City compliance with the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance and Property
Owner’s rights under the Zoning Enabling Act, MCL 125.3201 et seq. and applicable law,
the Special Land Use Permit may be canceled by the City Commission upon finding that
the continued use is not consistent with the public health, safety and welfare of the City;
and

d) In order for the development of the new Fred Lavery Porsche to occur, there will need
to be a reconfiguration of Elm Street at the intersection of Elm Street, Haynes Street and
Woodward Avenue; and

e) After a traffic study of the area including the intersection of Elm Street, Haynes Street
and Woodward Avenue, the reconfiguration of Elm Street shall be developed and
designed by Fred Lavery Porsche with approval of all elements of the reconfiguration
including, but not limited to design, materials, etc., by the City Engineer; and

f) Fred Lavery Porsche shall be responsible for all costs related to the reconfiguration of
Elm Street including, but not limited to designs, traffic studies, materials, labor any and
all other necessary costs to the satisfaction of the City Engineer; and

g) Fred Lavery Porsche shall enter into a streetscape agreement with the City Planner and
City Engineer that will address all elements including, but not limited to moving the DTE
electric pole on the northwest corner of the property, the electric vehicle charging stations,
and the Elm Street reconfiguration.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That failure to comply with any of the above conditions shall
result in termination of the Special Land Use Permit. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, Except as herein specifically provided, Fred Lavery Porsche 
and its heirs, successors, and assigns shall be bound by all ordinances of the City of 
Birmingham in effect at the time of the issuance of this permit, and as they may be subsequently 
amended. Failure of Fred Lavery Porsche to comply with all the ordinances of the City may 
result in the Commission revoking this Special Land Use Permit. 

BE FURTHER RESOLVED that Fred Lavery Porsche is recommended for the 
construction of a three-story auto sales agency, subject to final inspection. 

8C



 
I, Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, Michigan, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the resolution adopted by the Birmingham City 
Commission at its regular meeting held on January 22, 2024. 
 
 
 

 

Alexandria Bingham 
City Clerk  

 

8C



8C



8C



8C



8C



8C



8C



8C



8C



8C



REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY
APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR
DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS
PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

NORTH

01-02-2024

0 20 40 80

SCALE: 1" = 40'

REVISED PER OWNER

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

PORSCHE
WOODWARD
34350 WOODWARD AVENUE
BIRMINGHAM, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

US AUTO GROUP
LIMITED
34602 WOODWARD AVENUE
BIRMINGHAM, MICHIGAN 48009

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:
NOVEMBER 03, 2023

DRAWING TITLE

ELM STREET
IMPROVEMENTS

DRAWING NUMBER:

C-1.2

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

GWC

JPB

DES. LKP

2019-344

www.peagroup.com
t: 844.813.2949

ASPHALT

GUARD RAIL

POST INDICATOR VALVE

MAILBOX, TRANSFORMER, IRRIGATION CONTROL VALVE

WATER VALVE BOX/HYDRANT VALVE BOX, SERVICE SHUTOFF

UNDERGROUND CABLE TV, CATV PEDESTAL

CONCRETE

SIGN

STREET LIGHT

FENCE

CONTOUR LINE

SPOT ELEVATION

COMBINED SEWER & MANHOLE

STORM SEWER, CLEANOUT & MANHOLE

SANITARY SEWER, CLEANOUT & MANHOLE

WATERMAIN, HYD., GATE VALVE, TAPPING SLEEVE & VALVE

GAS MAIN, VALVE & GAS LINE MARKER
ELECTRIC U.G. CABLE, MANHOLE, METER & HANDHOLE

TELEPHONE U.G. CABLE, PEDESTAL & MANHOLE

ELEC., PHONE OR CABLE TV O.H. LINE, POLE & GUY WIRE

CALCULATED
MEASURED
RECORDED

MONUMENT SET
MONUMENT FOUND

NAIL FOUND
NAIL & CAP SET

IRON SET
IRON FOUND SEC. CORNER FOUND

UNIDENTIFIED STRUCTURE

GRAVEL SHOULDER

BRASS PLUG SET

LEGEND

SQUARE, ROUND & BEEHIVE CATCH BASIN, YARD DRAIN

ROCK

PROPOSED PORSCHE
WOODWARD

EL
M

 S
TR

EE
T

W
OODW

ARD AVENUE

HAYNES STREET

Option  C2 of Triangle District Plan (pg. 19) - Updated December 2023 

AutoCAD SHX Text
QCD TO CITY L.9329, P.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S:\PROJECTS\2019\2019-344 LAVERY-BARDHA PARCEL CONSOLIDATION\DWG\SITE PLANS\ELM STREET RECON 19-344.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPH.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
UG-ELEC

AutoCAD SHX Text
UG-PHONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OH-ELEC

AutoCAD SHX Text
UG-CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text
670

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
?

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
696.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
WORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAYNES STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOWERS STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODWARD   AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAZEL STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. ADAMS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAINTED WHITE STRIPE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED PEDESTRIAN PLAZA WITH ART FEATURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONE WAY SIGN (TYPICAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW PEDESTRIAN CROSSWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DO NOT ENTER SIGN (TYPICAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PEDESTRIAN CROSSWALK TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED LOW LEVEL LANDSCAPING AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CURBING AND PAVEMENT TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CURBING AND PAVEMENT TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB DROP FOR SERVICE DEPARTMENT ACCESS



03/04/2023 -- 03:58 PM -- Scale 1 : 192



10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review



User
Text Box
C1.10

User
Polygon

User
Oval

User
Typewritten Text
500' Radius

User
Line



REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY
APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR
DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS
PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

NORTH

01-02-2024

0 20 40 80

SCALE: 1" = 40'

REVISED PER OWNER

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

PORSCHE
WOODWARD
34350 WOODWARD AVENUE
BIRMINGHAM, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

US AUTO GROUP
LIMITED
34602 WOODWARD AVENUE
BIRMINGHAM, MICHIGAN 48009

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:
NOVEMBER 03, 2023

DRAWING TITLE

ELM STREET
IMPROVEMENTS

DRAWING NUMBER:

C-1.2

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

GWC

JPB

DES. LKP

2019-344

www.peagroup.com
t: 844.813.2949

ASPHALT

GUARD RAIL

POST INDICATOR VALVE

MAILBOX, TRANSFORMER, IRRIGATION CONTROL VALVE

WATER VALVE BOX/HYDRANT VALVE BOX, SERVICE SHUTOFF

UNDERGROUND CABLE TV, CATV PEDESTAL

CONCRETE

SIGN

STREET LIGHT

FENCE

CONTOUR LINE

SPOT ELEVATION

COMBINED SEWER & MANHOLE

STORM SEWER, CLEANOUT & MANHOLE

SANITARY SEWER, CLEANOUT & MANHOLE

WATERMAIN, HYD., GATE VALVE, TAPPING SLEEVE & VALVE

GAS MAIN, VALVE & GAS LINE MARKER
ELECTRIC U.G. CABLE, MANHOLE, METER & HANDHOLE

TELEPHONE U.G. CABLE, PEDESTAL & MANHOLE

ELEC., PHONE OR CABLE TV O.H. LINE, POLE & GUY WIRE

CALCULATED
MEASURED
RECORDED

MONUMENT SET
MONUMENT FOUND

NAIL FOUND
NAIL & CAP SET

IRON SET
IRON FOUND SEC. CORNER FOUND

UNIDENTIFIED STRUCTURE

GRAVEL SHOULDER

BRASS PLUG SET

LEGEND

SQUARE, ROUND & BEEHIVE CATCH BASIN, YARD DRAIN

ROCK

PROPOSED PORSCHE
WOODWARD

EL
M

 S
TR

EE
T

W
OODW

ARD AVENUE

HAYNES STREET

Option  C2 of Triangle District Plan (pg. 19 - Updated December 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
QCD TO CITY L.9329, P.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S:\PROJECTS\2019\2019-344 LAVERY-BARDHA PARCEL CONSOLIDATION\DWG\SITE PLANS\ELM STREET RECON 19-344.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPH.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
UG-ELEC

AutoCAD SHX Text
UG-PHONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OH-ELEC

AutoCAD SHX Text
UG-CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text
670

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
?

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
696.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
WORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAYNES STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOWERS STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODWARD   AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAZEL STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. ADAMS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAINTED WHITE STRIPE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED PEDESTRIAN PLAZA WITH ART FEATURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONE WAY SIGN (TYPICAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW PEDESTRIAN CROSSWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DO NOT ENTER SIGN (TYPICAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PEDESTRIAN CROSSWALK TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED LOW LEVEL LANDSCAPING AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CURBING AND PAVEMENT TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CURBING AND PAVEMENT TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB DROP FOR SERVICE DEPARTMENT ACCESS



2 - 12' X 40
LOADING SPACES

LoLoadingo
1

Loading

LoLoadingo
2

Loading

Motorized
Gate

7 Spacesaces

7

6

4

3

2

1

4
SHOWROOMSHOWROOM

09.15.2022

USE GROUP - "B"

USE GROUP - "S"

VERTICAL CIRCULATION

17 SERVICE SPACES
12 HAYNES STREET PUBLIC SPACES
7 SHOWROOM INVENTORY SPACES

29 VEHICLE TOTAL CAPACITY AT GRADE

Luckenbach
Ziegelman
Gardner
Archtects
PLLC

PARKING & LOADING

SERVICECI PARKINGRR
(100 spaces)ec

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Charging
Stations

g gCharging

(1 per 2 stalls
typical)
((1 pp

PARTS

SERVICE

STORAGE

TOOL STORAGE

SERVICE DRIVE

12'

0'440

0'440

12 PUBLIC STREET PARALLEL PARKING SPACES
(SEE SHEET A/LA 100.1)

77 SHOWROOM
INVENTORY
VEHICALSVEHICALSSVEHICALS

LEGENDLEGENDLEGENDLSITE PLAN
w/Dealership
Level 1

12' MIN
CLEAR
REQ'D (

ASHHAAAAAWAWAAAAAAAA HAAWAWAWWAA YYSYYBBBAYYB
2(2(22222222 ss)sseacspaspssspspspssssssssssssps a esse (9 s(( s

2\/22 /1\
))))

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review
/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review

C



/1\

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review
/2\/2\/2\ SLUPSLUPSLUP ReviewReview

TO BE REMOVED OR RELOCATED

NOTE:
SEE SHEET C2.10 FOR
ELM STREET PARKING
AND CROSSWALK
CONFIGURATION

/2\

/2\

EXISTINGEXISTINGEXISTINGEXISTINGEXISTINGEXISTINGEXISTINGEXISTING CROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALKCROSSWALK
TOTOTO BEBE RELOCATEDRELOCATEDRELOCATEDRELOCATED
(SEE(SEE(SEE SHEETSHEET C2.10)C2.10)C2.10)C2.10)C2.10)

/2\/2\/2\



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

EXISTING CONDITIONS

PROPOSED MATERIALS

PROPOSED
CROSSWALK
LOCATION

EXISTING
CROSSWALK
LOCATION 99

"81'-0"81'-0"

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

22 BAYS

/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review

NOTE:
SEE SHEET C2.10
FOR ELM STREET
CONFIGURATION

/2\

EXIST'GEXIST'G POWERPOWERPOWERPOWERPOWER
POLEPOLE TO BE REMOVEDREMOVEDREMOVEDREMOVEDREMOVEDREMOVED
OROROR RELOCATEDRELOCATEDRELOCATEDRELOCATEDRELOCATEDRELOCATED

/2\



LEVEL 1
17 SERVICE PARKING
7 SHOWROOM INVENTORY

24 VEHICLE TOTAL CAPACITY @ L1

SERVICE PARKING

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 99 10

Motorized Gate

PARTS
RECLAIM TRANSFORMER

DUMPSTER
ENCLOSURE

2 LOADING
SPACES

12' X 40'
EACH

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

AREA BELOW LEVEL 2 PARKING STRUCTURE

09.15.2022

USE GROUP - "B"

USE GROUP - "S"

VERTICAL CIRCULATION

LEGENDPLANPLANPLANPLAN
LEVEL 1

SERVICE PARKING

7 SHOWROOMSHOWROOM
INVENTORYINVENTORY
VEHICLESVEHICLES

SHOWROOMSHOWROOM

SERVICE RIGHT UP

SERVICEE C

PARTSPARTSPARTSPARTSPARTSPARTS STORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGE //
PARTSPARTSPARTSPARTSPARTSPARTS STORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGESTORAGE MEZMEZMEZMEZMEZ

SERVICE
STORAGE TOOL ROOM

STORAGE

(OPENOPEN TOO SERVICESERVICE AREAAREA BELOW)BEL W)

SERVICE WRITE UP

PARTS STORAGE &
PARTS MEZZANINE ABOVE

91 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

CAR WAAAASHA 22(222 BAYS)

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary

Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023

Final Site Plan Review

/1\

LEVEL 1
16 SERVICE PARKING

7 SHOWROOM INVENTORY

23 TOTAL VEHICLE CAPACITY

/1\

/2\/2\/2\ 3.13.20233.13.20233.13.2023 SLUPSLUPSLUP ReviewReviewReview



LEVEL 2
51 INVENTORY, DEMO, LOANER SPACES
11 INVENTORY (STACKED)
TOTAL VEHICLE CAPACITY = 62

OPENOOPENOPEN TO SHOWROOMSHOWROOM BELOW

09.15.2022

OFFICE / STORAGE

ELEV

USE GROUP - "B"

USE GROUP - "S"

VERTICAL CIRCULATION

L2 OFFICE AREA

10 INVENTORYEE PARKINGGG

11 NEWWW CAR INVENTORYRYR PARKING
(STACKED)KK

1 2 3 4 55 666 7 8 9 10
DEMOMO & INVENTORY PARKINGP

DEMO / LOANER PARKING PARKING

3 DEMO / LOANER

12 USED CAR INVENTORYNE

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 1110

9

L2 PARKING STRUCTURE

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

12

1 22 32

11 22 3

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 1010 1110

LEGENDPLAN
LEVEL 2

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review
/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP ReviewReview



Luckenbach
Ziegelman
Gardner
gZiegelman

Architects
PLLC

3

OFFICE/OFFICE/
SSTORAGESTORAGE

LEVEL 3

ELEV

SKYLIGHT

ROOFTOP MECHANICAL AREA
ON ROOF OF LEVEL 2

6' HIGH MIN MECHANICAL SCREEN
BLACK CORRUGATED METAL PANEL
TO MATCH BUILDING FACADE

LEVEL 3
13 EMPLOYEE PARKING SPACES
35 INVENTORY + LOANER SPACES
11 STACKED INVENTORY SPACES
4 HANDICAP PARKING SPACES
1 VAN ACCESSIBLE HDCP PARKING SPACE

USE GROUP - "B"

USE GROUP - "S"

VERTICAL CIRCULATION

09.15.2022

ROOFTOP PARKING

1 VAN HDCP
PARKING SPACE

13'X20'
MIN

EMPLOYEEEM PARKINGKI

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

9'x20" = 180 SF
SPACE TYPICAL

8'8'8'8'8' 5' 8'

11 2

4 HDCP GPARKINGGARKINNAPARKINGNP SPACES

SERVICE LOANER PARKING

12 13

NEWWE CAR INVENTORYTT
(STACKEDTAT PARKINGNN L)

SERVICE LOANER PARKING

NEW CAR INVENTORYIN

24'

12

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 1010 11

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

3 4 1919 18 17 16 15 14 13 12 114 19

1 2 32

11 2 32

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 99 10

NEWWW CAR INVENTORYOT

LEGENDPLAN
LEVEL 3

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review



Luckenbach
Ziegelman
Gardner
gZiegelman

Architects
PLLC

09.15.2022

ROOFTOP PARKING
SEE A204

VEHICULAR RAMPDOWN

ROOFTOP PARKING

LEVEL 2 ROOF

ROOFTOP
MECHANICAL
ON LEVEL 2
ROOF

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 2
ROOF

SKYLIGHT

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review
/2\/2\/2\ 3.13.20233.13.20233.13.2023 SLUPSLUPSLUP ReviewReviewReviewReview



Luckenbach
Ziegelman
Gardner
gZiegelman

Architects
PLLC

3 BENCHES + 3 TRASH BINS

BICYCLE RACK LOCATION

Haynes Street Elevation
BEGA EXTERIOR
LIGHTING FIXTURE
ABOVE DOORS TYPICAL

AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS 1

AS-1AS 1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS 1

AS-1

AS-1AS 1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS 1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS 1 AS-1AAS-1AAAAAAS-1AAAAAAAAS-11111111AS-11111111

PYLON GROUND SIGNSIGN
(RE-USE EXISTING)

NEW GINKGO TREES
(NON-FRUIT BEARING-
TO
((NON-FRUIT

MATCH
(NON-FRUIT

EXISTING)
TYPICAL AS-1

PUBLIC CHARGING KIOSK #2PUBLIC CHARGING KIOSK #1

09.15.2022

Elm Street Elevation

1AS-1111111111111111111111111111AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 111AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS 1AAAS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1 1AS-11AS-11AS-11AS-11AS-11AS-11AS-1S 11111AS-11AS-11111AS-11AS-11111AS-11AS-11111AS-11AS-11111AS-11AS-1AS-1AS-111AS-11AS-1AS-1AS-111AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1----

BLACK ANODIZED ALUMINUM
& GLASS OVERHEAD DOOR

SAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1SSSAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1S-AS-1AS-1AS-1SSSSSSSS

A

AS-1ASASASASASASASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1SSSAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1 AS-1111111111111111111111AAAAAAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAAAAS-1AAAA

AS-1- AS-1

PYLON GROUND SIGN
PYLON BUILDING SIGNAGE

PYLON BUILDINGBUILDING SIGNAGE

1111AS-1111111111AS-1111111111AS-111111111111AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1SSAS 1AS-1AS 1AS 1AAAAAAS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1

AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AAS-1AAAAAAAS-1AS-1AAAA

RED LED LIGHTING AT ALL HORIZONTAL REVEALS TYPICAL

RED LED LIGHTINGLIGHTINGLIGHTING AT ALL HORIZONTALHORIZONTALHORIZONTAL REVEALSREVEALSREVEALS

Fredd LaveryyLaveryFFredFredFredFredFredLaveryLLaveryLaveryLaveryaLaveryaLaveryveryLaveryLaveryLaveryLaLavery

(3' W x 8' H x 1' D)

Fred Lavery
STANDOFF

Lavery
SIGN

SIMILAR TO
EXISTING

(12'L X 2' H)

Porche Shield Service Sign
Similar to Existing
(48" H x 30"W)

Existing
ServiceeServiceeServiceeServiceSServiceSSServiceServiceeServiceeServiceSSServiceSSS

SERVICE WRITE UP
ENTRY/EXIT

PARKING GARAGE ENTRY

SHOWROOM ENTRY NEW CAR DELIVERY EXIT

SHOWROOM
ENTRY LOCATION

ServiceS iServiceServiceServiceServiceeServiceServiceServiceSSSSServiceSSS eServiceSServiceS

EXISTING STREET LIGHTS TO REMAIN

CW-2
CLEARCLEAR GLASSGLASS
INININ ALUMALUMALUMU FRAMEFRAMEFRAME
(80%( MIN LT)VLL

W/ CLEAR GLASS - MIN VLT = 80%

*CLEAR GLASS
VLT = MIN 80%

W/ CLEAR GLASS - VLT = MIN 80%

EXISTING STREETLIGHTS IN
EXISTING LOCATIONS TO REMAIN

NEW STREET TREES IN EXISTING WELLS
(GINKGO - non fruit bearing variety)
TO
((GINKGO

MATCH
(GINKGO

EXISTING
bearing

PP
PARKING

VV
O

AS-111111111AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-11111111AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAAAAAAS-1AAAAAAAAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1ASAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AAS-1AAAAAS-1AS-1AAS-1

EXISTING STREET TREES (GINKGO) TO REMAIN

EXISTING STREET
LIGHT TO BE
RELOCATED (RE-USE

EXISTING)
((RE-USE

ViewViewView FromFFFFrF Street
or walkeSidee

Blacck Loouverouver BarBar
Rail andd PostsP t

Blacck Metale (steel)
Corrrugatedted PanelPanel

((

Louver RailRR
SectionS tiSection DetaililailDD

PartialP ti l ationElevaEleva Perspective

BBLACKKB METALMMETAALLLLLL LOULLOOLOUVERLOUVERLLOOUVVERRLOULLOO
GGUARDUAARRDDG RAILRA L ANDAND POSTSPOSTPOSTSSTSSTSPOSSTSST

BLACK METAL LOUVER
GUARD RAIL AND POSTS

09.15.20221.25.202315.20215.202

333

1/2" x 3"3 Steel Bar
@@ 4" O.C.O Typical

/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review

Final Site Plan ReviewReviewReview

10.26.2022 CIS/
PreliminaryPreliminaryPreliminary SiteSite PlanPlan ReviewReview

09.15.2022



Luckenbach
Ziegelman
Gardner
gZiegelman

Architects
PLLC

Elm Street

AS-1AS 1AS 1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS 1

DUMPSTERDUMPSTER
ENCLOSLURE
(MASONRY)

PARTSPARTS RECYCLERECYCLE
ENCLOSURE
(MASONRY)
9'
((MASONRY)

HEIGHT
(MASONRY)

6' MIN
HEIGHT

P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y

L
I
N
E

P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y

L
I
N
E

DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE
6' MINIMUM HEIGHT

(MASONRY)

PARTS ENCLOSURE.
6' MINIMUM HEIGHT.
(MASONRY)= CHARGING KIOSK

CK CK CK CK CK

PPP
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y

L
I
N
E

09.15.2022

Haynes Street

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

BLACK METAL BAR LOUVER
GUARD RAIL AND POSTS
(SEESEESEE #3#3#3 - PartialPartialPartial ElevationElevationElevation Perspective)PerspectivePerspective
SHHEETH
((

A400

BLACK METAL BAR LOUVER
GUARD RAILLL ANDANDAND POSTSPOSTSPOSTS
(SEE #3 - Partialr Elevation Perspective)
SHEET
((

A4000

AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS-1AS 1

/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review



Haynes Street Block

Elm Street Block

03.13.202303.13.2023

SLUP REVIEW

A402A402A402



09/16/2022 -- 05:45 PM -- Scale 1 : 192

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review
/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review



LEVEL 33
StorageStorage

ROOF

ROOF

Mechannicaln Roof Plan M01
10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

/2\ 3.13.2023 SLUP Review



L01L01

L01.1L

L01.1L01.1L01.1

L01.22

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

/2\ 3.13.2023
SLUP Review

1414

14

1414

/2\



1L01.

10.26.2022 CIS / Preliminary
Site Plan Review

/1\ 1.25.2023
Final Site Plan Review

/2\ 3.13.2023
SLLUP REVIEW



ÐØÑÌÑÓÛÌÎ×ÝÍ ó Ô×ÙØÌ×ÒÙ ÔÛÊÛÔÍðòïîðòïîðòïî

ðïòîðïòî

c

CALCULATION SUMMARY

LABEL FIXTURE UNITS AVE MAX MIN

Garage Area Floor 14W Fc 2.50 15.4 0.0

Sidewalk Planar 14W Fc 1.09 11.6 0.0K3
Fred Lavery Porsche

BEGA

L0.12L0.12L0.12L0.12 - LIGHTING LEVELS



 
MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 
 

 
DATE:  January 20th, 2023  
 
TO:  Planning Board 
 
FROM: Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 
 
Approved:  Nick Dupuis, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT:  34350 Woodward & 909-911 Haynes Street - Fred Lavery Porsche – SLUP 

Amendment and Final Site Plan and Design Review 
 
 
The applicant is proposing to demolish both buildings at 34350 Woodward Ave and 909-911 
Haynes Street and construct a three story auto sales agency spanning across both properties. 
Both parcels are zoned B-2, General Business. 34350 Woodward is zoned MU-7 in the Triangle 
Overlay District while 909-911 Haynes Street is zoned MU-5. Auto sales agencies require a Special 
Land Use Permit (SLUP) to operate in the B2 District as well as the MU-5 and MU-7 Districts. The 
applicant orginally received a Special Land Use Permit in 2010 to operate a Porsche car dealership 
at 34350 Woodward Ave. Upon approval, the applicant will also be required to apply for a lot 
combination with the City Commission. The lot combination hearing with City Commission shall 
be held after the SLUP hearing. 

In 2016, the applicant received a temporary SLUP amendment to use the building next door at 
909-911 Haynes as an office for the Porsche sales and management team for one year while 
renovations were made to the Porsche dealership at 34350 Woodward Ave. Conditions of approval 
were that the applicant could not have cars for sale parked on 909-911 Haynes Street. 

In January 2020, the applicant appeared before the Planning Board for Final Site Plan review and 
SLUP amendment to demolish the building at 909-911 Haynes Street and expand the Porsche 
dealership’s parking lot. After discussions regarding how the Triangle District Overlay requires 
expanding uses to bring the entire site into conformity, and that the Triangle District Urban Design 
Plan’s Worth Street Extension is recommended to pass through the subject property, the owner 
withdrew their application.  

In January, March, and April of 2021, the applicant appeared before City Commission to apply for 
a lot combination. It was determined that expanding the use through a lot combination meant 
that the site would not satisfy the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance, and therefore would 
not satisfy the requirements for a lot combination. It was recommended that the applicant appear 

https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/planning_board.php


before the Planning Board and obtain Final Site Plan and SLUP approval before obtaining a lot 
combination. City staff recommends that the Planning Board review the City 
Commission Memos from January 25th, 2021, March 22nd, 2021, and April 26th, 2021 
regarding the lot combination of the subject site and recommendations of the 
Triangle District Urban Design Plan. 

On October 26th, 2022, the applicant appeared before the Planning Board for a Community Impact 
Study and Preliminary Site Plan Review. Upon review the Planning Board moved to accept the 
CIS with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant resolve all issues related to the Transportation Impact Study as requested 
by the City’s traffic consultants; 

2. The applicant obtain site plan review and recommendation from the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board (MMTB) related to vehicular and pedestrian traffic safety features 
for the intersection of Haynes Street, Elm Street, and Woodward Ave;  

3. The applicant provide the Planning Department with copies of any existing due care plans, 
plans developed in connection with the construction of the project, information about the 
existence of any vapors during the process of construction, and plans for remediation of 
any hazardous vapors identified; and, 

4. The applicant comply with all requests from City Departments. 
 

The Planning Board also moved to recommend the Preliminary Site Plan with the following 
conditions: 

1. The applicant obtain site plan review and recommendation from the MMTB related to 
vehicular and pedestrian traffic safety features for the intersection of Haynes Street, Elm 
Street, and Woodward Ave;  

2. The applicant provide sidewalks along Elm Street, Woodward Ave, and Haynes Street that 
are a minimum of 12 feet wide; 

3. The applicant comply with all department requests. 
 

On December 1st, 2022, the applicant appeared before the Multi-Modal Transportation Board to 
review recommendations of the Triangle District Plan’s concepts for the intersection of Elm Street, 
Haynes Street, and Woodward Avenue. The Multi-Modal Transportation Board moved to 
recommend option C2 which is reducing Elm Street to one-way southbound between Bowers 
Street and Haynes Street. (Minutes are attached).  

The applicant has addressed some of the recommendations of staff regarding Elm Street, while 
also providing a concept of their preferred Elm Street alignment with the updated Final Site Plan 
and SLUP review.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/city_commission/index.php
https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/planning_board.php
https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/multi-modal_transportation_board.php


1.0 Land Use & Zoning 
 
1.1 Existing Land Use – The existing land use is commercial with two buildings, one 

an auto sales agency and the other a two story office-retail use 
 

1.2 Zoning – The subject site exists within the B2 (General Business), MU-5 (Mixed-
Use 5), and MU-7 (Mixed-Use 7) Zoning Districts. 

 
1.3 Summary of Adjacent Land Use & Zoning – The following chart summarizes 

existing land use and zoning classifications of the adjacent and/or nearby 
properties: 

 
 North South East West 

Existing 
Land Use 

Commercial/ 
Office 

Commercial/ 
Office 

Commercial/ 
Office Commercial 

Existing 
Zoning 
District 

B2 (General 
Business) 

B2 (General 
Business) 

B2 (General 
Business) & 
O2 (Office-

Commercial) 

B2 (General 
Business) 

Overlay 
Zoning 
District 

MU-3 & MU-5 MU3 & MU-5 N/A MU-5 & MU-7 

 
2.0 Setback, Bulk, & Height Requirements 

 
The attached zoning compliance summary analysis provides the required and proposed 
bulk, area, and placement regulations for the proposed project. The applicant appears to 
satisfy the bulk, area and placement requirements of the Triangle District with particular 
clarifications noted below. 

  
Article 3, Sections 3.08(C) & 3.08(D) of the Triangle District Overlay requires building 
facades in the MU-5 and MU-7 Districts to be built within 0-5 feet of the front lot line for 
a minimum of 75% of the street frontage length which the applicant appears to satisfy. 
Furthermore, Article 3.08(F) allows frontyard building setback exceptions when additional 
sidewalk and landscaping enhancements have been provided which is the case for the 
proposed showroom entrance at the corner of Elm, Woodward Ave, and Haynes. 

 
It is also of note that the Triangle District Overlay does not regulate the size of the third 
floor. Article 3, Sections 3.08(C) & 3.08(D) for the MU-5 and MU-7 Districts only require 
three floors as a minimum. The third floor is proposed to be 1,660 square feet. Obtaining 
a lot combination will bring both parcels into conformity. 

 
3.0 Screening & Landscaping 

 
3.1 Dumpster Screening – The dumpster is proposed to be located in the northeast 

corner of the property. The eastern elevation indicates the dumster will consist of 
masonry and with a 6’ minimum height, which is also concealed by the Haynes 
Street Façade. 



 
3.2 Parking Lot Screening – Article 4, Section 4.54 (C) of the Zoning Ordinance requires 

screening to be placed along the front or side of any parking facility that abuts a 
street, alley, passage or mixed passage. The site plan indicates 7 ground level 
parking spaces accessible from Haynes Street. The ground level parking spaces 
are screened by the building’s two-story metal façade along Haynes Street as 
indicated in the eastern elevation design.  

 
The applicant has provided black metal louvers for the upper level parking facility 
in order prevent large blank walls from facing Haynes Street. The black metal 
louvers also provide adequate screening for the upper level parking. 

 
3.3 Mechanical Equipment Screening – The site plan indicates rooftop and ground-

mounted mechanical units that will require screening. The level 3 floor plan 
indicates five mechanical rooftop units screened by a black corrugated metal panel 
screen wall that is 5 feet in height and will match the building façade. The proposed 
rooftop mechanical units are 39 inches in height and therefore are completely 
concealed by the screenwall. The ground level transformer on the northeast corner 
of the building is screened by the building’s façade along Haynes Street. 
 

3.4 Landscaping – The applicant is proposing additional landscaping at the entrance 
of the building on the corner of Haynes, Woodward, and Elm. Article 4, Section 
4.20(E) of the Zoning Ordinance does not require the applicant to provide 
landscaping on-site due to its location in a commercial zoning district. The 
applicant must provide details regarding the species of landscaping 
proposed for the entrance to ensure that no prohibited species are being 
used.  

 
Streetscape Elements – The applicant has provided a number of street trees, street 
lights, and streetscape furnishings. In terms of street trees, Article 4, Section 4.20 
(G) requires at least 1 street tree for each 40 linear feet of frontage along a street. 
The site plan indicates a total of 11 street trees which satisfies the ordinance 
requirements. A breakdown of the required and proposed street trees is provided 
below: 

 
Street Linear Frontage (ft.) Required Provided 
Haynes 313’ 8 8 
Elm 89’ 2 3 
Woodward 25’ N/A 0 
Total   11 

 
 
The site plan indicates a total of 13 street lights which appear to be adequately 
spaces approximately 40 feet apart. All streetlights proposed are expected to meet 
the streetscape standards for the Triangle District. 
 
In regards to streetscape furnishings, the applicant has proposed 3 benches, 3 
trash receptacles, and 5 bike racks along Haynes Street. All benches, bike racks, 



and trash receptacles are expected to meet the streetscape standards of the 
Triangle District.  
 
To support an all electric fleet, the applicant is also providing two electric car 
charging kiosks for the public along Haynes Street on the eastern portion of the 
property. 
 
Section 3, Article 3.12(B) requires sidewalks in the Triangle Overlay District to be 
a minimum of 12 feet wide. The sidewalk surrounding the building appears to be 
12 feet along Haynes and Elm Street.  
 
The northwest corner of the property has a congested sidewalk space transitioning 
from the subject site to the northern property on Elm Street. There is an electrical 
pole in the middle of the sidewalk and a city streetlight directly south of it which 
impedes pedestrian passage.  
 
 

4.0 Parking, Loading & Circulation 
 
4.1 Parking – Article 4, Section 4.46 of the Zoning Ordinance requires the applicant to 

provide the following off-street parking for the uses proposed in the site plans 
submitted: 
 
Proposed Use Requirements  Area or Units Spaces 
Sales Room 1 per 300 SF 6,800 SF 23 
Office 1 per 300 SF 8,460 SF 4 
Service Stalls 1 per Stall 12 Stalls 12 
Other (Storage) 1 per 550 SF 4,269 SF 8 
    
Total Required - - 47 
Total Proposed - - 155  

 
Article 4, Section 4.46(A) Table A Parking Standards of the Zoning Ordinance 
requires motor vehicle sales and service establishments to provide 1 space for 
each 300 square feet of floor area of sales room plus 1 space per each auto service 
stall, not to be used for new or used car storage. 
 
The first floor sales room is 6,800 square feet, while the cumulative office space 
on floors one, two, and three is 8,460 square feet. There are 12 service stalls and 
4,269 squaure feet of storage which is classified as “other” for parking. The 
applicant is required to provide 47 parking spaces on-site for the proposed uses. 
 
The applicant is providing a total of 155 parking spaces that consist of 7 ground 
level surface parking spaces, 10 interior building service parking spaces on the first 
floor, 62 parking spaces on the second level parking facility, 64 parking spaces on 
the third floor, and 12 public on-street parking spaces. City staff did not count 
showroom spaces as open and accessible. The applicant satisfies the parking 
requirements.  



 
Article 3, Section 3.08(G)(1)(b) of the Zoning Ordinance permits no more than 60 
feet of parking lot frontage for corner lots. Given that all parking spaces are within 
the buildng façade, the applicant appears to satisfy this requirement.  
 
Article 3, Section 3.08(G)(4) of the Zoning Ordinance enables the Planning Board 
to allow a multi-level parking facility above the first floor to occupy the frontage 
provided that the façade of the parking structure is integrally designed with the 
architecture of the overall building, utilizes the same building materials, and has 
wall openings that provide proportions and rhythm that are compatible with 
building upper story fenestration. The applicant has proposed a series of black 
metal louvers for the upper level parking facility that appears to be integrally 
designed with the architecture of the overall building. 
 

4.2 Loading – Based on the habitable commercial space within the proposed 
development, the applicant is required to provide two off-street loading space with 
the following minimum dimensions: 40 feet long, 12 feet wide and 14 feet high. 
Article 4, Section 4.24(C)(4) requires that loading spaces be screened. The loading 
spaces are located within the interior elevations of the building and are screened 
by the front façade and garage door. 
  

4.3 Vehicle Circulation & Access – The site plans indicate that the main vehicular 
access to the site will be from Hanyes Street on the east side of the property. The 
access drive is 24 feet wide and is regulated by a black anondized aluminum and 
glass overhead door. Vehicles may enter at the ground level parking lot and take 
the ramp to the second or third floor parking structure facility. The curb cut along 
Haynes Street also provides access to the ground level service shop.  
 
Article 3, Section 3.09(A)(4) of the Zoning Ordinance does not allow garage doors 
on the front façade, however Architectural exemptions are availabe through the 
provisions of Article 3, Section 3.11 of the Zoning Ordinance. The Planning Board 
may wish to discuss the presense of an overhead door regulating access to on-site 
parking.  
 
In regards to on-site vehicular circulation, the site plans indicate that employee 
parking will be on a portion of the the third level parking facility. A large portion 
of the second and third level parking facility will be used for vehicle inventory.  

 
A second curb cut for vehicular ingress and egress is proposed on the northwest 
corner of the building facing Elm Street. The proposed curb cut will provide access 
to the interior of the building for the service shop. Access to the service area is 
also regulated by a black annodized and glass overhead door. A  concern of City 
staff is that the proposed curb cut for vehicular ingress an egress is facing a 
pedestrian crosswalk connecting across Elm Street and Woodard Ave.  
 
As discussed during the CIS & Preliminary Site Plan Review, the Triangle District 
Plan calls out the intersection of Elm Street, Bowers Street, and Woodward Ave as 



an area unsafe for pedestrians and vehicle, and therefore recommends three 
different option for restructuring Elm Street. 
 
On December 1st, 2022, the Multi-Modal Transporation Board (MMTB) reviewed 
the Triangle District Plan’s recommendations for Elm Street in relation the 
applicant’s proposed project. Upon discussion of the project and the three different 
options for Elm Street, the MMTB recommended option C2 which includes a bump 
out that cuts off Haynes Street from Elm Street and reduces Elm Street to one-
way southbound. Option C2 also eliminates the right-turn action from northbound 
Woodward Ave onto Elm Street. The MMTB provided some commentary on the 
timeline of the project, however as an advisory board, that is not within their 
purview. 
 
The applicant has provided two different concepts for updating the vehicular and 
pedetrian access to the intersection of Haynes Street, Elm Street, and Woodward 
Ave. One concept is option C2 from the Triangle District Plan as recommended by 
the MMTB.  The other concept incorporates recommendations of option C1 of the 
Triangle District Plan where Elm Street remains a two-way street. The extended 
bumpout of option C1 would require northbound cars on Woodward Ave to slow 
down to complete the right turn onto northbound Elm Street.  
 
It is also of note that City staff discussed the proposal of enhancing the intersection 
of Haynes Street, Elm Street, and Woodward Ave with MDOT. The representatives 
were in support of enhancing the intersection and indicated pulling a permit for 
review should only take 4-6 weeks. 

 
The Planning Division requests that the Planning Board recommend a 
preference for the Triangle District Plan’s recommendations for Elm 
Street in relation to the proposed project and provide direction for the 
applicant regarding options C1 or C2 with Elm Street being a one way or 
two way street. 

 
4.4 Pedestrian Circulation & Access – The main pedestrian access to the building is at 

the corner of Elm Street, Woodward Ave, and Haynes Street which leads into the 
Porsche showroom. There are four additional pedestrian entrances to the site 
facing Haynes Street, and one facing Elm Street. 

 
The updated site plan maintains a 12 foot sidewalk surrounding the entire frontage 
of the property. A concern of City staff is that there is an electrical pole in the 
sidewalk to the right of the proposed garage facing Elm Street. The Engineering 
Department comments from Preliminary Site Plan included requiring the applicant 
to move the electrical pole in the middle of the sidewalk. This concern has not 
been addressed in the updated site plans. Therefore the applicant must 
provide updated site plans and surveys addressing concerns related to 
the electrical pole in the sidewalk on the northwest corner of the 
property.   
 

https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/multi-modal_transportation_board.php


As previously mentioned, a concern of City staff is that there is a pedestrian 
crosswalk in the Elm Street location where the applicant is proposing a curb cut 
for a garage to the service area. Options C1 & C2 of the Triangle District Plan 
attempt to address issues of the vehicular speeds and pedestrian crossings at this 
intersection. The Planning Division recommends that the Planning Board discuss 
their preference of options for Elm Street in order to enhance the pedestrian safety 
of crossing Elm Street near Woodward Ave.  

 
5.0 Lighting 

 
The applicant is proposing twelve exterior light fixtures. Eight lights are proposed to face 
the street frontage of Elm and Haynes Street, two exterior lights will face the eastern 
parking lot, and one exterior light is proposed in the exterior. The exterior light fixtures 
pictured on the elevations labeled AS-1 appear to be cut-off fixtures and are labeled as 
Bega exterior lighting fixtruers, however the plans do not appear to provide a detailed 
specification sheet regarding the type of light fixture. Information such as the watts and 
lumens have been provided though. The applicant must provide staff specifications 
of the exterior lights to verify they are cut off fixtures. 
 
The applicant has also provided a detailed photometric plan of the site. The lumens do 
not exceed 1.5 foot candles at any property line. City staff request that the applicant 
update the photometric plan to provide a table showing the range of lumen 
values for the parking circulation area on the east side of the building to verify 
the lighting requirements for parking lot circulation areas have been met. 
 

6.0 Departmental Reports 
 
1. Engineering Division – Comments from the Engineering Division will be 

provided by the Planning Board meeting of January 25th, 2023. 
 

2. Department of Public Services – Comments from DPS will be provided by the 
Planning Board meeting of January 25th, 2023. 
 

3. Fire Department – Please see the attached Fire Department comments. 
 

4. Police Department – The Police Department have no concerns and think either 
option for Elm Street is better than what currently exists. 
 

5. Building Division – Please see the attached Building Department comments. 
 

6. Parking Manager – The Parking Manager has no concerns at this time. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



7.0 Design Review 
 
The proposed building has frontage along Elm Street and Haynes Street where the first 
floor façade predominantly consists of glazing. The showroom entrance has a metallic 
design above that appears to be modeled after the Porsche 911 rear window louvres. The 
curved architectural reveals will be illuminated by red lighting. The Western elevation has 
a large “PORSCHE” sign in red with sillver metal composite spanning most of the façade 
above the first floor glazing.  
 
The southern elevation has a long stretch of glazing for the first floor parts and storage 
rooms facing Haynes Street. Levels two and three consist of ribbed metal with metal 
louvers where the multi-level parking facility is. As previously mentioned, Article 3, Section 
3.08(G)(4) of the Zoning Ordinance enables the Planning Board to allow a multi-level 
parking facility above the first floor to occupy the frontage provided that the façade of the 
parking structure is integrally designed with the architecture of the overall building, utilizes 
the same building materials, and has wall openings that provide proportions and rhythm 
that are compatible with with building upper story fenestration.  
 
A portion of the first floor on the eastern elevation is exposed where the parking and 
charging kiosks are located. Behind the parking spaces are glass overhead doors for 
service station entry and access to the upper level parking facility. Levels two and three 
are exposed parking facility space with metal louvers and guard rail posts. 
 
The northern elevation consists of architectural ribbed metal metal louvers and guard rail 
posts for the multi-level parking facility. There are no windows facing north along the 0’ 
lot line. 
 
In regards to ground floor glazing, the first floor of the Haynes Street elevation has a 
glazing percentage of 86.7% and the first floor of of Elm street has a glazing percentage 
of 87.2%. Both street facing elevations satisfy the glazing requirement of 70% minimum 
between 1-8 feet from ground level. The applicant must provide staff with glass 
specification sheets to verify that the glazing meets the requirements of 66% visual light 
transmittance and reflectivity of 15% or less.  
 
In regards to Article 3, Section 3.09 Commercial/Mixed Use Architectural Requirements of 
the Triangle District Overlay, there are a few issues with the proposed design. Article 3, 
Section 3.09(D)(1) requires that all walls exposed to public view or parking area shall be 
constructed of not less than 60% brick, stone, or glass. The proposed building does not 
satisfy the building material requirements of the Triangle District Overlay given that the 
exterior is predominantly metal. 
 
Article 3, Section 3.09(B)(2) requires the front entranceway to be inset 3 feet from the 
front building wall. The curving front entranceway of the Porsche dealership does not 
appear to satisfy this requirement though. 
 
It is also of note that the applicant is proposing two overhead doors on their front façade, 
one facing Elm Street and another facing Haynes Street. The garage doors consist of black 



anondized aluminum and glass. However, Article 3, Section 3.09(A)(4) states that garage 
doors shall not be permitted on a front façade. 
 
Article 3, Section 3.11 of the Triangle District Overlay requirements enables the Planning 
Board to approve deviations to the architectural requirements of Section 3.09 in order to 
allow for creativity and flexibility in design with the following standards: 
 

The Planning Board may approve deviations to the architectural requirements of 
Section 3.09 and Section 3.10 in order to allow for creativity and flexibility in design. 
A front elevation drawing of the proposed building shall be provided superimposed 
on a color drawing or photograph of the entire block showing the relation of the 
proposed building design to other buildings along the block, which shall be utilized 
to evaluate the proposed building design based upon all of the following criteria: 

A. Demonstrates innovation in architectural design, provided the building design 
shall be in keeping with the desired character of the Triangle Overlay District, 
as articulated in the Triangle District Urban Design Plan. 

B. The building is oriented towards the front sidewalk with a functioning entrance 
and enhances the continuity of the pedestrian oriented environment. A 
modification shall not result in an increased dominance of vehicular parking or 
garage doors along the front of the building. 

C. The roof design shall not be out of character with other buildings along the 
block and shall be within the minimum and maximum height requirements of 
the district. 

D. The exterior finish materials shall be of equal or better quality and durability 
as those permitted herein, with the intent to allow for new technologies in 
building material while maintaining the desired character of the Triangle 
Overlay District. 

E. Ground floor windows shall be provided along the front sidewalk to maintain 
the pedestrian orientation of the streetscape and upper story windows shall 
not be incompatible with the rhythm and proportions of windows on other 
buildings along the block. 

 
The Planning Division recomends that the Planning Board approve deviations 
to the architectural requirements of of Section 3.09(D)(1), Section 3.09(B)(2), 
and Section 3.09(A)(4) to enable the applicant creativity and flexibility in 
design for a metal exterior, a non-inset front door, and a garage door on the 
front façade with the condition that the applicant provide a front elevation 
drawing of the proposed building superimposed on a color drawing or 
photograph of the entire block showing the relation of the proposed building 
design to other buildings along the block. 

 
 Signage  

The Elm Street elevation has a red Porsche backlit sign 102 SF in dimension. The curved 
entryway at the corner of Elm and Haynes Street has two pylon ground signs that are 
both 24 SF in dimension. The Haynes Street elevation has a sign reading “Fred Lavery” 
24 SF in dimension. The total signage square footage is 174 SF, which is less than the 
nearly 500 feet of total street frontage of the property.  

https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-viewer.aspx#secid-391
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-viewer.aspx#secid-392
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=475
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=646
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=601
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=630
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=475


8.0 Required Attachments 
 
 Submitted Not Submitted Not Required 
Existing Conditions Plan ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Detailed and Scaled Site Plan ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Certified Land Survey ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Interior Floor Plans ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Landscape Plan ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Photometric Plan ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Colored Elevations ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Material Specification Sheets ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Material Samples ☐ ☒ ☐ 
Site & Aerial Photographs ☒ ☐ ☐ 

 
9.0 Approval Criteria 

 
In accordance with Article 7, section 7.27 of the Zoning Ordinance, the proposed plans 
for development must meet the following conditions: 

 
(1) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 

there is adequate landscaped open space so as to provide light, air and access 
to the persons occupying the structure. 

(2) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 
there will be no interference with adequate light, air and access to adjacent lands 
and buildings. 

(3) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 
they will not hinder the reasonable development of adjoining property nor 
diminish the value thereof. 

(4) The site plan, and its relation to streets, driveways and sidewalks, shall be such 
as to not interfere with or be hazardous to vehicular and pedestrian traffic. 

(5) The proposed development will be compatible with other uses and buildings in 
the neighborhood and will not be contrary to the spirit and purpose of this 
chapter. 

(6) The location, shape and size of required landscaped open space is such as to 
provide adequate open space for the benefit of the inhabitants of the building 
and the surrounding neighborhood. 

 
In addition, Article 7, Section 7.36 requires applications for a Special Land Use Permit 
to meet the following criteria: 
 

(1) The use is consistent with and will promote the intent and purpose of this 
Zoning Ordinance. 



(2) The use will be compatible with adjacent uses of land, the natural environment, 
and the capabilities of public services and facilities affected by the land use. 

(3) The use is consistent with the public health, safety and welfare of the city. 
(4) The use is in compliance with all other requirements of this Zoning Ordinance. 
(5) The use will not be injurious to the surrounding neighborhood. 
(6) The use is in compliance with state and federal statutes. 

 
10.0 Recommendation 

 
Based on a review of the site plans submitted, the requirements outlined in Article 7, 
Section 7.27 of the Zoning Ordinance, and the SLUP requirements of Article 7, Section 
7.36,  the Planning Division recommends that the Planning Board recommend APPROVAL 
of the SLUP and Final Site Plan for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street with 
the following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant must provide details regarding the species of landscaping 
proposed for the entrance to ensure that no prohibited species are being used;  

2. The applicant provide option (C1 or C2) as indicated in the submitted proposals 
of the Triangle District Plan’s recommendations for Elm Street to be included 
in the site plan and proposed survey before the public hearing with City 
Commission; 

3. the applicant provide updated site plans and surveys addressing concerns 
related to the electrical pole in the sidewalk on the northwest corner of the 
property; 

4. The applicant provide updating lighting information regarding the light fixture 
specifications and the parking lot circulation area lumen values; 

5. The Planning Board approve deviations to the architectural requirements of of 
Section 3.09(D)(1), Section 3.09(B)(2), and Section 3.09(A)(4) to enable the 
applicant creativity and flexibility in design for a metal exterior, a non-inset 
front door, and a garage door on the front façade with the condition that the 
applicant provide a front elevation drawing of the proposed building 
superimposed on a color drawing or photograph of the entire block showing 
the relation of the proposed building design to other buildings along the block; 
and 

6. The applicant comply with all department requests. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
11.0 Sample Motion Language 
 

Motion to recommend APPROVAL to the City Commission of the Special Land Use Permit 
for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street with the following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant must provide details regarding the species of landscaping 
proposed for the entrance to ensure that no prohibited species are being used;  

2. The applicant provide option (C1 or C2) as indicated in the submitted proposals 
of the Triangle District Plan’s recommendations for Elm Street to be included 
in the site plan and proposed survey before the public hearing with City 
Commission; 

3. the applicant provide updated site plans and surveys addressing concerns 
related to the electrical pole in the sidewalk on the northwest corner of the 
property; 

4. The applicant provide updating lighting information regarding the light fixture 
specifications and the parking lot circulation area lumen values; 

5. The Planning Board approve deviations to the architectural requirements of of 
Section 3.09(D)(1), Section 3.09(B)(2), and Section 3.09(A)(4) to enable the 
applicant creativity and flexibility in design for a metal exterior, a non-inset 
front door, and a garage door on the front façade with the condition that the 
applicant provide a front elevation drawing of the proposed building 
superimposed on a color drawing or photograph of the entire block showing 
the relation of the proposed building design to other buildings along the block; 
and 

6. The applicant comply with all department requests. 
 

OR 
 

Motion to POSTPONE the Special Land Use Permit for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 
Haynes Street pending receipt of the following: 
 

1. ___________________________________________________________ 
2. ___________________________________________________________ 
3. ___________________________________________________________ 

 
OR 

 
Motion to recommend DENIAL to the City Commission of the Special Land Use Permit for 
34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes for the following reasons: 
 

1. ___________________________________________________________ 
2. ___________________________________________________________ 
3. ___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 



 
Motion to recommend APPROVAL to the City Commission of the Final Site Plan and 
Design Review for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street with the following 
conditions: 
 

7. The applicant must provide details regarding the species of landscaping 
proposed for the entrance to ensure that no prohibited species are being used;  

8. The applicant provide option (C1 or C2) as indicated in the submitted proposals 
of the Triangle District Plan’s recommendations for Elm Street to be included 
in the site plan and proposed survey before the public hearing with City 
Commission; 

9. the applicant provide updated site plans and surveys addressing concerns 
related to the electrical pole in the sidewalk on the northwest corner of the 
property; 

10. The applicant provide updating lighting information regarding the light fixture 
specifications and the parking lot circulation area lumen values; 

11. The Planning Board approve deviations to the architectural requirements of of 
Section 3.09(D)(1), Section 3.09(B)(2), and Section 3.09(A)(4) to enable the 
applicant creativity and flexibility in design for a metal exterior, a non-inset 
front door, and a garage door on the front façade with the condition that the 
applicant provide a front elevation drawing of the proposed building 
superimposed on a color drawing or photograph of the entire block showing 
the relation of the proposed building design to other buildings along the block; 
and 

12. The applicant comply with all department requests. 
 

OR 
 

Motion to POSTPONE the Final Site Plan and Design Review for 34350 Woodward Ave & 
909-911 Haynes Street pending receipt of the following: 
 

4. ___________________________________________________________ 
5. ___________________________________________________________ 
6. ___________________________________________________________ 

 
OR 

 
Motion to recommend DENIAL to the City Commission of the Final Site Plan and Design 
Review for 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes for the following reasons: 
 

4. ___________________________________________________________ 
5. ___________________________________________________________ 
6. ___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 1 of 3 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary | 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street | 01/21/2022 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary Sheet 
 SLUP and Final Site Plan Review 

34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes 
 
 
Existing Site: 1 story auto sales agency & 2 story commercial building 

Zoning: B2 (General Business) & MU-5/MU-7 (Triangle District Overlay) 
Land Use: Retail/Office/ Auto Sales Agency 

 
Existing Land Use and Zoning of Adjacent Properties: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Land Area:   Existing: 42,875 SF 
Proposed: 42,875 SF  

Dwelling Units: Existing: 0 units 
Proposed: 0 units 

 
Minimum Lot Area/Unit: Required: N/A 

Proposed: N/A 

Min. Floor Area /Unit: Required: N/A 

Proposed: N/A 

 
Max. Total Floor Area: 

 
Required: 

 
N/A 

Proposed: N/A 

Min. Open Space: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A  

Max. Lot Coverage: Required: N/A 

 North South East West 
Existing 
Land Use 

Commercial/ 
Office 

Commercial/ 
Retail 

Commercial/ 
Office Commercial 

Existing 
Zoning 
District 

B2 (General 
Business) 

B2 (General 
Business) 

B2 (General 
Business) & 
O2 (Office-

Commercial) 

B2 (General 
Business) 

Overlay 
Zoning 
District 

MU3 MU-7 & MU-5 MU-5 MU3 



Page 2 of 3 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary | 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street | 01/21/2022 
 

Proposed: N/A  

Front Setback: Required: 0-5 ft. for a minimum of 75% of the street frontage 
length 

Proposed: Within 0-5 feet of the front lot line for greater than 75% 
of the street frontage length. 
 

Side Setbacks Required: 0 ft. with walls facing side lot line w/ no windows 
10 ft. for walls with windows 

Proposed: 0 ft. 

Rear Setback: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A 

 
Max. Bldg. Height: Permitted: 66 ft., 5 stories (MU-5) 

90 ft., 7 stories (MU-7) 
Proposed: 45 ft., 3 stories  

Min. Bldg. Height: Permitted: 34 ft., 3 stories (MU-5) 
34 ft., 3 stories (MU-7) 

 Proposed: 45 ft., 3 stories  
 

Floor-Floor Height: Required: 14 ft. minimum (1st story) 
Proposed: 14 ft 

Front Entry: Required: On frontage line 
Proposed: On frontage line  

Absence of Bldg. Façade: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A  

Opening Width: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A 

 
Parking: Required: 35 off-street spaces  

Proposed: 47 off-street spaces available to workers and patrons 
160 total on-site: accessible + inventory 
 

Min. Parking Space Size: Required: 180 sq. ft. 
Proposed: 180 sq. ft. 

Parking in Frontage: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A  

Loading Area: Required: 2 off-street loading space 
40 ft. x 12 ft. x 14 ft. 



Page 3 of 3 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary | 34350 Woodward Ave & 909-911 Haynes Street | 01/21/2022 
 

Proposed: 2 off-street loading space 
40 ft. x 12 ft. x 14 ft. 

Screening:   
  

Parking: Required: 6 ft. masonry screen wall 
Proposed: Screened by building facade 

Loading: Required: Screened from view 
Proposed: Interior loading area screened by building 

Rooftop Mechanical: Required: Screened from view 
Proposed: 5 ft. screen wall  

Elect. Transformer: Required: Obscured from public view 
Proposed: Screened by building facade 

Dumpster: Required: Masonry screen wall with wood gates 
Proposed: Screened by building façade and masonry screen wall 

 



City of Birmingham fire Department

572 South AdAmS • BirminghAm, michigAn 48009 • 248.530.1900  FAx 248.530.1950

ALAN  G. SOAVE
  Fire mArShAl

mAtthew J. BArtAlino

ASSiStAnt chieF / oPerAtionS

PAul A. wellS

Fire chieF

January 19th, 2023

RE: Final Site Plan Review Comments 
34350 Woodward, Fred Lavery

• Follow International Fire Code 2015 for submitted plans.

• Sec. 54-32. - Emergency Power Shutdown Device
All commercial and residential structures/buildings constructed or having major renovations 
performed after the implementation of this ordinance shall provide a KNOX-VAULT 4500 Series 
Power Shutdown device, and installed as approved by the Fire Marshal, located on the exterior of the 
building. All required power shut down devices shall be installed and maintained at the building 
owner's expense. All required power shut down devices shall be installed by a qualified, licensed 
electrician.

• Knox Pad Locks required on construction fencing access gates

• Follow Chapter 33 of IFC  2015 edition "Fire Safety During Construction and Demolition"

• A Knox Box will be required

• Sprinkler System and Alarm Plans-Submit plans to AHJ for review and approval .

• CO Gas detection system and ventilation for parking garages as needed.

• FDC – facing the street within 100 feet of a Fire Hydrant.

• Construction phase of the project install a standpipe system with access to all floors

• Bi-Directional amplifier may be required.  First responder radio signal strength will be assessed 
toward the end of the construction phase.

• All life safety requirements listed in International Fire Code and NFPA documents and standards 
shall be followed and enforced.  



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
Community Development – Building Department 

151 Martin Street, Birmingham, MI 48009 
 
 
 

Final Site Plan Review Comments Page 1 
 

January 19, 2023 
 
 
RE:  Final Site Plan Review Comments 

34350 Woodward, Fred Lavery                      
 

As requested, the Building Department has examined the plans for the proposed project 
referenced above. The plans were provided to the Planning Department for site plan review 
purposes only and present conceptual elevations and floor plans. Although the plans lack 
sufficient detail to perform a code review, the following comments are offered for Planning Design 
Review purposes and applicant consideration: 
 
Applicable Building Codes: 
 
 2015 Michigan Building Code. Applies to all buildings other than those regulated by 

the Michigan Residential Code. 
 
 2015 Michigan Mechanical Code. (Residential requirements for mechanical 

construction in all detached one and two-family dwellings and multiple single-family 
dwellings (townhouses) not more than three stories in height with a separate means of 
egress and their accessory structures are contained in the Michigan Residential Code) 

 
 2018 Michigan Plumbing Code. (Residential requirements for plumbing construction 

in all detached one and two-family dwellings and multiple single-family dwellings 
(townhouses) not more than three stories in height with a separate means of egress and 
their accessory structures are contained in the Michigan Residential Code) 

 
 2017 National Electrical Code along w ith the Michigan Part 8 Rules. (Residential 

requirements for electrical construction in all detached one and two-family dwellings and 
multiple single-family dwellings (townhouses) not more than three stories in height with 
a separate means of egress and their accessory structures are contained in the Michigan 
Residential Code) 

 
Review Comments: (These comments remain from our initial review) 
 

1. Exterior doors shall not open or project into the public right of way (Building Code Section 
3202.2) 

 
2. The proposed building is setback 0-feet from the north and east property lines. These 

walls will need to have a fire resistive rating in accordance with Table 601 of the MBC. 
Table 705.8 of the Building Code will not permit the proposed openings on the first floor 
and all parking levels.  
 

3. The rooftop parking level will require access to two remote exit stairways (Building Code 
Section 406.5.7). 



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
Community Development – Building Department 

151 Martin Street, Birmingham, MI 48009 
 
 
 

Final Site Plan Review Comments Page 2 
 

4. The N/E exit stair will need to be enclosed with fire barriers in accordance with Chapter 
10 of the Building Code and comply with item 3 above.  
 

5. The office/storage area on level 3 has access to only 1 exit stair. Access to two exits is 
required in accordance with Section 1006 of the Building Code.  
 

6. The exit stairs on level 2 in the office area are not remotely separated as required by 
Section 1007.1.1 of the Building Code.  



 

18 Triangle District Urban Design Plan | Birmingham Michigan 

Circulation  

To supplement the streetscape and walkability improvements, there are a 

number of roadway improvements recommended through the Triangle 

District.  Some will enhance traffic operations and safety, while others are 

intended to make the district more walkable.   

Maple Road (A).  Maple Road between Woodward and Adams should be 

converted from two lanes in each direction to an imbalanced roadway 

configuration, for example with two westbound lanes, one eastbound lane 

and a center turn lane, as depicted in A1.  This configuration would 

improve access into the Triangle along Elm Street and to the businesses 

along Maple without widening.  Additionally, intersection improvements 

should be made at Elm and Maple to better emphasize this entrance to the 

Triangle District.   

Hazel Street (B).  The segment of Hazel between Woodward and Elm 

could be closed to minimize the number of access points along Woodward 

Avenue and minimize cut-through traffic in the residential neighborhood.  

The new space could be used as open space or could be conferred to a 

property owner or developer in a beneficial exchange. 

Woodward/Elm (C).  There are a number of options for the short block 

of Elm Street between Bowers and Woodward Avenue (C).  Because of 

the slight angle from Woodward Avenue, traffic on Woodward Avenue 

tends to enter Elm at high speeds.  In addition, the intersection with 

Bowers has limited sight distance because of building placements and a 

narrow right-of-way.  The intersection of Elm at Woodward should be 

reconfigured to require traffic entering the District at Elm to make a right 

turning movement rather than merely veering right (C1).  This would slow 

traffic and improve safety for pedestrians and motorists.  Additionally, this 

portion of Elm south of Bowers could be converted to southbound traffic 

only with the former northbound lanes converted to angled street parking 

(C2).  Alternatively, this segment could be vacated altogether and used as 

open space or developable land for an adjacent parcel (C3).   
Circulation Recommendations 

CC  

BB  

AA  

DD  

EE  

FF  

Inset of Worth Realignment 



Triangle District Urban Design Plan | Birmingham Michigan 19 

Woodward/Worth (D).  The intersection of Worth Street at 

Woodward Avenue shares many of the same problems as Bowers 

discussed above.  It is recommended that this intersection be reconfigured 

to form a right angle, greatly slowing traffic and creating the opportunity in 

the vacated right-of-way for a small greenspace with public art, landscaping, 

and wayfinding signs.  

Worth Street (E).  Currently Worth Street ends at Haynes Street.  This 

prevents circulation between the Triangle District‟s northern and southern 

halves.  Worth should be realigned parallel to Woodward Avenue and 

extended to Bowers.  This will improve north/south interior connectivity 

within the Triangle District and better link the north and south halves of 

the District, which will help support redevelopment of this area.  This road 

reconfiguration will also allow the creation of Worth Plaza in the heart of 

the Triangle District.  The alignment of Worth Street will be through the 

rear of the Boarder‟s parking lot and buildings currently located between 

Bowers and Haynes.  Therefore Worth Street realignment will need to be 

done in conjunction with the development of a parking structure and 

redevelopment of the properties on the north side of Haynes.  The specific 

alignment shown on this plan is conceptual and could be varied, provided 

the ultimate alignment created Worth Plaza. 

Bowers Street (F).  Bowers Street should also be emphasized as an 

east/west connector corridor that connects the residential areas east of 

Adams to the Triangle District and Downtown. 

Additional traffic modeling and detailed geometric designs will need to be 

evaluated further by the City‟s traffic engineer prior to implementing these 

recommendations.  

Maple Road (A1) 

Woodward/Elm (C1) Woodward/Elm (C2) 

Woodward/Elm (C3) Woodward/Worth (D1) 



 

 
MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 
 

 
DATE:  January 16, 2023 
 
TO:  Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 
 
FROM:  Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT:   Wayfinding & Branding Committee 
 
 
INTRODUCTION:  
The City of Birmingham has had a wayfinding and signage plan since 2004. Recently, the City 
Commission moved to adopt the concepts contained within a new Citywide Wayfinding and 
Signage Plan (the “Plan”) for the City of Birmingham. The City’s Ad Hoc Wayfinding & Branding 
Committee has previously worked on specific projects such as the adoption of a new City Logo 
and the aforementioned Plan, and has provided the City with a means to vet all major wayfinding 
signage and branding projects in the City that has not existed historically. The City Commission 
has expressed an interest in transitioning the Ad Hoc Committee into a permanent, standing 
committee to continue the implementation of the Plan and act as a sort of “clearing house” for 
all wayfinding and branding projects that come up.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
The concept of an Ad Hoc Wayfinding and Gateways Signage Committee (the “Committee”) was 
introduced to the City Commission on December 6, 2021 (Agenda – Minutes). In 2022, the 
Committee was initiated as a function of the Birmingham Shopping District to act as a 
clearinghouse to review and approve branding and logo applications to ensure consistency across 
the City and BSD, and currently consists of professionals from a wide range of disciplines including 
several municipal staff members. Over time, the Committee evolved to not only recommend the 
adoption of a new logo, but also to address wayfinding signage and other branding in the City as 
a whole.  
 
At this time, the member composition of the Wayfinding and Branding Committee is proposed to 
be refined based on the experience of the Committee over the last 2 years. The new, standing 
Committee will consist of 6 City staff members and 3 non-staff members. Positions are based on 
expertise, institutional knowledge, and relationships to wayfinding and branding projects in the 
City. In addition, the meeting schedule of the Committee is expected to be project-based and will 
be directed to meet by the City Manager on an as-needed basis. 
 

8D

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Department/City%20clerk/City%20Commission/20211206%20Wayfinding%20Workshop%20Agenda%20Packet.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2021/20211206%20Minutes%20-%20revised.pdf


 
 
 
 
 

2 
 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed this request and has no objections as to form and content. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
There are no direct fiscal impacts for this agenda item. However, the proposed standing 
committee would consist of several City staff members who will be participating, which will incur 
labor costs.  
 
SUSTAINABILITY: 
There are no direct sustainability impacts for this agenda item. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
No formal public communications are required for this agenda item.  
 
SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider establishing a permanent 
Wayfinding and Branding Committee to continue the implementation of the Citywide Wayfinding 
and Signage Plan and act as a clearing house for any other major wayfinding and branding 
projects in the City. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

• Wayfinding and Branding Committee Resolution 
• Wayfinding and Branding Committee Roster Sheet 

 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to establish a permanent Wayfinding and Branding 
Committee to continue the implementation of the Citywide Wayfinding and Signage Plan and act 
as a clearing house for all major wayfinding and branding projects in the City. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8D



3 

RESOLUTION 
ESTABLISHMENT OF THE WAYFINDING & BRANDING COMMITTEE 

WHEREAS, Wayfinding and branding is an important component of a successful 
destination and can provide continuity and added character as well as a heightened sense of 
place; 

WHEREAS, The City of Birmingham desires to provide a consistent and intuitive wayfinding 
system to promote activity, economic development, safety and walkability;  

WHEREAS, The City of Birmingham adopted a new City Logo in 2022 and has focused on 
utilizing the new logo strategically in an overall branding scheme;  

WHEREAS, Concepts within the 2023 Citywide Wayfinding and Signage Master Plan were 
adopted by the City Commission on December 18, 2023;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, The City Commission hereby establishes the 
Wayfinding and Branding Committee to continue the implementation of the Citywide Wayfinding 
and Signage Plan and act as a clearing house for any other major wayfinding and branding 
projects in the City. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, The Wayfinding and Branding Committee shall consist of 9 
members possessing unique qualifications and skills, and institutional knowledge and the 
members shall include City staff and/or representatives from other existing boards/commissions 
within the City of Birmingham;  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, The City Commission shall appoint members of the 
Wayfinding and Branding Committee for a term of two (2) years; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, Members of the Wayfinding and Branding Committee can be 
removed for cause determined at a public hearing at any time by the City Commission. Vacancies 
occurring shall be filled for the unexpired term by the City Commission;  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, Meetings of the Wayfinding and Branding Committee will be 
project-based, and the Wayfinding and Branding Committee will be directed to meet by the City 
Manager on an as-needed basis; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, The City Commission shall endeavor to provide funding when 
possible to support the implementation of the Citywide Wayfinding and Signage Master Plan; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, The City of Birmingham is committed to providing its 
residents, visitors and business community with a safe and easily navigable urban environment. 

8D



4 

I, Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, Michigan, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the resolution adopted by the Birmingham City 
Commission at its regular meeting held on January 22, 2024. 

Alexandria Bingham 
City Clerk  

8D



5 

WAYFINDING AND BRANDING COMMITTEE 
Members: Members are appointed by the City Commission. The composition of the Wayfinding 
and Branding Committee shall consist of 9 members and is based on unique qualifications, 
institutional knowledge and skill sets, and will include City Staff and representatives from other 
existing boards/commissions within the City of Birmingham. City Staff roles may be fulfilled by 
the listed staff person or his/her designee. Terms shall be 2 years. 

Duties: The function of the Wayfinding and Branding Committee is to continue the implementation 
of the Citywide Wayfinding and Signage Plan and act as a clearing house for any other major 
wayfinding and branding projects in the City. 

Committee Member Expertise/Role Term Expires 

Nicholas Dupuis Planning Director January 2026 

Jana Ecker City Manager January 2026 

Aaron Ford Parking Systems Manager January 2026 

Marianne Gamboa Communications Director January 2026 

Cristina Sheppard-Decius Birmingham Shopping District Executive Director January 2026 

Scott Zielinski Director of Public Services January 2026 

Doug Fehan Member at Large January 2026 

Sarvi Lipari Birmingham Shopping District January 2026 

Annie VanGelderen Public Arts Board January 2026 

8D



 
 

MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department 

 
DATE: January 16, 2024 

 
TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

 
FROM: Melissa A. Coatta, City Engineer 

 
SUBJECT: Brandon Street – Shirley Road to Linden Road 

 

 
INTRODUCTION: 
The City Commission discussed adding Brandon Street from Shirley Road to Linden Road to the 
upcoming Arlington and Shirley project.  

 
BACKGROUND: 
Brandon Street is an unimproved road, which is a gravel road with a cape seal treatment, with 
no concrete curb and gutter and no sidewalk. The existing width of the roadway varies 20’-22’ 
from Shirley east 260’, and from there east towards Linden the existing roadway width is 26’-27’. 
The additional 5’-7’ in this location is used for parking for Linden Park. City records show the last 
time a cape seal treatment was done was in the 1990s. 

 
There are no existing utilities on Brandon Street between Shirley and the west intersection of 
Linden. The current infrastructure rating for this road from Shirley to Hawthorne is 106 with a 
road rating of 80 (PASER rating of 3) and a water main rating of 26. The City recently collected 
PASER ratings in 2023 and Brandon Road is rated 2. The water main point score is from the 
existing water main located at the intersection of Brandon and Linden. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
There are three residential properties where their side yard, or long side, is along Brandon Street. 
There is a City property, Linden Park, that is the fourth property that is along Brandon. 

 
The preliminary cost to cape seal the roadway is $12,500.00-$17,500.00 if combined with another 
project that is completing a cape seal treatment. The cape seal cost assessed to the property 
owner would be 25% of the side-foot costs for all residential properties siding on the 
improvement. The city pays 75% of costs. 

8F1



2 

The preliminary cost to convert the road to an improved road is $200,000.00-$300,000.00 and is 
dependent on extending storm sewer for road drainage.  For single-family houses, if the longer 
side of a corner property faces the street being constructed, the City will pay two-thirds (2/3) of 
the cost of the assessment for that property. The property owner will be charged the remaining 
third (1/3). If the short side of a corner property faces the street to be constructed, the owner 
pays 100% of the assessment. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Brandon Street – Map of Existing Utilities

8F1



6

6
6

12

12

6
27

12

8

18

27

24

24

20

24

24

21

18 27

21

8

42

42

680

735

789

619

663

655

648

Brandon Street

Oakland County, Michigan, SEMCOG, Esri Canada, Esri, HERE, Garmin,
INCREMENT P, USGS, EPA, USDA

Hydrant

Water Valve

Outfall

Birmingham-Owned Sewer Inlet

Birmingham-Owned Manhole

StormManhole

CombinedManhole

Non-City Manhole

SanitaryManhole

Water Main

Water Lead

Birmingham-Owned Sewer Main

Storm

Sanitary

Combined

Catch Basin Lead

Non-City Sewer Main

Sanitary

Abandoned Sewer Mains

Sanitary

Sewer Service Line

OC Tax Parcels

1/16/2024, 3:31:31 PM
0 0.01 0.020.01 mi

0 0.02 0.040.01 km

1:1,128

City of Birmingham

Oakland County, Michigan, SEMCOG, Esri Canada, Esri, HERE, Garmin, INCREMENT P, USGS, EPA, USDA |8F1



MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE: January 10, 2024 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Scott A. Grewe, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT: Annual Review of ADA Project Updates Completed in 2023 

Since the Consent Decree was completed, the City began the five-year project to correct 
areas that are non-compliant with the American Disabilities Act (ADA) regarding parking 
spaces and curb ramps within the Central Business District (CBD).  Below is a project update 
as we’ve completed our fourth year of this project under the Consent Decree.  

During the first year of the project (2020), a significant amount of work was completed.  Of 
the 165 ADA parking spaces in the CBD, 51 on street and 37 structure ADA spaces received 
compliance updates.  In addition to the reconstruction of Maple Rd. the area south of Maple, 
north of Brown, east of Southfield and west of Pierce was targeted and all curb ramps out of 
compliance received updates. 

In 2021, multiple ramps were identified for repair that were outside of the planned 
construction project that would take place in 2022 along S. Old Woodward from Brown St. to 
Landon St.  Fourteen (14) ramps outside of this area were selected and repaired in 2021. 
Ramps at these locations that were non-compliant are now up to date with current MDOT 
standards.  In addition to the ramps replaced above, twenty one (21) ramps were added at 
existing ADA parking spaces where no previous ramp existed.  Also, five (5) ADA parking 
locations received improvements by installing a concrete pad in an area where no previous 
level landing pad existed.   

In 2022, the City began the reconstruction of S. Old Woodward from Brown to Landon.  This 
area covered the vast majority of remaining non-compliant curb ramps that required 
correction as part of this project.  During the reconstruction of S. Old Woodward from Brown 
to Landon Street, twenty-eight (28) existing ramps were removed and new ramps installed 
as detailed in the construction plans complying with MDOT standards.  In addition to all the 
ramps within the 2022 construction project, the Police Department, along with the 
Engineering Department, identified the remaining crosswalk curb ramps that are non-

10E1



2 

compliant.  Of these remaining locations, nine (9) ramps were identified for repair.  Ramps 
at these locations that were non-compliant are now up to date with current MDOT standards. 

In addition to the ramps replaced above, eight (8) ramps were added at existing ADA parking 
spaces where there were no previous ramps.   

2023 Curb Ramp Repairs 
In 2023, eighteen (18) remaining locations in need of updating were repaired/replaced to 
bring them up to the current ADA requirements.  Most of these locations were identified due 
to slopes greater than what is permitted both on level landing pads and ramp areas.  This 
work also included adding ADA complaint detectable warning surfaces at curb ramp locations, 
otherwise compliant, where no previous warning surfaces were installed. 

Summary 
Since entering into the Consent Decree, all metered ADA spaces that required moving to a 
more compliant location have been moved.  All curb ramps in the areas identified above have 
been reviewed and all are compliant.  With the completion of the 2023 construction season, 
the vast majority of all required improvements have been completed. 

Of the remaining locations that still require improvements, most of these were left as part of 
a larger project for 2024.  For example, Oakland Ave. from Old Woodward to Woodward is 
scheduled for repaving which will include the update of all ramps in this stretch of roadway. 
Hazel Steet is also scheduled for resurfacing in 2024 which will include curb ramp repairs. 
Additionally, the intersection of Willits and Bates is scheduled for upgraded traffic control 
signals to include the installation of mast arms.  During this project, the curb ramps will also 
be reconstructed to bring them into compliance.  

Any other remaining location in need of repair/replacement has been scheduled in 2024 to 
complete this ADA curb ramp project.  These final repairs are within the previously established 
timeline in the Consent Decree. 

Scott A. Grewe 
Chief of Police 

10E1



ADA SPACE RELOCATIONS UPDATED JAN 2024

DELETE OLD 
CS / PM ADA SPACE MOVING TO SPACE REPLACE WITH SPACE

PARKING MAINT

DELETE THESE SPACES ADD THESE SPACES
79103-1 7948-3 7948-1 COMPLETE
79101-2 7948-10 7946-6 COMPLETE
79102-6 7950-2 7944-6 COMPLETE
79101-8 7943 START 7943-6 COMPLETE
79101-10 7942-1 7942-6 COMPLETE
79101-12 7941-2 7941-7 COMPLETE
79106-19 7970-2 X LOSE 1 SPOT 7970-2 COMPLETE
79102-21 7972-6 7972-4 COMPLETE  
79102-22 7975-20 7975-13 COMPLETE
79102-23 7977-1 NONE COMPLETE
79102-26 7981-1 ADD 7938-8 COMPLETE
79102-28 7914-6 7914-29 COMPLETE
79102-30 7916-1 7914-28 COMPLETE
79102-32 7933-13 7933-1 COMPLETE
79102-36 7919-18 7919-30 COMPLETE
79102-37 7921-7 7921-9 COMPLETE
79105-40 7928-1 7928-15 COMPLETE
79101-42 7928-16 7929-8 COMPLETE

HOLD 79104-46 ???? COMMTY HOUSE hold sg af
HOLD 79104-47 ???? COMMTY HOUSE hold sg af

79102-57 7974-1 7958-10 COMPLETE
79102-59 7956-6 7956-9 COMPLETE
79102-79 7959-1 79102-79 COMPLETE
79102-80 7978-7 NEW SPACE COMPLETE

   
   

10E1



ADA SPACE RELOCATIONS UPDATED JAN 2024

ITEM LOCATION TO DO HART PAVEMENT STRIPING CEMENT WORK (RAMP / PAD) PARKING MAINT POLE 
CUT Finished

1  LANDON W OF 
OWW 79103-1 COMPLETE COMPLETE 10/13/20 COMPLETE 

10/15/20

2  LANDON W OF 
OWW 79101-2 COMPLETE ADD RAMP COMPLETE 10/13/20 COMPLETE 

10/15/20

3 750 SOWW 79101-3 COMPLETE ADD RAMP NO CHANGE

4 SOWW CROSS 79103-4 COMPLETE ADD RAMP / LOWER WALK / ADD PAD COMPLETE 10/7/20 COMPLETE 
10/15/20

 357 SOWW 79103-5 COMPLETE

5 S. SIDE FRANK 
W. OF OWW 79102-6 COMPLETE COMPLETE 10/13/20

6 555SOWW @ 
HAYNES 79101-7 COMPLETE ADD RAMP NO CHANGE

7 670 SOWW 79101-8 COMPLETE NEW CROSSWALK TO BE INSTALLED COMPLETE 10/15/20

8 555 SOWW 
NORTH 79101-9 COMPLETE ADD RAMP NO CHANGE

9

442 S. OWW                    
HALL & 
HUNTER 
REALTOR                              

79101-10 COMPLETE ADD RAMP COMPLETE 10/15/20 COMPLETE 
10/19/20

10 401 SOWW 79101-11 COMPLETE NO CHANGE

10E1



ADA SPACE RELOCATIONS UPDATED JAN 2024

ITEM LOCATION TO DO HART PAVEMENT STRIPING CEMENT WORK (RAMP / PAD) PARKING MAINT POLE 
CUT Finished

11
360 S. OWW 

FRANK'S SHOE 
REPAIR

79101-12 UNDER CONSTRUCTION ADD RAMP COMPLETE 10/13/20 COMPLETE 
10/19/20

12 BROWN AT 
BATES 79106-18 COMPLETE ADD RAMP / ADD PAD (complete 2021) COMPLETE 10/2/20 X

13 BROWN AT 
HENRIETTA 79106-19 COMPLETE ADD RAMP / ADD PAD (complete 2021) COMPLETE 12/3/2020

14 BROWN AT 
PIERCE 79106-20 COMPLETE ADD PAD WITH X FOR ACCESS X

15 BROWN AT 
PURDY 79102-21 COMPLETE ADD RAMP COMPLETE 12/3/2020

16 MERRILL AT 
PIERCE 79102-22 COMPLETE

17 MERRILL AT 
BATES 79102-23 COMPLETE

PAINT SPACE 7977-2 WHITE (1ST SPACE 
W OF BATES IN FRONT OF LIBRARY) 

(complete 2021)

18

N SIDE 
MARTIN E. OF 

CHESTER 
BEHIND 
CHURCH

79102-26 COMPLETE COMPLETE 10/7/20 COMPLETE 
10/15/20

19

ACROSS FROM 
221 HAMILTON 

(ACROSS FROM 
GREEK ISLES) AT 
COMERICA BANK 

DRIVEWAY

79102-28 COMPLETE ADD RAMP COMPLETE 10/14/20 COMPLETE 
10/19/20

20
N SIDE 

HAMILTON 
EAST OF PARK

79102-29 COMPLETE ADD RAMP NO CHANGE X

10E1



ADA SPACE RELOCATIONS UPDATED JAN 2024

ITEM LOCATION TO DO HART PAVEMENT STRIPING CEMENT WORK (RAMP / PAD) PARKING MAINT POLE 
CUT

21
E. SIDE 

FERNDALE N. 
OF HAMILTON

79102-30 COMPLETE ADD RAMP COMPLETE 10/14/20 COMPLETE 
10/19/20

22

N. SIDE 
WILLITS W OF 

BATES IN 
FRONT OF 

FIRST BAPTIST 
CHURCH

79102-31 COMPLETE ADD RAMP (complete 2021) COMPLETE 10/2/20 COMPLETE 
10/19/20

23

N. SIDE 
WILLITS E. OF 
BATES ACROSS 

FROM 117 
WILLITS SLIDER 

BAR

79102-32 COMPLETE ADD RAMP COMPLETE 10/16/20 COMPLETE 
10/19/20

24 322 N. OWW 79102-35 COMPLETE ADD RAMP NO CHANGE

25 380 NOWW 79102-36 COMPLETE ADD RAMP (complete 2021) COMPLETE 10/14/20 COMPLETE 
10/19/20

26 474 NOWW 79102-37 COMPLETE ADD RAMP COMPLETE 10/16/20 COMPLETE 
10/19/20

27 550 NOWW 79102-38 COMPLETE ADD PAD / RAMP (complete 2021) NO CHANGE

28 885 NOWW 79105-40 COMPLETE ADD RAMP (complete 2021) COMPLETE 10/16/20 COMPLETE 
10/15/20

29 525 N. OLD 
WW 79101-41 COMPLETE ADD RAMP (complete 2021) NO CHANGE

30 647 NOWW 79101-42 COMPLETE ADD RAMP (complete 2021) COMPLETE 10/16/20 COMPLETE 
10/15/20

31 OLD WW AT 
HARMON 79101-43 COMPLETE ADD RAMP (complete 2021) NO CHANGE

10E1



ADA SPACE RELOCATIONS UPDATED JAN 2024

ITEM LOCATION TO DO HART PAVEMENT STRIPING CEMENT WORK (RAMP / PAD) PARKING MAINT POLE 
CUT

32 BATES AT 
TOWNSEND 79104-45 COMPLETE PAINT WHITE PAINT AT SPACE 7961-6

33 BATES AT 
MERRILL 79104-46 ON HOLD ON HOLD SG

33 BATES AT 
MERRILL 79104-47 ON HOLD ON HOLD SG

34 BATES AT 
MERRILL 79102-48 X MOVED NORTH OF SPACE 

COMPLETE ADD RAMP  ON HOLD MOVE ASSETS ONLY

35 BATES AT 
MAPLE 79102-49 COMPLETE ADD RAMP (complete 2021) NO CHANGE

36 CHESTER AT 
TOWNSEND 79106-50 COMPLETE DONE 11/10/20 NO CHANGE

37 CHESTER AT 
MERRILL 79104-51 COMPLETE DONE 11/10/20 NO CHANGE

38
W SIDE 

CHESTER S OF 
MARTIN

79104-52
COMPLETE

DONE 11/10/20 NO CHANGE

39

W SIDE 
CHESTER N OF 

MARTIN AT 
STRUCTURE

79104-53 COMPLETE DONE 11/10/20 COMPLETE 10/2/20 COMPLETE 
10/15/20

40 MARTIN AT 
BATES 79102-54 COMPLETE ADDED RAMP (complete 2020) NO CHANGE

41 MARTIN AT 
HENRIETTA 79102-55 COMPLETE ADDED RAMP(complete 2020) NO CHANGE

42 MARTIN AT 
PIERCE 79102-56 COMPLETE DONE 11/10/20 NO CHANGE

10E1



ADA SPACE RELOCATIONS UPDATED JAN 2024

ITEM LOCATION TO DO HART PAVEMENT STRIPING CEMENT WORK (RAMP / PAD) PARKING MAINT POLE 
CUT Finished

43
N SIDE 

TOWNSEND E. 
OF BATES

79102-57 COMPLETE DONE 11/10/20 COMPLETE

44 102 PIERCE 79102-59 COMPLETE ADD RAMP COMPLETE 10/20/20 COMPLETE 
10/19/20

45 PIERCE AT 
MERRILL 79102-60 COMPLETE ADDED RAMP NO CHANGE

46 PIERCE AT 
TOWNSEND 79102-61 COMPLETE ADD RAMP NO CHANGE

47 259 
TOWNSEND 79104-62 COMPLETE DONE 11/10/20 NO CHANGE

48 HAMILTON 
ALLEY 79102-63

MOVE METER TO FRONT EDGE OF 
ADA ACCESSIBLE AREA AND 
LOWER TO PROPER HEIGHT

RAMP IN ACCESSIBLE AREA AND MOVE 
METER POST LOCATION NO CHANGE

49 LOT 7 79104-71 COMPLETE METER POST MOVED NO CHANGE
LOT 7 79104-72 COMPLETE METER POST MOVED NO CHANGE

50 LOT 9 79102-73 COMPLETE METER POST MOVED NO CHANGE

51 HENRIETTA AT 
MERRILL 79102-79 COMPLETE DONE 11/10/20 10/20/2020

NEW 800 N. OWW 
ACCESS DRIVE

79102-77 COMPLETE DONE 10/31/23 10/20/2020

NEW 856 N. OLD 
WOODWARD 79101-39

MOVE 79101-39 TO 7927-1 AND 
DELETE SPACE 7927-1.  ADD ADA 
ACCESS MARKINGS ON S SIDE OF 

NEW SPACE DONE

DONE 10/31/23

NEW 808 SOWW 79102-81 COMPLETE DONE 07/20/23

10E1



X-Street CornerDirectio Dome A B 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15

Townsend SE W Y 4'8" 4'10" 0.6 0.4 0.1 0 0.1 0.2 0 0.2 3.9 4.2 0 3.6
SE N Y 4'10" 4'8" 0.2 0 0 0.5 0.3 0.1 0.6 1.8 3.9 4.2 0.6 2.9
SW E Y 4'8" 4'10" 0.2 1.6 2 0.3 0.8 0.5 1.6 2.3 0.6 1.8
SW N Y 4'10" 4'8" 0.3 0.7 0.7 1.9 1.8 1.1 0.9 0.5 2.7 2.5 0.1 1.8
NW S Y 6' 5'3" 0.1 0.3 0.4 0.5 1.1 1.5 0.5 0.7 0.4 2.1 1.5 2.8 0.5 2.3
NW E Y 5'3" 6' 0.7 1.2 1.5 0.4 0.1 0 1.5 2 1.9 3.8 1.4 2.2
NE W Y 5'1" 5'2" 0.7 1.7 2 1.3 1.2 0.9 1.8 1.8 0.8 1.4 1.8 0.6
NE S Y 5'2" 5'1" 1.6 2 1.4 1.4 0.9 1.8 1.2 1.1 3.6 4.3 1.1 1

S. of Merrill W E Y 5'1" 5' 1 1 0.7 1 1.6 1.8 0 0.8 12 13.1 0.2 3
Merrill SE W Y 6' 6'3" 1.6 0.8 1 2 1.9 1.7 0 0.4 1.8 3.1 1.2 2.4

SE N Y 6'3" 6' 1.6 1.9 2 0.8 0.4 0.4 2 2.3 1.8 0.7 0.3 0.7 0.7 2.4
NE S Y 6' 5' 0.9 1 1.4 1.7 2.1 2.4 1.4 2 3.9 0.8 0.4 1.7 1.8 0.6
NE W Y 5' 6' 2.4 2 1.6 1 0.9 1.5 1.3 0.8 0.6 0.5 0 1.3
NW E Y 5' 5'9" 1 0.8 0.6 0.9 1.2 1.2 0.9 0.6 1.5 1 0.8 1.2
NW S Y 5'9" 5' 1.4 1.2 0.7 0.6 0.9 0.2 0.7 0.3 1.1 1.1 0.2 0.7
SW N Y 5' 5'1" 2.6 1.7 1.8 0.7 0.9 0.8 0.8 0.1 1.7 2.4 0.9 0.6
SW E Y 5'1" 5' 0.8 0.8 0.8 2.3 1.3 1.3 0 0.6 3.9 5.1 1.5 2.8

Martin SE W Y 10' 6'6" 0.2 0.4 0.2 0.8 1.5 0.8 0.4 0.3 1.6 2.8 1 1.4
SE N Y 6'6" 10' 0.8 1.5 0.8 0.2 0.4 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.9 1.7 1.4 0.9 0.5
NE S Y 5'4" 5'9" 0.2 1.1 0.3 1.1 1.4 1.1 0.4 0.9 1.2 0.3 0.7 1.8 0.6 0.2 0.7
NE W Y 5'9" 5'4" 1.1 1.4 1.1 0.3 1.1 0.2 0.7 0.3 3.2 2.4 0.8 3.1
NW E Y 5' 5' 1.1 1.2 1.1 0.8 0.2 0.1 1.2 0.1 2.8 3.3 0.3 2.2
NW S Y 5' 5' 0.1 0.2 0.8 1.1 1.2 1.1 0.1 0.9 0.2 0.6 1.3 1.2 0.2 0.9 0.6
SW N Y 5' 5' 1.4 1.4 1.2 0.3 0.3 0 1.1 1.7 1.7 2 2.7 0.3 2.4 3.1 0
SW E Y 5' 5' 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.5 0.4 0.7 0.1 0 0.5 2.4 4.1 3.4 0.5 0.9 1

Willits SW N
SW E
NW S Y 5' 5' 0.4 0.4 0.7 2.2 2.3 1.8 1.9 3.5 0.3 3.5
NW E N 5' 5' 0.3 0.4 0.2 1.7 2.7 2.9 0.5 1.1 3.9 5.6 2.4 3.1

ADA Ramp Measurements

Bates

No landing pad, needs redesign.
No landing pad, needs redesign.

10E1



NE S N 5' 5' 3.6 3.6 7.3 1 4.3 4.2 8.7 9.2 2.1 4.8 2.3
NE W n 5' 5' 0.4 0.2 0.3 1.2 1.2 1.1 2.8 2.9 4.3 5 4.4 8.8

Woodward S N Y 5' 5' 0.5 0.5 0.2 0.4 0.2 0.4 0.2 0.1 0.7 0.5 0.5 2.5
N S Y 5' 5' 0.5 0 0 0.6 0.8 0.5 0.2 0.2 0.8 0.4 0.5 0.3 1.7

Woodward NW S Y 8' 8' 0.4 0.2 0.8 1.5 0.9 0.1 0.5 0.8 0.4 3 2.6 3 1.3 3.1
NW E Y 8' 8' 0.4 0.4 1 0.6 0.1 0.2 1 0.3 0.6 1.8 1.6 2.3 1.4 0.8
SW N Y 8' 8' 0.3 0.3 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.1 0.4 0.1 3.6 2.6 0.3 2.8

Peabody SE N Y 5' 3' 0.2 0.6 1 2.2 2.2 1.2 0.1 1.8 0.9 2.6
NE S Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.1 0.1 0.9 0.6 0 0.5 0.4 0 4.8 3.8 1.4 0.4 1.8
NE W Y 5' 5' 0.2 0.2 0.3 1.9 2.2 1.8 0.4 0.8 3.3 2.3 1.3 2.4
NW E N 4' 4' 3 1.3 0.6 2.7 3.3 3.8 0.1 0.6 4.3 5.2 1.8 3.2
NW S Y 5' 5' 1.2 0.6 0.3 1.9 1.7 2.1 1 0.6 0.8 4.5 4.2 5.2 0.3 0.8
SW N Y 4' 4' 1.5 2.2 1.3 0.8 0.7 0.7 1.1 1 4.6 5.6 0.6 0.4

260 E. Brown SS N N 5' 5' 0.1 0 0.2 2 1.9 2.3 0.9 0.3 6.2 5.2 0.9 1.7
NS S N 5' 5' 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.7 0.8 0.8 0.2 0.1 4.2 3.9 0 0.8

Purdy SE W Y 4' 5' 1 1.1 0.1 1.5 1.9 2.5 0.5 0.1 0.2 0.8 0.8 2.8 0.8 1.6
SW E Y 5' 5' 1.1 1 0.9 1.6 1.9 2.3 0.9 1.4 0.9 3.4 3.4 4.2 0.2 0.1

Pierce NW E Y 5' 5' 1.5 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.3 1.5 1.4 2 0.4 5.5 6.2 6.5 0.1 0.2
NW S Y 5' 5' 0.1 0.6 0.4 0.1 1.4 1.3 0.7 0.4 0.1 5.5 4.5 4.9 0.2 0.2
NE W Y 5' 5' 1.7 1.6 2.5 1.4 2.2 0.6 1.8 1.7 2.1 3 1.9 2.2 2.5 1.4
NE S Y 5' 5' 0.6 1 0.1 1.4 1.8 1.6 0.3 0.3 1.3 5.2 4.5 5.2 0.2 0.8
SE W N 5' 5' 0.4 0.4 0.5 2.6 2.4 1.4 1.5 0.7 1.8 4.8 0.7 1.8 0.8
SE N N 5' 5' 1.4 2.4 2.6 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.8 0.1 1.1 2.4 3.5 2.6 0.1 1.4
SW E Y 5' 5' 0.5 0.5 0 0.6 0.7 0.6 0.1 1.2 1.5 3.1 0.4 0.1
SW N Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.7 0.6 0.5 0.5 0 0.1 1.6 0.8 1.5 1.4 0.4

Henreitta NW E N 4' 4' 0.3 0.5 1 1 1.1 0.7 0.5 1.2 0.6 0.2 0.5
NW S N 4' 4' 0.7 1.1 1 0.3 0.5 1 0.4 3 0.3 0.3 0.2
NE W Y 6' 6' 0.5 0.3 0.5 0 0.2 0.2 0.5 1.5 2 0.4 0.4 2.5 1.3 1.5 1.6
NE S N 6' 6' 0.9 0.8 0.3 0.9 0.8 0.3 1.1 1.9 4.8 4.9 1.3 0.3 1.7
SE W Y 4' 4' 1.5 1.7 2 1 1.2 0.1 0.5 0.2 0.8 0.8 1.1 0.2 2.2
SE N Y 4' 4' 0.1 1.2 1 1.5 1.7 2 0.3 0.6 0.9 0.8 0.8 0.4 0.8

Bowers

Brown

10E1



SW E N 4' 4' 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.5 0.8 0 0.2 2 1.1 0
SW N N 4' 4' 0.5 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.4 1.1 3.4 0.2 1.2 0.8

Bates NW E Y 4' 4' 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.5 0.2 0.4 1.2 0.3 3.1 1.8 0
NW S Y 4' 4' 0.4 0.5 0.2 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.7 0.6 2.2 4 0.3 0.9
NE W N 4' 4' 0.5 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 1.2 0.6 0.7 2.2 1.5 1.2 1
NE S N 4' 4' 3.4 3.2 3.1 2.9 3.8 4.4 3.5 1.5 2.9 3.1 0.9 0.9
SE W Y 4' 4' 0.6 0.3 0.6 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.5 0.2 0.6 0.8 0.3 0.9 0.2 1.6
SE N Y 4' 4' 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.6 0.3 0.4 0.2 0 0.8 1 0.2 1.4 0.5 1.1
SW E N 4' 4' 0.9 0.7 0.8 1.8 1.5 0.4 1.4 0.7 1.4 2.2 0.9 1.2 0.1
SW N N 4' 4' 1.8 1.5 0.4 0.8 0.7 0.9 0.6 0.7 0.5 1.4 1.6 0.8 2

Chester NW
NE W Y 5' 5' 0.9 0.3 0.6 0.4 1.6 0.9 1.6 2.3 1.6 1.8 0.5 2.2 0.5 2
NE S Y 5' 5' 0.4 1.6 0.9 0.9 0.3 0.6 0.1 0.9 1.7 3.9 1.2 3 2.5 1.1
SE W N 4' 4' 1 0.3 0.2 0.7 1.1 1.8 0.4 1 0.5 0.7
SE N N 4' 4' 0.7 1.1 1.8 1 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.5 0.1 0.8
SW E N 4' 4' 1 1.6 1 0.3 1.1 0.1 0.5 0.3 0.7 1.5
SW N N 4' 4' 0.3 1.1 1 1 1.6 1 0.3 1.4 1 0.3

Townsend NW E Y 5' 5' 0.4 0.2 0.4 0.4 0.8 0.7 0.2 0.2 0.4 0 0.2 0.2
NW S Y 5' 5' 0.7 0.8 0.4 0.4 0.2 0.4 1.5 0.3 0.5 1.4 1.6 1.4
SW N Y 5' 5' 0.9 0.6 0.4 0.4 0.2 0.1 0.1 1.3 0.2 0.5 0.5 1.2
SW E Y 5' 5' 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.9 0.6 0.4 0.1 1.1 0.8 0.5 0 0.7
NE W Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.6 0.4 1 0.6 1 0.8 1.1 1.6 0.4 0.4 0.3
NE S Y 5' 5' 1 0.6 1 0.4 0.6 0.6 0.8 1.6 1.1 0.6 1.1 0.4
SE N Y 5' 5' 0.1 0.7 1.1 0.3 1.2 0.9 1.2 1 0.4 0.5 1.8 0.3
SE W Y 5' 5' 0.3 1.2 0.9 1.1 0.7 0.1 1.2 0.7 1.8 0.6 0.8 0.1

Merrill NW S Y 5' 5' 0.9 0.5 0.8 0.9 1.1 0.9 0.8 1.2 0.5 1.3
NW E Y 5' 5' 0.9 1.1 0.9 0.8 0.5 0.9 1.9 1 1 1.8
SW N Y 5' 5' 0.3 0.4 0.6 1.4 1.4 1.4 0.6 0.1 0.8 4.2 1 0.8 0.9 0.8 0.4
SW E Y 5' 5' 1.4 0 0.4 0.6 0.3 0.5 0.4 0.2 0.2 3.8 3.1 1.3 0.4 0.5 0.7
NE S Y 5' 5' 1 0.3 0.1 0 0.3 0.6 0.8 1 0.3 1.3
NE W Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.3 0.1 1 0.3 0 0.8 0.1 1.4 1.1
SE N Y 5' 5' 0.9 0.9 0.7 1.2 0.4 1.2 1.1 0 0.7 3.8 1.2 0.9 1 0.9 0.4

Chester

This ramp needs review.  No ramp, all landing pad and not 2% or less.

10E1



SE W Y 5' 5' 2 2 1.3 0.1 0.2 0.2 1.9 1.2 0.5 0.4 2.5 1 0.8 0.3 0.5
Martin NE S Y 5' 5' 1.5 0.8 0 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.3 1 1.4 2.1 2.5 3.4 1.2 2.5

NE W Y 5' 5' 0.1 0.2 0.2 0 0.8 1.5 0.2 0.1 2.4 2 0.7 1.6
NW E Y 5'1" 5' 1.8 1.5 1.5 1.2 0.7 0.9 1.7 1.3 1.7 2.1 1.7 3.5 0 1.6
NW S Y 5' 5'1" 0.9 0.7 1.2 1.5 1.5 1.8 0.6 0.9 1 1.4 1.2 1.6
SW N Y 5' 5'10" 1.4 0.9 0.7 0.7 0.5 0.6 1.3 2.4 0.7 0.9
SW E Y 5'10" 5' 0.5 0.2 0 1.6 1.6 1.2 0.6 0.4 3.9 3.4 0.6 3.5
SE N Y 5' 5' 0.9 0.9 1.1 0 0.3 0.5 1 0.6 1.1 1.8 1.8 1.7 0.5 1.3
SE W Y 5' 5' 0.5 0.3 0 1.1 0.9 0.9 0 0.3 0.8 2.7 2.2 2.3 0.5 2

Willits SW N Y 5' 5' 0 0.1 0 0.8 0.7 0.6 0.1 0.3 3.9 3 0.2 1
NW S Y 5' 4' 2.4 1.8 1.1 1.5 2.6 2.9 0.6 0.9 3.5 0.8 3.7

Purdy S N Y 5' 4.5' 1.2 1.4 1.4 0.7 0.7 0.6 1.1 1.2 0.6 1.2 0.7 3.3
N S Y 5' 3' 0.3 0 0.1 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.7 0.7 2.6 2.6 0.5 1.5 0.3

Ferndale
E W Y 5' 5' 0 0.1 0 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.4 0.8 5.3 4.5 0.3 2
W E Y 5' 5' 0.8 0.9 1 0.6 0.6 0.9 1.2 1.1 3.9 3.8 0.9 3

Hamilton
Woodward S N Y 5' 5' 1.6 1.9 1.2 1.2 1.6 1.7 1.4 0.8 0.6 3.9 2.5 3.1 0.6 0.3 1.5

N S Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.4 0.7 0.6 0.6 1.1 0.1 0.6 0.4 4.5 3.1 4.2 0.5 0 0.8
Park NW S Y 5' 5' 0.9 1.3 1.3 0.1 0 0.2 1.6 0.4 0.4 3.2 4.2 2.5 0.1 0.4 0.2

NW E Y 5' 5' 0 0.2 0 1.1 0.8 1.1 0.1 0.8 0.4 2.7 4.1 2.8 0.4 0.1 0.9
NE W Y 5' 5' 0.7 1.3 1.4 0.6 1 0.4 1.1 2 1.7 0.5 0.1 1.2
NE S Y 5' 5' 0 0.1 0.6 0.6 0.6 1.1 0.8 1.1 1.4 2.4 1.1 0.8 0.8 1.8 1.2
SE N Y 5' 5' 0.1 0.7 0.9 0.5 1 0.6 0.2 0 0.6 3.9 3.8 1.9 1.2 0.8 1.3
SE W Y 5' 5' 0.1 0.7 0.9 0.5 1 0.6 0.5 0.8 0.1 4.5 3.8 3.1 0.7 0.3 0.8
SW N Y 5' 5' 2 1.6 0.7 0.2 0.6 1 0.4 0.5 0.2 0.6 0.6 2 0.5 0.6 0.2
SW E Y 5' 5' 1.2 0.9 1.5 0.4 0.8 0.8 1.4 1.6 1.3 2.3 1.1 1.4 0.9

Ferndale NW E Y 5' 5' 1.4 0.1 0.1 1.3 1.9 1.8 0.6 2 1.2 4.1
Haynes

Woodward
Hazel

Woodward NW S Y 5' 5' 0.1 0.2 0.5 0.2 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.7 0.2 3.9

Daines

Ramp to nowhere, should be eliminated

N. of 
Hamilton

10E1



SW N
Hennrietta

Townsend NE W Y 5'4" 5' 1 0.8 0.9 1.5 1.7 1.1 0.9 1.1 2.2 1.9 0.6 1.1
NE S Y 5' 5'4" 2 1.7 1.1 0.9 0.9 1 1.3 1.8 0.7 3.7
SE W Y 6'10" 5'3" 1.3 0.9 0.4 0.7 1.4 0.6 0.4 1.1 2.4 3.9 0.2 2.1
SE N Y 5'3" 6'10" 0.1 1.1 0.7 1.5 0.7 0.3 0.6 0.4 2.5 3.2 0.4 4.5
SW E Y 4'1" 5' 1.4 1.5 1.2 1 0.6 0.8 1.5 1.4 0.8 1.9 2.4 0.6 2.4
SW N Y 5' 4'1" 0.9 0.7 0.9 1.3 1.5 1.5 0.7 0.4 0.4 2.2 2.2 0.1 3
NW E Y 5' 8'2" 2.7 2.4 2.4 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.7 2 2.5 2.8 0 3.2
NW S Y 8'2" 5' 1.5 1.4 1.2 2.6 2.1 2.2 1 0.5 2.4 3.5 1.4 2.5

Merrill NE W Y 7'5" 5'8" 0.1 0.4 0.1 1.2 1 1.5 0.1 0.1 1 2.1 0.2 2.5
NE S Y 5'8" 7'5" 0.4 0.4 0.2 1 0.6 0.2 0.7 0.2 1.1 2.9 0.5 3.1
SE W Y 5'8" 5' 0.5 0.4 0.2 0.8 0.8 0.8 1.1 0.8 1.8 2.5 0.1 2.8
SE N Y 5' 5'8" 0.7 0.9 1 0.6 0.5 0.1 1.3 1 1.6 2.1 0.6 1
SW E Y 5' 5'8" 0.8 0.1 1 0.9 1.4 1.9 0.8 0.3 1.8 1.3 0.1 3.1
NW E Y 5' 5'10" 1 0.6 0.3 1.1 0.4 0 0.1 0.3 1.8 2.1 0.6 2.5

Martin NE W Y 6'8" 5'10" 5 4.6 4.4 0.6 0.5 1.9 2 1.2 1 7.1 3.8 1.7
NE S Y 5'10" 6'8" 0.8 0.8 1.2 2.5 2.6 3 0.6 0.5 0.3 0.3 1.1 0.3 0.1 0.6 0.7
SE N Y 5'8" 5' 2.9 1.6 1.4 0.2 0.3 0.2 2 1.4 1.8 0.7 0.6 1.1 1.4 3.3 3.4
SE W Y 5' 5'8" 0.2 0.3 0.2 1.4 1.6 2.9 0.3 0.9 0.3 1.9 5.3 0.2 6.8

SW N Y 8'5" 8'4" 1.2 1 0.3 2.1 2.1 2.7 0.1 0.2 0.1 1.7 1.1 3.1 0.9 0.8 3.8
SW E Y 8'4" 8'5" 0.2 0.4 0.3 1.4 1 0.3 0.2 0.8 2.7 2.2 0.5 2.2
NW S Y 5' 6'5" 1.9 1.3 0.6 2.8 2.3 1.3 0.7 0.5 0.8 1.2 1.6 2.2 0.5 0.4 3.1
NW E Y 6'5" 5' 2.8 2.5 1.3 0.6 1.4 1.7 0.6 0.3 1.9 4.3 0.5 2.5

NE S Y 4' 5' 1.9 1.6 1.9 0.8 0.5 1.8 1.7 3.2 0.3 2.4 3.6 0.9
SE N Y 4'9" 8' 1 0.9 0.9 0.3 0.1 0.1 1 1 1 0.5 2.6 1.3
SE W Y 8' 4'9" 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.9 0.9 1 0.2 0.7 2 2.3
SW E N 5'3" 5' 1 0.5 0.1 2.6 2.3 2.1 0.1 0.1 2.7 0.4 0.3 1.2

SE corner Stru NW S Y 5' 4' 0.2 0.3 0.2 3.1 2.9 3.1 0.8 2
CH entrance E N W Y 5' 5' 1.5 1.7 1 0.3 0.8 0.4 1.9 1 3.3 5.2 0.3 0.6
CH entrance W N E Y

Not enough room for landing pad.

Southfield

E. Maple

Martin

10E1



E MAPLE CW N S Y 5 5 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.4 0.5 0.9 0 0.3 0.2 4.3 1.1 3.3 0.2 0 1.8
S N Y 5 5 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.3 0.5 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.3 4 1.6 3.4 0.5 0.2 2.6

Old WW SE N Y 5 5 0.2 0.2 0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0 0.8 1.2 0.3 2.1 0.9 0.3 0.4 0.1
SE W Y 5 5 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0 0.4 0.8 0.2 0.8 1.2 2.1 1.5 0.6 0.7
SW N Y 5 5 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.9 0.6 0.6 0.7 1.1 3.1 4.2 0.2 0 0.8
SW E Y 5 5 0.3 0.1 0.4 0.7 0.9 0.2 0.7 0.7 0.2 3.2 1.4 2.2 1 0.8 0.2
NW E Y 5 5 2 1.1 1.2 0.7 1.3 2 0.7 1 0.9 0.9 2.7 3.2 0.8 0.1 0.8
NW S Y 5 5 2 1.3 0.7 2 1.1 1.2 0.7 0.7 0.1 1.2 2.8 2.8 1.2 0.7 1.6
NE W Y 5' 5' 0.2 0.1 0 1.6 1.4 1.2 0 0.6 0.6 2.2 3.4 3 0.5 0.7 2.3
NE S Y 5' 5' 0.8 0.5 1 1 1 1 0.5 0.3 0.2 2.8 4.7 5 1 0.7 2.3

Peabody SE W Y 5' 5' 0.8 0.7 0.6 0.4 0.6 0.4 1.5 1.7 0.7 1 1.4 1.4 0.2 0.8 1.4
SW E Y 5' 5' 0.5 0.9 0.7 0.6 0.2 0.2 1 1.5 0.8 0.6 1.5 0.4 1.1 0.7 0.7
SW N Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.2 0.2 0.7 0.9 0.5 0.1 0.3 0.2 0.8 1.3 1.2 0.6 0.9 0.9

Park NW S Y 5' 5' 0.8 1 1.1 0.8 0.6 1 0.9 0.6 0.2 0.6 0.4 0.9 0.3 0 0.7
NE W Y 5' 5' 1 0.9 0.7 0.6 0.7 1 0.8 0.4 0.9 2.4 0.6 0.1 0.3
NW E Y 5' 5' 0.8 0.6 1 1.1 1 0.8 1.1 0.8 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.3 0.5

Woodward NW E Y 5' 5' 0.3 0.6 0.6 0.7 0.8 1 0.4 0.1 0.8 1 1.7 1.6 0.7 0.2 2.3
NW S Y 5' 5' 1 0.8 0.7 0.3 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.8 4.7 4.2 0.7 0.6 1.4
SW E Y 5' 5' 0.1 0.3 0.5 1.1 0.8 0.7 0.1 0.3 0.3 1.2 1.4 1.7 1 0.9 0.6
SW N Y 5' 5' 1.1 0.8 0.7 0.5 0.3 0.1 0.8 1.3 0.4 0.3 1.3 1.4 0.8 0.7 0.2

Southfield S N Y 5' 5' 1.1 0.9 0.4 0.4 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.2
N S Y 5' 5' 1.1 1.2 1.1 0.8 0.5 0.8 1.3 1.5 5 1.1 4.3
E W Y 5' 5' 0.8 0.8 0 0.9 1 0.9 0.6 0.6 0.3 4 3.5 3.3 1 1.1 1.8
W E Y 5' 5' 0.5 0.7 0.8 0.6 0.6 0.6 1.1 1.1 1.2 0.2 0.6 0.7

SW E Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.6 0.5 0.3 1.4 1.7 1.2 0 0.4 1.1 1.4 1.5 0.7
SE W Y 5' 5' 0.3 1.2 0.5 0.5 0.7 0.4 0.3 0.5 4.4 4.5 1.1 2.2

Chester SW N Y 5' 5' 0.4 0.3 0 1 1.4 1.3 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.3 2.4 3.2 0.3 0.6 1.7 gineeri  
SW E Y 5' 5' 1.5 0.2 0.4 0.8 1.1 0.4 0.5 0.3 0.1 0.2 2.7 2.4 0.4 0.1 2.2
SE W Y 5' 5' 0.4 0.4 0.1 0.9 1.1 1.1 0.3 0.4 0.9 3.8 3.9 4.1 0.9 0.6 0.2
SE N Y 5' 5' 0 0 0 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.5 0.3 0 1.9 4 3.1 0.5 0.4 0.4

NW S Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.2 0.5 1 1 0.9 0.5 0.5 0.3 3.6 3.5 3.8 1 0.3 1.4
NW E Y 5' 5' 1.7 1.9 1.8 1 1 0.3 1.4 1.2 0.8 3.1 4.1 3.9 0.4 0.8 1

W. Maple

10E1



NE W Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.7 0.8 0.6 0.3 0.8 3.7 3.8 3.3 1 1.5 1.7
NE S Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.7 0.8 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.8 1.3 0.9 2.6 1.8 0.9 0 0.7 0.2

Bates SE W Y 5' 5' 0.8 0.8 0.8 1.1 1.2 1.2 0.7 0.5 0.9 1.1 0.9 3.1 0.1 0.4 0.4
SE N Y 5' 5' 1.2 1.2 1.1 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.9 1 1.6 0.2 1 0.1 0.7 1.5
SW E Y 5' 5' 0.5 0.5 0.8 0 0.6 0.9 0.7 2 1.2 3.6 3.3 0.6 1.1 0
SW N Y 5' 5' 0 0.6 0.9 0.8 0.5 0.5 0.6 1.9 0.1 3.6 2.9 3.2 0.9 0.6 0.5
NW S
NW E Y 5' 5' 0.8 0.8 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.3 0.5 0.4 1.3 0.1 2.6 2.4 0.1 0.6 1.6
NE W Y 5' 5' 1.3 1.2 1.1 0.1 0.3 0.4 1.2 0.7 0.1 1.1 1.4 1.6 0.4 0.4 0.8
NE S Y 5' 5' 0.1 0.3 0.4 1.1 1.2 1.3 0.3 0.4 0.7 0.2 0.5 0.2 0.8 0.6 1.7

Henrietta SE N Y 5' 5' 0.2 0.6 0.4 0.6 0.6 0.8 1.8 1.4 0.9 2.7 1.9 2.2 0.7 0.6 1.4
SE W Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.6 0.2 1.2 0.6 0.4 2.9 2.7 3 0.2 0.5 0.9
SW E Y 5' 5' 1 1.5 1.6 0.6 0.8 1.3 2.2 1.7 2 1.6 0.7 0.9 0.7
SW N Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.8 1.3 1.6 1.5 1 1.3 0 1.1 1.9 2.6 2.8 1.1 1.1 2.6
NW S Y 5' 5' 0.5 0.7 0.3 0.8 0.7 1.2 0.5 0 0.5 3.7 3.8 3.4 0.3 0.3 0.2
NE S Y 5' 5' 0.5 0.1 0.2 1.2 1.8 1.6 0.3 0.4 0.7 0.4 3.3 3 0.7 0.5 0.5

Pierce SE W Y 5' 5' 1.1 0.4 0.2 0.2 0.4 1 0.4 0.9 1.8 2.6 0.6 0.5 1.7
SW E Y 5' 5' 0.5 0.5 0.3 0.9 1.1 0.7 0.5 0.7 1.6 3.2 4.2 2.5 0.6 0.2 0
SW N Y 5' 5' 0.9 1.1 0.7 0.3 0.5 0.5 0.8 1.7 3.5 2.5 1.2 0.8 0.1
NW S Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.3 0.1 1.2 1.5 1.7 0.2 0.1 4.4 3.5 0.1 0 3.2

SE N N 5' 4'2" 1.2 2 2 0.4 1.1 1.1 3.7 2.3 4.2 4 1.5 1
NE S N 5' 5' 2.1 3.3 3.1 1.7 1.9 0.9 3.7 3.2 5.6 4.8 1.5 4.2

Oakland NW S Y 5' 5' 1 0.7 1.5 1.1 1.7 1.4 1.7 2.2 3.9 3.7 0.8 0.3
NW E Y 5' 5' 1.8 1.6 1.9 3.2 3.2 2.4 1.8 1.6 0.5 4 3.4 4.2 0.5 2.5

Euclid SE N Y 5' 5' 0.7 0.3 0.5 4 4.1 4.2 2.1 2.8 2.3 4.5 3.6 3.7 0.9 0.5 4.5
NE S Y 5' 5' 1 1.2 0.7 3.7 3.6 3.3 1.2 1.5 3.9 2.9 1.7 0.1 3.9

Ravine SE N Y 5' 5' 1.5 1.4 1.8 1.5 1.7 1.9 1.9 1.6 1.3 4.6 5.3 3.5 1.8 1 1.9
NE S Y 5' 5' 0 0.3 0.6 0.3 0.9 1.2 0.9 0.4 0.5 0.5 3.6 3.8 1.9 0.6 1.4

Harmon NW S Y 5' 5' 1.5 1.1 0.8 0.4 0.2 0.1 1 1.2 5.7 6.2 0.6 1.3
SW N Y 5' 5' 0.5 0.2 0 0.8 1 1.4 0.4 0.6 4.5 5.3 0.1 2.7
E W Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.7 0.4 1.9 2.1 2.2 0.1 0.1 0.3 1.7 1.6 1.1 0.6 1.7

Southfield

Merrill

N. Old Woodward

10E1



W E Y 5' 5' 0 0.3 0.6 0.8 0.8 0.9 0.7 0.8 0.2 5.5 3.8 3.8 0.3 0.2 1.7
MEDIAN E Y 4' 4' 0.8 0.9 1.1 3.2 4.2 3.8 1.8 0.5 0.1 2.4

W Y 5' 5' 0 0.2 0.2 0.6 1.1 1.4 0.5 0.4 4.6 4.7 0.4 0.3

N. of Merrill
Merrill
Brown SW N Y 5' 5' 0.4 0.4 0.1 0.5 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 5.2 5.7 1.1 2.6

SW E Y 5' 5' 1.6 1.5 1 0.7 0.2 0.3 0.5 0 0.3 8
SE W Y 5' 5' 0.4 0.4 0.7 3.5 2.8 3.1 0.3 2.2 0.8 1.2
SE N Y 5' 5' 0.7 0.9 0.6 0.9 0.5 0.4 1.6 0.7 0.3 0.4

NW E Y 5' 5' 0.7 0.7 0.7 1 1 0.8 0.6 0.5 0 2.8 3.2 3.8 0.3 0.2 3.4
NW S Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.7 1.1 1.2 1.9 0.6 0.8 0.5 3.3 3 0.5 1.5
NE W Y 5' 5' 0.7 0.3 0.3 2.3 2.5 2.3 0.2 0.4 2.6 2.7 0.4 2.4
NE S Y 5' 5' 0.4 1.5 1.2 1.7 1.5 1.5 1.1 0.3 1.9 0.8 0.2 2.9

Daines SW N Y 5' 5' 2.3 1.2 0.6 1.4 1.1 1.7 1.4 0.2 1.9 4.1 5 1 1
SW E
NW S Y 5' 5' 1.4 1.4 0.6 1.4 1.1 0.6 0.5 1.6 2.2 2.6 2.2 3.5 0.4 1.2
NW E Y 5' 5' 1.4 0.8 1.3 1 1.8 1.4 0.8 0.6 0.1 3 2.3 1 1.2

E W N 5' 5' 0.7 0.9 0.5 4 0.3 0.3 0.9 1.2 1 2.9 4.3 4.3 0.8 1.2
Hazel SE W N 5' 5' 1.7 0.7 0.9 1.6 1.5 1 0.1 0.3 4.2 4.1 0.9

SE N N 5' 5' 1.9 2.2 1.6 0.8 1.3 0.2 2.4 3.5 2.2 4.1 3.1 0
NE S N 5' 5' 1.4 0.8 0.3 2.3 2.4 2.8 0.2 1.4 3.9 6.7 0.3 3.8

Frank SW N N 5' 5' 0.2 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.2 0.6 0.3 2.1 1 1.5 0.7 2.8
NW E N 5' 5' 1 1 1.2 1.7 1.3 1.5 1.3 1.6 1.8 2.9 3.4 0.4
NW S N 5' 5' 1.5 1 1.7 1 1 1.2 2 2.8 3.2 2.9 1.7 2.7

Bowers NE W N 5' 5' 0.7 2.3 2.7 0.7 2.4 2.7 1.3 1.4 1.3 3.2 3.1 0.8 0.1
NE S N 5' 5' 0.2 1.4 2.8 2.8 2 0.6 2.4 1.6 3.4 3.7 0 1.1
SE N Y 5' 5' 2.3 2.5 2.1 1.1 1.2 1.2 2 1.8 2 0.8 0.3 1.6 0.4 0.9

Haynes SW E N 9' 5' 0.2 0.2 0.1 1.5 1 1.9 0.4 0 0.4 9.1 8.4 7.5 0.8 5.5
SE W Y 4' 5' 0.5 0.1 1.6 1.1 0.7 0.5 2.1 1.9 4.8 4.8 0.5 0.8
SE N Y 5' 4' 0.5 0.7 0.7 1.1 1.6 0.5 2 2.8 4.6 5 0.1 1.5
NE S N 5' 5' 2.1 2.5 1.8 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.4 0.9 3.7 4.1 1.1 1

George NW S Y 5' 5' 0.6 0.3 1.2 0 0.7 0.5 1.7 1.9 2.3 2.7 3.7 1.9 1.6 1 1.3

S. Old Woodward

10E1



SW N Y 5' 5' 0.4 1 1.8 1 0.1 0.4 2.4 1 1 3.6 2.8 0.3 1.1
Landon NW S Y 6' 5' 0.7 0.2 0.5 0.2 0.1 0 1 0.9 0.9 4.7 3.5 4 0.9 2.2 2.8

SW N Y 5' 2 2.1 2.2 0 0.2 0 3.1 2.2 2.3 5.1 4.9 4.7 1.1 3.4
Lincoln NW S Y 5' 5' 1 1.5 0.7 0.7 1.3 1.2 0.4 0 3.9 0 3.1

NW E Y 5' 5' 1 1.5 0.7 0.7 1.3 1.2 0.4 0 3.9 0 3.1

Park SW N Y 5' 5' 0.9 0.6 0.7 1.5 0.8 1.2 0.9 1.9 0.5 3.6
SW E Y 5' 5' 0.4 0 0.4 0.7 0.1 0.2 1.1 4.6 1.3 4
SE W Y 5' 5' 0 0.1 0.6 0.5 0.6 1.1 0.4 3.1 0.7 2.7
SE N Y 5' 5' 0.4 0.1 0.3 0.8 0.4 0.6 0.7 3.8 0.6 3.9

Median E S Y 5' 5' 1 0.2 0 0.7 0.2 0.5 0.2 0.3 0.8 1.4 3.5 0.8 5.1
N Y 5' 5' 0.7 0.9 0.9 0.5 0.2 0.5 1.3 1.1 0.9 1.1 1 0.6 5.2

Median W N Y 5' 5' 1.1 1.1 0.6 1.2 0.7 1.1 0.8 0.8 1 1.9 1.1 1.8
S Y 5' 5' 0.7 1 1.3 0.1 0.3 0.5 1.2 1.7 2.9 1.4 2.7

NE S Y 6' 5' 0.6 0.1 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.1 0.1 3 0.1
NE W Y 5' 6' 0.2 0 0.4 0.4 0 0.4 0.4 0.7 3.9 1.3 2.4
NW E Y 5' 5' 0.4 0 0.2 1.8 1.4 1.1 0.7 1.3 5.1 4.8 1.9 3.7
NW S Y 5' 5' 1.2 1.4 1.8 0.7 0 0.2 1.3 1.6 1.3 0.2 0.5

Ferndale SW N Y 5' 5' 0 0.1 0.1 0.9 0.6 0.5 0.3 5.3 0.2 0.1
SW E Y 5' 5' 0.4 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.3 0.2 1.1 1.7 4.5 0.8 2.7
SE W Y 5' 5' 0.7 0.8 0.9 0.4 0.3 0.4 1.3 1.1 0.9 0.1
SE N Y 5' 5' 0.9 0.8 0.8 0.9 0.6 0.6 0.2 4.1 0.8 1.2

Median W N N 5' 5' 0.4 0 0.1 0.8 0.8 0.4 0.3 0.6 2.6 4.5 0.3 0.1
S Y 5' 5' 0.3 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.7 0 0.6 1.2 3.5 3.2 0.5 1.9

Median E S N 5' 5' 0 0.3 0.8 0.4 0.3 0 0.1 0.3 3.1 3.9 1.4 4.2
N N 5' 5' 0.1 0.2 1.1 0.6 1.3 1.9 1.4 1.6 3 3.1 0.1 1.6

NE S N 4' 4' 2.6 2.5 3 0.7 2.1 1.8 1.7 4.4 1.7 1.3
NE W N 4' 4' 2.5 1.7 1.4 1.5 2.5 3 0.4 1 7.5 5.7 3.4 2
NW E N 5' 5' 1.7 2 2.2 0.8 1 1.4 0.4 0.2 3.4 6.2 0.2 2.7
NW S N 5' 5' 1.2 0.7 0.3 2.9 3.7 2.4 0.5 2.7 0.3 2.4

300 Park W E Y 5' 5' 1 0.4 1 0.1 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.8 4.2 4.6 1 0.6
300 Park E W Y 5' 5' 1.2 1 0.6 0.2 0.7 0.8 1.2 1 4.8 3.5 1 1.3

Park

Oakland

10E1



SE W Y 7'4" 5' 0.7 0.9 0.6 1 1.5 1.1 0.5 0.2 4.2 4.8 0.5 1.2
SW E Y 6' 4'5" 0.6 0.1 0.1 0.7 0.6 0 0.2 0.7 5.3 5.1 0.7 4.3
SW N Y 5' 7'4" 0.1 0.6 0 0.7 0.1 0.6 0.3 3.2 1.6 4
NW S Y 5'3" 5'7" 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.7 0.7 0.6 1 1.9 4.6 4.3 2 4.1
SE N Y 5' 5' 0.8 1.2 0.9 1 0.8 0.8 1.3 1.3 1.4 0 0.6 2.8 1.3 1.4 2
SE W Y 5' 5' 1 0.8 0.8 0.9 1.2 0.8 0.8 0.4 0.1 1.7 1 3.7 1.8 0.3 1.1
NE S Y 5' 5' 0.3 0.5 1.2 1.1 1 0.7 0.3 0.4 1.9 2.1 1 0.8 0.9
NE W Y 5' 5' 0.7 1 1.1 1.2 0.5 0.3 0.6 0.8 1 0.1 0.8 0.5 1.2
NW E Y 5'1" 5'3" 1.1 1.1 1.4 0.5 0.5 0.3 2 2.5 1.2 1.7
NW S Y 5'3" 5'1" 0.3 0.5 0.5 1.1 1.1 1.4 0 3.5 0.6 2.1
SW N Y 5' 5' 0.4 0.6 0.9 0.8 0.9 0.7 0.8 1.1 1.7 1.7 1.6 1.7 1.1 1.6 0.4
SW E Y 5' 5' 0.7 0.9 0.8 0.9 0.6 0.4 1.1 1.4 4 3.7 0.6 1.3 2.8
SW E Y 5' 5'10" 0.7 0.9 0.3 1.7 1.2 0.7 0.5 0.8 0.8 1.2 1.5 2.2 0.8 2.3
SW N Y 5'10" 5' 1.7 1.2 0.7 0.7 0.9 0.3 0.5 0.2 0 0.9 1.2 1.2 1.7 0.9 0.2
NW S Y 5'8" 5'6" 0.3 1.1 1.9 0.1 0.3 0.5 1.4 0.9 0.9 0.6 0.1 1.4 0.8 0.1
NW E Y 5'6" 5'8" 0.1 0.3 0.5 1.9 1.1 0.3 0.4 0.8 1.6 2.2 1.7 0.2
NE W Y 5'5" 5'2" 0.8 0.2 0.2 1.3 1.3 2 0.4 0.5 2.4 2.4 0.6 1.8
SE W Y 5' 5' 1 0.4 1.2 0.8 0.8 1.1 0.7 1.1 0.3 5.3 4.2 3.7 0 0.7 3.4 2

Completed 2021Completed 2020

Townsend

Merrill

Martin

Completed 2023

Pierce

Completed 2022

10E1



OAKLAND COUNTY

'Hanged for treason' remark against
Michigan election official under
investigation
Craig Mauger and Beth LeBlanc The Detroit News
Published 7:43 p.m. ET Jan. 9, 2024 Updated 9:39 p.m. ET Jan. 9, 2024

A threatening remark toward the director of elections in Michigan's second largest county
has spurred an investigation by deputies and a review by prosecutors to determine whether
criminal charges should be brought.

The investigation of an alleged death threat against Oakland County Elections Director Joe
Rozell that's been quietly unfolding over the past month comes less than a year before the
pivotal November 2024 presidential election and as pressure, bolstered by dubious claims of
widespread voter fraud, mounts on the individuals who administer elections in Michigan.

On Dec. 15, Oakland County held a recount of a Royal Oak ballot proposal aimed at
instituting ranked choice voting in the city. The event drew attendees who were investigating
whether there was some sort of wrongdoing in the election, and it became tense. The
Michigan Republican Party later described the proceeding as "heated" in a Dec. 16 press
release.

At one point in the day, a person, who hasn't yet been identified by law enforcement, was
overheard saying Rozell was going to be "hanged for treason," Rozell told The Detroit News
in an interview Tuesday.

Oakland County Clerk Lisa Brown, Rozell's boss, shared a similar story detailing the
comment against Rozell.

A sheriff's deputy eventually asked the person at the recount directly if they had made the
remark, and the person confirmed it, Rozell said.

“This person basically felt that I should die," Rozell said.

INFORMATION ONLY

https://www.detroitnews.com/
https://www.detroitnews.com/news/oakland/
https://www.detroitnews.com/staff/2683993001/craig-mauger/
https://www.detroitnews.com/staff/2684020001/beth-leblanc/
https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/politics/2023/09/08/barry-county-sheriff-dar-leaf-unsuccessful-campaign-to-find-2020-election-fraud-tabulators-ballots/70795629007/
https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/politics/2023/09/08/barry-county-sheriff-dar-leaf-unsuccessful-campaign-to-find-2020-election-fraud-tabulators-ballots/70795629007/
https://migop.org/press-releases/royal-oak-recount


Rozell has been an election official in Oakland County for 17 years, and he's widely respected
among clerks across the state. After the recount on Dec. 15, law enforcement stepped up
patrols outside Rozell's home, he said.

“I signed up 17 or 18 years ago to do this job as a civil servant because I believe in it,” Rozell
said.

“Democracy has to continue," he added. "It will continue.”

Nationally, election officials have been the target of threats in recent years. Brown, the
Oakland County clerk, said her initial reaction to hearing what was said about Rozell was:
"What has this world come to that people feel that that kind of behavior is OK?”

On Tuesday, Oakland County Prosecutor Karen McDonald’s office said the case was being
reviewed for potential charges, but a spokeswoman declined to provide additional
information. Oakland County Undersheriff Curtis Childs said his office investigated the
threats and presented the information gathered to McDonald's office. 

There's been increased scrutiny and criticism toward election officials in Michigan since the
November 2020 presidential election. Republican Donald Trump lost the race to Democrat
Joe Biden by 3 percentage points or 154,000 votes but maintained false claims that
widespread fraud had influenced the outcome.

Janice Winfrey, the clerk for Michigan's largest city, Detroit, told a U.S. House panel in 2021
that she and her election workers had received threats of violence as a result of false claims of
a stolen election, causing her to lose staff and to live in fear.

In a statement, Secretary of State Jocelyn Benson said Rozell is one of the most competent
and professional election officials in Michigan.

"It’s unacceptable he would be threatened simply for doing his job with integrity," Benson
said. "And let’s be clear: These threats are a direct reflection of the lies and falsehoods about
our elections that so many politicians and others have repeatedly spread for the last several
years."

In November 2023, Royal Oak residents voted on a ballot proposal that would have allowed
for ranked choice voting, a system in which voters can rank candidates for a given office on
their ballot instead selecting only one.

INFORMATION ONLY

https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/nation/2023/08/31/well-kill-you-election-workers-get-threats-warnings-theyll-be-lynched-us-government-says/70728125007/
https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/politics/2022/04/03/trump-repeats-michigan-election-fraud-claims-heres-what-records-show/7257181001/
https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/politics/2022/04/03/trump-repeats-michigan-election-fraud-claims-heres-what-records-show/7257181001/
https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/politics/2021/07/28/winfrey-testifies-before-house-panel-threats-election-workers/5400419001/
https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/politics/2021/07/28/winfrey-testifies-before-house-panel-threats-election-workers/5400419001/
https://ballotpedia.org/Royal_Oak,_Michigan,_Proposal_B,_Ranked-Choice_Voting_Initiative_(November_2023)
https://ballotpedia.org/Royal_Oak,_Michigan,_Proposal_B,_Ranked-Choice_Voting_Initiative_(November_2023)


The measure passed with 51% support or by a margin of about 160 votes, but a recount was
pursued and executed in December.

Rozell said the recount changed about one vote. But on Dec. 16, a day after it, the Michigan
Republican Party issued a press release, saying a "citizen-led investigation," including a
"canvassing mission" of homes in Royal Oak, found some voters who said they had cast
ballots in the election but their votes were allegedly not reflected in city records.

"This is a time for Michigan Republicans to stand together, regardless of differing
perspectives and fight to eliminate election corruption and ensure that no Michigan voters
are disenfranchised due to derelict behavior of election officials," Michigan Republican Party
Chairwoman Kristina Karamo said in the mid-December press release. "We will not stand by
and see our voices diminished or our presence deleted by dictatorial democrats."

Lori Skibo, Karamo's chief of staff, attended the Dec. 15 recount. The press release from the
party described her as an "election integrity stakeholder." Skibo didn't immediately respond
to a request for comment from The Detroit News on Tuesday night.

Rozell said some individuals at the recount wanted county officials to investigate the claims,
but their allegations fell outside the scope of a recount, which is focused on tallying ballots.

"I am convinced that this had nothing to do with ranked choice voting," Rozell said of the
crowd at the recount.

Rozell said he believes the recount was an effort to make accusations to stir people up ahead
of the November 2024 presidential election.

On the day of the recount, William Harrison of Oakland County, who had petitioned for the
recount, filed suit against the Royal Oak city Clerk Melanie Halas and the Oakland County
Board of County Canvassers on the grounds that the board had failed to investigate his claims
of fraud and mistake in the recount process.

Harrison’s attorney is listed as Stefanie Lambert, who is facing charges in Oakland County
for her involvement in an alleged conspiracy to improperly access election equipment after
the 2020 presidential election.

The board of county canvassers has moved to have the complaint dismissed and requested a
hearing Feb. 14 on the matter. The board argued Harrison’s efforts to stop the recount was
moot because the recount had already occurred, and that the board’s role required no more
than a recount to investigate Harrison’s claims. 

INFORMATION ONLY

https://migop.org/press-releases/royal-oak-recount
https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/politics/2023/11/19/behind-it-all-how-michigan-lawyer-stefanie-lambert-aided-push-to-subvert-2020-election/71579707007/
https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/politics/2023/11/19/behind-it-all-how-michigan-lawyer-stefanie-lambert-aided-push-to-subvert-2020-election/71579707007/
https://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/politics/2023/11/19/behind-it-all-how-michigan-lawyer-stefanie-lambert-aided-push-to-subvert-2020-election/71579707007/


Attempts to reach Harrison for comment on his suit were unsuccessful.

Staff Writers Melissa Nann Burke and Hannah Mackay contributed. 

cmauger@detroitnews.com

eleblanc@detroitnews.com

INFORMATION ONLY



January 11, 2024 

Dear Secretary Benson and Director Brater, 

Clerks, by nature and by practice, are rule of law followers. We are “T” crossers and “I” 
dotters. We are accustomed to laws and processes that change, sometimes at the last 
minute. We are dedicated, and diligent, and will comply with all additional requirements, 
whether they come from the Legislature, the Secretary of State, or our own 
municipalities.  

Proposal 22-2, and subsequent legislation, have given us many challenging processes 
to administer, but we have already figured out many of them, and now are in the 
process of figuring out the rest.  

One requirement that we have been losing sleep over is MCL 168.759f(2), specifically 
this sentence: 

“If a permanent mail ballot voter does not return a presidential primary ballot 
selection form by the fortieth day before a presidential primary election, the city or 
township clerk shall notify that permanent mail ballot voter by telephone, email, 
and text message, if available, of the requirement to make a political party ballot 
selection in order to receive a presidential primary election ballot.” 

Many of us have over 5,000 voters on our permanent ballot lists. Some of us have 
over 10,000 on our lists. We met the December 29th deadline set in MCL168.759f(2), 
and have been receiving the selection forms for only two weeks. Ballot Selection 
Forms were delayed waiting on the Bureau to provide guidance on the design and 
requirements of the form, as prescribed in MCL 168.759(f)(1). Most clerks would 
have sent these forms in early to mid-December and would have a much higher 
response rate at this time.  

Instead, printing was delayed, print vendors were overwhelmed, and clerks now 
have even more work with this deadline looming and very few forms returned and 
processed. Based on the number of forms that we are receiving daily, most 
municipalities will have hundreds, or even thousands, of voters who have not 
returned their forms by January 18th. 

Under Section 2, clerks’ offices will be required to call and email all those voters.  

Our offices are all staffed with less than 10 employees, with the average being 5 
employees. The requirement to call even 1,000 voters is insurmountable. If the 
average call takes 5 minutes, that equates to over 83 hours to make those calls. It 
will take 5 employees almost 17 hours each, without breaks, to call 1,000 voters.  

Many of our offices have 2-4 employees and 1,000 voters to call. Some of our 
offices with 5-10 employees have over 5,000 voters to call. We are expecting to 
incur hundreds of hours of overtime, since our offices are too busy during regular 

INFORMATION ONLY



hours to make these calls. Those overtime charges will be part of our reimbursement 
requests to the State of Michigan after the Presidential Primary is completed.  

When this legislation was written, the authors were insistent on clerks calling and 
emailing voters. Obviously, the authors had no concept of the monumental task and 
expense they were creating. Or, at least, we hope they didn’t, because the 
alternative is that they knew they were setting clerks up to fail. Other legislation, 
such as MCL168.766b(1) uses phrases such as, “…make a reasonable effort…” It 
seems that this type of common-sense verbiage that is acceptable for AV 
applications, was not acceptable for ballot selection forms. 

We understand that the Secretary of State and the Bureau of Elections have no 
authority to change MCL168.759f. We need you to be aware, though, of the anguish 
and astronomical expense this legislation has caused for clerks as we try to find 
ways to comply. There most likely isn’t time, or willingness, for the Legislature to 
amend MCL168.759f(2) before January 18th, or before the February 13th effective 
date, but we would appreciate any advocacy that your offices could provide that 
would bring us legislative relief. 

There are two other ways that your offices can provide relief to clerks. We are asking 
you to please take on the task of calling the voters who have not returned the ballot 
selection forms. It would be much more efficient, and cost-effective, for your offices 
to pull the list of phone numbers from QVF, and set up an automated call than it 
would be for 1600 clerks to do those calls individually. The cost of overtime incurred 
by clerks’ offices will end up being paid for by the state anyway through 
reimbursements, and most clerks’ offices will not be able to hire an automated call 
service to make these calls. Second, we are asking that the ballot selection form be 
made available on MVIC right away so that voters can directly choose their party 
online instead of interacting with local clerks’ offices. 

Thank you in advance for your help and consideration. 

Sincerely, 

Municipal Clerks and Deputy Clerks: 

Michelle Alberts Grattan Township Clerk 
James Alles Cannon Township Clerk 
Michelle Anzaldi Pittsfield Charter Township Clerk 
Meaghan Bachman Farmington City Clerk 
Jennifer Badgero Brooks Township Clerk 
Heidi Barckholtz Huntington Woods City Clerk 
Rena Basch Ann Arbor Charter Township Clerk 
Jacqueline Beaudry Ann Arbor City Clerk 
Brittany Beaudry Van Buren Charter Township Deputy Clerk 
Rachel Bernard Royalton Township Clerk 
Alex Bingham Birmingham City Clerk 

INFORMATION ONLY



Christine Bischoff Whiteford Township Clerk 
Abby Bishop Saint Joseph City Clerk 
Heather Bouck Mt. Pleasant City Clerk 
Cynthia Bower Taylor City Clerk 
Martin Brook Bloomfield Township Clerk 
Krissi Brott Greenville City Clerk 
Amy Burton Bloomfield Hills City Clerk 
Mary Clark Delta Township Clerk 
Sue Courtade East Bay Charter Township Clerk 
Kim Cousino Erie Township Clerk 
Ellen Craig-Bragg Romulus City Clerk 
Missy Creech Commerce Township Clerk 
Tracy DeMarse Dalton Township Clerk 
Aileen Dickson Troy City Clerk 
Sarah Dvoracek Charlevoix City Clerk 
Rachelle Enbody Pere Marquette Charter Township Clerk 
Leslie Frank Harper Woods City Clerk 
Tammy Gillis Big Rapids City Clerk 
Deborah Goudy Walker City Clerk 
Cortney Hanson Novi City Clerk 
Eileen Harryvan Southfield Township Clerk 
Sue Hartman Courtland Township Clerk 
Joni Henry Caledonia Charter Township Clerk 
Trudy Hershberger Bedford Township Clerk 
Halley Hilton Farmington City Deputy Clerk 
Laura Hoffman Nelson Township Clerk 
Joel Hondorp Grand Rapids City Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe Ypsilanti Charter Township Clerk 
Machele Kukuk Clawson City Clerk 
Kalla Langston Buchanan City Clerk 
Lisa Lawitzke Bellevue Township Clerk 
Richard LeBlanc Westland City Clerk 
Stacy Loar-Porter Lincoln Charter Township Clerk 
Jessica Marion Walker City Deputy Clerk 
Kim Markee Waterford Township Clerk 
Cathleen Martin Mount Clemens City Clerk 
Sarah Masserant Berlin Charter Township Deputy Clerk 
Sean Miller Springfield Township Clerk 
Tonya Miller Tecumseh City Clerk 
Deana Mondock Bloomfield Township Deputy Clerk 
LaDeana Morr LaSalle Township Clerk 
Kris Murphy Rockford City Deputy Clerk 
Tina Porzondek Plainfield Charter Township Deputy Clerk 
Cathleen Postmus Plainfield Charter Township Clerk 
Kristi Pozzi Macomb Township Clerk 
Melanie Ryska Sterling Heights City Clerk 

INFORMATION ONLY



Romona Sanchez Lapeer City Clerk 
Peggy Sattler Byron Township Clerk 
Marcy Savage Sparta Township Clerk 
Leanne Scott Rochester Hills City Clerk 
Tera Shaffer Ida Township Clerk 
Jackie Smith Ada Township Clerk 
Christy Sochay Watertown Charter Township Deputy Clerk 
Dave Stamy Cedar Creek Township Clerk 
Cheryl Stewart Troy Deputy City Clerk 
Chris Swope Lansing City Clerk 
Holly Thompson Williamston City Clerk 
Sue Trainer Oakfield Township Clerk 
Marcia VanDrasek Watervliet Charter Township Deputy Clerk 
Amy Whipple Brownstown Charter Township Deputy Clerk 
Adam Wit Harrison Township Clerk 
Lisa Wright Spencer Township Clerk 
Danelle Wright Spencer Township Deputy Clerk 

 

 

INFORMATION ONLY


	20210122 City Commission Agenda
	3A 20240122 Public Arts Board Appointment Packet
	B. Heller Applicaiton
	S. Housseini Applicaiton
	2021 Public Arts Board Attendence
	Sheet1

	Complete PBA ORDS 2023
	1. Cover Page PAB NOTICE OF INTENTION - APPT 2.pdf
	PUBLIC ARTS BOARD


	3B 20240122 Martha Baldwin NOTICE OF INTENTION
	1. 20240122 NOTICE OF INTENTION Martha Baldwin
	2. NCillette_MarthaBaldwinParkBoard_Application
	3. Martha Baldwin Park Board Roster
	4. Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances - martha baldwin park board

	3C 20240122 BZA Appointment Packet for Kona & Canvasser
	00- 20231127 BZA Appointment Packet for Kona and Jason.pdf
	NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS

	2021 BZA ATTENDANCE RECORD.pdf
	2021

	2022 BZA ATTENDANCE RECORD.pdf
	2022

	2023 BZA ATTENDANCE RECORD (1).pdf
	20223


	5A 20240122 CC Minutes (DRAFT) -01-08-24- Revised
	Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

	5B 20240122 warrant list 20240111
	5C 20240122 warrant list 20240118
	5D 20240122 SE Common Ground Street Art Fair
	MEMORANDUM COMMON GROUND

	5E 20240122 SE HDSA Yoga in the Park
	City Commission Memo
	Application -Huntington
	department approvals
	DEPARTMENT


	5F 20240122 Set PH Date for LL Review
	5G 20240122 Memo Election Commission Delegation of Duties v2
	5H 20240122 Public Accuracy Test - Designating Reps
	20240122 Designation of Representative-Public Accuracy Tests for FEB 27, 2024 Memo
	Michigan Election Law (Excerpt) Act 116 168.798 Testing of Electronic Tabulating Equipment
	168.798 Section&&&&168.798 &&&&Testing of electronic tabulating equipment; notice; method; sealing programs, test materials, and ballots; rules; sealing memory device.

	Public Accuracy Test - Designated Representatives

	5I 20240122 Appoint Election Inspectors and Authorize AVCB
	20240227 Election Inspectors

	5J 20240122 SMART Program Year 2024 Contract
	5K 2024.01.16 MEMO re Sec.58-111 Day Care w-attchmts
	2024.01.15 Memo re DAY CARE HOMES AND CHILD CENTERS.pdf
	2024.01.16 REDLINED Sec. 58-111 Day Care
	Sec. 58-111. Application for license; investigations.

	2024.01.16 CLEAN  Sec. 58-111 Day Care
	Sec. 58-111. Application for license; investigations.


	6A 20240122 Manager Report rev
	7A 20240122 - Shirley and Arlington  - FULL - 01.23.24
	20240122 - Shirley & Arlington Cover Memo - DRAFT - 01.16.23
	20240122 - Shirley and Arlington  - Attachments
	20240108 - Shirley and Arlington  - Attachments
	20240108 - Shirley and Arlington  - Attachments
	1a - FIRE Dept - Arlington-Shirley Letter January 8, 2024
	1b - DPS - MMTB Shirley and Arlington Memo
	1c - MMTB Minutes (DRAFT) - 12-5-23
	1d1 -9.1 - xSite-Layout-N758-Layout-ExA'-East
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	1d2 - 9.2 - xSite-Layout-N758-Layout-ExA'-West
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	1d3 - Arlington and Shirley crosswalk improvements
	1e - LRP_Upcoming_Capital_Projects_Presentation
	2 - 20211025 - Unimproved Streets Policy Amendment - improvement procedure
	2a - Residential Street Width Standards
	2b - 3B - Complete Streets Resolution 07.11.2011
	2c - Pages from Multi-Modal Transportation Plan - Sidewalks
	3 - 2040 Master Plan - Chap 3 - Retain Neighborhood Quality
	4 - Sidewalk Maps - 2021
	5 -  Not MI 7.5 - Species Webinar Recording Available - bcowan@bhamgov.org - City of Birmingham MI Mail
	7 - Birmingham Prohibited Species List
	7.5 - Birmingham Approved Species List
	8 - Tree Updated Maps - Combined
	10.1 - Shirley between Lincoln & Brandon - Speed Data 11-17-23
	10.2 - Arlington between Maple & Shirley - Speed Data (2) 11-17-23
	11.1 - Shirley between Lincoln & Brandon - Avg Daily 11-17-23
	11.2 - Arlington between Maple & Shirley - Avg Daily (2) 11-17-23
	12 - Arlington & Shirley Parking Counts (1)
	16 - Resident survey letter
	16.5 - Shirley_Arlington_Resident_Meeting Slides
	17 - resident letters
	Arlington-Shirley Letter to MMTB, 10-27-23.
	Arlington-Shirley Letter to MMTB, 10-30-23.
	Arlington-Shirley Letter to MMTB, 11-1-23.
	Westwood Street Pavement Failure, 10-30-23.
	Jim Mirro Letter, 11-15-23

	18.1 - Survey Respondents
	18.2 - Survey responses
	117_Arlington
	188_Shirley _New
	188_Shirley
	218_Arlington
	226_Shirley
	230 Linden
	243_Arlington
	252 Shirley
	252_Linden
	269 Arlington
	269 Arlington_2
	280_Arlington_02
	288_Shirley
	300_Shirley
	345_Shirley
	361_Shirley
	381_Shirley
	421_Arlington
	463_Arlington
	487_Arlington
	550_Shirley
	577_Arlington
	585_Shirley
	600_Arlington
	640_Shirley
	645_Arlington
	708_Shirely
	730_Arlington
	735_Shirley
	737_Arlington
	770_Shirley
	776_Arlington
	811_Shirley
	822_Shirley
	843_Arlington
	860 Arlington (2)
	880_Shirley
	881_Arlington
	905_Shirley
	924_Alrington
	968_Arlington
	970_Shirley
	992 Arlington
	1000_Shirley
	1420_West_Lincoln

	19.3 - xSite-Layout-N758-Layout-ExB-East
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	19.4 - xSite-Layout-N758-Layout-ExB-West
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	19.5 - xSite-Layout-N758-Layout-ExC-East
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	19.6 - xSite-Layout-N758-Layout-ExC-West
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1






	8A 20240122 Confirmation of Roll 907 Edgewood - Jana Final
	8B 20240122 PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - Lot Combo - FULL - 01.17.24
	20240122 PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery - lot combo -  Memo - 01.16.22
	20240122 PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - Lot Combo - Attachments 01.16.24
	20231218 Set PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - Lot Combo - Attachments


	8C 20240122 PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - SLUP, FSP & DR - FULL - 01.17.23
	20240122 PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - SLUP, FSP & DR Memo - 01.16.24
	20240122 PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - SLUP, FSP & DR - Attachments 01.16.23
	20231218 Set PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - SLUP, FSP & DR - Attachments
	20230312 PH - 34350 Woodward Ave - Fred Lavery Porsche - SLUP, FSP & DR - FULL



	8D 20240122 Wayfinding & Branding Comittee FINAL - 1-16-24
	8F1 20240122_Brandon_Street_CC_Memo_w_attachment - Revised
	10E1 20240122 Annual ADA update report 2023
	ADP7E9D.tmp
	Sheet1

	ADPBF94.tmp
	Sheet1


	20240122 IO 'Hanged for treason' remark against Oakland County election official probed
	20240122 IO Letter Re MCL168.759f



